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Born in 1946 - Pretoria, Transvaal, South Africa
Engineer, pilot

1 Media available

Married in 1970 to Maye Haldeman, born 19 April 1948 - Regina, Saskatchewan, Canada, age : 74 years old ,
Model, dietician
(Parents : Joshua Norman Haldeman 1902-1974 & Winnifred Josephine Fletcher 1914-2012 )
her children

 Elon Reeve Musk 1971 Married to Jennifer Justine Wilson her children
 Nevada Musk
 Griffin Musk
 Xavier Musk
 Damian Musk
 Saxon Musk
 Kai Musk

 Elon Reeve Musk 1971 Married in 2010, Dornoch Cathedral, Scotland, to Talulah Jane Riley-
Milburn 1985 

Elon Reeve Musk 1971 In a relationship with Claire Elise Boucher 1988 her children 

 X Æ A-12 Musk
 Kimbal Reeve Musk 1972 Married to Jan Lewin


Kimbal Reeve Musk 1972 Married in April 2018 to Christiana Wyly 
 Tosca Musk 1974

 
Errol Graham Musk

Parents
Walter Henry James Musk 1917-1986

Cora Amelia Robinson 1923-2010

Marriages, children and grandchildren

 Harry Musk 1863-1917

 Lucy Frances Champion 1880-1946

Paternal grandparents, uncles and aunts
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Family tree of ancestors Pedigree of descendants

 Walter Henry James Musk 1917-1986
1 child

 John Robinson 1889-1954 (1911)
 Breghie Elizabeth Theron 1885-1964

 Cora Amelia Robinson 1923-2010 1 child

Maternal grandparents, uncles and aunts

Overview of the family tree
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Collector’s Edge Minerals, Inc. (CEMI) once again was at the forefront of a
remarkable opportunity to work with a mining company to recover and prepare

Collector’s Edge Minerals, Inc. recognizes and thanks the Mineralogical Record
for permission to use portions or all of their original article from the “Mineralogical
Record”, Volume 41, Number 1, pp. 59-67. Contributing authors were Steve
Behling, Collector’s Edge Minerals, Inc.; and Wendell E. Wilson, Publisher &
Editor-in-Chief of the Mineralogical Record.  Collector’s Edge has made some
additions and changes to the original article which are incorporated below.

Introduction:

THE KAGEM EMERALD MINE, KAFUBU AREA,
ZAMBIA [ Steve Behling, Wendell E. Wilson. (2010). The Kagem Emerald Mine [part owned by Erol Musk], Vol. 41, No. 1, 

pp. 59-67 Kafubu Area, Zambia. Collector's Edge, Minerals, Inc. Reproduced for educational purposes only. Fair 
Use relied upon. Source: https://collectorsedge.com/legacy/the-kagem-emerald-mine-kafubu-area-zambia/ ]

https://collectorsedge.com/legacy/the-kagem-emerald-mine-kafubu-area-zambia/
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fabulous mineral specimens.

Location:

The Zambian emerald deposits are located in the Kitwe district in north-central
Zambia, near the Kafubu River in the Ndola Rural Emerald Restricted Area, about
45 km southwest of Kitwe, in the southern part of the Zambian Copperbelt (see
Korowski and Noteheart, 1978).  Access from Kitwe is via a paved road for 15 km
to Kalulushi, then by a poorly maintained gravel road for 30 km to the mine area. 
Large open-pit emerald-mining operations include the Grizzly, Chantete,
Kamakanga, and Kagem concessions, together constituting one of the world’s
largest producers of gem-grade emerald, ranking second in output (by value) only
to the Columbian mines (Zwaan et al., 2005).  Other operations in the Kafubu
area include the Twampane, Akala, Pirala, Miku, Ebenezer and Mitondo mines. 
Nearly 20% of the world’s annual production of emeralds comes from the Kafubu
area (Seifert et al., 2004).

Emeralds have been mined in Zambia since 1928.  However, hardly any
specimen-quality crystals were saved until 80 years later, when the management
at the Kagem mine investigated the possibility of employing a professional
specimen recovery and preparation company to carry out the demanding work of
freeing the beautiful emerald crystals from enclosing quartz.  The resulting
specimens, prepared by Collector’s Edge Minerals, Inc., made their debut in
September 2009.

The emerald mines in the Kafubu pegmatite field; all are located where

metabasite and pegmatites come in contact (adapted from Sliwa and Nguluwe

1984; and Zwaan et al., 2005).  

The source of the specimen emeralds in quartz is the open pit of the merged
Kagem Fwaya-Fwaya mine and the Kagem Fwaya-Fwaya Extension F10 mine. 
None of the other Kagem pits have produced emerald crystals in quartz lenses.
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Typical local Zambian village.

The Kagem mine is thought to be the world’s largest open-pit mine for colored
gemstones.  The highly mechanized open pit covers an area of about 1 square
kilometer and employs about 400 men; it produces between $15 million and $30
million in emerald rough annually (Seifert et al., 2004).  High levels of
groundwater in the area have made underground operations uneconomical in the
past because of the attendant pumping expense; hence all operations in the
district thus afar have been open-pit.  However, underground workings are now
being developed at the Kagem mine.

Local accommodations.

The open-pit Kagem mine (the merged Kagem Fwaya-Fwaya and Kagem Fwaya-

Fwaya Extension F10 pits).   Note the white pegmatite veins cutting across the

country rock at left.

A gentle reminder that theft is not tolerated!

Mine viewing platform.

Excavating emerald-bearing material from reaction zone.

Local Gemfields miners hunting for loose emeralds.

Despite the huge production of emerald gem rough, no crystal specimens had
been produced until the operator of the mine, Gemfields PLC, entered into an
arrangement with Collector’s Edge Minerals, Inc. (CEMI) to prepare and market
emerald specimens for collectors and museums.

HISTORY:
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Emeralds were first discovered in the Kafubu area in 1928 by the Rhodesia
Congo Border Concession Company, which later became the Miku mine (Sliwa
and Nguluwe, 1984; Seifert et al., 2004).  Early production was unpromising, but
exploratory work was continued in the 1940s and 1950s by the Rhokana
Company and the Rio Tinto Mineral Search of Africa Company.  After new
occurrences were located in the 1970s, gemstone exploration and production
expanded radically.  Extensive illegal mining in the area soon compelled the
Zambian Government to declare the area a “restricted zone” and to expel the
local population.

Since that time, only government-sanctioned mining has taken place there – via
large-scale commercial mining and by small-scale miners on several hundred
small claims.  In 1980, Kagem Mining Ltd. (55% owned by the Zambian
Government) was authorized to explore and mine the Kafubu concession.  In
2004 the United Kingdom-listed Gemfields Resources PLC (controlled by
Johannesburg’s Pallinghurst Resources) began systematic exploration near the
Pirala mine, south of the Ndola River, and discovered significant emerald
deposits.  By 2007 Gemfields had acquired 100% ownership of two mines in the
area and about 60% of the prospective strike lengths of emerald-bearing host
rocks in the Ndola Rural Emerald Restricted Area.  Mining began at the Kagem
mine (actually a group of mines), north of the Ndola River, in 2005, and Gemfields
was awarded a management contract there in November 2007.  In the following
June, Gemfields acquired a 75% ownership in the mine, the remainder being held
by the Government.

Emerald production at the Kagem mine for the year ending June 30, 2009, was
27.6 million carats, from an average ore grade of 349 carats per ton, at an
operating cost of about 40 cents per carat (Gemfields, 2009).  As of 2010 the
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emerald rough was selling for an average of about 75 cents per carat, but high-
quality rough was selling for up to $500 per carat.

Until 2008, all of the emerald-bearing ore produce at the Kagem mine was
processed by large-scale crushing, washing and sorting in the adjacent
processing plant.

Sorting belt where emerald rough is hand-picked from crushed schist ore

(Gemfields PLC photo)

However, Gemfields executives suspected that the emerald-bearing quartz veins
that are occasionally encountered in the schist might, with proper preparation,
yield fine emerald specimens for collectors and museums.  The opportunity to test
this theory came in late 2008, when an unusually thick zone of emerald-rich
quartz was encountered in the pit.  This zone yielded five large chunks of quartz
ranging from 2 to 35 kg, enclosing a number of gem-quality emerald crystals. 
Gemfields decided to withhold those boulders from normal processing and see if
a specimen preparation company could be enlisted to evaluate their potential.

A block of emerald-rich quartz, before preparation

In February 2009 Gemfields contacted Bryan Lees of Collector’s Edge Minerals
Inc. in Golden, Colorado, and together they developed a plan to collect, prepare
and market emerald specimens from the Kagem mine.  Collector’s Edge
technicians visited the mine site and introduced Gemfields’ employees to
advanced mineral specimen collecting tools and techniques which they could use
to help maximize the intact recovery of emerald-rich quartz blocks having
specimen potential.  As it turned out, these tools and techniques proved useful in
day–to-day gem mining work as well.
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Huge tonnages of emerald-bearing rock are processed annually at the Kagem
mine, but only a tiny percentage consists of the emerald-bearing quartz that is
suitable for the preparation of specimens.  Since March of 2009, approximately
50 kg of the highest-quality emerald-rich quartz have been shipped to Collector’s
Edge Minerals for preparation.  This material had been collected by Gemfields’
employees over the preceding 18 months.  A larger quantity of lesser-quality,
carving-grade emerald-in-quartz was also shipped.  The first emerald specimens
produced by the mine and prepared by Collector’s Edge Minerals were offered for
sale at the 2009 Denver Gem, and Mineral Show.

GEOLOGY:

Emerald bearing pegmatite bands intruding amphibolite and talc-magnetite schist.

Three major rock units of the 1.7-billion-year–old metamorphic Muva Supergroup
occur in the Kagem mine area (Daly and Unrug, 1983).  The uppermost layer
consists of mica schist measuring from 30 to 40 meters thick.  The top 10 to 20
meters of this schist unit have weathered into soil and laterite.  Beneath the mica
schist is a layer of amphibolite between 15 and 20 meters thick.  Under the
amphibolite is metabasite, a magnesium-rich and chromium-rich metamorphosed
volcanic rock consisting of talc-chlorite-actinolite schist +- magnetite, which hosts
the emerald mineralization (Sliwa and Nguluwe, 1984; Seifert et al., 2004).  Light-
colored beryllium-bearing quartz-feldspar pegmatites and epigenetic
hydrothermal quartz-rich veins associated with the Pan-African Orogeny cut
across all three units.  Potassium/argon age-dating of muscovite associated with
emerald crystals in the reaction zones suggests an age of crystallization of
approximately 447-452 million years ago (Seifert et al., 2004).

Emeralds occur at the Kagem mine mostly in metasomatically altered phlogopite-
rich zones up to 3 meters wide that rim the numerous pegmatite dikes and quartz-
tourmaline veins (genetically related to a granite pluton at depth) cutting through
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the talc-magnetite schist country rock.  They may thus be classified as “schist-
type” emeralds, like those from Brazil, Madagascar, Russia and South Africa (as
opposed to “non-schist” emeralds from Columbia and Nigeria).  The best
emeralds occur where the reaction zone is near intersection of the pegmatite
veins and quartz-tourmaline veins (Zwaan et al., 2005).  The majority of the
emerald mineralization took place at temperatures of 360 deg. to 390 deg. C and
pressures of 400 to 450 MPa.

The Kagem emerald concession covers an area of approximately 46 square
kilometers within a 200-square-kilometer productive zone.  Within this area are
six known belts of talc-magnetite schist totaling over 13 km in strike length.  One
of these belts, the Fwaya-Fwaya-Pirala belts, is currently the main focus of
emerald production at the Kagem mine.  Core drilling along this belt has
established a strike length of 1,720 meters.  As of 2005, emeralds had been
mined to a depth of about 60 meters, but field surveys, chemical analyses and
structural studies indicate that the productive zone extends significantly deeper
(Zwan et al., 2005).

The emerald appears to have formed as a single generation of growth within the
schist (and not in the pegmatites.)  The schist and associated Mg-rich metabasic
rocks provided the necessary elements for the crystallization of emeralds,
including 3000 to 4000 ppm of chromium and a trace of vanadium, these two
elements being the source of the emerald-green color.  The chromium is
concentrated primarily in chlorite (up to 1.5 wt.%) and magnetite (up to 13.6%)
(Seifert et al., 2004).

The majority of the emeralds mined at the Kagem mine occur within the friable
schist reaction zones where they are easily removed by crushing and processing
of the rock.  However, emeralds suitable for preservation as mineral specimens
are found predominantly within quartz boudins or lenses within the schist and on
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or near the contact with the pegmatite.  Thus they are unusual (perhaps unique)
in being “schist-type” emeralds that are hosted in quartz rather than schist.

At a late stage in the pegmatite emplacement, after free-growing emerald crystal
had formed in open pockets in the schist, silica-rich fluids were introduced into the
reaction zone.  These fluids precipitated quartz in lenses up to 30 cm thick,
completely enclosing the free-growing emerald crystals and filling the open
pockets.  This encapsulation of the emerald crystals in quartz protected them to
some extent from further stress and chemical activity.  Nevertheless, minor
tectonic movements fractured some of the embedded emerald crystals in the
thinner quartz lenses, and the fractures were then filled by quartz.  The fractures
commonly follow a poor (0001) cleavage, but some crystals show a second set of
parallel fractures at an angle to the c axis.  Emerald crystals were best preserved
in the larger, more massive quartz lenses (up to 30 cm thick) that were better able
to resist plastic deformation under tectonic stress.  Unfortunately, quartz lenses
thicker than about10 cm are very scarce, so the opportunities for recovering high-
quality emerald crystal specimens are rare.

View of quartz stringers in pegmatite.

In-situ quartz lens.

In many of the quartz lenses the emerald crystals are concentrated on one side of
the pod, suggesting that gravity may have caused them to accumulate at the
bottom of the cavity.  Also, movement of the siliceous fluid may have caused the
preferential orientation of some of the emerald crystals, so that they tend to lie flat
parallel to the boundary of the pod, and are also aligned along the direction of the
flow.

EMERALD:  Be Al Si O3 2 6



1/10/23, 12:20 PM The Kagem Emerald Mine, Kafubu Area, Zambia - Collector's Edge

https://collectorsedge.com/legacy/the-kagem-emerald-mine-kafubu-area-zambia/ 9/22

The emerald variety of beryl (Be Al Si O) is generally restricted by gemologists to
those specimens deriving their color from trace amounts of chromium (and
possibly vanadium).  Kagem mine emeralds contain 0.26 to 0.86 weight percent
Cr O  (Zwaan et al., 2005), the color intensity of the darker crystals correlating
well with Cr content; green beryl with as little as 0.04 weight percent Cr O  were
also identified.  Some crystals contain up to 0.23 weight percent Cr O . 
Vanadium content is uniformly low (around 0.02 wt. %), and thus it is unlikely that
vanadium contributes much to the color of the crystals.  The best crystals exhibit
an intense, classic emerald-green color with a faint bluish tinge.  Colorless, pale
green, blue –green and blue beryl crystals have also been found.  Some crystals
are color-zoned, with a paler yellowish green to greenish blue core surrounded by
a deep green rim (Zwaan et al., 2005), but other crystals may be deep green all
the way through.

The best crystals have a mirror-smooth luster and a high degree of transparency. 
In other cases, inclusions of black phlogopite render the crystals darker and less
transparent.  Matrix specimens may show emerald crystals resting on white
quartz or on black phlogopite schist.

The sharp-edged, well-formed crystals consist of a simple hexagonal prism
terminated by the (001) basal pinacoid.  The habit tends to be elongated; crystals
up to 14 cm in length and 2.5 cm in width have been recovered.  However,
crystals of common beryl up to 30 cm long have been reported from within the
pegmatite in the Kagem concession (Seifert et al., 2004), and a local mine
manager reported that during the 1980s large emerald crystals up to 60 cm long
were found at the Kamakanga Old Pit (Zwaan et al, 2005).

The emerald crystals are found predominantly near the boundaries between the
quartz lenses and the schist, often lying parallel to the boundary, with a little

3 2 6

2 3

2 3

2 3
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quartz between the crystal and the contact with the schist.

A remarkable number of other species have also been identified as inclusions in
Zambian emeralds, including actinolite, tremolite, chlorite, dravite, apatite-(CaF),
magnetite, hematite, quartz, fluorite, magnesite, siderite, dolomite, calcite,
ankerite, niobium-rich rutile, pyrite, talc, zircon, barite, albite, lepidocrocite,
glauconite, quartz, chrysoberyl, margarite, muscovite, biotite, brookite, tourmaline
and crysotile (Huong, 2008; Zwaan et al., 2005; Milisenda et al., 1999; Moroz and
Eliezri, 1999; Graziani et al., 1983; Koivula, 1982, 1984; Gubelin and Koivula,
1986).  One-phase, two-phase and three-phase fluid inclusions are also present
(Zacharias et al., 2005).

Quartz-based Emeralds

Crystals found scattered within the largest quartz lenses (up to 30 cm thick) tend
to be the finest and best preserved.  The emerald crystals that extend into the
quartz lens with their bases at the schist contact are typically darkened by
phlogopite inclusions near the base and become gemmier as they extend into the
quartz.

Emerald crystals of a generally lower quality occur in the more common thin (3 to
8 cm) quartz lenses, which can run 20 to 30 cm in length.  The crystals and the
surrounding quartz both commonly suffer from extensive fracturing.  The quartz
has a more granular quality and is more opaque because of the fracturing. 
Kagem emeralds are also more opaque, both from phlogopite inclusions and from
fractures.  It is common to see many fine parallel white lines of incipient or re-
healed fractures running through the emerald crystals.  The luster of these
crystals ranges from resinous to bright on the better examples, and waxy to dull
on the poorer ones.  Yellowish to brownish iron staining is present within fractures
throughout the lenses.  Elongated gemmy emeralds do exist within these thinner
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pods, but have usually been fractured into pieces by tectonic forces and
cemented with quartz.  The fractures vary in thickness from hairline width to
several millimeters.  Some of these fracture crystals appear bent or curved.

A chunk of typical quartz containing emerald crystals

Emerald crystal, 10.5 cm, in quartz; total specimen size 13 cm x 10.5 cm x 6 cm.

MIM Museum collection, Beirut, Lebanon.  Richard Jackson photo.

Schist-hosted Emeralds

Emerald crystals occurring within the phlogopite schist (below) ranges in quality
from gem-clear to almost completely filled with phlogopite inclusions.  The color of
the beryl is still very good, but it is generally darkened by inclusions of black
phlogopite, or appears dark because of the dark schist showing through from
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behind the more transparent crystals.  The crystals show a high luster on the well-
formed faces, and waxier luster on undulating faces.

The schist-hosted emeralds occur as single crystal specimens but more
commonly as flat-lying clusters showing some preferred orientation, and as
radiating sprays.  The schist-hosted specimens commonly contain many crystals. 
Of the specimens received by Collector’s Edge there was only one fully
transparent schist-hosted emerald.  It is unusual that such a specimen was
saved, because most of the emeralds in the friable schist have been processed
for gem rough.  This particular specimen was found in a much harder, sturdier
schist matrix and hence was saved as a specimen.

A plate of schist-hosted emeralds – though gem quality in some areas, a few are

suitable by themselves as individual specimens.

SPECIMEN PREPARATION:

The preparation process for the emerald specimens is slow and tedious because
of the brittle nature of the emeralds and the hardness of the enclosing quartz.  A
single quartz-enclosed specimen can take several months to prepare.  The
preparation work is entirely mechanical; no chemicals are used, as any chemicals
that could remove the quartz would surely damage the beryl as well.

Collector’s Edge laboratory manager Robert Lorda displaying a block of quartz

containing emeralds

The first step is a visual assessment of the “raw” quartz/emerald block. 
Laboratory technicians at Collector’s Edge take note of all the emerald crystals
exposed at the surface of the sample.  Using exposed emerald crystal as a
starting point, an intense light source is focused into the translucent quartz block
around the area of the crystal.  Emerald crystals embedded in the quartz will glow
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faintly, allowing the technicians to estimate their orientation and approximate
length.  The presence of emerald crystals not exposed at the surface can also be
detected by this “green glow” technique.

The lab technicians then carefully plan the initial diamond saw cuts and mark
them on the surface of the quartz boulder with grease pencils.  The larger quartz
boulders and lenses are then cut up into more manageable sizes, and the
trimmed quartz blocks are once again subjected to visual examination with the
intense light source.  By this method one is only able to “see” 3 to 5 centimeters
into the quartz blocks, so when exploring for emerald crystals within the larger
quartz pieces it is necessary to trim and re-examine them many times to make
sure that none of the terminated emerald crystals are accidentally cut by the
diamond saw.

Additionally, during this exploration phase, a decision is made regarding the best
and most aesthetic final orientation of the potential emerald specimens.  It is
important to keep this vision of the final specimen in mind, so as not to saw away
any quartz which might later be wanted as matrix for the finished piece.  Every
effort is made to preserve more than one terminated emerald crystal on a given
piece of matrix.   Sadly, very few specimens have been encountered which have
a geometry that will allow more than one crystal to be kept on the same piece of
quartz matrix.

Emerald-bearing quartz after initial removal of material. Specimen is unusual in

that it shows multiple emerald crystals that potentially can be mechanically etched

out of the quartz to result in a multi-crystal emerald specimen.

Quartz containing emerald crystals after more preparation.

Once all the potential specimens have been identified, oriented and trimmed into
their individual quartz blocks, the painstaking work of removing the enclosing
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quartz is begun.  The Collector’s Edge laboratory technicians utilize various
micro-pneumatic tools to slowly peel away the quartz, 5 to 10 mm at a time.  The
impact made by these small power tools can produce unwanted fractures in the
quartz matrix, so whenever necessary the quartz is vacuum-impregnated with an
optical-grade epoxy to stabilize it.

Quartz boulder revealing multiple emerald crystals as preparation continues.

As the emerald crystals are gradually exposed from the quartz a temporary
protective coating of epoxy resin is applied to their surface.  This coating shields
the crystals from the impacts of any abraded quartz particles.  Because of the
brittleness of the emeralds and the tenacity of the massive quartz, extreme care
must be taken during the final stages of quartz removal.  The micro-pneumatic
tool chosen for the final stage of specimen preparation is more precise, and the
removal of the final layer of quartz from the emerald is done under the
microscope. The technicians also employ micro-air–abrasive techniques to
remove quartz in the final stages.
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Quartz containing emerald crystals as preparation continues to reveal several fine

crystals.

Once the quartz matrix has reached its final configuration, the laboratory
technician uses air-abrasive techniques to remove all of the visible epoxy resin
from the surfaces of the quartz and the emeralds.  The specimens are then
finished and ready for sale.  By agreement with Gemfields PLC, Collector’s Edge
Minerals, Inc. is the sole world-wide distributor for the Kagem mine emerald
specimens.
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Preparation completed, revealing multiple, exquisite emerald crystals!  Specimen

is approximately 14 cm x 12 cm x 7 cm and resides in the British Museum.

Quartz containing emerald crystals as preparation progresses.  Red marks

indicate trimming areas of excess quartz.

Temporary epoxy coating to protect emeralds as preparation continues.

Further preparation and addition of temporary epoxy protective coating.

Final emerald specimen after preparation.  Approximate size 11 cm x 11 cm x 6

cm.

Quartz containing single emerald crystal in initial preparation stage.

Emerald specimen coated with temporary protective epoxy coating and matrix

marked

(red line) for removal.

Final emerald specimen after preparation.  Final size approximately 4 cm x 4 cm

x 4 cm.

Gem quality emerald, approximately 5.6 cm x 3.3 cm x 3.2 cm.
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Emerald crystal, 10.5 cm, in quartz; total specimen size 13 cm x 10.5 cm x 6 cm. 

MIM Museum collection, Beirut, Lebanon.  Emerald is of exceptional length,

mostly gem quality with perfect termination.  Richard Jackson photo.

Emerald specimen, size 8.7 cm x 5.3 cm x 3 cm.  Collector’s Edge specimen.

Excellent multiple emerald crystal specimen, size 6.5 cm x 6 cm x 3.5 cm.
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Multiple emerald crystal specimen showing combination of “clean” emerald and

end of one crystal heavily impregnated with phlogopite inclusions.  Size 7.7 cm x

6.4 cm x 3.0 cm.

Emerald specimen showing crystal in both clean quartz and phlogopite schist wall

rock.  Size 4 cm x 7 cm x 3.5 cm.

Multiple emerald specimen, size 9 cm x 7.5 cm x 8 cm.

Emerald crystals encased only in quartz matrix; size 8 cm x 8.5 cm x 5.2 cm.

Excellent specimen showing emerald crystal fractured by tectonic movement with

fine quartz rehealing of breakage; size approximately 18 cm x 11 cm x 8 cm.

OTHER MINERALS:
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Schorl is common within the quartz lenses, occurring as thin, elongate black
crystals with high luster.  The schorl occurs primarily as aligned crystals within the
schist and as thick bands at the contact between the schist and the thinner quartz
lenses.  It is commonly seen intergrown with schist-hosted emeralds.  No
collector-quality schorl specimens, or combinations of emerald and schorl
specimens, have been discovered.  The emerald/schorl specimens will most likely
be relegated to carving rough.

Other minerals found in the Kafubu emerald area include allanite (small euhedral
crystals in rock), amethystine quartz (in a single 10-cm-wide vein), bertrandite (7-
mm crystal aggregates replacing beryl), columbite-(Mn) (prismatic euhedral
microcrystals), monazite (euhedral microcrystals), epidote, gahnite, phenakite
(crystals to 1 cm enclosed in beryl), plumbomicrolite (brownish yellow crystals to
1 mm), and xenotime (euhedral microcrystal inclusions) (Seifert et al., 2004).

GEMSTONES:

The beautiful green Kagem mine EMERALDS are cut by skilled gem cutters into
faceted stones with incredible color and brilliance. These gemstones look
stunning in rings, pendants and earrings!  The emerald can also be fashioned into
cabochons and a variety of other polished forms suitable for use in jewelry and
perfect for rare gemstone collections.

Hand sorting emerald rough.

Facet quality crystal emerald rough separated during sorting.

Emerald rough being faceted.

Pear-shaped 1.68 carat, 10mm faceted emerald
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Group of faceted emeralds

A unique, one-of-a-kind table produced using an emerald bearing quartz slab

(almost a meter in length)

CURRENT STATUS:

Currently no further emerald bearing quartz lenses have been located at the
Kagem mine.
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Overview 

Chairman's Statement 

The past year will uпdoubtedly Ье remembered as а real "аппus horribilis" of receпt times. Very few compaпies have 
Ьееп spared the mass disruptioп created Ьу the COVID-19 paпdemic апd Gemfields Group Limited ("Gemfields", the 
"Соmрапу", "GGL" or "the Group") is по differeпt. The COVID-19 paпdemic uпquestioпably has Ьееп the toughest 
challeпge Gemfields has faced to date. 

As а result, Gemfields has speпt the year adaptiпg its approach, policies апd coпtrols іп order to best пavigate the 
chaпgiпg circumstaпces апd uпcertaiпty brought about Ьу COVID-19. From the outset, the focus has Ьееп the well-beiпg 
of employees, host commuпities апd customers, whilst eпsuriпg busiпess coпtiпuity апd the protectioп of shareholder 
value. The Board is eпcouraged that, with the curreпt rollout of the global vассіпаtіоп programme, the world is Іеаrпіпg 
gradually how to live апd work with COVID-19. 

Gemfields started 2020 positively, with the listiпg оп the Alterпative Iпvestmeпt Market ("АІМ") ofthe Lопdоп Stock 
Exchaпge оп 14 February 2020, ап importaпt niilestoпe for the Соmрапу. GGL's share price іпіtіаІІу reacted well to its 
АІМ listiпg, rising Ьу some 16% from the start of the period up to the listiпg date. However, as the impact of COVID-19 
kicked іп duriпg March 2020, the GGL share price has suffered апd struggled to gаіп momeпtum sіпсе. The first quarter 
also saw the Zambiaп operatioпs produce ап ехсерtіопаІ quaпtity of premium-grade emeralds, settiпg the Group up 
well for the year ahead. Uпfortuпately, the Group theп eпcouпtered the challeпges posed Ьу COVID-19, with office 
closures, travel Ьапs, the suspeпsioп of mіпіпg operatioпs апd geпeral disruptioп caused to team members operatiпg іп 
піпе couпtries. 

The Group's flagship operatioпs іп Mozambique апd Zambia have both Ьееп impacted severely Ьу the various measures 
put іп рІасе to сопtаіп the COVID-19 paпdemic, most sigпificaпtly the restrictioпs оп travel апd the movemeпt of goods, 
which have impeded both the mіпіпg operatioпs апd the overall market for the Group's products. Gemfields' 2020 
auctioп schedule was also affected пegatively Ьу the mапу travel, quaraпtiпe апd coпgregatiпg restrictioпs put іп рІасе 
іпtеrпаtіопаІІу to mitigate COVID-19 сопtаgіоп. Gemfields' typical auctioп schedule coпsists of five to six auctioпs per 
year - two of mixed-quality rubies апd three or four of emeralds (split betweeп higher quality апd commercial-quality). 

Gemfields was аЬІе to host опІу опе regular-format auctioп іп 2020, yieldiпg USDl 1.4 millioп from the sale of 
commercial quality emeralds in February 2020 іп Lusaka. The Group has therefore had to fiпd alterпative апd 
iппovative ways of holdiпg auctions despite challeпgiпg market coпditioпs, iпtroduciпg its iпaugural series of five small 
опІіпе emerald auctioпs that took рІасе betweeп November апd mid-December of 2020. Gemfields achieved reveпues of 
USD10.9 million from the miпi-auctioп series, resultiпg іп Kagem Miniпg Limited ("Kagem") geпeratiпg total auctioп 
reveпues for 2020 of USD22.3 millioп. There was по ruby reveпue іп 2020. Duriпg the same period іп 2019, the 
Mozambicaп апd Zambiaп operatioпs geпerated reveпues ofUSD121.5 mіІІіоп апd USD79.0 millioп, respectively. With 
the disruptioпs caused Ьу COVID-19 ruппіпg well іпtо 2021, the Group is pleased that this пеw опІіпе auctioп platform 
provides ап additioпal striпg to GGL's bow іп faciпg the iпevitable challeпges ahead. 

АІІ but critical operatioпs at Moпtepuez Ruby Міпіпg Ltda ("MRM") were suspeпded from 22 April 2020 апd remaiпed 
suspeпded for the rest of the year. Productioп at MRM duriпg those first four moпths was well withiп expectatioпs. With 
по ruby auctioпs takiпg рІасе duriпg the year, MRM preseпtly has sufficieпt inveпtory to support опе mixed-quality 
ruby auctioп. АІІ sigпificaпt capital expeпditure projects, iпcludiпg the secoпd ore treatmeпt рІапt at MRM, remaiп 
suspeпded uпtil busiпess coпditioпs improve. Operatioпs at MRM restarted duriпg March 2021 іп а phased maпner, 
іпіtіаІІу with MRM's treatmeпt рІапt апd sortiпg house, with productioп expected to ramp back up to full-scale Ьу the 
епd of April 2021. 

РrіпсіраІ operatioпs at Kagem were suspeпded from ЗО March 2020, haltiпg the ехсеІІепt ruп of premium emerald 
productio.п duriпg the first quarter of 2020. Productioп іп the premium emerald category, for the first three moпths of 
the year, surpassed 50% of the prior full year's premium emerald productioп. As а result of this ехсеІІепt recovery іп the 
first quarter, Kagem preseпtly has sufficieпt iпveпtory to support опе higher-quality апd опе commercial-quality 
emerald auction. АІІ sigпificaпt capital expeпditure projects at Kagem remaiп suspeпded for the foreseeable future. 

РrіпсіраІ operatioпs at Kagem recommeпced during March 2021 іп а phased mаппеr, with full productioп capacity 
expected Ьу the епd of April 2021. 

з 
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Faberge Ltd ("Faberge") recorded revenues of USD7.1 million in 2020 (USDl0.5 million for the comparative period) at а 
sales margin of 54% (31 % for the previous year) and an ЕВІТDА loss of USD3.4 million (USD6.5 million for the previous 
year). Faberge continues to seek to mitigate the impact of ongoing COVID-19 restrictions on its physical retail outlets Ьу 
increasing its digital presence, with а greater focus on social media platforms given the reach, adaptabi\ity and 
measurability offered Ьу these channels. The Group's focus remains on removing the cash dependency оп the Group Ьу 
pursuing operating profitability at Faberge. 

In November 2020, GGL aпnounced that it had commenced а sales process for its 6.54% iпdirect stake іп Sedibelo 
Platinum Міпеs Ltd ("Sedibelo"). Initial discussions with prospective buyers sооп commenced. However, due to the 
complexities ofthe Sedibelo ownership structure, the process remaiпs oпgoing. Sedibelo coпtinues to Ье unlisted with 
no market price readily avai\able to value the Group's stake. At 31December2019, the decisioп was made to engage ап 
independeпt third party to assess the Group's carryiпg value of Sedibelo on the balance sheet. An іпdерепdепt third 
party was again used to update the valuation of Sedibelo at 31December2020, as required Ьу accouпtiпg staпdards. 
Using the results of the independent valuatioп report, the Gemfields Board has approved а USD27.9 million fair value 
decrease for the year, bringing the value for the Group's 6.54% stake in Sedibelo to USD29.6 mіІІіоп as at 31 December 
2020. 

At the Company's Annual General Meeting ("AGM") оп 24 Juпe 2020, more than 25% of voting shareholders voted 
against the поп-Ьіпdіng shareholder resolutions іп respect of GGL's Remuпeratioп РоІісу апd Remuпeratioп 
Implemeпtatioп Report. As а resu\t, interested shareholders were invited to atteпd а confereпce саІ\ on 16 July 2020 to 
discuss remuneratioп matters and provide feedback on the Company's remuпeratioп роІісу and measures that the 
Remuпeratioп Committee had Ьееп coпsidering. Following this саІІ, the Compaпy's Remuпeratioп Committee examiпed 
shareholder concerпs further апd deployed the services of а remuneration consultancy to provide indepeпdeht advice 
regardiпg market practice апd its аррІісаtіоп to shareholders' concerns. Revised remuпeration arraпgemeпts were 
formalised апd circulated to shareholders. Another shareholder сопfеrепсе саІІ took рІасе on 14 December 2020, and 
the Compaпy's revised Remuпeration РоІісу will Ье put forward for shareholder approval at the Compaпy's 2021 AGM. 

As а result ofthe АІМ listiпg, Gemfields has improved broker coverage through fіппСар апd Liberum (who were 
appoiпted as joiпt brokers duriпg the year), streпgtheпiпg the Group's public profile апd reach to UK, Europeaп апd 
interпational iпvestors. Іп additioп, the redundaпt Bermudaп listiпg was reliпquished in July 2020. Іп order to better 
аІіgп the refreshed Gemfields with appropriate market practice апd further improve the corporate goverпaпce 
framework, the Company's Articles of Incorporation ("Articles") have Ьееп reviewed, takiпg іпtо account shareholder 
views, АІМ апd JSE practices апd а peer group comparison iпcluding large, diversified miпers. The proposed revisioпs to 
the Articles will Ье put to shareholders for approval at this year's AGM. 

The past year has also sееп the Соmрапу face iпcreased scrutiny from, and engagemeпt Ьу, an activist shareholder 
group. Transpareпcy is а key Gemfields teпet апd, to that епd, GGL has made copies of the successive rounds of 
correspoпdeпce available to аІІ shareholders via the Company's website. Although Gemfields does поt always coпcur 
with the оріпіопs of that group and dealing with the issues raised has iпvolved sigпificaпt maпagemeпt time, the 
eпgagement has Ьееп deemed useful апd the Соmрапу has addressed certaiп matters pursued Ьу this shareholder 
group, notably іп relatioп to the Compaпy's Articles апd executive remuпeratioп. 

The Group was оп track to distribute its maiden dividend to shareholders duriпg the secoпd quarter of 2020. However, 
giveп the emergence of the COVID-19 paпdemic, the рІаппеd distributioп was postpoпed for ап iпdefiпite period іп 
order to preserve cash resources. It remaiпs а key ambitioп ofthe Board and management team to distribute divideпds 
оп а coпsisteпt апd sustaiпable basis опсе the impact ofthe paпdemic has passed апd the Company's operatioпs returп 
to sustained пormality. 

І welcome the appointment of the Compaпy's new iпdependeпt пoп-executive director, Ms Mary Reilly, to the GGL 
Board. Mary briпgs deep ехреrіепсе in UK-listed compaпies, as well as fіпапсіаІ апd risk management expertise at this 
crucial time in the Compaпy's history. 

І would like to thank ту fellow directors апd the spirited Gemfields teams for their hard work апd substantial 
contributioпs duriпg this uпprecedented апd demaпdiпg period. GGL takes comfort іп the worldwide COVID-19 
vaccination rollout апd І expect the Compaпy's business to recover іп 2021 as global markets rеореп. І look forward to 
progressing Gemfields' vision of Ьеіпg the global leader іп African emeralds, rubies and sapphires, promotiпg 
traпsparency, trust and respoпsible miпing practices. 
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Martin Tolcher 
Chairman 
29 March 2021 
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Overview 
Chief Executive's Statement 

The year brought uпprecedeпted challeпges as а result of COVID-19 апd our full year results reflect the immeпse impact 
caused Ьу the paпdemic. Our traditioпal gemstoпe auctioпs were immobilised Ьу the widespread quaraпtiпe, travel апd 
coпgregatiпg restrictioпs, mеапіпg our clieпts were severely impeded іп carryiпg out physica\ iпspectioпs of our 
gemstoпes, а critica\ step іп purchasiпg coloured gems. As such, апd wheп combiпed with the marked stagпatioп іп 
coloured gemstoпe tradiпg activity for much of 2020, our auctioп reveпues fell Ьу almost 89% from 2019's record high 
of USD200.5 mіІІіоп to just USD22.3 mіІІіоп іп 2020. 

We are grateful to the Gemfields team worldwide for their опgоіпg dedicatioп апd thaпk them for the sacrifices that 
mапу have had to make to safeguard our busiпess. І am coпfideпt that Gemfields has поw successfully пegotiated the 
worst of the COVID-19 storm апd will епjоу smoother sailiпg іп the post-paпdemic world. 

Our strategy remaiпs focussed оп coпsolidatiпg our positioп as а world-leadiпg supplier of respoпsibly sourced Africaп · 
emeralds, rubies апd sapphires, with our owпership of the ісопіс Faberge braпd епhапсіпg the positioпiпg апd 
perceptioп of coloured gemstoпes іп the miпds of coпsumers. · 

MOZAMBIQUE 
РrіпсіраІ operatioпs at MRM were suspeпded оп 22 April 2020 апd remaiпed suspeпded uпtil March 2021. As а result 
of ruппіпg the mіпе for just four moпths іп 2020, MRM's productioп figures for the year were severely impacted. 
However, we take some comfort from the 1.3 mіІІіоп carats of ruby апd coruпdum that were recovered duriпg 2020 
(versus 2.2 mіІІіоп carats іп 2019). Our productioп of "premium ruby", the driviпg force behiпd our reveпue, was 
28,700 carats іп 2020 (versus 81,300 premium carats іп 2019). Loпg ехреrіепсе has taught us that co\oured gemstoпe 
mіпіпg characteristical\y disp\ays coпsiderable volatility of both gemstoпe qua\ity апd ore grade. Total rock haпdliпg at 
MRM for 2020 was 1.9 mіІІіоп tоппеs, dowп from the 7.2 mіІІіоп tоппеs duriпg 2019. 

MRM held по ruby auctioпs duriпg 2020 due to the far-reachiпg fal\out arisiпg from COVID-19. Іп 2019, MRM geпerated 
USD121.5 mіІІіоп іп auctioп reveпues from two auctioпs. АІІ sigпificaпt capital expenditure, includiпg the secoпd ore 
treatmeпt рІапt, was postpoпed as а result. The timiпg of capital expeпditure will Ье reviewed as we gаіп better iпsight 
іпtо sales duriпg 2021. Total capital expeпditure duriпg 2020 was USD3.9 mіІІіоп versus USD20.5 mіІІіоп іп 2019. The 
2020 capital expeпditure was made up ofUSDl.3 mіІІіоп iпvested іп ехрапsіоп апd exploratioп projects апd USD2.6 
mіІІіоп iпvested іп existiпg mіпіпg апd апсіІІаrу equipmeпt replacemeпts, iпcludiпg the completioп of the Resettlemeпt 
Асtіоп РІап ("RAP"). The RAP represeпts ап importaпt social project for the mіпе апd its \оса\ commuпities апd MRM 
was pleased to Ье аЬІе to сопtіпuе its work оп the RAP despite COVID-related restrictioпs. The RAP project eпtailed the 
coпstructioп of 105 houses (plus public iпfrastructure, а school, church, mosque апd tradiпg market) for the 105 
families which were resettled from а village withiп MRM's сопсеssіоп at the епd of 2020. 

Sіпсе the suspeпsioп of рrіпсіраІ operatioпs, MRM has coпtiпued with security, mаіпtепапсе апd other esseпtial 
services іп order to eпsure that MRM is well placed to resume пormal operatioпs. Those employees at MRM поt 
required for the опgоіпg critica\ services were placed оп suspeпded coпtracts uпder prevailiпg Mozambicaп \aw апd 
received reduced remuпeratioп (subject always to miпimum wage coпsideratioпs) with the same аррІуіпg to MRM's 
board of directors. These measures reduced the overall wage ЬіІІ at MRM Ьу approximately 25%. The cost saviпgs 
implemeпted duriпg the crisis have resulted іп cash operatiпg expeпditure Ьеіпg reduced from approximately USD2.9 
mіІІіоп per moпth (the moпthly average for the eight moпths to 31December2019) to circa USDl.4 mіІІіоп per moпth 
(the moпthly average for the eight moпths to 31 December 2020). 

Іп the iпterests ot' improviпg health апd well-beiпg, MRM iпtroduced а COVID-19 coпtrol programme usiпg PCR testiпg 
for employees residiпg at MRM. The implemeпtatioп of the COVID-19 coпtrol programme coпtributed sigпificaпtly to 
the reductioп of cases іп MRM's resideпtial areas апd іп mitigatiпg the risk of commuпity traпsmissioп. 

Іп receпt moпths, the disturbiпg developmeпts surrouпdiпg the iпsurgeпcy іп the пorth of СаЬо Delgado proviпce have 
garпered iпcreased media exposure. Whi\e at this stage the iпsurgeпcy is поt regarded as ап immiпeпt risk to MRM's 
operatioпal coпtiпuity, we сопtіпuе to moпitor the situatioп closely. We have observed ап iпcrease іп displaced persoпs 
arriviпg іп our district, with а coпsequeпt rise іп il\egal mіпіпg activity апd iпcideпts liпked to the collapse of iпformally 
excavated pits. The Group has appropriate strategies іп р\асе, relatiпg to site safety апd the protectioп of MRM's 
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workforce, in the event the risk level heightens. Our thoughts are with the estimated 700,000 displaced persons who 
have been affected Ьу these appalling events. 

ZAMBIA 
Principal operations at Kagem in Zambia were suspended from ЗО March 2020 and remained suspended until March 
2021. Thanks to the sterling efforts of our team in Zambia, Kagem achieved remarkable production of "premium 
emeralds" during the only operating quarter ofthe year. Production in the premium emerald category was lЗЗ,900 
carats (versus 204,600 premium carats during the whole of 2019). Overall production for 2020 amounted to 9.4 million 
carats (versus Зб.З million carats in 2019). Total rock handling at Kagem was 2.З million tonnes in 2020, down from 
12.6 million tonnes during 2019. 

Kagem was аЬІе to host only one regular-format auction in 2020, in Lusaka in February, yielding USDl 1.4 million from 
the sale of commercial-quality emeralds. As а direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic, no further regular-format 
emerald auctions were held during the year. Kagem adapted to the new environment Ьу holding а series of five small 
emerald auctions during November and December 2020. Selected lots were made available for in-person and private 
viewings Ьу customers in ТеІ Aviv, Singapore and Jaipur, with the auctions taking рІасе via our new, specifically 
adapted, online bidding platform. These auctions saw 46 companies placing bids and generated total revenues of 
USDl0.9 million. Our new online bidding platform provides important flexibility and back-up for 2021 whilst we 
continue to navigate the months ahead. Kagem was аЬІе to supplement its 2020 revenues Ьу expanding its direct sales 
programme for lower-quality gemstones, bringing in approximately USD4.7 million of additional revenue through 
Gemfields India. 

During 2020, and as а result of the suspension of principal operations and the focus on cash preservation, just USD0.9 
million was invested in replacing mining and ancillary equipment as well as in infrastructure improvements at Kagem. 
This capital expenditure was significantly below the USD4.З million invested in 2019. Those Kagem employees not 
involved in the ongoing delivery of critical services were placed on reduced remuneration from Мау 2020, under 
Zambia's New Employment Code Act. Reductions were also applied to Kagem's board of directors. These measures 
reduced the overall wage ЬіІІ at Kagem Ьу approximately 20%. Kagem's cost-saving measures during the crisis resulted 
in cash operating expenditure being reduced from approximately USDЗ.6 million per month (the monthly average for 
the nine months to З 1 December 2019) to circa USDl.3 million per month (the monthly average for the nine months to 
Зl December 2020). 

As а result of the protocols laid down Ьу the Government of the Republic of Zambia ("GRZ") and the World Health 
Organization ("WHO"), which Kagem strictly adhered to, the mine reported no onsite case of COVID-19 during 2020. 

FABERGE 
Our outright ownership of Faberge - an iconic and prestigious brand of exceptional heritage - enables us to augment 
consumer awareness of coloured gemstones and advance our "mine and market" vision. 

Faberge's revenues were severely impacted in 2020 due to the extended periods of closure of directly operated and 
partner-operated boutiques during the various national lockdowns. Many of Faberge's planned events and exhibitions 
were cancelled due to COVID-19. 

During 2020, Faberge generated revenues of USD7.l million (USDl0.5 million in 2019) and recorded an ЕВІТDА loss of 
USDЗ.4 million (versus а loss of USDб.S million in 2019). Encouragingly, operating costs reduced Ьу more than 20% 
from the prior year, with average monthly operating expenses of USD0.6 million during 2020 (versus USD0.8 million in 
2019). Due to the overall decline in market conditions resulting from the lingering impact of COVID-19, the Group is 
recognising an impairment loss of USDll.S million, as assessed Ьу an external independent valuation expert, against 
Faberge's intangible assets. 

OTHER PROJECTS 
Due to the pandemic, principal operations at Nairoto Resources Limitada ("NRL"), our gold exploration joint venture 
project with Mwiriti Limitada (Gemfields' partner at MRM), were suspended оп 7 Мау 2020. The passing of control for 
this project, including аІІ operating management for the twelve licences, was treated as an asset acquisition in the 
current year. The timing and scale of activities at NRL will Ье tailored to align with the extent of our group-wide 
recovery in the year ahead. 
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ln Ethiopia, the operations ofWeb Gemstone Mining ("WGM"), in which Gemfields own а 75% stake, remain suspended 
given the current uncertainty created Ьу the COVID-19 pandemic and the ongoing instability in the country. 

Gemfields also owns 100% of Oriental Mining SARL, а company which holds assorted licences in Madagascar, including 
for emeralds and sapphires. We will seek to continue preliminary work on identified prospects in Madagascar as and 
when circumstances permit. 

INVESTMENTS 
Sedibelo Platinum Mines Ltd ("Sedibelo"), in which the Group currently has an indirect 6.54% shareho\ding on а see­
through basis, has focussed on optimising its revenue stream as precious metal prices increase whilst minimising 
production costs and optimising operating efficiencies. Sedibelo's safety record remains unsurpassed in the industry, 
with over б.О million fatality-free shifts over more than а decade of operations. 

Sedibelo dispatched 87,000 4Е PGM ounces during the nine months to September 2020, down 9% on the comparative 
period in 2019. An increase in the US dollar-denominated 4Е PGM basket price and the weakening of the South African 
rand against the US dollar helped revenues increase Ьу 37% to USDl 79 mi\lion for the nine months to September 2020 
and further enhanced operating margins. As а result of the upsurge in the value ofpalladium and rhodium, the US dollar 
4Е PGM basket price increased to USDl,886 for the first nine months of 2020 (versus USDl,219 for the comparative 
period). The most recent independent valuation report has reduced the Jevels of subjectivity involved in our assessment 
of the value of Sedibelo. 

During the year, we engaged advisors to market and sell the Group's 23.65% equity holding in Pallinghurst lvy Lane 
Capital S.a r.l. ("Ivy Lane"), the Luxembourg holding company through which Gemfields holds its stake in Sedibelo. The 
sales process is ongoing and we remain hopeful that we will Ье аЬІе to achieve an orderly sale of our indirect interest in 
Sedibelo in order to focus on our core business of coloured gemstones. Encouraging\y, the management of lvy Lane has 
indicated an intention to "unbundle" lvy Lane, such that its shareholders would соте to hold their stakes in Sedibelo 
directly. This development would simplify Gemfields' sales process. 

With the lack of appetite so far in our sales process, as well as the inclusion of additional financial multiples in the 
independent third party's valuation methodology, а fair value write-down has been recognised against the Group's 
Sedibelo investment during the year. 

RESULTS 
Overall, the Company generated an ЕВІТDА Joss of USD30.0million and recognised negative Free Cash Flow (as defined 
in the Financial Review) ofUSD56.1 million, before working capital movements. As at 31December2020, the Company 
was in а net debt position of USD12.6 million before auction receivables of USD8.9 million (31 December 2019: net cash 
of USD25.4 million before auction receivables of USD56.7 million). Gemfields was fortunate to enter the pandemic with а 
strong balance sheet and has applied measures to progressively reduce costs as the pandemic endured. 

Gemfields generated Group revenues during the year of just USD34.6 million (2019: USD216.2 million), predominantly 
derived from our emerald auction revenue and the direct sales of our lower-quality emeralds and beryl in India. Wholly 
owned jewellery brand Faberge contributed USD7.1 million ofrevenues during the year. 

Gemfields' focus during 2020 was centred on cash preservation given the pandemic's impact on the Group's ability to 
generate revenue. On 1 Мау 2020, аІІ UK staff members accepted а 20% remuneration reduction linked to а four-day 
working week. Remuneration рауаЬ\е to the Board of Directors of the Company was also reduced Ьу 20%. Similar 
measures were also extended to Gemfields' mining operations. Overal\, the Group's monthly operating costs dropped 
from approximately USD12.l million per month (the monthly average during the year to 31December2019) to an 
average of below USD5.0 million per month in the three months ending 31December2020, а remarkable achievement 
bythe team. 

Our Sedibelo investment recognised an unrealised fair value loss ofUSD27.9 million during the year, driven Ьу the 
findings from our independent third-party valuation report. 

The Group recognised а taxation credit for the year of USDб.O million (versus а USD28.2 million taxation charge in 
2019), consisting of а current tax charge of USD2.4 million, offset Ьу а deferred tax credit of USD8.4 mi\lion. 
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Normalised earпings for the year, after removing impairmeпt charges and fair value movements on Sedibelo, equate to а 
loss of USDSЗ.8 million (versus earnings of USD25.5 million in 2019). 

OUTLOOK 
2020 was а year unlike any that Gemfields has had to face to date. COVID-19 had а sudden and severe impact оп the 
Group's 2020 financial results as well as on many of our downstream clients and end customers. However, the recent 
success of our multi-city mini-auctions, deploying а new оnІіпе biddiпg platform, combined with а gradual easiпg of 
travel restrictions, provide the Group with more flexibility for 2021. We will continue to use this modified auction 
format to run mini-auctions ofboth emeralds and rubies over the comiпg months. We have been аЬІе to сопtіпuе paying 
our employees and suppliers, limiting redundancies throughout the Group and continuing our significant contributions 
to the host couпtry economies in which we operate. І believe that the decisions we have takeп in 2020 best positioп the 
Group, апd our sales of emeralds апd rubies, for а recovery іп 2021. Despite this, as Gemfields is highly dependent оп 
revenue from gemstone auctions, апу further complicatioпs to our 2021 auctioп programme would put severe straiп оп 
the Group's finances. Іп addition, the Group's fіпапсіаІ positioп remaiпs seпsitive to а пumber of material uпcertaiпties 
surroundiпg the Group, includiпg the global сопdіtіоп ofthe gemstoпe market, the ability ofthe Group's miпing 
operatioпs to coпtinue uninterrupted апd the coпtinuation of the Group's debt facilities (as disclosed іп the Goiпg 
Concern section of Note 1 to the Coпsolidated Finaпcial Statemeпts). 

We look forward to firiпg up аІІ the mіпіпg engiпes duriпg the course ofMarch апd April 2021 and in steeriпg the 
recovery of the Group, deliveriпg ап optimal 202.1 on behalf of аІІ of our stakeholders. 

We take some comfort from the fact that well-bought gemstones have for centuries been regarded as а store of value 
апd а guard against turbulent times. This was also evidenced in the 2008 fiпancial crisis where gemstoпe priciпg iпdices 
proved remarkably resilient. 

І would like to thaпk аІІ my colleagues across the Group, our stakeholders, partпers, shareholders, host couпtries and 
the Board of Directors for their support during these extraordinary times. 

Sean Gilbertson 
Chief Executive 
29 March 2021 
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Overview 
Board of Directors 

MARТIN TOLCHER (5 7) 
Chartered FCSI 
Non-Executive Chairman 
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Member of the Remuneration and Nomination Committees 

Martin Tolcher has been involved in the fund administration industry in Guernsey for over 30 years. Mr Tolcher has 
worked at senior levels for three Guernsey subsidiaries of Bermudan and Canadian international banks, gaining 
considerable experience in а wide variety of offshore fund and private equity structures. 

Mr Tolcher joined Legis Fund Services Limited in 2005 and was appointed managing director at the beginning of 2007, а 
position he held until the end of 2010. Mr Tolcher remained а director of that company until September 2011. Since 
November 2011, Mr Tolcher has been self-employed as an independent Non-Executive Director and holds directorships 
within а number of other fund structures domiciled in Guernsey, including а number listed on the London Stock 
Exchange and the International Stock Exchange. Mr Tolcher is а Chartered Fellow of the Chartered lnstitute for 
Securities & lnvestment. Mr Tolcher is а British citizen and is а resident of Guernsey. 

Mr Tolcher was appointed as non-executive chairman of Gemfields on 25 November 2019. 

SEAN GILBERTSON ( 48) 
BSc (Mining Engineering) 
Chief Executive Officer - Executive Director 

Sean Gilbertson graduated as а mining engineer from Wits University in South Africa, having spent time in the country's 
deep-level gold and platinum mines. Mr Gilbertson worked as а project financier for Deutsche Bank in Frankfurt and 
London, specialising in independent power projects and public-private partnerships. 

ln 1998, Mr Gilbertson co-founded globa!COAL, а company that played а central role in the commoditisation of the 
thermal соаІ industry, and was appointed chief executive officer in 2001 when the business was acquired Ьу industry 
players, including Anglo American рІс, ВНР Billiton рІс, Glencore lnternational AG and Rio Tinto рІс. Не was also со 
founder of the pioneering Spectron eMetals trading platform for category І and 11 members of the London Metals 
Exchange. 

Mr Gilbertson was а co-founder of the Pallinghurst Group in 2005 and bore responsibility for Pallinghurst's coloured 
gemstone strategy from 2006 to 2017. After the unbundling of the Pallinghurst Group in 2017 /18, Mr Gilbertson was 
appointed СЕО ofGemfields Group Limited on 31 March 2018 and remains СЕО ofGemfields Limited, Faberge Limited 
and Kagem Mining Limited, on whose boards he has served for more than а decade. 

Mr Gilbertson is а British and South African citizen. 

DAVID LOVETT (38) 
ВС от (Economics & Marketing), АСА 
Chief Financial Officer - Executive Director 

David Lovett graduated from Birmingham University's Business School in 2005 with а Bachelor ofCommerce focussed 
on Economics and Marketing. Не then joined Grant Thornton in the UK, working across advisory and tax services and 
becoming а chartered accountant with the lnstitute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (11ICAEW"). 

Mr Lovett joined Gemfields' finance team in 2008. Не has acted as а senior financial manager across а number of 
·Gemfields' operating subsidiaries during his 12-year tenure and has а thorough understanding of the Group's activities, 
including Faberge. Mr Lovett is а director of Gemfields and Faberge, as well as various related companies. Mr Lovett is а 
British citizen. 

DR CHRISTO WIESE (79) 
ВА LLB DComm (h.c.), University ofStellenbosch; 
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DTech: Marketing, Саре Peninsula University of Technology; 
DComm (Business Management) (h.c.), Nkhoma University of Malawi 
Non-Executive Director 

Dr Christo Wiese is chairman of Shoprite Holdings Limited, Africa's largest fast-moving consumer goods retail company 
with а total of more than 2,400 outlets trading in 15 countries in Africa and the Indian Ocean Islands and employing 
more than 140,000 реорІе. 

Dr Wiese is а significant shareholder in а range of businesses throughout the world. Не holds large and controlling · 
stakes in Brait SE (an investment holding company), Tradehold Ltd (а UK-based property investment company) and 
Invicta Holdings Ltd, all listed on the JSE. 

Dr Wiese has served on the boards of many listed companies over the years and is а past director of the South African 
Reserve Bank and former chairman of the Industrial Development Corporation of South Africa Ltd ("IDC") and Pepkor 
Holdings (Pty) Ltd. 

In 2015, Dr Wiese was awarded Lifetime AchievementAwards at the Sunday Тimes Тор 100 Companies Awards and the 
АІІ Africa Business Leaders Awards, and was inducted into the World Retail Hall of Fame. 

Dr Wiese owns Lourensford Wine Estate, а producer of internationally acclaimed wines, and is the owner of а game 
reserve in the Kalahari. Dr Wiese is а South African citizen. 

LUMКILE MONDI (58) 
ВСот {Hons) іп Economics, МА (Economics) 
Lead Independent Non-Executive Director 
Chair of the Nomination Committee 
Member ofthe Audit and Remuneration Committees 

Lumkile Mondi is а senior lecturer at the School of Economics and Business Science of the University of the 
Witwatersrand in Johannesburg, South Africa. Mr Mondi is а strategist, an economist and а leader. Не has worked 
extensively on the African continent, undertaking his responsibilities at the IDC, where he was an executive for 11 years. 
Не is also the chairman of Thelo Rolling Stock Leasing. Не previously served on the board of ArcelorMittal South Africa. 

Mr Mondi has more than 20 years of postgraduate experience and over seven years working in financial markets in 
interest rate derivatives and asset and liability management. Mr Mondi is also involved in the BRICS (Brazil, Russia, 
India, China, South Africa) think tanks on institutional strengthening and coordination. Не has presented at and 
participated in various conferences worldwide, including the United Nations, the World Bank, the Brazilian 
Development Bank and the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development ("OECD"). Mr Mondi has travelled 
extensively throughout the world, bringing innovation to his work for а better world for all. 

Mr Mondi is а South African citizen. 

KWAPE MMELA (50) 
LLB, MPhil (Business Research} 
Independent Non-Executive Director 
Chair of the Remuneration Committee 
Member of the Nomination Committee 

Kwape Mmela is the founder and chairman ofShepherdTree Holdings Ltd and Нlamogolo Capital (Pty) Ltd, which are 
his family investment vehicles. 

Не has more than 20 years' experience in both public and private sectors in South Africa, including stints with the 
Constitutional Assembly during the drafting of South Africa's post-apartheid Constitution and with the Land Claims 
Commission to address past land dispossessions. Не served as а director of Sedibelo Platinum Mines Limited for almost 
ten years. In 2005, Mr Mmela established the Моері Group (Pty) Ltd, which eventually became the Black Economic 
Empowerment partner of Sedibelo Platinum Mines. 

Mr Mmela is а South African citizen. 
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CAREL MALAN (35) 
Chartered Accountant (South Africa) 
Independent Non-Executive Director 
Chair of the Audit Committee 
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Carei Maian started his career at Ernst & Young where he received his first exposure to the mining industry. After three 
years with the firm in Gauteng, he requested а transfer to Bermuda, where he spent а further year. 

Mr.Maian joined Tshipi in January 2012 and was appointed chief financiai officer ("CFO") in Мау 2014. ln October 2015, 
Mr Maian resigпed from Tshipi to pursue other iпterests. However, his interest in mining and his in-depth knowiedge 
апd ехреrіепсе ofTshipi's business modei brought him back to the company, where he was reappointed as CFO. Не was 
part of the executive team growiпg the Tshipi asset to become the iargest exporter of manganese ore from South Africa. 
!п 2018, he was part of the team that listed Jupiter Міпеs оп the Australian Securities Exchange ("ASX") іп what was 
flagged as the biggest !РО in the iast decade оп the ASX. 

Mr Maian is а chartered accountant and а South African citizeп. 

MARY REILL У ( 6 7) 
АСА, FCA, ВА (Нistory) 
Iпdepeпdent Noп-Executive Director 
Member of the Audit Committee 

Mary Reilly has over ЗО years' iпternatioпai ехреrіепсе as а chartered accountant апd was а partner in Deioitte, 
workiпg across various sectors and disciplines iпciudiпg iuxury retail, maпufacturiпg, business services, financiai 
services, corporate governaпce апd public sector. Sіпсе retiring from Deioitte, Ms Reilly has had а varied and interesting 
portfolio of Noп-Executive Directorships where she has chaired Audit and Risk Committees. Her current roies are at 
Traveizoo, а NASDAQ listed giobai internet media соmрапу, Mitfe ріс, а promiпent facilities management and 
professioпai services company апd Essentra ріс, а giobai FTSE 250 соmрапу апd а ieadiпg provider of essentiai 
compoпents апd soiutions. 

Amoпgst her charitabie interests, Ms Reilly is aiso а Trustee of the lnstitute of lmagiпation, the Invictus Games 
Foundation and the PDSA. 

Past appointments inciude chairing the London Deveiopment Agency, the СВ! London Regionai Council апd the Finance 
and Audit Committee of London 2012, the organisation which brought the Oiympics to London. 

Ms Reilly was appointed as an lndependent Non-Executive Director of Gemfieids on 4 December 2020. 
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Performance 
Marketing and Communications 

While marketiпg efforts throughout 2020 were severely hampered Ьу COVID-19 апd а 
group-wide focus оп cash preservatioп, we beпejited from previously secured loпg-term 

projects that сате to fruitioп duriпg the period, such as the Walk for Giaпts jewellery 
сатраіgп, а Chiпese coпsumer market research report апd а fashioп partпership with British 

couture braпd Ralph & Russo, таіпtаіпіпg our focus оп key coпsumer markets іп the 
US апd Сhіпа. Over апd above these activatioпs, our аіт to build demaпd for coloured 

gemstoпes arouпd our strategic pillars of educatioп, leadership апd visibility was met with 
тіпітаІ expeпditure through а largely digital medium. 

The team has now established itself, following periods of considerable staff turnover that were experienced pre-2018, 
and boasts experience and dexterity in its armoury. Given the unique nature of the Gemfields business, and the sectors 
across which the team operates, this has proved critical in terms of executing effective marketing and communication 
campaigns, securing seamless channel utilisation, reacting to the unexpected and maximising the effectiveness of our 
expenditure. While the year did not present the opportunities to harness these strengths in the manner we expected, 
they served in the rapid reimagining of existing assets and creative development of content, maintaining а presence for 
coloured gemstones across international markets, despite unprecedented adverse conditions. 

One such example was the release of four short films, reshaped to capitalise on the extraordinary social media usage we 
saw during the worldwide lockdowns between April and )uly. These were shared Ьу both Gemfields and Faberge in 
order to reach а wider audience. April's release coincided with World Earth Day to highlight the factors underpinning 
Gemfields' responsible sourcing. May's film celebrated emeralds and )uly's was dedicated to rubies, the respective 
birthstones of each month. )une provided а buyer's guide to dispel the rumours and perceived complexity that can 
hinder the purchase process. 

Retaining focus on а key market, Gemfields undertook consumer research in China to better understand the market's 
attitudes towards coloured gemstones and shape our future marketing efforts, in order to capitalise on the strength and 
encouraging growth of this market - from both consumer and trade perspectives. The results provided some clear areas 
to focus on: improving visibility of contemporary jewellery pieces; offering how-to-wear styling advice to consumers; 
and amplifying messaging around responsible sourcing. We launched the research project in )uly, calling upon others in 
the industry to work with us on these endeavours to benefit the industry at large. The digital launch of Sustainability: 
The Future of Coloured Gemstones in China was attended Ьу 10,831 реорІе from across the industry and attracted an 
unprecedented level of press coverage for Gemfields across Chinese media. 

If there was one hero moment of the year, though, it was our Walk for Giants campaign. ln partnership with 
conservation charity Space for Giants, we launched а capsule collection of 44 jewellery pieces from 12 different brands, 
showcasing Zambian emeralds and Mozambican rubies in high and fine jewellery creations. Following а series of 
preview events, including а closed-room media event at Paris Couture week in )anuary and subsequent virtual product 
previews to markets in India, Middle East, US and China, the capsule collection launched in August alongside Net-a 
Porter's apparel offering, buoyed Ьу images of models Arizona Muse and Selena Forrest taken Ьу photographer 
Francesco Carrozzini and overseen Ьу creative director Riccardo Ruini. Faberge's five exclusive pendants for the 
collection sold out within the month. The Walk for Giants itself - а trek to Ье undertaken Ьу influential ambassadors and 
shared through social media and luxury fashion titles - has been postponed until travel resumes, but promises to Ье 
another opportunity to boost the visibility of coloured gemstone jewellery pieces in esteemed company, and to highlight 
their responsible sourcing credentials. 

As lockdowns intensified, rather than easing, we switched our attention to hosting online masterclasses for editors and 
journalists with independent jewellery specialist )oanna Hardy, in order to raise the profile of coloured gemstones 
ahead of the Christmas gifting period. We shifted our gifting concept from unsustainable physical gifts to charitable 
donations via an email link to the newly launched Gemfields Foundation. Also in the virtual world, ЕІІіе Goulding wore а 
Ralph & Russo couture gown featuring 150 Gemfields Zambian emeralds to the first-ever digital Green Carpet Fashion 
Awards, and Gemfields partnered with the )ewellery Association Show ("JAS") to launch the )ewellery Eminence Awards 
- the first-ever jewellery awards to Ье completely virtual, from submission and judging, through to announcement of the 
winners. The move injected some confidence into the industry as tradeshows continued to cancel. 
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Behind the scenes, renewed brand guidelines, an overhaul to our existing consumer website (due to go Ііvе in the 
second quarter of 2021) and newly researched white papers to expand our position as industry leaders, have аІ\ 
progressed. Into 2021, we aim to develop our brand partnerships and expand оп our digital and virtual activations, 
directing our attention towards more active social media communications and developing captivating methods to 
impart education, lead the sector and amplify visibility of coloured gemstones, in order to drive consumer demand. 
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Performance 
Gemfields Foundation 

Gemflelds prides itself оп its approach to responsible sourciпg. With this іп тіпd, апd 
. reactiпg to demaпd from visitors to Gemflelds' operatioпs іп remote Africaп areas who have 

expressed iпterest іп Ьесотіпg iпvolved іп these commuпities, Gemflelds has created the 
Gemflelds Fouпdatioп (the "Fouпdatioп'). This charitable vessel aims to facilitate more 
activatioпs іп sub-Saharaп Africa to assist wildlife coпservatioп апd alleviate poverty іп 
!оса/ commuпities. The пewly formed Fouпdatioп is the charitable arm ofGemflelds, 

through which doпors сап directly support соттипіtу апd conservatioп projects іп Africa, 
magпifyiпg the scale of the work already carried out Ьу Gemflelds itself 

Over the years, Gemfields has facilitated visitors' requests to fund charitable projects and provided both expertise and 
management to bring them to life alongside core business activities. With the Foundation, Gemfields is providing а 
formal mechanism Ьу which to expand the number and scale of these projects. Gemfields Foundation is а UK-registered 
charity that functions quite unlike most charities: 100% of donor funds are directed to the underlying charitable 
projects. АІІ overhead, administrative, travel and management costs are borne fully Ьу Gemfields Limited and its 
subsidiary companies. The result is а charitable endeavour that enjoys, at no cost to donors, excellent in-country 
experience, personnel, infrastructure, support and community liaison teams, uniquely positioning the Foundation to 
deliver impactful projects in а highly efficient and timely fashion. 

Governed Ьу an international board of trustees originating from five countries, the Foundation provides а vessel 
through which donors can leverage proven on-the-ground delivery capability to swell the benefits which precious 
African gemstone resources bring to their рІасе of origin and to their host communities. 

Throughout 2020, the Foundation readied for launch, completing administrative processes, appointing а managing 
director in November and holding the first trustee board meeting in December, ahead of launch in January 2021. 

The board is independently chaired Ьу private wealth and family office executive Philippe Lamblin. The remaining six 
trustees are Singapore-based Richa Goyal Sikri, а business strategist, journalist, gem enthusiast and curator of related 
travel experiences; chairman of Kagem Mining Limited, Dr Sixtus Mulenga; chairman of Montepuez Ruby Mining, 
Samora Machel Jr.; Gemfields' СЕО, Sean Gilbertson; its Director of Sustainability, РоІісу & Risk, Jack Cunningham; and 
Director of Marketing & Communications (and Gemfields Foundation Managing Director), Emily Dungey. lndependence 
from the Gemfields Group is retained Ьу policies surrounding conflicts of interest and decision making, for example 
individual voting rights on decisions are only granted where there is an absence of conflicting interest. 

The Foundation website (gemfieldsfoundation.org) met its target ofbeing ready for launch in January 2021. The site 
aims to communicate the credibility and experience of Gemfields' on-the-ground team when it comes to delivering 
impactful projects at scale, as well as offering updates on projects and а donate-now functionality. 

The year 2021 will see the Foundation trustees select the first portfolio of projects for which to fundraise and action, 
and the commencement ofboth communications and fundraising efforts. 

The Foundation submits а separate annual report to the UK Charity Commission and will have its accounts 
independently audited each year. 
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW 

ZAMBIA 

ZAMBIA 
Location 
Acquisition Ьу Gemfields 
Ownership structure 

Gemstones 
Mining method 
Potential mine life 

Copperbelt Province, Zambia 
November 2007 
75% Gemfields 
25% Government of Zambia ("GRZ") 
Emerald and ЬегуІ 
Open-pit 
22 years 

Operations in Zambia comprise the following: 
• Kagem Міпіпg Limited ("Kagem"), the world's siпgle-largest produciпg emerald mіпіпg соmрапу, accouпts for 
approximately 25% of global emerald productioп. The 42.37 square kilometres Іісепсе area is located іп the Ndola Rural 
Emerald Restricted Area ("NRERA") апd lies south of Кitwe апd west of Ndola, іп Zambia's Copperbelt Proviпce. lt is 
75% owпed Ьу Gemfields апd 25% owпed Ьу the Iпdustrial Developmeпt Corporatioп of Zambia. Kagem operatioпs 
comprise three ореп pits: 

» Chama, our flagship operatioп, ап ореп-ріt mіпе exteпdiпg over 2.2 km of strike leпgth which coпtributes to about 
75% to 80% of our gemstoпe productioп; 

» Mbuva-Chibolele ("Chibolele"), located оп the prolific Fawya-Fawya - Pirala Belt іп the NRERA withiп the Kafubu area 
of the Copperbelt Proviпce of Zambia, is ап upcomiпg ореп-ріt mіпе. This pit was receпtly acquired Ьу Kagem from 
Gemfields Міпіпg Limited (а 100% subsidiary of the Group). It exteпds to about 450 metres іп strike leпgth апd is uпder 
ехрапsіоп. !п future, it is estimated that this pit will Ье а major coпtributor to growth; апd · 

» Fibolele, aпother ореп-ріt mіпе with 600 metres of strike leпgth which has Ьееп uпder active productioп for over six 
years. 

KAGEM 

Merger of Gemfields licences into Kagem 
Kagem апd Gemfields Ltd eпtered іпtо а Lісепсе Traпsfer Agreemeпt ("LTA") оп 17 September 2018, whereby ап asset 
portfolio of Zambiaп gemstoпe Іісепсеs coпtrolled Ьу Gemfields would Ье traпsferred to Kagem. The Іісепсеs to Ье 
traпsferred iпcluded the well-kпowп Kamakaпga апd Chibolele. The Іісепсе traпsfer was completed Ьу the Cadastre 
Departmeпt, Miпistry of Міпеs апd МіпеrаІ Developmeпt, Zambia, оп 14 February 2020. 

COVID-19 effect on Kagem operations 
The paпdemic has brought сопсеrпs for the health апd safety of our staff to the forefroпt апd their well-beiпg remaiпs а 
top priority for Kagem апd the Gemfields group. 

Kagem has а uпique situatioп of ruппіпg а mіпе camp with approximately 1,000 employees who move іп апd out of the 
mіпе site every week, compouпded Ьу its remote Іосаtіоп іп Lufwaпyama district. This poses а sigпificaпt risk from а 
social distaпciпg perspective апd puts аІІ employees at а very high risk of coпtractiпg COVID-19. For these reasoпs, it 
was decided to suspeпd critical operatioпs from ЗО March 2020, pausiпg ап ехсеІІепt ruп of premium emerald 
productioп. Kagem took аІІ the пecessary steps with the GRZ to preserve апd protect the mіпіпg rights апd its ability to 
operate these Іісепсеs despite the suspeпsioп of рrіпсіраІ operatioпs. The sort house was partially reopeпed іп Juпe 
2020 to clear the backlog of sortiпg, gradiпg апd refereпciпg of emeralds. The global paпdemic апd the Zambiaп COVID 
19 situatioп were reviewed at regular iпtervals to decide if it was safe to restart operatioпs. The recommeпcemeпt of 
operatioпs Ьеgап with the wash рІапt startiпg оп 17 March 2021 апd full-scale mіпіпg is to"begiп іп April 2021. 

Zambia's Copperbelt Proviпce (Кitwe, Ndola, Luaпshya, Lufwaпyama, Kalulushi апd Chiпgola) - where most of Kagem's 
employees reside - remaiпed severely impacted. However, по cases of COVJD-19 were reported іп the mіпе camp as 
Kagem strictly adhered to the protocols laid dowп Ьу GRZ апd the World Health Orgaпizatioп ("WHO"). Іп December 
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2020, the president of Zambia cautioned the nation against а potential second wave in the country amid the rising 
number of daily cases. Later that month, it was confirmed that the new strain of the virus, initially reported in South 
Africa and the United Кingdom, had been reported in Zambia. 

Auction results 
In February 2020, Kagem conducted а commercial-quality ("CQ") auction in Lusaka, Zambia, generating USDll.4 million 
revenue at an average of USD4.01 per carat. The COVID-19 pandemic meant that no fнrther traditional auctions were 
held until а series of smaller auctions in November and December 2020. These auctions saw 46 companies placing bids 
and generating total revenues of USDl0.9 million with an overall average value of USDS9.84 per carat. The auction saw 
80% ofthe offered carats being sold (or 86% of the number oflots offered) indicating that demand remained firm for 
certain grades, 

The pandemic continued to have а devastating impact оп the diamond and coloured gemstone industry. The travel 
restrictions, quarantine periods and congregation limits crippled the traditional gem trading hubs of Jaipur and Hong 
Kong, where business is severely muted. Both the Hong Kong and Geneva gem and jewellery shows scheduled for 
November were cancelled, meaning that Gemfields' customers could not view the gemstones cut from Kagem's 
November 2019 auction at any tradeshow in 2020. 

With India becoming the hotspot of the COVID-19 pandemic with high infection rates and several cutting factories 
remaining closed, customers were not comfortable taking flights in 2020 due to health concerns, and countries like 
Singapore remained closed to foreigners for business visits until year end. 

With the aim of achieving some sales Ьу the end of December 2020 and at the same time test the market, Gemfields 
decided to hold а series of five small online auctions between November and mid-December 2020. These auctions took 
рІасе over а six-week period with customers viewing the auction offering in Jaipur, Dubai and/or ТеІ Aviv. Each auction 
consisted of several schedules and took рІасе over а five-day period, with bids being accepted via Gemfields' new online 
auction platform, BidGemmer, or Ьу email. Unsold schedules were returned to Kagem. 

This is the first time customers were аЬІе to bid for rough Zambian emeralds via BidGemmer, demonstrating Kagem's 
ability to innovate during а time when usual Gemfields-style auctions are not possible. With Gemfields' core values of 
transparency, integrity and legitimacy, the auctions were fully monitored Ьу the Zambian Ministry of Mines and the 
Zambia Revenue Authority via а live Microsoft Teams meeting. 

Gemfields' 36 auctions of emeralds and beryl mined at Kagem since July 2009 have generated USD657.4 million in total 
revenues. 

Mining 
Kagem's (Chama, Fibolele and Chibolele) key operational parameters for the year ended 31December2020 are 
summarised in the table below. Chibolele is included within the Kagem parameters following its transfer to Kagem, 
effective 21November2019. Kagem's 2019 production therefore includes Chibolele production metrics from 1 
November 2019 to 31December2019. 

Kagem production summary 

12 months to !, 12 months to 
31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

Gemstone production (premium emerald) in thousand carats : 133.9 І 204.6 
G~~-;~~~~--~~~d~~-;і-~-~-1~;;,-~-;~ї;;-;-~-d-ь~;~ї)--і~-~іі1ї~~-~~;~~~------------------------------------------------------:------------------9-_-4------------г------------зб~з-----------· 

0~~:~~~~~:~!!~;:~~~;:~!~~;::~~;:~1:!;:!~~~:~~:;:~:~:~~;~~::::::::::=::::=:::-::-------------------::::::::::::::::::::т:::::::::::::~:~:.:~:::::::::::с:::::::::::її~:~:::::::::::: 
Grade (emerald and ЬегуІ/геасtіоn zone) in carats/tonnes : 202.0 І 228.0 
ІN;-;~~-~-і-~~d--і-~-~іі1і~~-;~~-~-~~---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------:-----------------2-.-з------------г------------ї2~s------------· 

~~~;!:~~~:~:~;:;~~~;:~:~;:;~!~~;:;:~:~:;~~~:::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::1:::::::::::::::::~~:~::::::::::1::::::::::::::~~:~:::::::::::: 
Stripping гаtіо . ; 49.0 І 77.0 

The Chama open-pit mine is supported Ьу а JORC-compliant Resources and Reserves Statement produced Ьу SRK 
Consulting (UК) Limited ("SRK") as at 31July2019. The CPR supports the reporting of Mineral Resource and Ore 
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Reserve estimates іп accordaпce with the 2012 editioп ofJORC. The preseпt CPR forms part of the requiremeпts of the 
Group for а dual listiпg оп the Alterпative Iпvestmeпt Market ("АІМ") of the Lопdоп Stock Exchaпge ("LSE") апd 
coпfirms а 22-year ореп-ріt Life of Міпе РІап ("LoMP") with 755 Mct of reserves of gemstoпe iпdicatiпg that the mіпе is 
well positioпed for growth іп productioп. 

The mіпіпg operatioпs at Kagem comprise а пumber of historically miпed ореп pits, as well as the curreпt ореп-ріt 
operatioпs situated mаіпІу іп the Chama pit area апd the bulk sampliпg operatioпs іп the Libweпte апd Fibolele areas. 
The mіпіпg method comprises сопvепtіопаІ ореп-ріt operatioпs: drill апd blast, excavate апd load апd haul to іп-ріt 
backfill, waste rock dump locatioпs апd the various ex-pit stockpiles, апd а stockpile at the wash-plaпt facility. The 
upper 20 metres to ЗО metres ofweathered material is free dig, with the remaiпder of the waste rock requiriпg drilliпg 
апd blastiпg. 

Міпіпg operatioпs were well оп track duriпg the first quarter of the year uпtil the full impact of COVID-19 led to the 
suspeпsioп of рrіпсіраІ operatioпs from ЗО March 2020. Kagem recommeпced operatioпs at the wash рІапt from 17 
March 2021 where the existiпg stockpile is Ьеіпg processed, with full-scale mіпіпg expected to start іп early April 2021. 

Up uпtil the suspeпsioп ofpriпcipal operatioпs іп March 2020, Kagem coпtiпued work іп аІІ three pits: Chama, Fibolele 
апd Chibolele. Three sectors were worked at Chama pit (FlO, Chama апd FF-Mboyoпga), exposiпg the emerald-beariпg 
TMS rock for mіпіпg. !п additioп, certaiп sectioпs of the pit were further cleared апd de-ramped at Chama, allowiпg а 
coпsisteпt productioп profile. The efficieпcies achieved from redesigпiпg the pit coпtiпued, with а larger, more efficieпt 
fleet Ьеіпg deployed іп the pit. Fibolele was miпed аІІ аІопg the 600m strike leпgth. The adjaceпt pit was dewatered so 
that the preseпt workiпg pit сап Ье exteпded аІопg the strike directioп. Chibolele was miпed at two productive sectors 
апd а pushback for westerп ехtепsіоп was iпitiated. 

Giveп the circumstaпces апd impact of COVID-19, totai rock haпdliпg has Ьееп impacted severely апd fell to 2.З mіІІіоп 
tоппеs for the year compared to 12.6 millioп tоппеs duriпg the prior year. 

Production 
Kagem's achieved productioп іп 2018 (З5.5 millioп carats) апd 2019 (Зб.З mіІІіоп carats) was above expectatioпs апd 
uпprecedeпted, especially for premium emerald productioп. The premium emerald productioп іп 2018 апd 2019 was 
225,715 carats апd 204,бЗО carats, respectively. The first quarter of 2020 was а сопtіпuаtіоп ofthat treпd with ап 
upward trajectory. АІІ the productioп poiпts were highly fertile апd were іп active productioп wheп the рrіпсіраІ 
operatioпs were suspeпded. 

Gemstoпe productioп for the year was 9.4 Mct of emerald апd beryl, with lЗЗ,862 carats of premium emerald. This is а 
sharp fall from the previous year as the operatioп was suspeпded sіпсе March 2020. Chama pit leads the productioп апd 
quality; however, Chibolele sigпificaпtly coпtributed to improved qualities this year with premium emeralds from the 
М2 sector. These lЗЗ,862 carats of premium emerald represeпt а 65% iпcrease over the same period of productioп іп 
2019 апd equate to almost 100% of the total 2020 аппuаІ busiпess рІап target. Of the total productioп, Chama pit 
coпtributed 7.88 mіІІіоп carats, Chibolele coпtributed 1.З8 mіІІіоп carats апd Fibolele provided 0.13 mіІІіоп carats. 

Despite coпsiderable techпological advaпces апd coпtiпuous moпitoriпg of geological sigпatures, the difficulty іп 
predictiпg the distributioп of miпerals пecessary for emerald formatioп remaiпs. 

Processing 
The washiпg рІапt processed а total of 40,794 tоппеs of ore at а feed rate of 46 tоппеs per hour ("tph"), geпeratiпg five 
tоппеs of emeralds for sortiпg апd gradiпg. 

Spillage reductioп, better visibility апd efficieпt pickiпg remaiпed the prime objective for the wash рІапt, for which а 
thorough audit was carried out at аІІ material traпsfer poiпts апd appropriate sealiпg of the poteпtial spillage executed 
апd moпitored. Iпcreased illumiпatioп for better visibility апd efficieпt pickiпg was implemeпted. А batch processiпg 
сопсерt for а lower belt speed оп high-grade ore feed has Ьееп implemeпted for high-quality pickiпg efficieпcy. Ву 
mаіпtаіпіпg а feed rate іп the raпge of 44-47 tph for two coпsecutive years, the product recovery through optimised 
feed split апd lamiпar flow has coпtiпued. 

Operating costs 
Total operatiпg cost, as defiпed below, for the year was USDЗЗ.4 mіІІіоп (December 2019: USDбl.7 mіІІіоп), with а uпit 
operatiпg cost of USD14.48 per tоппе of rock haпdled compared to USD4.90 іп 2019. The cash rock-haпdliпg uпit cost 
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(defined as total cash operating costs divided Ьу total rock handled) was USD9.48 per tonne for the year, with а total 
cash cost of USD21.8 million compared to USD38.9 million and USDЗ.07 per tonne in 2019, as the operations were 
suspended from April 2020 to December 2020 leading to lower production than during the prior year. 

Total operating cost includes mining and production cost, selling, general and administrative expenses, and depreciation 
and amortisation, but excludes the change in inventory (see Note З to the Consolidated Financial Statements). Cash 
operating costs include mining and production costs, selling, general and administrative expenses, and exclude 
intercompany auction, marketing, and management fees, depreciation, amortisation and mineral royalties. 

Тах regime 
With effect from 1 January 2020, the Government of Zambia made а change to the country's tax regime with regards to 
export duty. The change relates to the removal of the 15% export duty on revenue that was in рІасе in 2019. 

Capital expenditure 
During the year, USD0.9 million was invested in the replacement of mining and ancillary equipment as well as in 
infrastructure improvements. The capital investment was significantly below the USD4.3 million made in 2019, mainly 
due to the suspension of operations from April 2020 as the Group prioritised employee safety and cash conservation. 

lnfrastructure 
During the year many projects like building ofhousing blocks, refurbishing the staff mess, building а green-top football 
pitch and some other small projects were taken up in order to expand and upgrade the camp infrastructure. But due to 
implementation of strict COVID-19 isolation protocols, most of these projects could not Ье completed on time. However, 
work continued to make the camp and residential areas acceptable for the management of COVID-19 when the mines 
resume operations. 

Geology and exploration 
During the period that operations continued in the year, the geological understanding of the ore body and 
mineralisation was further advanced Ьу using the 2019 Resources and Reserves Statement and the LoMP produced Ьу 
SRК. Continuous review of the geological modelling was supported Ьу face mapping, geophysics and geochemistry data, 
allowing the creation of an updated geological model which now includes detailed block modelling. With an updated 
block model, the geologists and miners have more accurate data to increase the efficiency of production. 

Continued assessment of the bulk sampling projects in the Libwente sector involved desktop evaluation to support а 
better understanding of the geology and to determine the viability of development into а larger-scale mine. Exploration 
efforts are being made to develop both the Fibolele and Libwente sectors in order to gain further high-level geological 
understanding. 

Protection services 
In addition to the steps taken to upgrade the security system in and around the pits in the previous years, in 2020 an 
additional CCTV tower was erected to establish more focussed surveillance at Chama contact points, radio 
communications were improved, and patrol teams specific to particular zones were formed and deployed. А new 
palisade fence was erected around the sort house to enhance security. 

Proactive drone flights have been used to assist the ground patrol teams. Several flights were also taken to identify 
illegal mining. lt has proven to Ье very successful and mostly night flights took рІасе to further deter illegal mining and 
reduce the number of trespassers moving across the concession. The operation suspension was likely to see an increase 
in illegal activities; however, the robust digital and physical surveillance kept it well under control 

Health, safety and environment 
Kagem continues to mine in а responsible, transparent and safe manner whilst sticking to the tenets of legitimacy, 
transparency and integrity as an essential part ofhealth, safety and environment ("HSE") and its commitment to mining 
safety and environmental conservation. We aim at а zero-harm (injury-free) culture and our efforts can never Ье 
overemphasised as the health and safety of our employees is not only considered critical to the operation but is also 
ultimately the responsibility of each individual. 

The year got off to а good start with respect to compliance with HSE standards as the sound track record continued. This 
trend was maintained throughout. Monitoring ofwater quality and volumes discharged from our operations continued 
with biannual returns being submitted to the Zambia Environmental Management Agency in compliance with the 
discharge licence conditions issued. А biodiversity assessment/study is being conducted Ьу the School of Natural 
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Resources of the Copperbelt University. Kagem's incidents are reported in the main Sustainability and Corporate 
Responsibility section. 

The strategy of rolling out а combined, all-inclusive General Site Induction ("GSI"), which аІІ employees and Jong-term 
contractors are expected to undergo, to instill health and safety values and norms in everyone working within the 
Kagem mine site, continued yielding positive results. 

Managers continued to lead Ьу example Ьу conducting and taking part in safety talks to increase and enhance the 
communication between employees and management. In addition, when operations resume, managers will continue to 
carry out night shift visits to the mining operations to appreciate the challenges under which the night crew members 
have to operate, and consequently, they will рІау а Jeading role in overcoming and finding solutions to the night-time 
safety challenges. 

During 2020, Kagem recorded zero lost-time injuries ("LT!s") compared to one such injury in 2019. 

Sustainability and Corporate Responsibility ("SCR") 
The sustainability and corporate responsibility activities aim to position Kagem in good standing with local 
communities and to ensure that its policies impact positively on реорІе and complement Government in reducing 
poverty Jevels and suffering amongst the реорІе. Our approach is community participation in line with Government 
роІісу. 

Due to the reduced cash available for community projects in the recent past, sustainability and corporate responsibility 
continued to Ье unavoidably scaled back during the year. Kagem's Community Development Strategy ("CDS") 
maintained engagement within the two Chiefdom areas. Kagem completed the construction of new toilet blocks for а 
local community school, КаріІа, and at the end of the year, commissioned the construction of а !оса! community school. 
Kagem also managed to donate 50 bags of D-compound and 50 bags of urea fertilisers to Chief Lumpuma's cooperatives 
for the 2020 farming season. No other major health, agricultural or educational projects were undertaken this year in 
view of the cash constraints facing the business. 

Despite 2020 being а very difficult period financially due to the negative impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, Kagem did 
not completely give up on its responsibilities to wider society and the environment. In line with the company's SCR 
framework, and in an effort to support the Government efforts towards the fight against and management of the COVID 
19 pandemic, the company donated assorted health and sanitation materials to Lufwanyama District Hospital and 
Nkana Clinic to prepare against the spread of COVID-19. More than 500 COVID-19 awareness posters were also 
distributed in surrounding communities and in the Ministry of Health Copperbelt provincial offices in Ndola to assist 
Government in creating awareness among citizens. 

Human resources 
А total of 776 реорІе were directly employed Ьу Kagem in 2020, compared to 779 in 2019; there were 1,065 contracted 
employees compared to 1,103 in the prior year. During the period whilst the principal operations were suspended, аІІ 
direct employees remained employed and were on reduced salaries in accordance with the Zambian labour laws. 

Staff welfare activities were focussed on improving social amenities around the workplace and employee housing. 
During the year, staff members were trained in various fields, including safety, health, environment, and quality; 
medical; human resources; management development and team building; engineering; finance; ІТ; and mining. Training 
programmes were conducted Ьу both external and in-house trainers, with 99.7% of the workforce being trained at the 
mine site, and 0.3% being trained off-site in Zambia. Four Zambian students completed their internships at Kagem in 
various departments, such as Engineering, Geology and Mining. 

Kagem pledged scholarships for students in the Schools of Engineering and Mining at the University of Zambia ("UNZA") 
and Copperbelt University ("CBU") to develop more coloured gemstone industry-oriented graduates with good technical 
and practical knowledge. There were two sponsored students at both institutions Ьу the end of 2020. Kagem also 
witnessed the graduation of our CBU-sponsored student in Mining Engineering and our UNZA-sponsored student in 
Geology. They have since joined Kagem as per the Memorandum of Understanding. 

The process of delaying the restarting of principal operations until March 2021 was successfully done through engaging 
the Minister of Mines, the Labour Commissioner, national unions and branch unions, as well as effectively 
communicating with theentire workforce and contractors. 
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Events after balance sheet date 
!п March 2021, the wash plant and sort house operations commenced, making use of existing stockpiles, with full-scale 
mining operations expected to begin in early April 2021 once аІІ COVID-19 necessary protocols are met. Kagem 
presently has sufficient inventory to support the March and April 2021 high-quality auction and а commercial-quality 
auction expected to take рІасе in June. Оп 15 March 2021, Kagem commenced with another series of mini-auctions, this 
time significantly larger than those held in November and December 2020. Viewings are expected in Dubai, Jaipur and 
Те! Aviv, with results to Ье announced towards the end of April 2021. 
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW 

MOZAMBIQUE 

Location СаЬо Delgado Province, Mozambique 
Acquisition Ьу Gemfields November 2011 
Ownership structure 75% Gemfields 

Gemstones 
Mining method 
Potential mine life 

25% Mwiriti 
Ruby and corundum 
Open-pit 
10 years 

Ruby operations in Mozambique comprise the following: 
• Moпtepuez Ruby Міпіпg Limitada ("MRM"). The Moпtepuez ruby deposit, which is located іп the пortheast of 
Mozambique withiп the СаЬо Delgado Proviпce, is believed to Ье the most sigпificaпt receпtly discovered ruby deposit 
іп the world апd covers ап area of 349 square kilometres. MRM is 75% owпed Ьу Gemfields апd 25% owпed Ьу !оса! 
Mozambicaп miпority partпer, Mwiriti Limitada. 

• Megaruma Міпіпg Limitada ("MML") is registered іп Mozambique. Gemfields holds а 75% iпterest іп two Іісепсе areas · 
located іп the Moпtepuez district of Mozambique, with each shariпg а bouпdary with the existiпg MRM deposit апd 
coveriпg approximately 190 апd 150 square kilometres of area, respectively. 

• Easterп Ruby Міпіпg Limitada ("ERM") is registered іп Mozambique, with Gemfields holdiпg ап 80% iпterest. The 
mіпіпg area covers 116 square kilometres апd shares its westerп bouпdary with the southerп Іісепсе of MML. 

• Campos de Joia Limitada ("CDJ"). CDJ is а Gemfields holdiпg соmрапу іп Mozambique which has four Іісепсеs at 
preseпt, totalliпg ап area of 452 square kilometres. 

MONTEPUEZ RUBY MINING ("MRM") 

АІІ but critical operatioпs at MRM were suspeпded from 22 April 2020 uпtil March 2021 wheп the wash рІапt 
recommeпced. Security, mаіпtепапсе апd other esseпtial services сопtіпuе to eпsure that MRM is properly secured апd 
well placed to resume пormal operatioпs as sооп as it is both safe апd practicable to do so. 

Employees поt required for опgоіпg critical services have Ьееп placed оп suspeпded coпtracts uпder prevailiпg 
Mozambicaп law апd will, for the time Ьеіпg, receive reduced remuпeratioп (subject always to miпimum wage 
coпsideratioпs). The rest of the employees are also оп а solidarity salary reductioп, but at а lowered rate. The same 
applies to MRM's Board of Directors. These measures have reduced the overall wage ЬіІІ at MRM Ьу approximately 25%. 

!п further efforts to improve the health апd wellпess of our реорІе, іп additioп to well-established social distaпciпg 
measures, MRM iпtroduced а COVID-19 coпtrol programme usiпg PCR testiпg to track that iпdividuals did поt become 
COVID-19 symptomatic duriпg their rostered leave period. The aim was to reduce the risk oftraпsmissioп to both 
commuпity (family апd frieпds) апd employees, апd cut traпsmissioп chaiпs. 

The programme iпvolved maпdatory mass testiпg of аІІ employees residiпg іп the accommodatioп camp оп their 
immediate departure from or returп to work after their rostered leave period. 

The implemeпtatioп of the COVID-19 coпtrol programme coпtributed sigпificaпtly to the reductioп of cases іп MRM 
resideпtial camps апd the mitigatioп of further traпsmissioп. 

!п late August 2020, the COVID-19 coпtrol programme was supplemeпted with the iпtroductioп of surveillaпce апd 
screeпiпg programmes. These iпvolved usiпg ultra-seпsitive rapid dеtефоп tests to ideпtify COVID-19 aпtibodies іп 
order to assess the level of employees' exposure to the virus as а prevaleпce iпdicator for streпgtheпiпg the coпtrol апd 
moпitoriпg programmes. 
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As from December 2020, MRM procured rapid апtіgеп test kits which will replace some of the PCR testiпg Ьеіпg 
uпdertakeп, at а lower cost апd with а faster turпarouпd time. АІІ these actioпs will eпsure that the recommeпcemeпt of 
ргіпсіраІ operatioпs is safer апd more assured. 

Auction results 
The global travel restrictioпs sіпсе the Ьеgіппіпg of the year preveпted MRM from holdiпg а пу auctioпs, although it still 
holds eпough stock for опе mixed-quality апd опе low-quality auctioп. 

Іп 2019, MRM held two mixed-quality auctioпs іп Siпgapore, опе іп Juпe апd the other іп December, where reveпues of 
USD50.0 mіІІіоп апd USD71.5 mіІІіоп were achieved, resultiпg іп а total of USD121.5 mіІІіоп. The auctioпs realised 
average prices per carat of USD51.99 апd USD77.12, respectively. 

Mining 
MRM's key operatioпal parameters for the year to 31December2020 are summarised іп the table below. 

Montepuez production summary 

12 months to 12 months to 
31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

Gemstone production (premium гuЬу) іп thousand carats 28. 7 81.3 

~~;:~~~~:;:~~:~~~~:~і:~;:!~:~~~:~;~:;~~~;~;:;}:~;:~~І~~~~:~~~~~~:::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::с::::::::::::::~~~:::::::]:::::::::::::::::~~:~:::::::::: 
Оге mined (ргіmагу and secondary) іп thousand tonnes І 229.6 ' 1,071.6 

І , 
;~~-~;~~-~~-~~-~--(-~-;і-~~;~-~-~~-~~~~~-~~~;-;~--;~-~-~~~-~~-~~~~~-~-------------------------------------------------------г----------~~~:~---------~-------------~~;-_-;----------

~;~~-~--(-;~-~-~-~~~--~~;:~~~-~1~-;~--;;~-~~~~-~~;-;~-~-~~-~~~ї~~~~-~-;------------------------------------------------------г--------------~:~---------г---------------;-.-~----------
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ j _______________________________ J _______________________________ _ 

Waste mined іп thousand tonnes І 1,690.0 І 6,080.4 
;~~-~~-;~~-~-~-~~~;;~-~-;~--;~-~-~~-~~~-~~~~-~~-------------------------------------------------------------:-----------------------1----------~:~;~:~---------1-----------;~-~;-;-.-~----------
-~~-;~~-~;~~--;~-;і-~-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------г---------------5:;---------1-----------------~---~---------

The Moпtepuez ruby deposit was reviewed апd all techпical iпformatioп updated as of 1 July 2019 to support а dual 
listiпg оп the АІМ market ofthe Lопdоп Stock Exchaпge. As а result, а Resources апd Reserves Statemeпt was produced 
Ьу SRK as at 31December2019, which coпfirms а 14-year ореп-ріt MRM LoMP апd that the mіпе is well positioпed for 
growth іп productioп. 

The mіпіпg operatioпs at MRM comprise several shallow, opeпcast pits split betweeп three mаіп operatiпg areas: the 
Mugloto Block, the Мапіпgе Nice Block апd the Glass Block. Міпіпg is carried out as а сопvепtіопаІ ореп-ріt operatioп 
utilisiпg excavators, loaders апd articulated dump trucks. Loaded trucks haul ore to stockpiles adjaceпt to the · 
processiпg рІапt, while waste is backfilled іпtо miпed-out areas, thereby returпiпg the area to its пatural aesthetic. 

With the impact of the paпdemic, рrіпсіраІ operatioпs iпcludiпg mіпіпg were suspeпded оп 22 April 2020. This 
drastically reduced the level of rock haпdliпg for the year. Duriпg the period Jaпuary to March 2020, total rock haпdliпg 
averaged 539 kt per moпth compared to 387 kt per moпth duriпg the same period іп 2019, ап iпcrease of 39%. 

Total rock haпdliпg duriпg the year equated to 1.9 millioп tоппеs, comprisiпg 0.2 mіІІіоп tоппеs of ore апd 1.4 mіІІіоп 
tоппеs of waste material at ап overall strippiпg ratio of 6.2. The remaiпiпg О.З mіІІіоп tоппеs of other material were 
haпdled, which iпcluded slimes haпdliпg, waste dump rehaпdliпg апd road improvemeпts. As with the previous year, 
productioп was primarily focussed оп the Mugloto Block (57.4%) іп order to extract higher-quality ruby-beariпg ore, 
with the remaiпder comiпg from the Мапіпgе Nice Block (29.2%) апd Other Materials НапdІіпg ("ОМН") (13.4%). 

Processing 
Duriпg the year, 229,600 tоппеs of ore were primarily miпed from two differeпt blocks, паmеІу Mugloto апd Мапіпgе 
Nice, with 346,400 tоппеs processed. Of this total processed, 345,800 tоппеs were washed Ьу the mаіп processiпg рІапt 
апd 600 tоппеs Ьу the exploratioп processiпg рІапt. 

The average moпthly throughput іп the treatmeпt рІапt prior to the suspeпsioп of operatioпs was 86,605 tоппеs, which 
was 40% higher thaп for the same period the previous year. This was а result of the process improvemeпts made duriпg 
2019. 
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Production 
А total of 1.3 Mct of ruby апd coruпdum were produced duriпg the year, with а focus оп high-quality, low-occurreпce 
deposits which provide premium rubies. The total carats produced at the епd of April was 79% higher thaп duriпg the 
same period last year. Of the 1.3 Mct of productioп for the year, 1.2 Mct were recovered from Mugloto secoпdary ore 
with the remaiпder from the reprocessed coпceпtrates. 

The overall ore grade realised duriпg the period was З.б carats per tоппе compared with 2.6 carats per tоппе іп the year 
to December 2019. 

Operating costs 
Total cash operatiпg costs were USD20.8 mіІІіоп (2019: USD32.8 mіІІіоп) with uпit operatiпg costs of USD10.8 per 
tоппе of total rock haпdled (2019: USDS.9 per tоппе). 

The uпit cash operatiпg cost was at USDЗ.81 іп March 2020, the last full moпth of operatioп duriпg the year. This is the 
lowest moпthly uпit operatiпg cost sіпсе іпсерtіоп, which is а direct outcome ofthe buildiпg up of operatioпal 
capabilities with the existiпg iпfrastructure. · 

Cash operatiпg costs iпclude mіпіпg апd productioп costs, selliпg, geпeral апd admiпistrative expeпses, апd exclude 
iпtercompaпy auctioп, marketiпg, апd maпagemeпt fees, depreciatioп, amortisatioп апd miпeral royalties. Total 
operatiпg cost iпcludes mіпіпg апd productioп cost, selliпg, geпeral апd admiпistrative expeпses, апd depreciatioп апd 
amortisatioп but excludes the chaпge іп iпveпtory. · 

Capital expenditure 
Total cash capital expeпditure for the year was USDЗ.9 mіІІіоп, comprisiпg USDl.3 mіІІіоп iпvested іп ехрапsіоп апd 
exploratioп апd USD2.6 mіІІіоп іп existiпg mіпіпg апd апсіІІаrу equipmeпt replacemeпts апd the Resettlemeпt Асtіоп 
РІап ("RAP"). 

Noп-committed capital expeпditure was iпdefiпitely postpoпed апd where possible committed expeпditure was delayed 
to 2021 as а result of the paпdemic. · 

The RAP costs were covered Ьу the provisioп previously set up for this purpose. MRM has ап obligatioп to compeпsate 
the households апd other Іапd users who are physically or есопоmісаІІу displaced Ьу the proposed mіпіпg іп its 
сопсеssіоп area, іп accordaпce with the ІосаІ legislative requiremeпts, апd to coпstruct пеw facilities. А provisioп is 
recogпised for the preseпt value of such costs, based оп maпagemeпt's best estimate of the obligatioпs iпcurred, апd is 
depreciated based оп the ratio of ore miпed duriпg the period to the total volume of ore to Ье miпed іп the future, based 
оп the estimated reserves. 

Geology and exploration 
The MRM сопсеssіоп is located withiп the wedge-shaped Moпtepuez Complex, а juпctioп betweeп the пorth-south 
treпdiпg Mozambique Belt апd the east-west treпdiпg Zambezi Belt. Both belts are kпоwп to Ье "treasure-beariпg" апd 
date from the Neoproterozoic Рап-Аfrісап tectoпic eveпt. 

Rubies from Moпtepuez differ geologically from mапу of the Аsіап rubies available оп the іпtеrпаtіопаІ market with 
respect to the primary host rock Ьеіпg amphibole related, rather thaп marble or basalt related. The rubies arouпd 
Moпtepuez are fouпd іп two types of deposits: primary miпeralisatioп hosted withiп amphibolites or secoпdary placer 
type fouпd іп gravel beds. 

Primary rubies from the amphibolitic source (апd also secoпdary rubies іп the associated overlyiпg gravel bed) at 
Мапіпgе Nice are typically tabular апd hexagonal crystrils, with strong basal рІапеs. These gemstoпc~ arc highly 
fractured апd iпcluded. ТурісаІІу, the productioп from primary miпeralisatioп is а lighter-piпk colour апd is ofteп 
classified as sapphires. These sources provide а relatively large volume of stoпes апd are therefore coпsidered а high 
іпсіdепсе but lower-quality deposit. Іп coпtrast, the productioп from secoпdary gravel bed deposits at the Mugloto апd 
Glass pits is tumbled, deep red іп colour, more traпspareпt апd сопtаіпs fewer iпclusioпs. However, as these secoпdary 
deposits provide fewer gemstoпes thaп the primary deposit, they are coпsidered Іоw-іпсіdепсе but high-quality 
deposits. 
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Duriпg the year, exploratioп was mаіпІу focussed іп the Mugloto Block апd coпtiпued towards the пorth of Northerп 
Shear to explore the source of the Mugloto premium rubies. The block was ideпtified based оп previous 
iпcliпed/vertical drilliпg, airborпe geophysics апd iпterpretatioп of а secoпdary deposit. The drilliпg coпtiпued to the 
пorth of Northerп Shear to coпfirm miпeralisatioп, which resulted іп а successful dеІіпеаtіоп of leпses of primary 
miпeralisatioп with low-quality ruby. А total of 1,128 metres of core drilliпg was completed duriпg 2020 (11,418 metres 
іп 2019). А total of 57,578 metres of core drilliпg апd 21,012 metres auger drilliпg has Ьееп completed sіпсе іпсерtіоп. 

А пеw bulk sampliпg pit which was орепеd duriпg the year, called Mugloto Pit 10, апd the work to date has produced 
eпcouragiпg results. The quality of the rubies is similar to that іп Mugloto Pit З, poteпtially addiпg aпother sigпificaпt 
source of high-quality rubies. А total of 9,155 tоппеs of ore was processed іп the exploratioп рІапt sіпсе its іпсерtіоп. 

lnfrastructure 
А пеw ЗО metre diameter thickeпer was commissioпed duriпg December 2019 апd this епhапсеd processiпg capacity 
duriпg the limited period of operatioпs іп 2020. 

The Namaпhumbir resideпtial camp, popularly kпоwп as MRM Village, has а сІіпіс, а пеwІу upgraded gymпasium, 
recreatioпal facilities апd various outdoor sports facilities (iпcludiпg volleyball, tеппіs, futsal, badmiпtoп апd cricket), 
providiпg improved liviпg coпditioпs at the camp. 

Coпstructioп of а пеw two-storeyed office buildiпg іп the central mіпіпg area commeпced duriпg the year, with the 
objective of briпgiпg maпagemeпt closer to the operatioпal site. Completioп of this project has Ьееп delayed due to the 
paпdemic. 

Protection services 
Security operatioпs сопtіпuе to make good progress іп registeriпg а sigпificaпt dесІіпе іп artisaпal miпing activity 
withiп апd arouпd the сопсеssіоп area. Iпcorporatioп of supportive security-eпhaпcemeпt equipmeпt, iпcludiпg 
lightiпg towers апd wireless cameras, has improved surveillaпce across the site. Patrol teams are usiпg body cameras, 
which has resulted іп improved moпitoriпg ofthe MRM сопсеssіоп апd adhereпce to the Voluпtary Priпciples оп 
Security апd Humaп Rights ("VPSHR"). Тrаіпіпg also coпtiпued regardiпg VPSHR, social media awareпess, coпflict 
resolutioп апd juveпiles іп artisaпal mіпіпg. The training was delivered Ьу reputable third-party traiпers to MRM 
employees. The Protectioп Services Departmeпt is coпtiпuing with various епhапсеmепt projects, such as the 
iпcorporatioп of droпes, to eпsure the safety of реорІе, products, equipmeпt, reputatioп апd iпformatioп. 

Іп February 2020, MRM experieпced а coordiпated iпcursion Ьу approximately 800 artisaпal miпers, vastly 
outпumberiпg the MRM security реrsоппеІ апd Mozambican роІісе preseпt at that Іосаtіоп at the time. These artisaпal 
miпers were seekiпg ruby-beariпg gravels апd, despite repeated warпiпgs from MRM реrsоппеІ, commeпced 
uпdercuttiпg the outer edge of the mіпіпg pit. This led to several grouпd collapse iпcideпts іп which 11 artisaпal miпers 
died. MRM реrsоппеІ provided humaпitariaп assistaпce, where possible. !п additioп to пotifyiпg the authorities, MRM 
iпvited members of the Mozambicaп press апd media to visit MRM and its surrouпdiпg villages to provide first-haпd 
coverage of the activity апd to report оп the strikiпgly coordiпated пature of the iпflux апd its possible causes. Іп а 
subsequeпt press сопfеrепсе held Ьу the Iпspector Geпeral of the Miпistry of Miпerals, Resources апd Eпergy 
("MIREM"), the iпvolvemeпt of orgaпised пetworks іп ruby smuggliпg was пoted. Mozambicaп пewspaper articles have 
sіпсе cited artisaпal miпers who claim to have made paymeпts to factioпs withiп the Mozambicaп роІісе іп order to gаіп 
access to MRM. Greater preseпce of the media апd of Mozambicaп authorities at the mіпе апd іп surrouпdiпg areas апd 
villages has resulted іп MRM's mіпіпg pits, iпcludiпg Мапіпgе Nice З, preseпtly Ьеіпg clear of artisaпal miпers апd as 
such day-to day operatioпs remaiп uпaffected. 

The Islamic iпsurgeпcy іп the пortherп part of the СаЬо Delgado proviпce is thought to have origiпated from 2017. The 
iпsurgeпt activities are coпceпtrated іп the ceпtral part of the coastal regioп of the proviпce, which is approximately 
250 kilometres geographically пortheast of the MRM сопсеssіоп. Whilst the exact causes of this iпsurgeпcy are uпclear, 
it is widely believed that it is поw ап attempt to create ап Islamic "caliphate". The iпsurgeпcy has пaturally attracted the 
atteпtioп of the Goverпmeпt of the Republic of Mozambique which, at the time of writiпg, is seekiпg regioпal апd 
iпterпational support to couпter this sigпificaпt threat. More thaп half а mіІІіоп реорІе have Ьееп displaced from 
the regioп to escape the threat to their lives апd livelihoods апd are seekiпg refuge іп the southerп part of the proviпce, 
iпcludiпg the Moпtepuez area, апd іп other proviпces of Mozambique. 

Both MRM's Protectioп Services team апd the Group's seпior maпagemeпt regularly track developmeпts іп the regioп, 
апd the likely resultiпg risks that are posed to the site's assets апd its реорІе, via third-party advisors апd security 
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experts. The Group does not currently view the insurgency as posing а direct or imminent risk to the operation and 
further information about risk mitigations relating to site safety and asset protection can Ье found in the Risk and 
Uncertainties section of this report. Whilst the impact of the insurgency on the operation would Ье severe if it reached 
the MRM concession area, it is considered to Ье highly unlikely in the short and medium term. The indirect impact on 
MRM due to the presence of thousands of displaced реорІе in the vicinity of the concession is one risk the operation has 
already been exposed to for much of the period. 

MRM continues to work closely with Mozambican authorities to raise awareness among ІосаІ communities of the 
dangers of artisanal mining and to assist in tackling ruby smuggling and reduce the risk to, and exploitation of, 
vulnerable groups Ьу well-organised syndicates. 

Health. safety and environment 
Health and safety policies and procedures continue to evolve and improve across the operation in order to create а safer 
and healthier working environment at MRM. Safety training has focussed on toolbox talks, risk-assessing work 
environments and improving the culture associated with near-miss reporting. Seven lost-time injuries occurred during 
the period. Of these, five were caused as а result of attacks Ьу illegal miners on security personnel. Of the remaining two, 
only one was directly attributable to operational health and safety (working from heights accident). From the 
perspective of reducing the frequency rate of injuries, а series of internal and external health and safety training 
modules was incorporated into the health, safety and environment programme, with the focus being risk management 
framework design and implementation, fostering job hazards analysis ("JHA") and first aid, firefighting and safe driving. 
The Site Risk Register on the internal reporting platform has been updated to ensure the risk and controls remain 
current. 

MRM made good progress in post-mining environmental rehabilitation, with а total of 350 ІосаІІу grown saplings 
replanted over an area of 1.26 ha ofbackfilled area. А senior industry professional was appointed as the Head of 
Department of Health, Safety and Environment at the end of the period to push forward standards, policies and 
procedures and to drive the implementation of an integrated management system ("IMS"). This IMS project, comprising 
ISO 9001 (quality), ISO 14001 (environment) and ISO 45001 (health and safety), is at 25% implementation completion. 
MRM also made progress regarding its mitigation of biodiversity impacts Ьу conducting а biodiversity assessment 
across the concession. 

In late December 2020, а regulatory independent environmental compliance audit was conducted, with the objective of 
complying with conditions defined in the environmental licence, environmental social management plans and 
monitoring programme requirements approved Ьу the Ministry of Land, Environment and Rural Development 
("MIТADER"), Environmental, Social and Health Impact Assessments ("ESН!As"), the Resettlement Action Plan ("RAP"), 
and аррІісаЬІе Mozambican legislation and international standards guidelines. The results ofthe audit have provided а 
number of suggested improvements that MRM's management team are reviewing before actioning. 

Sustainability and corporate responsibility 
MRM's community engagement and project activities are aligned with the policies of the Government of Mozambique 
and supplement the Government's efforts in improving the quality oflife of the community. Through its community 
engagement process, the key focus for the community team during the year has been the continuation of existing health 
and livelihoods projects, as well as the implementation of а number of new projects. These include egg production trials 
to go alongside chicken-farming cooperatives; improvements and scaling up of community conservation farming; the 
provision of sports equipment and kit to ІосаІ school children; and opening up the operation's sports grounds for the 
ІосаІ school children to use over the weekends. More information can Ье found in the Sustainability and Corporate 
Responsibility section of this report. 

А key focus for the team has been the ongoing completion of the RAP. During the period the overall construction 
consisting of 105 houses for the families to Ье resettled, road and public infrastructure, water and power reticulation 
was completed on schedule. The Government institutions were relocated, and the beneficiaries moved into their new 
homes Ьу the beginning ofDecember 2020. The inauguration of the RAP project is scheduled to take рІасе in April 2021. 
Additionally, MRM inaugurated а vocational training centre ("VTC"), entering into an agreement with the Government's 
official training institute. А total of 130 individuals have been trained through the VTC since inception. The training had 
to Ье stopped in March 2020 due to the COVID-19 outbreak and resumed in December 2020. 

Legal 
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As stated in the 2018 Annual Report, in February 2018 а UK-based Jaw firm, Leigh Day, filed а claim against Gemfields 
on behalf of individuals living in the vicinity of the MRM mining concession, alleging human rights abuses perpetrated 
Ьу employees of MRM and the state security forces. 

Following а mediation between the parties in December 2018, Gemfields agreed, on а no-admission-of-liability basis, on 
а settlement of аІІ claims brought Ьу Leigh Day in relation to the alleged abuses. The settlement amount was GBP5.8 
million (USD7.4 million), comprising the sum to Ье distributed to the claimants Ьу Leigh Day and their legal expenses. 
Gemfields still maintains that it is not ІіаЬІе for the alleged abuses set out in the claims but took the view that the agreed 
settlement best balanced the interests of the various stakeholders and avoided tainting MRM's relationship with 
sections of the !оса! community. Had Gemfields prevailed at trial ( which it fully expected to do ), none of its own, and 
likely very substantial, legal costs would have been recoverable from the claimants or from Leigh Day. 

As part of the settlement MRM also set aside а fund of GBP500,000 for а new agricultural project in order to provide 
long-term sustainable benefits, including skills training to foster economic activity and employment for the 
Ntoro/Namucho community. ln the absence of the requisite support from the beneficiaries ofthe project, the amount 
was paid to Leigh Day for onward distribution to the beneficiaries. 

ln order to further its ongoing commitment to transparency and support for the !оса! community, Gemfields agreed to 
establish а new and independent operational grievance mechanism ("OGM") in keeping with industry best practice and 
as advocated Ьу the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights. 

Uпder the terms of the settlemeпt, апd provided that Gemfields fulfils its commitmeпt to establish the OGM, Leigh Day 
will поt briпg, or support, а пу future claims іп relatioп to MRM where they arise prior to the date of the settlemeпt 
agreemeпt. 

The OGM was soft lauпched іп October апd eпtered а pilot phase. The formal lauпch, with ап associated public 
awareпess campaigп, occurred іп early February 2021. 

Human resources 
As at 31December2020, 1,293 реорІе were employed Ьу MRM, ofwhom 622 were directly employed and 671 were 
employed through coпtractors. Duriпg the year, various іпtеrпаІ and exterпal training programmes were attended, 
iпcludiпg traiпing programmes оп human rights, managerial skills, hea\th and safety, finance, security and specialised 
software. 

Events after balance sheet date 
ln March 2021, the treatmeпt рІапt апd sort house operations commeпced, makiпg use of existiпg stockpiles, with full 
scale mіпіпg operatioпs expected to Ьеgіп іп early April 2021. MRM preseпtly has sufficieпt iпveпtory to support the 
mixed-quality ruby auctioп which commeпced іп March 2021. Оп 15 March 2021, the first-ever series ofruby mіпі 
auctions commenced (similar to those held Ьу Kagem іп November апd December 2020), with viewiпgs expected іп 
Dubai, Jaipur апd Baпgkok over а period of six weeks апd with online bidding concluding on 8 April 2021. 

MEGARUMA MINING LIMIТADA ("MML") 
MML is а joiпt venture between Gemfields Mauritius Ltd (а wholly owпed subsidiary of Gemfields Limited), with 75% of 
the share capital, апd ЕМЕ Iпvestmeпts SA, Mozambique, with 25% share capital. MML holds two ruby-miпiпg Іісепсеs, 
705 7С апd 7049С, Jocated in the Montepuez District of Mozambique, with each sharing а boundary with the existiпg 
MRM licence апd coveriпg approximately 155 апd 191 square kilometres of area, respectively. 

Based on the findings of auger drilling done duriпg 2017 апd 2018, eight poteпtial bulk sampling locations were 
identified іп 7057С, which shares its easterп border with MRM. ln 2020, а total of 113,200 tonnes ofrock were haпdled, 
including 12,400 toпnes of ore, of which 10,100 tonnes were treated in the processing plant, resulting in the recovery of 
574 carats of ruby ofvaryiпg grade. The origiпal DUAT (land rights for mining activity) certificate over an area of 
9,888.98 ha was received for this Іісепсе іп February 2020. 

Bulk sampliпg operatioпs were suspeпded with effect from 23 April 2020 as а result ofthe paпdemic. 

With regards to concession 7049С, which shares its пorthern bouпdary with MRM, exploratioп activities were deferred 
due to force majeure conditions. Measures are in р\асе to comply with the statutory requirements, such as licence 
boundary demarcation and fixing of coпtrol points. The Environmental Licence (Category В Certificate) was obtaiпed in 
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March 2019. То initiate the developmental activities in the licence area, an extension of the Environmental Licence was 
applied for in December 2020 and is anticipated to Ье obtained in March 2021. 

In order to align with the new mining роІісу of having а unique tax identity for each licence, this title was transferred to 
а newly registered company, Novo Megaruma Mining Lda. 

EASTERN MINING LIMITADA ("ERM") 
The exploration licence 5061L held Ьу ERM, а joint venture company registered in Mozambique, with Gemfields holding 
а 75% interest, was converted and issued in November 2016 Ьу the Ministry of Mines as а mining title with 
identification number 8277С, valid for 25 years. The licence covers an area of 116 square kilometres and shares its 
western boundary with the southern licence of MML (7049С). 

The Environmental Licence (Category В Certificate) was awarded Ьу the Ministry of Land, Environment and Rural 
Development ("ОРТ ADER") in favour of ERM to commence exploration and bulk sampling activities in 8277С, valid for 
five years until December 2024. The demarcation of boundary and ground control points work was completed in 2019. 
The DUAT application which was filed in November 2019 was approved Ьу the Secretary of State and the application is 
under process in Maputo for approval Ьу the Minister. The camp establishment and procurement ofheavy earth-moving 
machinery initiated in 2020 had to Ье postponed due to the impact of the pandemic. The bulk sampling is now expected 
to commence in the second quarter of 2022. 

CAMPOS DE JOIA ("CDJ") 
CDJ is а Gemfields holding company in Mozambique and has four licences at present - 7427С, 6114L, 9059L and 9060L 
- totalling an area of 456 square kilometres. The first one is а mining title and is located 10 kilometres to the north-west 
of MRM, and the remaining three are contiguous exploration licences located immediately to the south of the southern 
MML concession. 

In order to align with the new mining роІісу ofhaving а unique tax identity for each licence, the three exploration 
licences were transferred to three newly registered companies, Novo Campos De Joia 1, 2 & З, awaiting issuance of 
certificate. 

Due diligence studies and airborne surveys have been completed and exploration activities were completed in 2019, 
with any further exploration likely to resume in 2022. 

The DUAT application which filed in June 2020 was signed off at district level at Montepuez and is under process at the 
Provincial Governor office at Pemba. 

OPERATIONAL REVIEW 

FABERGE LIMITED 

Faberge is one of the world's most recognised luxury brand names, underscored Ьу а well-documented and globally 
respected heritage. As а wholly owned subsidiary of Gemfields, Faberge provides direct access to the end consumer of 
coloured gemstones through directly operated boutiques, international wholesale partners, faberge.com and other 
online marketplaces as well as boosting the international presence and perception of coloured gemstones through its 
consumer-focussed marketing campaigns. 

The fall in revenue and the overall decline in market conditions resulting from the impact of COVID-19 have meant that 
the fair value of Faberge, measured Ьу an external valuation expert оп а revenue multiple basis using comparable 
companies, has decreased. Consequently, an impairment loss has been recognised of USD11.5 million against the 
intangible assets. 

POINTS OF SALE 
For the year to З 1 December 2020, Faberge directly operated three points of sale: а by-appointment boutique at group 
HQ in London; а concession in Harrods Fine Jewellery Room, London; and а stand-alone boutique located in The Galleria 
МаІІ, Houston, Texas, United States of America ("USA"), the state's premier retail destination. 
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In addition to its directly operated stores, Faberge also has partner-operated stand-alone boutiques located at: The 
Dubai МаІІ, UAE; Кіеv, Ukraine; and Heydar Aliyev International Airport, Baku, Azerbaijan. Faberge also continued to 
expand its global presence during the period via new agreements with multi-brand retail partners. At the end of the 
year, Faberge products were available in Australia, Austria, Abu Dhabi, Andorra, Azerbaijan, Bahrain, Belgium, Canada, 
Czech Republic, Dubai, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Holland, India, Italy, Jordan, Japan, Kuwait, Malta, Moldova, the 
Netherlands, Norway, Qatar, Romania, Saudi Arabia, South Africa, Switzerland, Thailand, UК, Ukraine and the USA. The 
total number of Faberge points of sale increased from 7 5 to 81 during the period. 

Coronavirus had а material impact on Faberge's business in 2020 as its own-operated boutiques and partner-operated 
boutiques were forced to close for periods throughout the year. Faberge's key manufacturers also had to close and halt 
operations and almost аІІ planned events and exhibitions for the year had to Ье cancelled. 

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 
Faberge achieved revenues of USD7.1 million in the year to31 December 2020 (2019: USD10.5 million). During the same 
period, Faberge recorded an ЕВІТDА loss of USD3.4 million (2019: USD6.5 million) with average monthly operating 
expenses of USD0.6 million (2019: USD0.8 million) and а sales margin of 54% (2019: 31 %) before any inventory 
provisions. The sales margin of 54% for the year was above that of the prior year due to а greater proportion of direct 
sales (60% of revenue from direct sales in 2020 vs 51 % in 2019) and а low-margin Sample Sale which was held in 2019 
but not 2020. 

Operating costs reduced overall Ьу USD2.2 million against the prior year in response to the COVID-19 crisis and 
associated temporary decline in sales, with USDl.O million savings achieved in lowering sales, marketing and 
advertising activity; 20% salary cuts across the workforce from April 2020 achieving USD0.3 million savings; USD0.3 
million reduction in travel costs; USD0.2 million in rent costs primarily due to waived costs whilst stores were closed; 
and USD0.5 million of other savings. 

OPERATIONAL REVIEW 

NEW PROJECTS AND OTHER ASSETS 

ЕТНІОРІА 

Gemfields owns 75% ofWeb Gemstone Mining рІс ("WGM"), а company that holds а 148.6 square kilometre emerald 
exploration licence in southern Ethiopia. Exploration activity began in June 2015 in an area in the northern part ofthe 
licence, called the Dogogo Block. The area was selected based on favourable geological settings and evidence of past 
artisanal activity. The licence area was evacuated in June 2018 after it was raided Ьу an armed mob. Gemfields has not 
yet returned to the licence area due to ongoing security risks and widespread political and ethnic unrest in the region. 

The political and security situation in Ethiopia remains unsettled. The elections originally scheduled for Мау 2020 were 
delayed until August 2020 and have since been delayed until June 2021 following the COVID-19 pandemic. It is also 
possible that the recent unrest in Tigray region may have an extended impact on the stability of federal politics. Given 
the prevailing security conditions in the region and the pandemic situation, it is highly likely that there will Ье an 
adverse knock-on effect on the Return То Work ("RTW") plan of WGM. 

In April 2020, the Government of Ethiopia declared а five-month state of emergency to control the virus. Although the 
move fell short of а full lockdown, there are severe restrictions in рІасе. In July 2020, the WHO stated that Ethiopia was 
one of ten African countries accounting for 88% of аІІ reported COVID-19 cases in the African region. The virus has had а 
negative impact on the Ethiopian economy. mainly driven hy ri rlrop in tollrism, air travel and exports. Ethiopiil has 
experienced а steep increase in both confirmed cases and related deaths of COVI D-19 in recent months. 

Given the impact of COVID-19 on Gemfields' businesses across the Group, significant efforts have been made to reduce 
spending as much as possible on non-core and developmental projects, including WGM. АІІ operations (including RTW) 
have been postponed until at least 2022, with the exception of critical business functions, regulatory obligations and 
essential community engagement. 

30 



Gemfields Group Limited Annual Report for уеаг ended 31 December 2020: Front section 

WGM received а request for support during the COVID-19 pandemic from the !оса! communities living in the vicinity of 
the licence area. Working in conjunction with the zonal administration, а shipment of medical and food essentials was 
delivered directly to the Web Village Administration on 2 June 2020, with instructions to distribute to the most 
vulnerable and needy members ofthe community. 

WGM has not had access to the licence area in an operational capacity since the 2018 licence invasion but has regularly 
engaged with key stakeholders and members of the community as part of its RTW strategy. The licence area was initially 
occupied Ьу up to 1,000 реорІе at the time of licence invasion in June 2018, predominantly at the ore stockpile and at 
the bulk sampling pit where they were actively mining for emerald. The number has since fallen significantly to less 
than ten. 

WGM's exploration licence was renewed Ьу the Ministry of Mines for а further one year in January 2020 without 
relinquishment of any licence area on force majeure grounds. А renewal application for 2021 was submitted to the 
Ministry of Mines in November 2020. 

Gemfields' long-running applications for two new exploration licences have finally been accepted for processing Ьу the 
Ministry of Mines for sapphire in Chila, Тigray region (to the north ofthe country), and emerald at Shakiso, Oromia 
region (to the south of the country). There are no immediate plans to develop either licence until ground conditions and 
the prevailing global pandemic disruption have normalised. 

MADAGASCAR 
Oriental Mining SARL, а 100% subsidiary of Gemfields, holds а number of concessions for а range of minerals, including 
emerald and sapphire, which comply with аІІ statutory and regulatory obligations. Gemfields was planning to commence 
preliminary investigations with regard to_several permits in 2020. However, the global travel restrictions and the cost­
saving measures implemented across the Group in response to the coronavirus pandemic mean that developmental 
activities in Madagascar have been postponed until further notice. 

MOZAMBIQUE 
Nairoto Resources Limitada ("NRL") is registered in Mozambique, with Gemfields holding а 75% interest and Mwiriti 
25% - the Group's 25% existing partner in MRM. The company is in the process of obtaining full title of six mining and 
six exploration licences totalling 1,960 square kilometres of area, which until operations were suspended were being 
operated and managed under the control of the Group. The licences are located about ЗО kilometres to the north of the 
MRM concession and hold exploration potential for gold (both primary and secondary), ruby and allied minerals. 

The newly set up camp premise is located close to some of the initial target locations. The camp сап Ье accessed using an 
all-weather 70 kilometre long gravel road that connects Montepuez to Nairoto. SRK has been engaged to provide 
advisory and technical support with an initial focus on secondary gold resources, leading eventually to the identification 
and evaluation of the primary source. 

Two small five tonnes per hour ("tph") pilot treatment plants, complete with concentration tables, are in operation to 
support the exploration activity. Panning of stream samples collected from across the licence area confirms the presence 
ofvisible secondary gold. Geological mapping and exploratory pitting exercises were being carried out but following the 
onset of COVID-19 аІІ operations were suspended from Мау 2020, with only essential services currently in рІасе at 
camp. 

An RFQ document was developed and released to various vendors inviting technical and commercial bids for setting up 
а 150 tph treatment plant. Three samples were also collected for beneficiation test work of the secondary ore. However, 
given the COVID-19 pandemic, the procurement process has been put on hold. 

NRL supported the !оса! authorities in combating the pandemic Ьу donating face masks and sanitisation items to the 
!оса! communities. NRL also assisted the !оса! communities in restoring some ofthe pre-existing but non-functional 
hand pumps. 

As part ofthe Group's commitment to conservation and protection of wildlife, NRL signed а Memorandum of 
Understanding with Quirimbas National Park ("QNP") to support it in its operations once it was сараЬІе. 
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А summary of the key financial indicators of the Group for the year ended З 1 December 2020 are shown in the table 
below. 

in thousands of USD 2020 2019 

Revenue 34,567 216,233 
ЕВІТDА1 (30,042) 80,892 
(Loss)/profit after tax (93,227) 39,131 
Net cash flow (utilised in)/ 
generated from operating (20,166) 36,688 
activities 
Free cash flow2 (56,101) 31,100 
Net (debt)/cash (12,643) 25,391 

1 Earnings before interest, toxation, depreciotion ond amortisation. 

2 Free cash flow is colcufated os cash /low /гот operoting octivities less sustaining and expansionory capito/ expenditure excluding апу working capital movements. А full 
breakdown сап Ье seen іп Note З: Segmental Reporting to the Consolidoted Finoncia/ Statements. 

The Group's primary financial Кеу Performance Indictors ("KPis") are revenue, free cash flow (before working capital 
movements) and net (debt)/cash. For а reconciliation ofthe above KPls, see Note З to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements. 

The Group's results and financial performance have been severely impacted Ьу the COVID-19 pandemic. The principal 
operations at Kagem were suspended on ЗО March 2020 and MRM's operations were suspended on 22 April 2020. In 
addition, the various jurisdictional restrictions on the movements of goods and реорІе have prevented our customers 
from selling their inventory at the world's prestigious gem and jewellery shows, thereby reducing their desire to 
purchase any further inventory from the Group. This liquidity crunch, along with the global travel restrictions, has 
meant that the Group has been unable to hold any traditional auctions since the commercial-quality emerald auction 
held in February 2020. In November and December 2020, however, а series of sequential emerald mini-auctions were 
held, whereby bids were placed online after multi-city, in-person viewings ofthe gemstones Ьу customers, generating 
total revenues of USDl0.9 million. Based on the success of the mini-auction process and the robust prices achieved, the 
Group's emerald revenues for 2021 are expected to Ье reasonable even if the traditional auction process remains 
impossible. 

No ruby auctions took рІасе during 2020. However, а series of auctions, similar to those held for emeralds in late 2020, 
commenced in March 2021 and are expected to complete in early April 2021. 

Revenue 

іл thousands of USD 2020 2019 

Kagem 22,300 78,965 
MRM 121,524 
Faberge 7,144 10,517 
Other 5,123 5,227 
Total 34,567 216,233 

In February 2020, Kagem conducted а commercial-quality ("CQ") auction in Lusaka, Zambia, generating USDll.4 million 
revenue at an average of USD4.01 per carat. The COVID-19 pandemic meant that no further traditional auctions were 
held in 2020. The travel restrictions, quarantine periods and congregation limits also crippled the traditional gemstone 
shows, limiting the downstream sales. 
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With the aim of testiпg the market апd achieviпg reveпue Ьу the епd of December 2020, а series of five small emerald 
auctioпs took рІасе betweeп November апd mid-December 2020. Selected lots were made available for іп-реrsоп апd 
private viewiпgs Ьу customers іп jaipur, Siпgapore апd Те\ Aviv. Each miпi-auctioп coпsisted of several schedules апd 
took рІасе over а five-day period, with bids Ьеіпg accepted via Gemfields' пеw опІіпе auctioп platform or Ьу email. 

This is the first time customers have Ьееп аЬ\е to bid for rough Zambiaп emeralds via ап опІіпе biddiпg platform. This 
demoпstrates Kagem's abi\ity to іппоvаtе duriпg а time wheп traditioпal auctioпs are поt possible. With Gemfields' core 
values Ьеіпg traпspareпcy, iпtegrity апd \egitimacy, the auctioпs were fully moпitored Ьу the Zambiaп Miпistry of Міпеs 
апd the Zambia Reveпue Authority via video coпfereпces. 

The auctioп saw 46 compaпies рІасіпg bids апd geпerated total reveпues of USDl0.9 mіІІіоп, with ап overall average 
value of USD59.84 per carat. These auctioпs saw а good turпout with опІу four out of 28 schedules Ьеіпg held back as 
the bid prices were below the acceptable reserve prices. This iпdicates that rough emerald prices апd demaпd have held 
up well. Wіппіпg bids were іп Ііпе with апd, іп some cases, higher thaп, pre-COVID prices апd the пumber ofbids per 
schedule iпcreased which demoпstrates good demaпd. The product mix with these auctioпs was coпsiderably differeпt 
to а typical high-quality auctioп with опІу опе premium grade Ьеіпg offered (as Kagem tested the market). The price per 
carat achieved therefore does поt reflect that of а typical high-quality auctioп which has large quaпtities of premium 
emeralds. 

Іп 2019, Kagem's four emerald auctioпs geпerated total reveпues of USD79.0 mіІІіоп at average prices per carat for the 
HQ aпdCQ emerald auctioпs ofUSD78.63 апd USD4.61, respectively. 

From а total of 36 auctioпs of emera\ds апd bery\ miпed at Kagem sіпсе July 2009, reveпue of USD657.4 mіІІіоп has 
Ьееп geпerated. 

No auctioпs were held Ьу MRM іп the period as COVID-19 пecessitated travel restrictioпs arouпd the globe. Іп 2019, 
MRM recogпised auctioп reveпues of USD121.S mіІІіоп for the year from two mixed-qua\ity auctioпs held іп Siпgapore 
іп juпe 2019 апd December 2019, which geпerated USDSO.O mіІІіоп апd USD71.S mіІІіоп at average realised prices of 
USDSl.99 апd USD77.12 per carat, respectively. 

Faberge geпerated reveпues of USD7.1 mіІІіоп іп the period, below the USDlO.S mіІІіоп achieved іп 2019, as а result of 
the lockdowпs imposed across the globe to combat COVID-19. 

Other reveпue represeпts the direct sales of low-quality emeralds апd beryl іп Іпdіа апd the sale of historically 
purchased cut апd po\ished iпveпtory іп the UK апd South Africa. 

COSTS 
АІІ but critica\ operatioпs at Kagem апd MRM were suspeпded іп March апd April 2020, respective\y. Operatioпs 
recommeпced іп early 2021, with MRM's wash рІапt апd sort house startiпg іп mid- February апd those at Kagem from 
mid-March 2021. Full-scale mіпіпg operatioпs are aпticipated to start at the Ьеgіппіпg of April 2021, with full capacity 
expected to Ье achieved Ьу the епd of the moпth. At the corporate level, аІІ UK staff members, iпcludiпg the Compaпy's 
Board of Directors, received а 20% remuпeratioп reductioп from 1Мау2020. Іп additioп, аІІ sigпificaпt marketiпg, 
travel апd other discretioпary speпd has Ьееп suspeпded or sigпificaпtly curtailed. 

As а result of the above measures, the total mіпіпg апd productioп costs, апd selliпg, geпeral апd admiпistrative costs 
for the Group reduced from USDlSS.9 mіІІіоп іп 2019 to USD70.2 mіІІіоп duriпg 2020. 

Total mіпіпg апd productioп costs (excludiпg miпeral royalties, productioп taxes, export duty апd impairmeпt charges 
апd reversa\s) of USD37.7 mіІ\іоп represeпt а 41 о/о fal\ from the USD63.4 mіІІіоп iпcurred іп 2019. The lower costs 
reflect the suspeпsioп of аІІ but critica\ operatioпs at Kagem апd MRM іп early 2020. 

МіпеrаІ royalties апd productioп tax, which are ca\culated as 10% оп аІІ ruby reveпues іп Mozambique апd 6% оп аІІ 
emerald sales іп Zambia (iпcludiпg iпtercompaпy traпsfers), were USDl.7 mіІІіоп for the Kagem auctioпs (2019: 
USDl 7.1 mіІІіоп). Іп 2019, Kagem was subject to а 15% export duty which cost USD12.4 mіІІіоп. The export duty was 
suspeпded іп 2020 апd therefore по equivaleпt charge has ariseп іп the curreпt year. · 

Оп the acquisitioп of Gemfields р\с (поw Gemfields Ltd) іп 2017, the purchase price аІІосаtіоп resulted іп ап uplift to the 
mіпіпg assets at Kagem апd MRM, represeпtiпg the excess purchase coпsideratioп. The mіпіпg assets are amortised оп 
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the unit of production basis, resulting in an amortisation charge of USDЗ.9 million (2019: USDl 7.4 million). The 
reduction is а result ofthe cessation of mining, and therefore amortisation, since March 2020. Depreciation on property, 
plant and equipment during the year, excluding the mine assets, was USDl 7.1 million (2019: USDl 7.5 million). 

Selling, general and administrative expenses of USD29. 7 million were significantly below the USD56.8 million in the 
prior year. As discussed above, suspension of all but critical operations resulted in significant drops in labour, marketing 
and advertising, professional fees and travel costs. 

Total operating costs at Faberge were USD7.3 million for 2020 compared to USD9.7 million for the prior year, reflecting 
cost savings implemented to deal with the impact of COVID-19 on the market. 

The cost base of the Group in the current year has also been impacted Ьу fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates 
in our key operating locations. The US dollar average rate over the year strengthened Ьу 43% against the Zambian 
kwacha ("ZMW"); 12% against the Mozambican metical ("MZN") and depreciated Ьу 1 % against pound sterling ("GBP"). 

EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST, ТАХ, DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION ("ЕВІТDА") 

The EBITDA loss incurred in 2020 of USDЗO.O million is primarily due to the significantly lower gemstone auction 
revenues as а result of COVID-19. The year 2019 saw ЕВІТDА of USD80.9 million, reflecting record-breaking revenues of 
USD216.2 million. 

IMPAIRMENT CHARGES AND WRIТE-OFFS 

The impairment charges recognised during the year amount to USD13.5 million (2019: а reversal of USD13.2 million), 
comprising mainly the impairment of the Faberge intangibles along with impairments recognised against Faberge's 
slow-moving inventory. 

COVID-19 has resulted in а significant reduction in revenues at Faberge, as well as а less positive outlook on the global 
luxury goods and retail sectors. The Group determined these events to Ье indicators ofimpairment, as prescribed under 
IAS 36 Impairment of assets and accordingly, an impairment review was performed on the Faberge cash generating unit 
("CGU"). The impairment review at 31 December 2020, which was based on the same methodology as that performed at 
31 December 2019 and at ЗО June 2020, is а market approach using comparable company revenue multiples. The result 
of the review completed was the recognition of а USDl 1.5 million impairment loss against the Faberge CGU, resulting 
from the fall in revenues across both Faberge and its assessed comparable companies, along with the current depressed 
market conditions. Full details сап Ье found in Note 12: Intangible assets to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

ln December 2019, the Government of Zambia enacted into law an indefinite suspension of the 15% export duty 
effective from 1 January 2020. Given this suspension, the recoverable amount of Kagem was reassessed at 31 December 
2019 to USD335.8 million, which was well in excess of the carrying value, resulting in an impairment reversal of 
USD21.6 million. 

FAIR VALUE AND OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 

The USD27.9 million fair value loss arose from the revaluation ofthe Group's investment in Sedibelo Platinum Mines 
Limited ("Sedibelo"). Sedibelo is а producer ofplatinum group metals with interests in the Bushveld Complex in South 
Africa. ln November 2020, the Group engaged а third-party broker to commence the marketing and sale of this stake. 
lnitial discussions with prospective buyers have commenced. The Group's Sedibelo holding structure, via а Luxembourg 
holding entity, adds further complications to the sales process, which remains ongoing. 

ln considering the valuation ofthe Group's investment in Sedibelo at 31December2020, the Directors consider the 
most appropriate valuation methodology to Ье а market comparable analysis based on the Enterprise Values of 
Sedibelo's peer group. This method values Sedibelo based on various financial and non-financial multiples, including 
mineral resources (per 4Е ounce), mineral reserves (per 4Е ounce), production (per ounce), revenue and ЕВІТDА of its 
peer group of listed comparable companies. А discount for the lack of marketability ("DLOM"), which takes into account 
that SPM is an unlisted company, has also been applied to the valuation. ln arriving at the valuation, the Directors have 
also considered the impact of the Group's desire to seek an orderly disposal of its minority holding in Sedibelo. 

The USD27.9 million fair value loss in the year arose as а result of а reduction in the estimated value of the investment, 
based on an independent third-party report, from USD57.5 million at 31December2019 to USD29.6 million at 31 
December 2020. 
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As the timing of the sales process is uncertain and the investment is not being actively marketed at а specific price, the 
Group's investment in Sedibelo does not meet аІІ the requirements of IFRS 5 Non-current assets heldfor sale and 
discontinued operations, in order for the investment to Ье presented as an asset held for sale on the Group's balance 
sheet at 31December2020. 

In 2019, fair value and other gains and Josses also included transactions with the Group's then investment in Jupiter 
Mines Limited ("Jupiter"), an Australian-listed company whose main asset is а 49.9% interest in the Tshipi е Ntle 
manganese mine.The fair value gains in 2019 relating to Jupiter amounted to USD4.6 million and arose on the 
remeasurement at disposal driven Ьу exchange rate movements between the AUD/USD and share price movements. 

FINANCE INCOME, EXPENSES AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE DIFFERENCES 

Net finance expenses (exclusive of exchange differences) were USD2.9 million compared to USDЗ.3 million in 2019, 
representing interest on the USD28.b million Kagem ABSA facilities, the overdraft facilities at MRM and the computed 
interest of Jease liabilities under IFRS16 Leases, which were offset Ьу interest earned on cash balances across the Group. 
The facilities' interest rates remain consistent with previous periods, with the balances fluctuation giving rise to the 
movement. 

The net foreign exchange loss of USD2.9 million (2019: USD1.2 million) reflects the movement of the USD against the 
GBP, the MZN and the ZMW. In the current year, the USD average rate strengthened Ьу 43% against the ZMW, 12% 
against the MZN and weakened 1 % against the GBP, Jeading to losses on the net foreign currency assets at Kagem, MRM 
and Faberge. 

TAXATION 

The tax credit for the year was USDб.O million (2019: charge of USD28.2 million), calculated on а loss before tax of 
USD99.2 million (2019: profit of USD67.4 million), resulting in an effective tax rate of б.Оо/о (2019: 41.9%). The tax 
credit for the year consisted of а current tax charge of USD2.4 million and а deferred tax credit of USD8.4 million. The 
overall credit arises as deferred tax assets recognised on losses, primarily at Kagem and MRM, were offset Ьу non­
deductible impairment and fair value losses realised in the UK entities and withholding taxes on dividends paid 
within the Group. 

In the prior year, the 41.9% effective tax rate reflects the non-deductible mineral royalty tax at Kagem and the non­
recognition of tax losses, including those incurred in Zambia and at Faberge. These factors аІІ applied upward pressure 
on the tax rate. 

А change to the main UK corporation tax rate, announced in the budget on 11 March 2020, was substantively enacted 
for IFRS purposes on 17 March 2020. The rate аррІісаЬІе from 1 April 2020 now remains at 19%, rather than the 
previously enacted reduction to 17%. The effect of this change is а deferred tax credit relating to UK tax losses which are 
now recognised at 19% rather than 17%. 

Statutory corporate tax rates in other major operational countries remained broadly similar in the year. 

іл thousands of USD, unless otherwise 2020 2019 
stated 

(Loss) / profit before taxa tion (99,202) 67,373 

Income tax credit/(charge) 5,975 {28,242} 

Effective tax rate % (6%) 42% 

Cash tax paid 15,003 9,692 

The tax paid of USD15.0 million is higher than the USD2.4 million charge for the year largely due to the timing of tax 
advance payments and the settlement of final payments on 2019 liabilities at Kagem of USD1.3 million and at MRM of 
USD13.6 million. 

NET (LOSS)/PROFIT AFTER TAXATION 

The Group made а loss after tax of USD93.2 million compared to а profit of USD39.1 million in the prior year. The loss in 
the current year is due to the impact of COVID-19 on the Group's activities, primarily on its ability to hold traditional 
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auctions which resulted in severely reduced revenues. The cost savings initiated Ьу the Group at the start of the second 
quarter of 2020 could not offset the fall in revenue. 

The COVID-19 pandemic and its impact on global markets also resulted in the Group recognising а USDll.5 million 
impairment of the Faberge CGU and inventory provisions of USDl.l million. In addition, the Group recorded а USD27.9 
million fair value loss on the revaluation of its Sedibelo investment as а result of а change in the valuation approach and 
the lack of appetite achieved so far in the Sedibelo sales process. During 2019, the Group recognised an impairment 
reversal of USD21.6 million against Kagem, fair value gains of USD7.l million and inventory provisions of 
USD7.4 million. 

Losses per share for the year ended З 1 December 2020 were USD0.07 compared with earnings of USD0.02 in 2019, 
reflecting the COVID-19 induced losses on а stable weighted average number of shares in issue. 

Headline losses per share were USD0.06 compared with headline earnings per share in 2019 of USD0.01. 

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 
In а year that saw reduced operations and significant cash-saving measures being implemented as а result of the COVID-
19 pandemic, capital expenditure was USD8.6 million, significantly lower than the USDЗ0.8 million spent in 2019. Of the 
USD8.6 million, USDЗ.9 million was spent at MRM primarily on improvements to the ІТ infrastructure and the existing 
wash plant, with USD2.3 million spent at Nairoto on infrastructure and equipment, USDl.5 million spent on the 
development of the MML licence in Mozambique and USD0.9 million at Kagem, primarily on final payments on mining 
equipment and machinery. 

In 2019, USD20.5 million was spent at MRM, comprising USDlЗ.2 million invested in expansion and exploration, as 
well as improvements to the existing wash plant, USD2.7 million in existing mining and ancillary equipment 
replacements, and USD4.6 million associated with the RAP. At Kagem, USD4.3 million was invested in replacement 
mining and ancillary equipment, particularly heavy earth-moving equipment and infrastructure improvements. The 
remainder of USD6.0 million was spent on development projects, mainly in Ethiopia and Mozambique. 

CASH FLOWS 
Cash and cash equivalents fell Ьу USD34.4 million during the year to USD43.9 million, as COVID-19 took its toll on the 
Group's cash reserves. 

Free cash flows 

in thousands of USD 2020 2019 

ЕВІТDА1 (30,042) 80,892 

Add back: Change in inventory (2,421) (9,255) 
Taxation paid (excluding mineral 
royalties and export duty) (15,003) (9,692) 

Capital expenditure (8,635) (30,845) 

Free cash flow before working 
capital movements2 (56,101) 31,100 

1 Earnings before interest, taxotion, depreciotion and omortisotion. 

2 Free cash f/ow is calculated as cosh f/ow /гот operoting activities less sustoining and expansionory copital expenditure excluding опу working copita/ movements. А 
full breakdawn сап Ье seen іп Nate З: Segmenta/ Reparting іл the Canso/idotedFinancia/ Statements. 

The Group utilised USDS.2 million in operations during the current financial year, as the impact of COVID-19 on 
revenues was only partially offset Ьу the significant cost-cutting measures. Despite the lower revenues and losses made, 
the Group was still obligated to рау USDlS.O million in taxes, mainly USDlЗ.6 million at MRM and USDl.3 million at 
Kagem, primarily related to the prior period's tax liabilities and advance payments required in Mozambique. 

Capital expenditure was USD8.6 million, as discussed above. 
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As а coпsequeпce ofthe drastically reduced ЕВІТDА, free cash flow before workiпg capital movemeпts fell to а cash 
outflow of USDS6.1 mіІІіоп compared to а cash iпflow of USD31.l mіІІіоп іп 2019. Workiпg capital movemeпts are ап 
iпflow of USD27.3 mіІІіоп апd largely relate to high auctioп receivables followiпg the November 2019 emerald апd 
December 2019 ruby auctioпs. 

Other cash flows 
Duriпg the year, the Group utilised USD13.2 mіІІіоп іп iпvestiпg activities with capital expeпditure of USD8.6 mіІІіоп апd 
advaпces made to Mwiriti, the Group's partпer іп Mozambique, Ьеіпg partially offset Ьу iпterest received. 

The Group's fіпапсіпg activities saw ап outflow of USDl.l mіІІіоп, driveп Ьу the USD2.0 mіІІіоп рrіпсіраІ repaymeпt of 
the Іоап held Ьу Kagem, аІопg with utilisatioп ofits overdraft facilities at MRM, рrіпсіраІ 1ease paymeпts апd USD3.0 
mіІІіоп iпterest paid. 

FINANCIAL POSIТION 
The Group's ЬаІапсе sheet is summarised below: 

in thousands of USD 2020 2019 

Non-current assets 457,927 507,399 
Current assets 198,783 276,754 

Total assets 656,710 784,153 

Non-current liabilities (114,185) (130,059) 
Current liabilities (59,509) (75,151) 
Total liabilities (173,694) (205,210) 
Net assets 483,016 578,943 

Assets 
in thousands of USD 2020 2019 

Property, plant and equipment 362,734 376,913 
Intangible assets 51,461 55,200 
Unlisted investments 29,600 57,500 
Inventory 117,839: 110,694 
Auction receivables 8,910 56,654 
Cash and cash equivalents 43,862 78,218 
Other assets, including 
deferred taxa tion 42,304 48,974 

Total assets 656,710 784,153 

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
Property, рІапt апd equipmeпt primarily relates to the mіпіпg assets - evaluated mіпіпg properties апd deferred 
strippiпg costs of USD313.4 mіІІіоп, with the remaiпder Ьеіпg Іапd, buildiпgs, рІапt апd machiпery. The USD303.9 
mіІІіоп of evaluated mіпіпg properties relates to the recogпitioп of the fair values of Kagem апd MRM at the date that 
GGL acquired Gemfields Limited іп July 2017. These assets are amortised оп the uпit-of-productioп basis over the life of 
the mіпе. At 31December2020, the carryiпg values of the assets were USD140.7 mіІІіоп at Kagem апd USD163.2 
mіІІіоп at MRM, with amortisatioп haviпg ceased wheп productioп was temporarily suspeпded іп early 2020. At 31 
December 2019, the assets had carryiпg values of USDl 41.9 mіІІіоп апd USDlS 1.5 mіІІіоп, respectively. 

The remaiпiпg Іапd, buildiпgs, рІапt апd machiпery of USD49.3 mіІІіоп iпcludes mіпе buildiпgs such camps, treatmeпt 
p\aпts апd the sort houses, аІопg with the heavy earth-moviпg machiпery at each operatioп. 

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
ІпtапgіЬІе assets ofUSDSl.S mіІІіоп coпsist of USD28.S mіІІіоп represeпtiпg the Faberge trademarks апd braпd, 
USD22.9 mіІІіоп related to uпevaluated mіпіпg assets across the Group апd USD0.1 mіІІіоп of software. 

Іп Juпe 2020, the Group recogпised а USDll.S mіІІіоп impairmeпt agaiпst the Faberge loпg-lived iпtaпgibles, followiпg 
ап іпdерепdепt third-party valuatioп to determiпe fair value less costs to sell of the CGU based оп а market approach 
usiпg comparable соmрапу reveпue multiples. See the impairmeпt sectioп above for further details. At 31 December 
2019, the Faberge-related iпtaпgibles were carried at USD39.9 mіІІіоп. 
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Other intangibles consist of unevaluated mining assets ofUSD22.9 million, being spent on the exploration and evaluation 
assets in Ethiopia and Mozambique (MML, ERM and Nairoto). The balance increased in the year from USDlS.O million in 
2019, as work continued at MML, ERM and Nairoto until April 2020, when аІІ operations were suspended because of 
COVID-19. 

LISTED AND UNLISTED INVESTMENTS 
The Group holds an equity interest in Sedibelo, а producer of platinum group metals with interests in the Bushveld 
Complex in South Africa. The Sedibelo valuation at 31December2020 of USD29.6 million is after а fair value loss of 
USD27.9 million, discussed in detail earlier in this report. 

ln 2019, the Group's listed investment represented the 7.44% holding in jupiter, which was sold for USD30.4 million. 

INVENTORY 

іл thousands of USD 

Rough emeralds and beryl 
Rough rubies and corundum 
Faberge jewellery and watches 
Cut and polished product 
Spares and consumables 

Total 

2020 

39,290 
31,639 
33,413 

5,616 
7,881 

117,839 

2019 

45,525 
22,277 
30,743 

5,409 
6,740 

110,694 

The USD7.1 million increase in inventory primarily reflects higher inventory levels at MRM and Faberge being offset Ьу 
а fall in inventory at Kagem. At MRM, with no auctions being held throughout 2020, the increase ofUSD9.4 million 
represents production until operations were suspended in April 2020. Faberge inventory reflects current purchases that 
have yet to Ье sold and is after an impairment Ioss of USDl.l million, which primarily arose on slow-moving stock items 
written down to their net realisable value at 31 December 2020. At Kagem, the inventory sold at the February 2020 CQ 
and mini-auctions during the year exceeded production from the first three months of the year before operations were 
suspended resulting in а reduction of USD6.2 million. 

The value of rough gemstone inventory held at net realisable value of USD0.8 million principally relates to by-products 
and direct sale material that is not sold at auction. 

AUCTION RECEIVABLES 
The auction receivables outstanding ofUSD8.9 million at 31December2020 principally relate to the emerald virtual 
auctions held in November and December 2020. The full outstanding amounts were received Ьу 22 March 2021. The 
USD56.7 million at 31December2019 related to the December 2019 ruby auction and November 2019 emerald auction 
and was all received during 2020. 

ln early 2020, one of the December 2019 ruby auction customers defaulted on their payment, resulting in а breach of 
contract, with the goods being returned to MRM. This is the first time in the Group's history that а customer has 
defaulted on payment, and management believes this event to Ье а one-off. ln December 2020, the Group sold the goods 
from this defaulted auction package to а different customer for the same price. At 31December2020, а receivable of 
USDl.O million remained outstanding in relation to this sale and as at the date of these financial statements, the full 
balance had been paid. 

OTHER ASSETS 
Other assets of USD42.3 million (2019: USD49.0 million) consist of USD13.7 million of VAT receivables across the Group, 
def~1т~tl Lё:ІХ GІssets of USD3.0 million related to losses incurred at Kagem and MRM during 2020, related party 
receivables of USDб.7 million, trade receivables at Faberge ofUSD4.1 million, other receivables including prepayments 
of USDl0.6 million and а current tax receivable of USD4.2 million at MRM. The major movements in the year соте from 
the fall in VAT receivables as amounts were set off against other taxes at Kagem, whilst MRM received some cash 
refunds. The related party receivable from Mwiriti also reduced during the year. Offsetting these changes was the 
recognition of the USD4.2 million tax receivable at MRM relating to advance payments for 2020, which can only Ье offset 
against other taxes once approval is granted - MRM are looking to obtain the necessary permissions. 

Liabilities 
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in thousands of USD 2020 2019 

Deferred tax liabilities 79,236 92,177 
Borrowings 56,505 52,827 
Provisions 7,631 9,423 
Trade and other payables 17,303 29,850 
Current tax payable 4,274 1.6,282 
Other liabilities, including 
lease liabilities 8,745 4,651 

Total liabilities 173,694 205,210 

DEFERRED ТАХ LIABILITIES 
The deferred tax liabilities arise from the evaluated mіпіпg property апd iпveпtory at Kagem апd MRM recogпised оп 
the IFRS 3 Business combinations fair value uplift оп acquisitioп of Gemfields Limited Ьу the former Palliпghurst 
Resources Limited (поw Gemfields Group Limited) іп 2017. 

PROVISIONS 
Provisioпs iпclude USD2.0 mіІІіоп of eпviroпmeпtal provisioпs for the rehabilitatioп апd restoratioп of miпed areas at 
Kagem апd MRM; the Resettlemeпt Асtіоп РІап ("RAP") provisioп at MRM of USDl.1 mіІІіоп апd USD4.5 mіІІіоп other 
provisioпs for future legal claims апd employee eпd-of-coпtract beпefits. The RAP provisioп relates to MRM's obligatioп 
to compeпsate the households апd other Іапd users who are physically or есопоmісаІІу displaced Ьу the proposed 
mіпіпg іп its сопсеssіоп area, іп accordaпce with !оса! legislative requiremeпts. As the RAP was almost complete at 31 
December 2020, the ЬаІапсе owiпg for the coпstructioп reduced. Eпd-of-coпtract beпefits are рауаЬІе іп more thaп опе 
year's time for some ofthe Group's employees who are оп fixed-term coпtracts апd are calculated based оп their legal 
апd coпtractual beпefits. 

TRADE AND OTHER РА YABLES 
Trade апd other payables have fаІІеп, reflectiпg the suspeпsioп of рrіпсіраІ operatioпs апd limited activity іп 2020 
compared to 2019. 

CURRENT ТАХ РА YABLE 
The curreпt tax рауаЬІе of USD4.3 mіІІіоп coпsists of USD2.3 mіІІіоп рауаЬІе Ьу MRM апd USD2.0 mіІІіоп рауаЬІе Ьу 
Kagem. Both amouпts relate to the fіпаІ tax paymeпts for the 2019 year епd that remaiпed outstaпdiпg as the Group 
пegotiated COVID-19. Іп respect of MRM, advaпce paymeпts оп accouпt for 2020 were made of USD4.2 mіІІіоп. These 
саппоt Ье offset agaiпst outstaпdiпg tax liabilities without authorisatioп. MRM are lookiпg to оЬtаіп the relevaпt 
approvals to offset these amouпts. 

OTHER LIABILITIES 
Other liabilities iпclude USD3. 7 mіІІіоп of lease liabilities related to property leases held at various eпtities across the 
Group. The ЬаІапсе also iпcludes а USDS.O mіІІіоп рауаЬІе due to the Group's partпer іп Nairoto, Mwiriti Ltda, іп 
relatioп to operatiпg апd capital expeпses iпcurred оп behalf of Nairoto before coпtrol of the 12 mіпіпg Іісепсеs passed 
to the Group. 

BORROWINGS AND NET DEBT 

in thousands of USD 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Current borrowings 
Non-current borrowings 

Net/(debt) cash 

2020 

43,862 
J 

(33,005) 
(23,500) 

(12,643). 

2019 

78,218 
(24,827) 
(28,fIOO) 

The fall іп cash апd cash equivaleпts to USD43.9 mіІІіоп reflects the sigпificaпt reductioп іп reveпues resultiпg from the 
impacts of COVI D-19. 

At 31 December 2020, the Group held USDSб.5 mіІІіоп іп borrowiпgs, а slight iпcrease from 2019 of USD3.7 mіІІіоп. 
These fіпапсіпg facilities are used to support the workiпg capital апd other fuпdiпg requiremeпts of the Group, апd to 
sustain its operations, as well as any planned growth and expaпsion. 
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During the second half of 2019, Kagem renegotiated its facilities with ABSA Zambia, formerly Barclays Zambia, for а five­
year period. The faci\ity consists of а USD20.0 million five-year-term loan and а USDlO.O million revolving credit facility 
that has an initial three-year term but is extendable for an additional two years upon agreement Ьу both parties. Both 
facilities bear interest at three-month USD LIВOR plus 5.5% per annum. Fol\owing the repayment of USD2.0 million in 
December 2020, the facility stood at USD28.0 million at 31December2020 with USD4.5 million being рауаЬІе in 
December 2021. 

Kagem has received а waiver of аІІ financial covenants contained within the ABSA Zambia loan agreements for the 31 
December 2020 measurement date. Based on the current period forecasts, as discussed in the Going Concern section, in 
the event that the revenue targets are achieved, it is expected that there wil\ Ье no breach of the covenants that are to Ье 
measured in December 2021. 

MRM has the following faci\ities: 
• А USDlS million unsecured overdraft faci\ity entered into with ABSA Mozambique (formerly Barclays Bank 
Mozambique S.A.) in April 2016. The facility has an interest rate ofthree-month USD LIВOR plus 4.0% per annum. At 31 
December 2020, USD14.2 million (31 December 2019: USD12.9 million) was drawn. The facility is renewed annually 
with the next renewal expected in December 2021. 
• А USD15 million overdraft faci\ity entered into with Banco Commercial Е De lnvestimentos, S.A. ("ВСІ") in June 2016. 
This faci\ity is valid for 18 months and is renewable. The faci\ity has an interest rate of three-month USD LIВOR plus 
3.75% per annum. At 31December2020, USD14.3 million (31December2019: USDlO.O million) was drawn. The 
facility is renewed annually with the next renewal expected in September 2021. 
• ln March 2021, ВСІ granted а new USD8.9 million faci\ity to MRM on similar interest rates to the USD15 million 
overdraft facility discussed above. Under the new facility USD8.9 million can Ье drawn immediately but must Ье paid 
back Ьу the next auction or within six months of drawdown, whichever is the earliest. Upon repayment, MRM, with 
agreement from the bank, will then have access to а four-year faci\ity of USDlS million to use for working capital 
purposes. 

For an analysis of the outstanding facility liabilities at year-end, see Note 17: Borrowings in the Consolidated Financial 
Statements. 

GOING CONCERN 
Like many businesses, the potential financial impact of COVI D-19 has been given significant consideration when 
assessing the going-concern assumption. The situation unfolding across the globe is changing daily. lt is clear that the 
pandemic has had, and will continue to have, an adverse impact on the Group's operations, 
customers and suppliers 

The critical assumption for the Group is the timing of cash inflows from its emerald and ruby auctions and continued 
support from the Group's lenders. Subject to continued support from the Group's lenders and also achieving the 
anticipated \evel of revenues from online or traditional auctions, the Group is expected to Ье аЬ\е to continue to meet its 
obligations as they fall due for а period of at \east twelve months from the date ofthis report. The Group's expectation is 
that, if needed, it will draw down.on аІІ existing borrowing facilities and that аІ\ of its existing debt facilities will remain 
in рІасе throughout the forecast period. 

However, as disclosed in the Going Concern section of Note 1 of the Consolidated Financial Statements, there is а risk 
that the planned auctions fetch lower than expected revenues or that lenders withdraw their support. ln this case, the 
Group would would seek to initiate various cost-saving initiatives and will seek to secure continued funding from 
current lenders, pursue an asset sale programme of non-core assets and consider, should it become necessary, fund 
raising through а potential rights issu·e. The timing and quantum of the auctions along with the ongoing support from 
lenders therefore creates а material uncertainty. DesritP. thi~, it remains appropriate to present the Consolidatcd 
Financial Statements on а going-concern basis. 

David Lovett 
Chief Financial Officer 
29 March 2021 
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Gemstone Resources and Gemstones Reserves Summary 

Gemfields Group Limited ("GGL"), through its wholly owned subsidiary, Gemfields Ltd ("Gemfields"), holds 75% 
attributable interests in Kagem Emerald Mine ("Kagem") in Zambia, and in Montepuez Ruby Mining ("MRM") in 
Mozambique. 

This section is а condensed overview ofGGL's Gemstone Resources and Gemstone Reserves Report 2020, which 
contains а comprehensive review of the Gemstone Resources and Gemstone Reserves for Kagem and MRM as at 31 
December 2020 and details the location, geology, mining, processing, and operational statistics at Kagem and MRM. The 
complete Gemstone Resources and Gemstone Reserves Report 2020 and the Competent Person's Report ("CPR") for 
Kagem and MRM, from which the 2020 Report was compiled, are available online at www.gemfieldsgroup.com. 

GGL's attributable Gemstone Resources and Gemstone Reserves are reported according to, and in compliance with, the 
SAMREC Code (2016 edition), with special reference to sections 60 to 72 of SAMREC related to the reporting of results 
for diamond and other gemstone properties. 

Operations at Kagem and MRM were suspended from April to December 2020 due to COVID-19 restrictions. 

As at 31 December 2020, GGL had total attributable mineral resources of 1,117 million carats ("Mct") of combined 
emerald and beryl at an average value of USD5.10/ct, and 497 Mct ofruby and corundum at an average value of 
US17.68/ct. 

АІІ Gemstone Resources are inclusive of the Gemstone Reserves. Rounding-off of figures in this report may result in 
minor computational discrepancies. Where these occur, the Competent Persons ("CPs") do not consider them to Ье 
material. 

COMPETENT PERSONS AND CONSENT 

The "CPs" in terms of SAMREC who take responsibility for the reporting of Gemstone Resources and Gemstone Reserves 
for Kagem and MRM in this report are, respectively: 

• Anirudh Krishna Sharma, MSc (Geology) MAuslMM (СР), Head of Production, Planning and Exploration with Kagem 
Mining Limited, is а Chartered Professional (СР Geology) member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy 
("Aus!MM") and is the Competent Person responsible for the reporting of the Gemstone Resources and Gemstone 
Reserves at Kagem in this report. Anirudh has more than five years' relevant experience in this style of mineralisation. 

The Competent Person's address is Kagem Mining Ltd, РО Вох 21657, Plot 6374, Corner Dr Agrey and Kariba Roads, 
Light Industrial Area, Кitwe, Zambia. 

• Hemant Azad, MSc (Applied Geology), MAusIMM, Head of Geology with Montepuez Ruby Mining Limitada, is the 
Competent Person responsible for reporting of Gemstone Resources and Gemstone Reserves at MRM in this report. 
Hemant has more than five years' relevant experience in this style of mineralisation. 

The CPs have confirmed to GGL in writing that the contents of this report are consistent with the CPR for Kagem and 
MRM and production records for the period 1July2019 to 31December2020 and comply with the requirements of 
Section 12 of the JSE Rules and the SAMREC Code. 

The Competent Persons further consent to the disclosure of the 2020 Gemstone Resource and Gemstone Reserve 
Statement in the form and context in which it is presented. 

This report contains statements of а forward-looking nature which involve various uncertainties that may cause the 
actual results to differ materially from those presented. 

ABRIDGED REVIEW PER OPERATION 

KAGEM 
Kagem is in the Ndola Rural Emerald Restricted Area ("NRERA") within the Kafubu area of the Zambian Copperbelt 
Province. Kagem operates in terms of а large-scale gemstone licence 14105HQ LSGL over an area of 42.4 square 
kilometres issued on 27 April 2010. The licence was renewed on 10 December 2019 for а further 25 years, which is then 
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valid uпtil 26 April 2045. А large-scale mіпіпg Іісепсе 8749HQ LML for the Chibolele mіпе was reпewed оп ЗО August 
2019 for 25 years апd traпsferred to Kagem оп 1 October 2019. 

The emerald deposits are hosted Ьу talc-magпetite schists ("TMS") of the Muva Supergroup. The Gemstoпe Resources 
are reported withiп ап optimised pit shell usiпg the same iпput parameters as those іп the mіпіпg study, but with а 30% 
mark-up оп the aпticipated prices to reflect ап optimistic view. АІІ grades quoted reflect beryl апd emerald, expressed 
as carats per tоппе. 

СопvепtіопаІ ореп-ріt mіпіпg usiпg drill-blast, load-haul methods is dопе with а Kagem-owпed iп-house fleet апd 
coпtractor-provided labour. 

The steeply dippiпg reactioп zoпes ("RZs") are miпed usiпg maпually iпteпsive methods with the assistaпce of hydraulic 
excavators uпder close supervisioп, but опІу duriпg daylight hours. All large апd high-quality coloured gemstoпes are 
haпd-sorted at the mіпіпg face апd are placed іп а drop-safe-type сопtаіпеr that is пumbered, tagged апd closed with 
security-coпtrolled locks. The remaiпiпg RZ material is loaded іпtо trucks апd traпsported directly to the processiпg 
facility. 

Ореп-ріt optimisatioпs determiпed the есопоmіс pit shells, which were used for mіпе desigп апd productioп 
scheduliпg. The practical pit desigп for the Chama pit uses five sequeпtial cutbacks which aim to provide flexibility іп 
mіпіпg locatioпs апd ЬаІапсе high strip ratio-higher сопfіdепсе ore with lower strip ratio-lower сопfіdепсе ore. 

The processiпg рІапt processes RZ material miпed directly from the ореп pit through а simple series of commiпutioп, 
screeпiпg, washiпg апd sortiпg facilities. АІІ product is esseпtially haпd-sorted іп а secure sort-house facility where 
gemstoпes are upgraded usiпg maпual methods to produce emerald (subdivided іпtо premium emerald апd emerald) 
апd beryl (subdivided іпtо beryl-1, beryl-2, specimeп апd fiпes categories). 

The auctioпs іп 2020 realised USD22.3 mіІІіоп from the sale of 3.04 Mct ofhigh- апd commercial-grade quality 
emeralds. 

The curreпt life-of-miпe ("LoM") рІап provides for рІапt feed of 146,000 tоппеs per аппum ("ktpa") projected to exteпd 
to 2044. With ап average feed grade of 209 ct/t, Kagem projects to recover 755 Mct over the LoM. 

Kagem has obtaiпed the пecessary eпviroпmeпtal Іісепсеs іп terms of the Eпviroпmeпtal Maпagemeпt Regulatioпs (SI 
112 of 2013). Ві-аппuаІ reports оп поіsе апd water moпitoriпg апd waste maпagemeпt are submitted to the Zambiaп 
Eпviroпmeпtal Maпagemeпt Аgепсу ("ZEMA"). The аппuаІ update of the eпviroпmeпtal maпagemeпt рІап ("ЕМР") 
iпcludes а sectioп оп closure cost, which is required as part of the audit to assess the аппuаІ cash coпtributioп Kagem 
пeeds to рау to the Eпviroпmeпtal Protectioп Fuпd ("EPF") (per the Міпеs апd Miпerals Act). 

The authorities coпducted ап EPF audit of the mіпе іп Jaпuary 2020 апd revised the closure cost апd guaraпtee value. 
Kagem рІаппеd to coпtest these values апd iпitiated the work with the aid of а coпsultaпt іп February 2020. With the 
mіпіпg operatioпs suspeпded іп March 2020 due to COVID-19, аІІ commuпicatioп апd couпter respoпse was delayed 
uпtil operatioпs resume. Sіпсе Kagem рІапs to resume operatioпs іп March 2021, it has iпitiated discussioпs with 
authorities апd will preseпt its couпter respoпse to the audit observatioп. The matter is expected to Ье coпcluded Ьу QЗ 
of 2021. 

Іп the iпterim, Kagem coпsiders that the calculated closure cost of December 2019 'of approximately USDl.l mіІІіоп is 
appropriate. As Kagem is deemed to Ье largely compliaпt with its obligatioпs, it опІу has to coпtribute 5% of the closure 
cost to the EPF іп апу опе year. Kagem curreпtly has а Paymeпt Guaraпtee (No. 339020015174) with Staпdard 
Chartered Вапk for USD349,238.l 9 based оп the 2015 EPF audit as per liability assessmeпt по. MSD/20/1/17. These 
values will Ье revised іп December 2021 accordiпg to the outcome of the discussioпs with the authorities. 

For the year eпded З 1 December 2020, Kagem recovered 9.4 Mct from 46,000 tоппеs ("kt") of RZ ore at а grade of 202 
ct/t. The uпit operatiпg cost for 2020 of USDll.44/t (agaiпst а budget of USD4.24/t; actual USDЗ.35/t іп 2019) reflects 
the impact of the COVID-19 lockdowп from 25 March 2020, which halted аІІ operatioпs. 

KAGEM GEMSTONE RESOURCES AND GEMSTONE RESERVES 
The Kagem Gemstoпe Resources апd Gemstoпe Reserves Statemeпt attributable to GGL (75% basis) at 31 December 
2020 is set out іп 
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the table below. Gemstone Resources are reported at а bottom screen cut-off of З mm and are inclusive ofthe Gemstone 
Reserves. 

No lnferred Resources are included in the LoM plans, which support the Gemstone Reserve declaration. 

Kagem Attributable Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve Statement at 31 December 2020: 

МіnегаІ resource 
(Attributable to GGL) 

Tonnage 
(kt) 

В+Е grade 
(ct/t) 

Contained В+Е 
(Mct) 

Оге reserves 
(Attributable to GGL) 

Tonnage ! 
(kt) 

В+Е grade 
(ct/t) 

Contained В+Е 
(Mct) 

Chama 

Measured 

Іndicated 

Total measured + indicated 

lnferred 

Fibolele 

Measured 

lndicated 

Total measured + indicated 

lnferred 

Libwente 

Measured 

lndicated 

ТоІаІ measured + indicaled 

lnferred 

Stockpiles 

Measured 

lndicated 

ТоІаІ measured + indicated 

lnferred 

Chibolele 

Measured 

lndicated 

ТоІаІ measured + indicated 

lnferred 

Total М+І mineral resources 

Total inferred mineral 
resources 

281 

2,783 

3,063 

92 

92 

900 

о 

150 

226 

226 

512 

3,380 

1,562 

260 

270 

267 

160 

160 

160 

о 

46 

139 

139 

200 

260 

162 

73 

746 

818 

14 

14 

144" 

о 

7 

32 

32 

102 

864 

253 

Chama 

Proved 

Probable 

ТоІаІ gemstone reserve 

Fibolele 

Proved 

РгоЬаЬІе 

ТоІаІ gemstone reserve 

Stockpiles 

Proved 

РгоЬаЬІе 

ТоІаІ gemstone reserve 

Total gemstone reserves 

210 

2,130 

2,340 

69 

69 

226 

226 

2,665 

202 

218 

217 

139 

139 

139 

139 

208 

42 

465 

507 

10 

10 

32 

32 

548 

! Recovered gгade ( ct/t) : 

~~.::;:1~~~ :~~~~аІ resource J --_-------~~~~~---------i----------F-i~-~ 1-~1~------ ---1 ---------~~;~~1~1~----·----г-------~~~~~~~---------: 2020(~~~;~1~alue 

Premium emerald ! 3.8 І О.О І 0.38 і - j 59.84 

.::~~;~~~~:::::::::::::::::::::::::J::::::::::::::~~~~:::::::~::r::::::::::::::::~:~:::::::::::1::::::::::::~~:~o:::::::::::r:::::::::::::::~::::::::::::::т:::::::::::::::::~:o~:::: 
ВегуІ-1 і 74.4 ! 10.0 І 58.00 і - і 0.11 

·----------------------------------------І--------------------------------.;..--------------------------------t----------------------------------------------------------------1---------------------------

Beryl-2 j 74.5 І 14.1 і 72.75 
1 

j 0.01 

The comparative Kagem Gemstone Resource and Gemstone Reservestatement attributable to GGL (75% basis) at 31 
December 2019 is set out below. The key differences between the 2019 and 2020 Gemstone Resource and Gemstone 
Reserve estimates are explained as follows: 
• Gemstone Resources: 
» Addition of the Chibolele lnferred Gemstone Resources; 
» Small reduction in Measured Gemstone Resources at Chama due to mining depletion; and 
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» Small reduction in Indicated Gemstone Resources at Fibolele due to mining depletion, partially offset Ьу an increase in 
Gemstone Resources in Stockpiles. 
• Gemstone Reserves: 
» Small reduction in Proved Gemstone Reserves at Chama due to mining depletion; and 
» Small reduction in Probable Gemstone Reserves at Fibolele due to mining depletion, partially offset Ьу an increase in 
Proved Gemstone Reserves in Stockpiles. 

Kagem Attributable Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve Statement at 31 December 2019: 

Mineral resource Tonnage В+Е grade Contained В+Е Ore reserves Tonnage В+Е grade Contained В+Е 
(Attributable to GGL) (kt) (ct/t) (Mct) (Attributable to GGL) (kt) (ct/t) (Mct) 

Chama Chama 

І Measured 307 250 79 Proved 236 203 48 

lndicated 2,783 270 746 РгоЬаЬІе 2,130 218 465 

Total measured + indicated 3,090 270 825 Total gemstone reserve 2,366 217 І 513 
lnferred - - -

Fibolele Fibolele 
І 

І 
Measured - - - Proved - - і -
lndicated 95 160 14 РгоЬаЬІе 72 135 ! 10 

Total measured + indicated 95 160 14 Total gemstone reserve 72 135 І 10 
lnferred 900 160 144 

Libwente 

Measured - - -
lndicated - - -
Total measured + indicated - - -
Іпfеггеd 150 46 7 

Stockpiles Stockpiles І 
Measured 225 139 32 Proved 225 139 і 32 

І 
Іndicated - - - РгоЬаЬІе - - -
Total measured + indicated ·225 139 32 Total gemstone reserve 225 139 32 

lnferred - - -
Libwente 

Measured 

lndicated Not reported on in 2019 

Total measured + indicated 
1 

lnferred ! 
! : 

Total М+І gemstone resources 3,404 260 ! 871 Total gemstone reserves : 2,663 : 208 І 555 
! ' 

і і Total іпfеггеd gemstone 1,050 145 

І 
151 

resources 

Note: А CPR compiled for Gemfields presented а Probable Gemstone Reserve of 82 kt grading 174 ct/t at February 2016. This was а/І 
extracted before the end of 2020. 

Recovered grade (ct/t) 
Gemston е m inera І resource --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------' 2019 Ра rcel va І u е 
Grade and value Chama Fibolele ' Chibolele ' Libwente і (USD/ct) 

±~;~J:~::::::=::::-t::=::::::2~ :::::+ ::::::;;~~:::::::Ь ~~~~~~:=f ::::::~::: =-J:=:::==~~:~~=:: 
Beryl-1 ! 84.9 і 108.3 ! 37.7 і - ! 0.11 

·----------------------------------------t-------------------------------t--------------------------------~--------------------------------r--------------------------------:--------------------------------· 

Beryl-2 і 67.О 116.9 59.0 і 0.01 
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MONTEPUEZ 
Montepuez Ruby Mining is located in СаЬо Delgado Province in north-eastern Mozambique, approximately 170 
kilometres west of Pemba. The single mining licence 470ЗС Ref. 1588/СМ/ INAMI/2015 covers an area of 34 996 
hectares and is valid until 11 November 2036. 

The Montepuez ruby deposit is hosted Ьу the Montepuez Complex, а strongly ductile-deformed, wedge-shaped, 
metamorphic terrane. Ruby and corundum mineralisation is found in two styles: primary amphibolite, and а secondary 
gravel bed. The latter is the main source of rubies and corundum mineralisation. The gravel bed horizon is generally less 
than two metres thick, with an average thickness of 0.45 metres. 

The current LoM plan production requires а ramp-up from 7.2 Mtpa total ore and waste in 2019 to 13.5 Mtpa Ьу 2024, 
with ore mining increasing from 1.1 Mtpa in 2019 to 2.7 Mtpa Ьу 2024, and is projected to extend to 2030 with LoM of 
10 years. The expected average stripping ratio for the LoM is 3.8 tonnes per tonne ("t/t"). 

An owner-operated fleet undertakes аІІ material movement. Grade control is constrained to visual inspection and 
mining ofthe mineralised zones is only undertaken during daylight hours. 

АІІ run of mine ("RoM") ore is stockpiled at the wash plant and а RoM stockpile with а minimum capacity of six months 
of processing plant feed is kept at аІІ times. 

А new upgraded processing plant, including а scrubber, rated at 200 tonnes per hour ("tph") of RoM feed, and а dense 
medium separation plant ("DMS"), rated at 83 tph ofwashed -25 mm +1.6 mm material, was commissioned in 
December 2016. The wash plant flowsheet incorporates wet scrubber screening to remove -1.6 mm solids, followed Ьу 
а log washer to break up сІау balls and а double-deck, wet screen to remove + 25 mm stone fraction and -1.6 mm fines. 

After washing and separation in the plant, the resulting gravity concentrate is sorted Ьу hand in the high-security area 
under strict supervision. MRM commissioned а new recovery house in February 2019 incorporating automatic colour 
sorting machines. After removal of fines, the remaining gemstones are then subdivided into five broad quality 
categories. 

The auctions in 2019 realised USD121.5 million from the sale of 1.89 Mct of higher-, medium- and commercial-quality 
rubies. No auction sales were held during 2020. 

MRM holds а va1id approval for its Resettlement Action Plan ("RAP"), an authorised land use permit ("DUAT") valid until 
2036 and а Category "А" Environmental Licence for the mine site and an industrial park in Maputo valid until August 
2024 and April 2023, respectively. 

The costs of on-going rehabilitation for mined out areas are included in the financial model projections for MRM. The 
additional cost of removal of equipment from site, rehabilitation of remaining disturbed areas and staff retrenchment 
costs has been reassessed and the closure provision reduced to USD8 million. 

For the year ended 31 December 2020, MRM recovered 1.3 Mct from 346 kt ore at an average grade of З.б ct/t. The unit 
cash operating cost per total rock handled was USDlб.00/t in 2020 (budget USD5.89/t, actual USD4.58/t in 2019) 
reflecting the impact of the COVID-19 lockdown from 25 March 2020, which halted аІІ operations. 

MRM GEMSTONE RESOURCES AND GEMSТONE RESERVES 
The MRM Gemstone Resources and Gemstone Reserves statement attributable to GGL (75% basis) at 31 December 2020 
is set out below. Gemstone Resource grades are quoted with а bottom cut-off stone size of 1.6 mm and are inclusive of 
Gemstone Reserves. The stockpile grades are derived from the reported grades for the respective source materials. 

No Inferred Resources are included in the LoM plans, which support the Gemstone Reserve declaration. 

MRM Attributable Gemstone Resource and Gemstone Reserve Statement at 31 December 2020: 
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Maninge Nice Maninge Nice 

lndicated - primary 855 96.1 82.1 Probable - primary 84З 97.7 82.З 

lndicated - secondary З54 50.З 17.8 Probable - secondary З7З 50.1 18.7 

Total indicated 1,209 82.7 99.9 Total probable reserve 1,215 8З.1 101.0 

lnferred - primary 180 97.8 17.6 

lnferred - secondary 10,050 12.7 127.8 

lnferred - total 10,2ЗО 14.2 145.4 

Mugloto Mugloto 

lndicated - primary о о о Probable - primary о о о 

lndicated - secondary 9,19З з.о 27.З Probable - secondary 9,100 2.8 25.6 

Total indicated 9,19З з.о 27.З Total ргоЬаЬІе reserve 9,100 2.8 25.6 

lnferred - secondary 13,800 14.8 20З.6 

Glass Glass 

lndicated - secondary 4,725 2.4 11.З Probable - secondary 4,756 2.2 10.5 

Total lndicated 4,725 2.4 11.З Total probable reserve 4,756 2.2 10.5 

lnferred - secondary 6,075 0.9 5.4 

Stockpiles Stockpiles 

lndicated - Primary зо 96.1 2.9 lndicated - Primary зо 96.1 2.9 

lndicated - Secondary' 656 8.4 5.5 lndicated - Secondary 656 8.4 5.5 

Total indicated 686 12.2 8.4 Total probable reserve 686 12.2 8.4 

Total indicated gemstone 15,202 9.4 
: 

142.8 Total gemstone reserves 15,758 9.2 145.5 

І resources 

Measured resource ЗО, 105 ! 11.8 З54.5 

І Comb1nofюn of matenal fram Man1nge Ntce, Mug/oto and Glass. 

! ... : ...................... REt~9Y.'t~Etg_gп•sJ.Et.lc.t/~J. ························· ! Jun'20 Parcel value' Dec'20 Parcel value' 

Gemstone grade and value Maninge Nice Mugloto Glass' (USD/ct) і (USD/ct) 

--~~~i-~~=~~!~_: _________________________ J _____________________________ j _____________________________ j ____________________________ J ____________________________ J __________________________ _ 
·-~~:~~~~~~і~~-~~ь~--~-~-~ь;··-------+-------------=------------·+-------~~-і-~-і-------------!---------------~------------+---------------------------+-----------------------------
··"L~~-~~ь;·-------------------------------г-----------------------·--:··------0-.. їїё»·---------··:··-------------------------~---~~--;;ї~-;-~~~~-;;~d--··1--,~~-;;ї;;·~-~~~-;;~d---­
-с~~~~d"~-~----------------------------------г·------------------------·-:··-------о-.-їїб·---------··:··----------------------------;------------------------------г··-------------------------· 

·--------------------------------------------------r------------------------------1------------------------------...... -----------------------------+------------------------------~------------------------------· 
Sapphire ; : О.08З : j і 

~j~~·~=~:~~:~~~~;;,:±:=.:=~::::=::::=::E=:f 1~=E==~==:=E==::=::=::::г==:::==== 
І No praduction from Glass and Maninge Nice during 2020. 
2 Parcel va/ues per 2019 auctions still орр/у. 

The comparative MRM Gemstone Resource and Gemstone Reservestatement attributable to GGL (75% basis) at З 1 
December 2019 is set out below. The key differences between the. 2019 and 2020 Gemstone Resource and Gemstone 
Reserve estimates are explained as follows: 

• Gemstone Resources: 
» А stockpile of mined ore is now included in the 2020 Gemstone Resource estimate; 
»А 764 kt and 4.0 Mct reduction in Indicated Gemstone Resources at Mugloto, due to mining depletion and changes to 
resource shells; 
»А 91 kt reduction in stockpiled material and increase in average grade, due to а changed split of primary and 
secondary stockpiled material; 
» No change in tonnage, grade or contained gemstones for the Inferred Gemstone Resources; 
» The Gemstone Resource grades at the other pits and material types have largely remained unchanged since December 
2019. 

• Gemstone Reserves: 
» А stockpile of mined ore is now included in the 2020 Gemstone Reserve estimate; 
»А 263 kt and 0.9 Mct reduction in Probable Gemstone Reserves due to mining depletion, mainly from Mugloto 
secondary material; 
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»А 91 kt reduction in stockpiled material and increase in averagegrade, due to а changed split of primary and secondary 
stockpiled material; · 
>> The Gemstone Reserve grades at the various pits and material types have remained unchanged since December 2019, 
although the average grade for the total declared Gemstone Reserves at Maninge Nice increased since only secondary 
material at lower grade was mined. 

MRM Attributable Gemstone Resource and Ore Reserve Statement at 31 December 2019: 
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Gemstone resource 

(Attributable to GGL) 

Maninge Nice 

lndicated - primary 

lndicated - secondary 

Total indicated 

lnferred - primary 

lnferred - secondary 

lnferred - total 

Mugloto 

lndicated - primary 

lndicated - secondary 

Total indicated 

lnferred - secondary 

Glass 

lndicated - secondary 

Total indicated 

lnferred - secondary 

Stockpiles 

lndicated - Primary 

lndicated - Secondary 

Total indicated 

Total indicated gemstone 
resources 

Measured resource 

Recovered 
,-----------------"----------------....------------------

Tonnage 
{kt) 

855 

З7З 

1,228 

180 

10,050 

10,230 

о 

9,З46 

9,346 

lЗ,800 

4,725 

4,725 

6,075 

зо 

747 

777 

16,076 

І 30.105 

Grade 

(ct/t) 

96.1 

50.З 

82.2 

97.8 

12.7 

14.2 

о 

2.9 

2.9 

14.8 

2.4 

2.4 

0.9 

96.1 

6.7 

10.2 

9.2 

11.8 

Contained 

(Mct) 

82.1 

18.7 

100.9 

17.6 

127.8 

145.4 

о 

27.З 

27.3 

20З.6 

11.З 

11.3 

5.4 

Gemstone reserves 

(Attributable to GGL) 

Maninge Nice 

Probable - primary 

Probable - secondary 

Total probable reserve 

Mugloto 

Probable - primary 

Probable - secondary 

Total probable reserve 

Glass 

Probable - secondary 

Total probable reserve 

Stockpiles 

2.9 lndicated - Primary 

5.0 lndicated - Secondary 

7. 9 Total probable reserve 

147.4 Total gemstone reserves 

354.4 

84З 

З92 

1,235 

о 

9,25З 
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Gemfields Group Limited ("Gemfields", the "Company", "GGL" or the "Group") is incorporated in Guernsey under 
company registration number 4 7656 and is subject to the Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008. The Company changed its 
name from Pallinghurst Resources Limited Ьу Special Resolution effective 26 June 2018. The "Group" is Gemfields Group 
Limited, аІІ entities controlled Ьу the Company (its subsidiaries), and any associates or joint ventures. Gemfields' 
primary listing is on the JSE, and its secondary listing is on the АІМ market of the LSE. The Company de-listed from 
trading on the Bermuda Stock Exchange ("BSX") effective from 1 July 2020. The Group's main objective is to сапу on 
the business of an operating mining group. 

REPORT AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
This Annual Report is for the year ended 31December2020 (the "Annual Report") and covers the Group. The 
Consolidated Financial Statements contained within the Annual Report also cover the Group and are for the year ended 
31December2020 (the "Financial Statements"). 

SHAREHOLDERS 
Gemfields has no single controlling shareholder; the largest shareholder is Dr Christo Wiese, а Director of the Company 
who holds an interest of 13.72%. Gemfields' shareholder base, as at 31December2020, is set out in the table below. 

Directors of the Company' 18.15% 

Fidelity lnternational Limited 11.47% 

Oasis2 8.11% 

Rational Expectations 7.98% 

Ophorst Van Marwijk Кооу Vermogensbeheer N.V. _7.53% 

Ninety One Group 5.84% 

Solway Finance Limited 5.77% 

Old Mutual PLC3 5.75% 

Other shareholders 29.40% 

1 The Directors and management category includes shareholdings of Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors and their family cross 
holdings•. · 
2 The Oasis shareholding includes interests held Ьу Oasis Asset Management and Oasis Crescent Capital. 
З The Old Mutual shareholding includes interests held Ьу 0/d Mutual lnvestment Group (South Africa) and Old Mutual Customised Solutions. 
• Dr Wiese holds indirect interests іп GGL shares via various entities, totalling 13.72%. Іп addition, certain shares are held Ьу members of Dr Wiese's 
immediate family, totalling а further О. 19%. 

RECENT CORPORA ТЕ CHANGES 
The Company was admitted to trading on АІМ on 14 February 2020. 

On 28 February 2020, the Company cancelled and de-listed 96,276,146 ordinary shares from the JSE. These shares were 
held Ьу the Gemfields Resourc~s Fund L.P. (formerly called The Pallinghurst Resources Fund L.P.), being а wholly owned 
su bsidiary of Gemfields. 

Ms Mary Reilly was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of Gemfields on 4 December 2020 and 
replaced Mr Martin Tolcher as а member of the Audit Committee. 

48 



Gemfields Group Limited Annual Report for year ended З 1 December 2020: Front section 

Governance 
Sustainability and Corporate Responsibility 

Despite the impact of COVID-19 on the Group, our approach to sustainability and corporate responsibility ("SCR") 
remained consistent during the year. The overarching strategy set Ьу the Group and then implemented ІосаІІу Ьу 
dedicated teams on the ground continued. The Group's SCR programme of work has therefore not materially changed, 
and still extends beyond purely operational matters relating to the community, conservation, and health, safety and 
environment ("HSE") and covers а range of associated issues - from human rights and security, product disclosure, 
Government or industry relations to policies, procedures, and risk management. 

COVID-19 significantly affected much, if not аІІ, of the practical implementation of the period's budgбted and agreed 
projects in the communities, as operations were suspended, employees remained in their home countries with 
restrictions to site access, and cash preservation was made а priority. As such there is little new to Ье reported for this 
year. Nevertheless, the Group prides itself on continuing to strive to Ье as responsible to its stakeholders as possible 
despite these challenges. 

RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS VALUES 
The focus of the Group's SCR remained unchanged in the year under review. The strategic approach and operational 
implementation are still concerned with addressing the main social, environmental, health and safety impacts at our 
mining operations. But we also continue to act as а champion and leader to the downstream coloured gemstone supply 
chain, supporting efforts to communicate with consumers ofjewellery and other luxury products that use our 
gemstones. The three responsible business values are now firmly at the core of the company. 

Legitimacy: We go over and above accepted practices 
We operate in а way that not only meets international and national laws, but that also challenges the sector Ьу setting 
new benchmarks around sustainability. 

Transparency: То lead we must Ье transparent 
As well as leading with our own standards and initiatives through our downstream supply chain, we are working with 
partners to standardise strong, transparent practices across the industry. 

Integrity: We are committed to embedding tangible operational actions 
We take this approach from the mines onwards, to support sales and marketing of our product. Our proprietary grading 
system provides our partners with trusted evaluation and declaration of treatment. 

ENGAGEMENT 
Fundamental to our approach to SCR is stakeholder engagement at different levels of the organisation, whether at !оса! 
operations directly with communities or via head office enquiries. 

For а mining company, securing social licence to operate in each country of operation relies on ongoing good 
stakeholder relations, particularly with the community. As such, we cannot expect our mining operations to continue 
based solely on their legal licences. Therefore, ІосаІ teams engage а range of directly affected stakeholders including but 
not limited to !оса! community members; !оса! leadership; women's, youth and other minority groups; and informal 
business associations and cooperatives. Their feedback is essential in taking the temperature of the sentiment held Ьу 
the community towards the company. That way, we can effectively mitigate risks to community tensions, thus 
safeguarding the ability of the operation to continue. 

This localised community engagement process at each of our operations differs depending on the proximity of the 
affected community, the size of the operation, and the immediate community risks that have been assessed. Local team 
members record the types of community engagement, the feedback or grievances raised and keep an ongoing log of 
these in order to determine if and how to respond. 

At MRM the community engagement process is most developed and structured, whereas at the development sites and 
Kagem the process is more informal. As part of the engagement process at MRM, there is а primary entry point Ьу which 
formal and informal community engagement feedback is assessed and triaged if necessary. This "tier 1" entry point is а 
component of MRM's wider grievance mechanism, the second part of which independently assesses serious alleged 
grievances in the community. Local teams engage more formalised groups of stakeholders such as ІосаІ, district and 
provincial-level government; !оса! civil society groups; state security service representatives; and representatives of 
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national and international governments. These engagements are both formal and informal but typically are held face-to­
face ( during the last period as а result of COVID-19 restrictions, face-to-face meetings have been limited and have been 
in accordance with social distancing requirements). MRM's !оса! community liaison office in Namanhumbir provides а 
safe space for members ofthe community to meet the MRM community team to raise any concerns they have. 

At the Group level, engagement is conducted in а more ad hoc manner depending on the nature of the engagement and, 
given that the Group has other interests besides mining, the stakeholders сап Ье broader in their interests. There are а 
few international advocacy groups based outside the operational countries that require regular systematic engagement, 
but from time to time, such groups have been contacted on specific matters. Examples of these stakeholders include the 
British Нigh Commission representatives of Zambia or Mozambique, their colleagues in the UK's Foreign, 

. Commonwe~lth and Development Office, and the International Committee of the Red Cross. 

IMPLEMENTING STRATEGY AND LEGACY 
Before we start full mining operations, we work with the relevant authorities in carrying out social and environmental 
risk assessments, as well as mapping and conducting initial engagement with the community as to our plans. We 
recognise that we will only Ье аЬІе to operate for the full life of the mine Ьу securing а social licence to operate and that 
this means maintaining open, accessible and positive community relations. То guide us so that we operate at the highest 
standards in this regard, and to contribute to global development, we align our approach to the broader strategic aims 
ofthe United Nations ("UN") Sustainable Development Goals ("SDGs"). 

Alignment of the strategy to the SDGs is an important step forward in the development of our approach and reporting; 
however, we are aware that best practice is to track the impact our actions have in helping to meet the individual goals. 
We liaise with third parties to try and measure social impacts such as agricultural yields, the number of patients visiting 
healthcare facilities, or the impact our philanthropy has on conservation efforts. However, this is an area ofwork that 
we do not have sufficient capacity to pursue more comprehensively at this stage and 2020 is no exception given the 
impact of COVID-19 on the operations' core functions. Below are examples where we have collected some data during 
the year for specific projects. 
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HSE and community risks are ultimately the accountability of the Gemfields Board, and are on the list of strategic risks 
of most concern to the Board. Risk management is discussed in more detail in the Risk and U ncertainties section. 
Strategic direction-setting, management ofpolicies, and guidance on delivery are delegated through а Group-level 
director who bridges between the corporate office, the management at the operations and laterally across relevant 
functional business units. Each fully functional operation has an HSE and community team that is accountable ІосаІІу to 
its management team, whilst also receiving functional and technical guidance from the Group director. As а result of the 
suspension of аІІ but critical operations due to COVID-19, the community team at Kagem was necessarily scaled back, 
whilst at MRM, despite some challenges meeting the national restrictions, the team functioned in the year largely 
unaffected. These teams are responsible t'or implementing HSE and community plans in agreeme.nt with the Group-level 
director and in collaboration with !оса! stakeholders. 

COMMUNIТY DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS 

At each operation, ІосаІІу developed community engagement and project strategies reflect the overall Gemfields 
approach to SCR and are tailored to the needs of the community. Therefore, the approach to sustainable development in 
our countries of operation starts with community engagement rather than being directed Ьу the company. It is critical 
that we recognise customary and cultural rights over land and resources, and that there сап Ье expectations about what 
а company сап reasonably provide the community. Therefore, managing our relationship with communities in а free, 
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ореп апd iпclusive way is а priority апd directs how our commuпity developmeпt expeпditure is used. We eпgage the 
!оса! commuпity coпtiпuously поt just to listeп to their сопсеrпs or grievaпces, but also to caпvass their views оп 
commuпity developmeпt projects. Our dedicated commuпity teams at the operatioпs liaise апd cooperate with the !оса! 
commuпities who assist іп the selectioп апd successful implemeпtatioп of commuпity projects. Each commuпity 
strategy follows this coпsisteпt approach so as to share the beпefits of our busiпess. 

Our aim is to create а legacy of loпg-term commuпity developmeпt so that, throughout the mіпіпg life сусІе апd Ьеуопd, 
the commuпities сап beпefit from projects that will Ье sustaiпable Іопg after we have stopped mіпіпg. Our approach for 
iпfrastructure projects, where the role of the state is limited, is to build schools апd сІіпісs or upgrade basic facilities, 
iпcludiпg utilities, roads апd bridges, but to haпd these over to the state after developiпg а clear Memoraпdum of 
Uпderstaпdiпg ("MoU") with the Goverпmeпt. For iпcome-geпeratiпg livelihood projects, we use start-up fuпds, provide 
traiпiпg, help to set up farmiпg associatioпs, offer project апd fіпапсіаІ maпagemeпt expertise, апd facilitate other 
expert support to eпsure that projects coпtribute to есопоmіс developmeпt апd that commuпities beпefit from пеw 
sources of іпсоmе іп the short, medium апd Іопg term. 

Commuпity developmeпt is focussed оп three core areas: rural health access, educatioп, апd iпcome-geпeratiпg 
livelihoods. These three areas are coпsisteпtly cited as the most sigпificaпt iпdicators of poverty, as they uпderpiп 
есопоmіс developmeпt іп the developiпg world, апd are the aspects the commuпities tell us are most іп пееd of 
iпvestmeпt. As described above, these focus areas are aligпed to the relevaпt SDGs. 

Healthcare access SDG З 
Addressiпg health impacts іп the developiпg world is а serious challeпge. The prevaleпce of chroпic diseases such as 
typhoid, dyseпtery, НІV / AJDS, malaria апd uпexpected paпdemics such as COVJD-19 сап affect the loпg-term health of 
апу commuпity. 

We are proud of our track record іп improviпg access to basic health services іп the remote areas іп which we operate. 
!п more remote locatioпs, the state ofteп саппоt provide the services, traпsport or reliable iпfrastructure to give реорІе 
access to healthcare. Our primary focus, therefore, is оп improviпg healthcare access through iпfrastructure provisioп, 
either Ьу rehabilitatiпg existiпg сІіпісs or buildiпg пеw опеs with the support of the !оса! goverпmeпt. We have also 
lauпched iппovative services such as mobile health сІ{пісs which сап reach parts of the commuпity that are far from 
traditioпal сІіпіс facilities. 

МоЬіІе health clinics, Mozambique 
The two mobile health сІіпісs established Ьу MRM іп partпership with the Mozambicaп Goverпmeпt provide basic 
health services to commuпities that are situated far away from the опІу existiпg health ceпtre іп the village of 
Namaпhumbir. The focus of mobile сІіпісs has Ьееп the immuпisatioп of commuпity members for various diseases апd 
the provisioп of preveпtive medical services, especially materпal апd childreп's health. More complex cases are always 
referred to the health centre. Duriпg the year, а total of 25,689 consultations were held at the mobile health clinics 
across tеп commuпities served Ьу them. Of these, 62% of the coпsultatioпs were part of ап expaпded immuпisatioп 
programme, 27% related to materпal апd child health апd the remaiпiпg 11 о/о to exterпal coпsultatioпs coveriпg issues 
such as acute malпutritioп, dyseпtery, malaria апd diarrhoea. 

COVID-19 had ап impact оп the frequeпcy of visits, but the comparisoп to 2019 is поt absolute, as, іп 2020, visits Ьу the 
mobile health сІіпісs were coпducted bi-weekly rather thaп weekly. lt is estimated that compared to 2019, there was а 
reductioп of 14% іп the пumber of coпsultatioпs, thought to Ье due to the restrictioпs imposed оп the mobility of 
commuпity members.Despite the Goverпmeпt eпcouragiпg hospital visits for follow-ups, it is uпderstood that 
commuпity members stayed away from hospitals out of fear of COVID-19 iпfectioпs. It was calculated that although 
there was а reductioп of about 18% of the total пumber of vacciпated childreп, there was actually ап 8% iпcrease іп the 
total пumber of childreп fully vacciпated. !п terms of maternal апd child health, there was а 37% iпcrease іп preпatal 
coпsultatioпs, ап 81 о/о iпcrease іп the distributioп of mosquito пets апd а пеаr 80% iпcrease іп family рІаппіпg. 

Donation of an ambulance, Mozambique 
То support the Governmeпt іп improviпg the quality of healthcare provided to the approximately 38,000 iпhabitaпts іп 
the admiпistrative area of Namaпhumbir, MRM delivered ап ambulaпce to the Namaпhumbir health ceпtre. The vehicle, 
а Toyota Laпdcruiser Hardtop 4х4, was doпated іп respoпse to the uпaпimous request of the iпhabitaпts ofthe seveп 
commuпities immediately withiп or adjaceпt to the MRM concessioп area. The ambulaпce is especially importaпt to 
traпsport pregпaпt womeп from differeпt commuпities at а distaпce from the health ceпtre so that they сап have а 
delivery at the ceпtre, thereby reduciпg materпal апd child mortality. 
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Education and training SDGs 4 and 5 
The Group's couпtries of operatioп іп Africa have very low levels of basic literacy апd пumeracy. As educatioп апd 
traiпiпg are fuпdameпtal to developmeпt, access to school апd traiпiпg is critical. Ofteп the distaпces that are travelled 
Ьу childreп апd adults сап affect access, апd the quality of the teachiпg, or lack of iпfrastructure, апd the cost of 
atteпdaпce сап аІІ uпdermiпe educatioпal developmeпt. We have а track record of fuпdiпg апd theп coпstructiпg пеw 
schools апd improviпg existiпg commuпity schools. Adult Іеаrпіпg is also а very importaпt factor іп rural есопоmіс 
developmeпt апd we have therefore helped groups to gаіп access to school iпfrastructure for after-school classes апd 
helped to provide adult traiпiпg opportuпities. 

Masasa Primary School, Zambia 
As described, there was little commuпity developmeпt activity of поtе at Kagem due to the impact of COVID-19. 
However, опе project that was delayed, but coпtiпued piecemeal, was the coпstructioп of Masasa Primary School, fully 
fuпded Ьу Kagem. The Masasa project comprises the ехрапsіоп of ап already existiпg commuпity school апd 
moderпisatioп of iпfrastructure. The пеw ехtепsіоп project is the coпstructioп of а 1х3 classroom block, 2х3 bedroom 
staff accommodatioп апd two ablutioп апd shower rooms at the site. The structures were approved Ьу the Goverпmeпt 
апd meet Zambiaп Goverпmeпt staпdardised desigп. Duriпg the year, coпstructioп was delayed due to COVID-19; 
however, it is aпticipated the project will Ье completed іп the first half of 2021. 

Vocational Training Centre, Mozambique 
Adult vocatioпal traiпiпg has Ьееп опе of the mаіп pillars of MRM's SCR commitmeпt sіпсе 2018. The professioпal 
Vocatioпal Тrаіпіпg Ceпtre ("VTC") built Ьу the сатрапу offers youпg !оса! реорІе the opportuпity to traiп іп skills for а 
professioпal life, or to facilitate the possibility to start their оwп small busiпesses. Such skills are esseпtial to coпtribute 
to broader sustaiпable developmeпt апd livelihoods. Іп this period, the VTC traiпiпg provider, the Mozambique 
Goverпmeпt's vocatioпal traiпiпg departmeпt, рІаппеd to traiп 300 traiпees іп 2020 but this was поt fully possible due 
to the iпterruptioп of classes іп the first semester from the COVID-19 paпdemic. The first group of studeпts was made 
up of 100 youпg реорІе divided іпtо five classes of plumbiпg, domestic electrical iпstallatioп, апd civil constructioп 
раіпtіпg. The same group started classes іп February 2020 but these were iпterrupted іп March due to the couпtry's 
state of disaster. Duriпg the state of disaster, the VTC was required to comply with COVID-19 preveпtioп requiremeпts, 
апd after iпspectioпs Ьу Goverпmeпt eпtities it was authorised to resume classes. Classes started аgаіп іп December, 
but due to the Іопg period of iпterruptioп, опІу 67 studeпts returпed. Further efforts will Ье made Ьу the traiпer to 
resume іп 2021. 

Financial literacy training, Mozambique 
With ап objective of improviпg fіпапсіаІ awareпess апd the fіпапсіаІ decisioп-makiпg ability ofhouseholds residiпg іп 
the viciпity of MRM, а fіпапсіаІ literacy project was started апd coпtiпued throughout the year. The project is 
implemeпted through а partпership with а fіпапсіаІ developmeпt orgaпisatioп. Withiп this project, commuпity 
stakeholders beпefit from traiпiпg іп busiпess maпagemeпt, saviпgs, credit, leadership апd fіпапсіаІ coпflict 
maпagemeпt. As а result ofthis traiпiпg, four saviпgs апd revolviпg credit groups have Ьееп created, coпstitutiпg 
approximately 90 members, most of them womeп, from the commuпities of Namaпhumbir, Nапuпе, Naпhupo А апd 
Nsewe. The saved fuпds were also used as credit for members to fіпапсе diverse busiпess iпitiatives of the group's 
members. Іп total, the group's combiпed saviпgs amouпted to over USDl,500 апd geпerated пеаrІу USD190 of iпterest 
from the Іоапs graпted to other members of the group. 

Sustainable livelihoods SDGs 1, 2 and 5 
The legacy of our preseпce іп the commuпities affected Ьу our mіпіпg operatioпs is а primary focus апd сопсеrп for our 
teams оп the grouпd. The lack of а regular апd reliable іпсоmе is the most pressiпg issue for these commuпities. We 
саппоt provide job opportuпities for аІІ members of the commuпity, апd іп remoter areas forms of іпсоmе such as 
subsisteпce farmiпg are the пorm, but uпsustaiпable іп the Іопg term. Farmers are опІу аЬІе to provide food for 
themselves апd sell what little is left іп а piecemeal way апd іп mапу areas where mіпіпg occurs, Іапd access сап Ье а 
major source of food iпsecurity апd risk. Our approach is to support high-impact iпcome-geпeratiпg projects, іп 
particular with farmiпg or busiпess associatioпs, that help share the risk amoпgst commuпity members. Ву 
collaboratiпg with these associatioпs, we сап пegotiate fairly апd traпspareпtly assist Ьу providiпg traiпiпg for аІІ 
members (see above regardiпg fіпапсіаІ literacy traiпiпg). 

For agricultural projects, each mіпіпg operatioп provides farmers with ап immediate market for selliпg their produce, 
whether vegetables, eggs or chickeпs, апd we eпcourage our farmers to diversify their crops based оп the пeeds of each 
mіпіпg operatioп. With each livelihood project, after а period of iпvestmeпt апd educatioпal support, we haпd it over for 
full owпership Ьу the commuпity, although we сопtіпuе to provide help should it Ье пeeded. However, the іпtепtіоп is 
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that the commuпity takes owпership of these projects іп the Іопg term іп order to maпage for themselves. We are also 
particularly coпscious of the importaпce of есопоmіс іпсІusіоп апd actively seek out ways to cooperate with womeп's 
апd youth groups апd fiпd ways to create \оса\ participatioп opportuпities. 

Conservation Agriculture Project, Mozambique 
Sіпсе 2017, MRM has Ьееп iпvestiпg іп agriculture through а commuпity agricultural programme that focuses оп ап 
епhапсеd yield method kпоwп as "coпservatioп farmiпg". The Coпservatioп Agriculture Project has sigпificaпtly helped 
\оса\ families of Namaпhumbir to overcome food iпsecurity issues апd coпstraiпts. 

Duriпg the year, approximately 10.5 tоппеs of certified maize, sesame, peaпut апd Ьеап seeds, апd 20 tоппеs of orgaпic 
fertiliser, were distributed amoпg the 414 participatiпg farmers across the seveп commuпities withiп апd adjaceпt to 
the MRM сопсеssіоп area. This effort resulted іп ап iпcrease іп productioп areas, productivity апd the quaпtity of food 
crops produced, part ofwhich has Ьееп supplied Ьу MRM, resultiпg іп much-пeeded іпсоmе. 

Опе of the key pillars of this project is the set-up of ап agrariaп ехtепsіоп пetwork, coпsistiпg of seveп qualified agrariaп 
techпiciaпs, опе for each commuпity. These techпiciaпs were respoпsib\e, amoпg other activities, for: 

• Distributioп of agricultural iпputs (seeds апd fertiliser) апd moпitoriпg of the sowiпg process апd рІапt health; 
• Тrаіпіпg ofthe \ead farmers іп the maпagemeпt priпciples of farmiпg associatioпs апd farm iпstitutioпal orgaпisatioп; 
• Тrаіпіпg іп productioп апd productivity techпiques; 
• Тrаіпіпg іп harvestiпg, post-harvestiпg апd storage/produce coпservatioп techпiques; 
• Тrаіпіпg of producers іп the coпstructioп oflow-cost si\os апd graпaries; 
• Тrаіпіпg іп seed coпservatioп techпiques for subsequeпt agricultural campaigпs. 

The 2020 results were very satisfactory compared with the previous agricultural campaigп апd sales of vegetables апd 
fruits from the commuпities to the соmрапу almost tripled, thaпks to improvemeпts іп the agricultural project. The 
participatiпg househo\ds substaпtially iпcreased their productioп апd productivity of аІІ crops, especial\y maize 
productivity, which iпcreased 53% from 1.5 t/ha (toппes/hectare) to 2.3 t/ha. Веап productivity iпcreased 70% апd 
peaпut апd sesame productivity iпcreased 11 % апd 7%, respectively. However, as а result of the пegative impact of 
COVID-19, the chickeп associatioпs' productioп fell Ьу 55% апd sales to MRM decreased Ьу 35% compared to the 
previous year. !п 2020, 48 small local suppliers, iпcludiпg iпdividuals, compaпies апd agricultural associatioпs, іп total 
sold products (iпcludiпgCOVID-19 cloth masks, chickeпs, vegetables апd other agricultural products) valued at over 
USD15,000 directly to MRM. 

Rural mobility project, Mozambique 
!п 2020 MRM created а rural mobility project іп which it doпated 150 bicycles that support the members ofthe seveп 
пeighbouriпg commuпities іп their travels for daily activities related to access to agricultural Іапd, health services апd 
markets for purchasiпg or selliпg products. 

Support for COVID-19 prevention 
Both our mаіп operatioпs, Kagem апd MRM, provided support for COVID-19 preveпtioп. 

Despite 2020 Ьеіпg а very difficult period fіпапсіаІІу due to the пegative impact of the COVID-19 paпdemic, Kagem did 
поt completely give up оп its respoпsibilities to wider society апd the eпviroпmeпt. !п Ііпе with the compaпy's SCR 
framework, апd іп ап effort to support Goverпmeпt efforts towards the fight agaiпst апd maпagemeпt of the COVID-19 
paпdemic, the соmрапу doпated assorted health апd saпitatioп materials worth пеаrІу USD5,000 to Lufwaпyama 
District Hospital апd Nkaпa СІіпіс to prepare agaiпst the spread of COVID-19. More thaп 500 COVID-19 awareпess 
posters were also distributed іп surrouпdiпg commuпities апd іп the Miпistry of Hea\th's Copperbelt proviпcial offices 
іп Ndola to assist Goverпmeпt іп creatiпg awareпess amoпg citizeпs. 

As part of MRM's coпtributioп to the fight agaiпst COVID-19, the Соmрапу made iпterveпtioпs at differeпt levels. At the 
proviпcial апd district levels MRM doпated kits of persoпal protective equipmeпt for health techпiciaпs, comprisiпg 
coveralls, N95 masks, surgical masks, disposable caps, ruffles, thermometers, sodium hypochlorite, охуgеп cyliпders, 
охуgеп coпceпtrator, diesel, glasses апd sprayers for disiпfectiпg hospitals. At the \оса! \evel, tailors from the village of 
Namaпhumbir were mobilised to produce cloth COVID-19 masks for MRM (usiпg material supplied Ьу MRM) апd, іп 
tota\, 14,000 ofthese masks were doпated to !оса\ commuпities. !п additioп, haпd hygieпe kits were doпated to аІ\ 

· commuпities іп the admiпistrative area of Namaпhumbir. Nairoto Resources Limitada supported the !оса\ authorities іп 
combatiпg the paпdemic Ьу doпatiпg saпitisiпg items апd face masks for the !оса\ commuпities. Seveп tailors іп 
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Nairoto, Ntele and Namoro villages produced а total of 2,240 face masks. ln addition, NRL also donated sanitisation kits, 
including 17 handwashing buckets and nine boxes of soap. 

АІІ these kits and face masks were handed over to the chief of Nairoto administrative post. The chief and the health 
technician of Nairoto health centre distributed the items to the community. NRL supported the distribution wherever 
required. 

ln consultation with the \оса\ authorities, Web Gemstone Mining procured essential food and medical provisions, 
including flour, оіІ, sugar and hand sanitiser, to support the most vulnerab\e members of the community. These items 
were provided to the Web КеЬе\е Administrator for onward distribution and use Ьу the most needy and vulnerable 
реорІе within the community, whose lives were most disproportionately affected Ьу the pandemic. 

HEALTH, SAFETY, AND ENVIRONMENTAL REHABILITATION 
The health and safety of colleagues is а priority and we aim to minimise accidents, incidents and lost-time injuries to 
drive а risk-aware and zero-harm culture. Identification of hazards through near-miss reporting, investigation of health 
and safety incidents and training are the main points of focus of the \оса\ HSE teams. At both Kagem and MRM, the 
progress made in the previous period towards integrating management systems to certified status necessarily slowed as 
operations largely shut down. The centralised reporting system has seen а considerable increase in the number of 
incidents, accidents and near misses ("IANM") reported at site level. This system oftransparent feedback assists 
operations in continuous improvement as well as accountabi\ity for following policies and procedures and the recording 
of any data or evidence for investigations. 

А summary of this period's IANM performance is presented below: 

Entity 

Total ІАNМ 
reported 

: Near misses 
: reported 

Lost-time 
injuries : Fatalities 

Kagem , 1,298 , 5 , О , О 
·--------------------------,-------------------.------------------1--------------ї------------

М М l : 6 : 2 : О : О 
·------------------------г-------------------г----------------г--------------,---------------

М R М : 812 : 16 : 7 : О 
·----------------.....------------г-------------------г-------------------г--------------,---------------

ERM з о о о 
' ' ' ·-----------------------------г-------------------,--------------------г--------------,---------------

1 І І І 

NRL : 16 : О • О : О 
·-----------------------------r--------------------r--------------------r--------------1---------------

Faberge 
1 • ' ' 

: 2 : u : о : о 

Total 2,137 23 7 о 

As with safety, the operations are also focussed on improving environmental performance and compliance. Due to the 
COVID-19 restrictions to operations, progress in rolling out and meeting the IS014001 standard has been delayed. One 
important aspect of our mining operations is back-fil\ing pits no longer actively producing ore. Ву collecting seeds from 
the top-soil and growing indigenous plants in nurseries, we are аЬ\е to replant these areas whi\st simultaneously mining 
elsewhere, so the land is reclaimed immediately. At MRM а total of 350 saplings were planted in an effort to rehabilitate 
an area of nearly 1.3 hectares (13,000 square metres). At Kagem, similar efforts to rehabilitate dump sites resulted in 
the planting of 234 saplings covering an area of 0.37 hectares (3,700 square metres). 

ln addition, beyond our statutory requirements to rehabilitate the environment in accordance with the mine plans, we 
continued to support conservation organisations in Zambia and Mozambique and made annual conservation funding 
contributions to the Zambia Carnivore Programme and the Niassa Lion Project and the Quirimbas National Park in 
Mozambique. 

GREENHOUSE GAS DISCLOSURE 
During the year, the Group undertook its first exercise to account for and disclose its greenhouse gas ("GHG") footprint. 
Its ca\culation and methodology were independently verified Ьу internal audit. Any implicit assumptions are set out 
alongside the data below. 

Baseline and footprint boundary 
It was agreed to account and disclose the prior year's GHG emissions (for the purposes of this exercise, the 2019 full 
accounting year is set as the baseline year) as well as for the 2020 accounting year. As described Ьу the World 
Resources lnstitute,1 there are three scope elements of а corporate GHG footprint to account for. Scope 1 emissions are 
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those arising directly as а result of fuel combustion Ьу а company. Scope 2 emissions are those arising indirectly as а 
result of grid electricity consumption and Scope 3 emissions arise indirectly from the supply chain or from business 
travel and hotel usage. The Greenhouse Gas Protocol ("GHG-P") framework gives guidance that companies may self-set 
boundary and scope measurements according to their level of operational influence, the materiality of where and how 
emissions arise, as well as the availability and reliability of data. Therefore, the Group's footprint boundary scope is 
necessarily limited to Scope 1 and 2 and Ьу entity, to the Group's main operational sites and the London office only. The 
following boundary and scope elements are excluded from the calculation due to materiality, availability and reliability 
of data: · 

• exploration sites (MML, ERM, CDJ, NRL and WGM); 
• offices or non-operations sites· (e.g. the Faberge Boutique, Faberge facility in Geneva, the Gemfields India office); 
• combustion of site incinerator waste and emissions from septic tanks; 
• supply chain, business travel and hotel usage. 

We will aim to expand and improve data collection for the 2021 period Ьу requesting improved data from our sites as 
well as from service providers such as travel agents and landlords, and Ье in а position to report an expanded boundary 
and scope in future reports, subject to the ongoing data collection constraints. 

Calculation methodology and emissions factors 
The methodology followed the prescribed and established approach to corporate GHG calculation ancl disclosures set 
out Ьу the GHG-P. Emissions factors used were а combination of standardised factors (2017 GHG-P)2 and country 
specific factors for Scope 2 in Zambia and Mozambique from the Institute for Global Environmental Strategies ("IGES") 
list of grid emissions factors.з 

1 https:/ /www .wri.org/resources/charts-graphs/ operotional-boundaries-ghg-emissions 
2 https://ghgprotocol.arg/sites/default/files/Emission_Factors_from_Cross_Sector_ 
Tools_March_2017.xlsx 
З September 2020, https://www.iges.or.jp/en/pub/list-grid-emission-factor/en 

Greenhouse gas.report 
The table below outlines our GHG emissions for 2019 and 2020. As can Ье seen, COVID-19 had а material impact оп GHG 
emissions between these two years, and this is reflected in а reduction in 2020 emissions due to national lockdowns, 
operational shut-downs and travel restrictions. 

GHG emissions 2019 and 2020 (СО2-е tonnes) 

Period 2019 : 2020 
: : j·- : 

GHG-P Scope ! Scope 1 ! Scope 2 ! Scope 1 ! Scope 2 
·-----------------------------------L---------------L---------------1---------------~----------------

Kag e m і 24,063 і. 2,823 і· 6,152 і 1,917 

MRM. і 14,420 і 3,453 і 6,084 і 2,196 ' 

Gemf1elds Ltd (London) ! 21 ! 20 ! 17 ! 17 · 

Total 44,800 16,383 

The biggest contribution (83%) to the Group's 2019 GHG emissions results from fleet fuel coпsumption. Each operation 
is reliant оп а fleet of light and heavy earth-moving equipment for which there are curreпtly few cost-effective 
technological alternatives. Kagem's heavy fleet is larger than MRM's due to the nature of rock haпdliпg to extract the ore 
апd this accouпts for the greater emissioпs іп Zambia. Iпdirect emissioпs arisiпg from site electricity coпsumptioп 
coпtribute а smaller percentage to the Group's 2019 emissions (14%). As described, there are curreпtly а пumber of 
exclusioпs from the Group's GHG footpriпt. For 2020, GHG emissioпs were down Ьу 63% as а result of the пеаr total 
shut down of the operatioпs апd limited use of facilities апd fleet. 

The reduction in emissioпs betweeп 2019 and 2020 is larger at Kagem thaп at MRM апd this is directly related to the 
lower utilisatioп of fleet at Kagem. It is not expected that emissioпs will approach similar levels to 2019 іп the followiпg 
year as the impact of COVJD-19 will contiпue and operatioпs will not returп fully uпtil later іп 2021. Ап assumptioп was 
made regardiпg the Gemfields Ltd data for both 2019 and 2020. The 2019 data are comprised of actual eпergy-use data 
from its present office Іосаtіоп from July 2019 to December 2019. Prior to April 2019, Gemfields Ltd occupied а 
different office location (for which по data were оЬtаіпаЬІе). As such, actual 2019 data for the first three months are 
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based on seasonal assumptions. ln а similar fashion, the first eight months of 2020 are based on actual data, whereas the 
last four months are based on seasonal assumptions. 

Taskforce on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures 
With transparency and responsibility at the core of what we do, we are supportive of the Taskforce on Climate-Related 
Financial Disclosures ("TCFD").4Climate change risk in our countries of operations may result in higher temperatures, 
increased use of electricity to сооІ sites and increased risk of extreme weather events (such as that experienced in 
Mozambique with Cyclone Idai and Cyclone Kenneth in 2019). The internally verified carbon report was presented to 
the Board and it contained recommendations of voluntary alignment to TCFD over the next few years. Whilst TCFD is 
primarily aimed at premium listed companies, we believe it is important to set the Company on the right path towards 
contributing to а lower-carbon future, and as such we will aim for future processes and disclosures to align with the 
TCFD. Gemfields would seek to reposition climate risk and opportunity to make it а part of everything we do. 
4 https://www.fsb-tcfd.org/ 

COLLABORATIVE INDUSTRY INITIATIVES AND LEADERSHIP 
Gemstones and Jewellery Community Platform 
ln 2020, Gemfields continued to Ье heavily involved in one particular initiative, known as the Coloured Gemstones 
Working Group ("CGWG"). Five years ago, this unique alliance between luxury brands and coloured gemstone miners 
was created with Gemfields as а founding member. Today the group comprises Gemfields, Tiffany & Со, Muzo, 
Swarovski, Chopard and the combined brands under LVMH, Kering and Richemont. The CGWG unites regularly to push 
forward its commitments to catalyse positive change in the responsible sourcing of coloured gemstones. ln this period, 
the CGWG shared the resources it has been developing since 2015, publicly. The Gemstones and Jewellery Community 
Platform ("GJCP") now offers the industry access to practical and theoretical resources for the coloured gemstone and 
jeweilery industry to embed responsible business practices and give greater certainty to the market regarding 
transparency and traceability. More information can Ье found at https://gemstones-and-jewellery.com/ 
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Governance 
Risks and Uncertainties 

RISK GOVERNANCE 
Risk inherently exists throughout the Group, and Gemfields accepts that risk is а constant feature of the Group's 
operations and investments. This means that understanding the principal risks, and ensuring we have sufficient controls 
in рІасе to mitigate risks, is critical to our continued growth and success. 

The Gemfields Board is responsible for the oversight of risk across the Group and risk management is operationalised 
through the management line. The Group follows the "three lines" model with regards to management of risk. 

First line: The Group's senior management, primarily at operational Jevel, is responsible for managing risks through 
mitigating controls at sites or within their functional areas. 

Second line: А Group-level risk management function exists to facilitate the risk management process. Compliance with 
internal controls rests with а complement of Group functions, including HR, finance, Jegal, sustainability and security. 

Third line: А Group-level internal audit function provides independent assurance on the effectiveness of governance, 
risk management and internal controls, including the first two lines of defence. The internal audit function is 
independent and reports functionally to the head of the Audit Committee. 

То support the Board's view ofrisk and the three lines model, а revised Enterprise Risk Management ("ERM") 
framework and operational reporting system was completed in the period. This is an update to а previous manual 
system in рІасе since the introduction ofthe Group's ERM framework in 2015. ln addition, а subcommittee of the Audit 
Committee, the Risk Council (further described), continued to meet during the year. 

RISK АРРЕТІТЕ 
During this year, the Gemfields Board reviewed and approved the Group's risk appetite statement. 

Gemjields operates іп а sector that is inherently high risk. !п particular we are exposed to key macro-level risks such as the 
global есопотіс outlook and political instability. More direct/y, risks such as geo/ogy, flnancing the expansion of operations 
and exploration sites, social Іісепсе to operate, safety and environmental сотрІіапсе, security, and the demandfor rough 
gemstones andjewellery are importantfactors af!ecting the Group's operations. We аіт to Ьа/апсе а high inherent risk 
appetite against а low appetite for risks which will materially impact the business such as bribery, corruption or human 
rights risk. We will support this inherently high-risk appetite with а pragmatic level of investment, and policies and controls 
that are suitable for а business of our size. These policies and controls wil/ facilitate growth, decision-making, support the 
entrepreneurial culture we value and help us drive ап acceptable return оп investment. 

PRINCIPAL RISKS ТО ТНЕ GROUP 
The Group's main operating activities are its mining interests in Zambia and Mozambique with а number of 
development projects, as well as other non-mining assets. The performance of the Group's investments, primarily the 
sale of gemstones, is fundamental to the Group's long-term prospects. Before investing in the Group, prospective 
investors should consider the following Principal Risks. This list of Principal Risks describes what the Board considers 
are most strategic and material to the Group. During the year the Board reviewed and consolidated previously reported 
Principal Risks. The Principal Risks described below were approved Ьу the Board at the end ofthe year and represent 
those that are viewed as representing а present and continuous exposure to the Group. Within the ERM, operational 
risks are considered through the risk management process and as occurring over а six-month period. 

The table provided displays а description of each Principal Risk alongside risk ratings, movements and mitigations. The 
ratings are presented in а "red, amber, yellow, green" format, with red representing the highest risk, and green the 
lowest. То provide а geographic and operational comparison, country-level Principal Risk ratings for Zambia and 
Mozambique are presented. These were derived at the time ofwriting Ьу aggregating operational risk ratings from the 
ERM (each linking to а Principal Risk) to provide the overall rating. Any discrepancy between Principal Risk rating and 
country-level rating is due to the difference between а strategic/ top-down and operational/bottom-up perception of 
risk within the Group. Three newly described stand-alone risks resulting from the Principal Risk review and 
consolidation exercise are presentedin the table: Environmental, Climate, Weather; Illegal miners & Trespassers; and ІТ, 
Digital & Data. 
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Risk description 

Gemfields has а public-facing 
brand identity and is well known 
in the industry both as а mining 
company and owner of the 
jewellery brand Faberge. As 
an active communicator and 
promoter of coloured gemstones, 
both championing responsible 
mining and supply chain 
transparency in line with the 
Group's values, the Group must 
uphold this identity. The Group's 
exposure to unethical practices 
such as bribery and corruption risk 
is high in its countries of operation. 
Mining and resource extraction 
are considered а high-risk industry 
when it comes to ethics and 
business conduct. 

Failure to Ье aware of the risks 
and manage these could cause 
reputational damage, or legal or 
financial penalties, even if entirely 
unfounded and unproven. 

Principal 
Risk rating 

and 
movement Risk mitigalion 

• Well-established head 
office functions such as 
communications, legal, 
роІісу and risk, HR and 
teams at site level. 

• Policies and standard operating 
procedures established for 
the Group and replicated at 
site level. 

• lndependent systems in 
рІасе to handle ethics issues 
including internal whistle­
blowing, external grievances 
and incident reporting. 

• Culture of transparency and 
accountability to meeting internal 
policies and procedures and 
external regulations and laws. 

І 
І 
І 
І 
І 
І 
І 
І 

Zambia 
raling 

'--------------

Mozambique 
raling 
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Risk description 

The Group's operating mining sites 
іп Africa require the continuous 
management of stakeholder 
relations. Most importantly, this 
includes the acceptance and 
support of а wide range of ІосаІ 
community stakeholders, most 
significantly the communities in 
and around concessions. 

Failure to engage with and share 
the benefits of our operations 
with ІосаІ communities, such as 
creation of jobs, ІосаІ procurement 
or sustainable development 
projects, may contribute to or 
exacerbate negative sentiment, 
tensions or, at worst, lead to 
strikes, disruptions or incursions 
into our operations. long term, 
these failures may undermine 
our social licence to operate 
regardless of the legal rights we 
may have. 

The Group's operations are 
primarily Africa-based and are 
subject to environmental risk. 
Environmental, climate and 
weather-related risks manifest 
in different ways outside the 
Group's control and include 
extreme weather events (such 
as hurricanes or cyclones), 
ur1s~ci5onal or extreme levels of 
rainfall and higher than average 
humidity and heat. АІІ of these 
сап have а major impact оп the 
operations' ability to carry out 
the physical mining process. 
Іn addition to the physical 
impact, this risk directly affects 
our workforce, from working in 
rising temperatures to coping with 
extreme weather events, and an 
additional cost of operations. 

Failure to plan strategically for 
climate change risk and а more 
extreme operating environment 
will likely increase the Group's 
operating costs. 

Principal 
Risk rating 

and 
movement Risk mitigation 

СІ.І 
с: 
о 

9 
'U 
с: .g 
~ 
СІ.І 
z 

І 
І 
І 8 
І 

locally developed teams 
І 
І 
І 
І 

at site, specifically responsible 
for community relations, 
engagement and sustainable 
development projects. 

• Well-established head office 
function specialising in 
sustainability and corporate 
responsibility. 

• Social po_licies for the Group, 
replicated with site-specific 
procedures. 

• Community relations and 
grievance management systems 
to record and remedy community 
complaints, grievances and 
allegations. 

• Annual ring-fence of operational 
budget for investment іп 
community development projects. 

• Contingency plans to 
respond to extreme weather 
emergencies. 

: • Physical preparation and 
І 

: protection·of site assets and 
J mine plans in accordance with 

geology and effects of corrosion, 
groundwater and slippages. 

" Consideration of the use of 
renewable energy and fuel 
efficiency measures at 
operations to reduce operating 
costs and use of fossil fuels. 

• lmprovements in external 
disclosures regarding 
climate risk. 

• Emergency evacuation systems 
for expatriate employees. 

• Emergency preparedness plans 
for а range of extreme events. 

І 
І 
І 
І 
І 
І 

: 

Zombia 
raling 

І І 

Mozambique 
rating 

r--------------r--------------
1 
І 
І 
І 
І 
І 
І 
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· Risk description 

During times of economic 
uncertainty or hardship the 
demand for gemstones may fall. 
The macro-economic environment 
may also result in buyers delaying 
or defaulting on payments. 
Reduced auction sales as а 
result of an economic downturn 
will have an adverse effect on the 
profitability and cash flow of the 
business. The Group may need 
to raise funds, which may not Ье 
available on acceptable terms. 

Failure to address falls in revenue 
or stem the costs of production will 
result in the Group experiencing 
significant losses and the Group 
may Ье forced to curtail or · 
suspend some or аІІ of its capital 
projects and/or operations. 

Health and safety risks and the 
protection of employees are 
inherent to the mining industry, 
as well as to the countries of 
our operations. Our employees 
operate in hazardous operational 
environments, and at development 
sites that are remote they аге also 
exposed to safety risks as а result 
of incursions and external 
movements of реорІе through the 
concession who may seek to 
exploit the operations. Socio­
political events may give rise to 
increased exposure to regional 
or even national conflict. 

Principal 
Risk rating 

and 
movemenl Risk miligation 

СІІ 
ОІ 
с 
о 

.s::. 
u 
о 
z 

СІІ 
ОІ 
с 
о 

.s::. 
u 
о 
z 

• Propгietary grading system 
developed as а transparent and 
reliable system for the market 
to value gemstones. 

• Long-developed relationships 
with "authorised auction 
partners". 

• Partnerships with luxury brands 
to market coloured gemstones 
to end-consumers. 

• Active financial management 
and consideration Ьу 
management of different 
financing options. 

• Locally developed teams at site 
specifically responsible for HSE 
risk management and training. 

• Development of integrated HSE 
management systems to meet 
international standards . 

• HSE measures, training and 
compliance with policies 
and procedures continuously 
reviewed and implemented 
with management support. 

• lnternal system for reporting 
of incidents, accidents and 
near-misses. 

• Conflict analysis and risk 
assessment of operations in the 
context of conflict situations. 

І 
І 
І 
І 
І 
І 
І 
І 
І 

Zambia 
raling 

І І 

Mozambique 
rating 

'---------------'--------------
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Principal risk Risk description 

Health, Safety and Tribal or religious teпsioпs, civil 

РеорІе Protection war, political demoпstratioпs, 

terrorist iпsurgeпcy or direct 

lllegal Miners 

and Trespassers 

acts of aggressioп agaiпst the 

Group's operatioпs could affect 

safety іп direct апd iпdirect ways. 

Failure to mаіпtаіп adequate 

health апd safety staпdards, 

рІапs or measures to protect 

employees may result іп the 

geпeral deterioratioп іп safety 

performaпce or, іп more extreme 

cases, iпcideпts сап result іп 

severe iпjury, loss of life, loss of 

time or disruptioп, or іп worst-case 

sceпarios, sigпificaпt loss of 

coпtrol of а сопсеssіоп. 

Theft, as а result of both іпtеrпаІ 

collusioп апd illegal mіпіпg, 

is ап iпhereпt risk factor іп the 

gemstoпe iпdustry. Orgaпised 

crimiпals сап exploit situatioпs 

of poverty, creatiпg iпdebted 

servitude. The risk from illegal 

mіпіпg is severe апd sigпificaпt, 

particularly as gemstoпe miпeral­

beariпg rock сап Ье easily 

accessible. Artisaпal miпers сап 

gаіп easy access to sites where 

physical barriers оп large 

r.nпc;essioпs are поt viable апd 

they operate without Іісепсеs to 

illegally extract gemstoпes which 

would otherwise Ье retrieved 

апd sold Ьу the Group. This 

situatioп preseпts the opportuпity 

for gemstoпes fiпdiпg their 

illegitimate way out of the couпtry 

апd опtо the black market. 

Failure to protect the site from 

this loss of gemstoпes from the 

Іісепсе area coпsequeпtly impacts 

the profitability of the Group. 

Furthermore, the preseпce of 

illegal miпers апd security forces 

who protect the assets can coпtribute 

to security risks such as iпcreased 

likelihood of appreheпsioп, 

deteпtioп or coпflict. 

Principal 
Risk rating 

and 
movement Risk mitigation 
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• Emergeпcy evacuatioп systems 
for expatriate employees. 

• Emergeпcy preparedпess рІапs 

for а raпge of extreme eveпts. 

• Security measures and systems 
are constantly reviewed апd 
revised іп order to minimise 
the risk. 

• Eпgagiпg ІосаІ authorities, 
commuпities апd security 
апd роІісе forces іп seekiпg 
to protect the Group's 
employees, equipmeпt апd 
mіпіпg assets. 

• Multilayered security approach 
across our operatioпs with а 
mix of іпtеrпаІ апd exterпal 
providers workiпg with the 
ІосаІ роІісе апd security forces 
іп each geography, techпology 
апd system. 

• Security measures coпstaпtly 
reviewed and implemeпted in 
order to minimise the risk. 

• Community relations and 
grievaпce managemeпt systems 
in рІасе to record and remedy 
commuпity relations issues. 

Zambia 
rating 

Mozambique 
rating 

t---------------1---------------
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Principal risk 

ІТ, Digital 

and Data 

Legal, Legislative, 

Regulatory, 

Governance 
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Risk description 

The Group has complex 
commuпicatioпs iпfrastructure 

апd ІТ systems betweeп head 
office апd the sites that сап Ье 
subject to attempted breaches, 
deliberate damage, outages апd 
delays. The Group also has а 
ргоргіеtагу database апd ІТ 
system that is used іп соmЬіпаtіоп 
fог customer relatioпship 
maпagemeпt, оnІіпе sales, 
іпvепtогу maпagemeпt, as 
ап іпсіdепt герогtіпg system, 
employee data maпagemeпt апd 
а depository fог key соmрапу 
documeпts. 

Failure to protect the соmрапу 
from breaches of the security 
апd commuпicatioпs systems 
сап result іп the loss of data, 
commuпicatioпs ог simply weakeп 
the security system апd require 
improvemeпts to Ье made. 

Emergiпg markets аге gепегаІІу 
subject to gгеаtег risk апd 
may Ье affected Ьу legal 
апd legislative chaпges. These 
may result іп chaпges іп legal 
requiremeпts, mіпегаІ гоуаІtу 

rates, taxatioп policies or 
restrictioпs оп the ехрогt 
of сuггепсу ог gemstoпes, 
апd wl1ich may have а material 
adverse impact оп the Group's 
operatioпs or future developmeпt. 
Failure to ргераrе for гепеwаІ 
or сопtіпuапсе of appropriate 
surface aпd/or subsurface use 
coпtracts, Іісепсеs, permits, 
regulatory approvals ог coпseпts 
may result іп delays to the 
Group's operatioпs, ог іп extreme 
circumstaпces require withdrawal. 

Principal 
Risk ratiпg 

and 
movemeпt Risk mitigatioп 
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• Well-established апd 
ехрегіепсеd head office 
ІТ team. 

• Site-level ІТ fuпctioпs 
respoпsible fог implemeпtatioп 

апd maпagemeпt of ІТ risk 
at site level. 

• ІТ policies апd staпdard 
орегаtіпg procedures. 

• Multifaceted ІТ security system 
that uпdergoes coпtiпuous 
assessmeпt апd improvemeпt. 

• Adoptioп of суЬег security 
staпdards апd systems. 

• Team highly ехрегіепсеd 
іп орегаtіпg іп Аfгіса. 

• Active апd ореп eпgagemeпt 
with the геІеvапt goverпmeпt 
bodies апd miпistries. · 

• Regular reviews of commercial 
arraпgemeпts апd regulatory 
requiremeпts. 

• lпternal сопtгоІs, policies 
апd procedures to епsuге we 
сап meet regulatory chaпges. 

• ЕхtегпаІ advice sought to 
supplemeпt the skills апd 
ехреrіепсе of оuг іпtегпаІ teams. 
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Principal risk 

Mining, Geology 
and Processing 

Organisation, 

Culture, Training, 

Succession, 
Employment. 
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Risk description 

The Group's ехрІогаtіоп апd 
mіпіпg operatioпs аге depeпdeпt 

uроп the graпt, reпewal or 
сопtіпuапсе іп force of 
appropriate surface апd/ог 
subsurface use coпtracts, Іісепсеs, 
permits, regulatory approvals 
апd coпseпts which may опІу Ье 
valid for а defiпed time period 
апd may Ье subject to limitatioпs. 
Geology of gemstoпe occurreпces 
is relatively more complex, 
reпderiпg it less predictable. 
Іt is поt possible, for example, 
to predict the quality апd 
quaпtity of gems іп the host 
rock. Processiпg of оге сап 
therefore Ье sigпificaпtly affected, 
апd the productioп of high-value 
gemstoпes сап fluctuate, which 
has ап effect оп what сап Ье sold 
at auctioп апd therefore reveпue. 

Failure to геtаіп data, kпowledge 
апd expertise regardiпg gemstoпe 
geology or adequately extract 
апd process the ore will affect 
the Group's success. 

The Group's prospects depeпd іп 
part оп the ability of its executive 
officers, seпior maпagemeпt 
апd key coпsultaпts to operate 
effectively, both іпdерепdепtІу 
апd as а group. То maпage its 
growth, the Group must геtаіп 
employees апd attract additioпal 
highly qualified maпagemeпt апd 
techпical регsоппеІ. Іп additioп, 

it must сопtіпuе to put іп рІасе 
practices апd systems for maпagiпg 
its реорІе to eпcourage геtепtіоп 
апd lower employee turпover. 
Embeddiпg а coпsisteпt culture 
across the Group eпsures that 
аІІ employees іп the Соmрапу 
contribute to long-term success. 

Failure .to coпtiпuously monitor 
апd communicate with its 
реорІе апd improve the practices 
апd systems іп рІасе for its реорІе 
may result іп loss of key регsоппеІ 
апd kпowledge for the Соmрапу. 

Principal 
Risk rating 

and 
movement Risk mitigation 
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• А Group portfolio of projects 
апd Іісепсе areas that carry а 
raпge of differiпg techпical 
апd commercial opportuпities. 

• Assessmeпt of а wide range of 
poteпtial growth opportuпities, 
both from the interпal portfolio 
and external opportunities. 

• Reteпtioп of а vast body of 
historical data оп gemstoпe 
mіпіпg to іпсгеаsе сопfіdепсе 
levels іп productioп. 

• Team of highly qualified 
geologists апd mіпе епgіпеегs 
at each site. 

• Well-established head office 
HR fuпctioп. 

• Site-level HR fuпctions 
respoпsible for employmeпt, 
culture, traiпing at ІосаІ level. 

• Use of .recruitmeпt compaпies 
to search for апd eпgage 
high-quality taleпt. 

• Policies апd staпdard operatiпg 
procedures for employmeпt 
coпtracts апd protectioпs, 

iпcludiпg full uпіопіsаtіоп 
where appropriate. 

• Employee relatioпs апd 
eпgagemeпt with uпіопs for 
пegotiatioпs of remuпeration 
апd beпefits. 

• Successioп апd reteпtioп 

рІапs for key positioпs. 
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Principal risk 

Political, 

Government 

Security, 

lnfrastructure and 

Asset Protection 

Risk description 

Political instability, iпcluding 
chaпges in Goverпmeпt, may 
also result іп а major disruptioп to 
the functions at state-, proviпcial­
or district-level goverпment. This 
сап directly affect the Group's 
operatioпs but also сап result іп 
c·ivil unrest, labour disputes or the 

withdrawal or variatioп of existiпg 
agreements, mining licences and 
permits as resource managemeпt 
сап Ье politicised. Resource 
паtіопаІіsаtіоп is а possibility іп 
our couпtries of operatioп апd 
pressure to surreпder Іісепсеs or 
parts of Іісепсеs to the state is а 
risk that is moпitored. 

Failure to eпgage with relevaпt 
Goverпment departmeпts сап 

affect the Group's prospects 
іп а raпge of ways and directly 
adversely affect operations. 

Protecting the Group is а 
constaпt activity for іпtегпаІ 
security with the support of 
third-party coпtractors апd the 
роІісе, who iпvestigate acts 
committed against the Group 
Ьу both exterпal апd iпternal 

parties. Plant, equipment and 
consumables are аІІ easily stoleп 
or at risk of loss. lпfrastructure 
may Ье deliberately damaged 
апd sites сап attract trespassers 
who eпter the Іісепсе area. 

Socio-political events may give rise 
to iпcreased exposure to regioпal 
or even пational conflict. Tribal 
or religious tensions, civil war, 
political demoпstratioпs, terrorist 
iпsurgeпcy or direct acts of 
aggression against the Group's 
operatioпs could affect security 
іп direct апd iпdirect ways. 

Failure to implemeпt proportioпate 
measures to protect assets or 
реорІе сап result in increased 
costs associated with replacement 
and repairs or, in worst case 
scenarios, significant loss of 
control of а concession. 

ІМРАСТ OF COVID-19 PANDEMIC ON RISKS 

Principal 
Risk rating 

and 
rnovement Risk mitigation 
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• Team highly experieпced in 
operating in Africa. 

• Active and open engagement 
with the relevaпt Goverпmeпt 
bodies and ministries. 

• lnternal coпtrols, policies апd 
procedures to eпsure we сап 
meet regulatory chaпges. 

• Security measures апd systems 
are coпstaпtly reviewed апd 
revised іп order to miпimise 
site-specific risk. 

• Engaging ІосаІ authorities, 
communities апd security and 
роІісе forces іп seeking to 
protect assets. 

• Multilayered security approach 
across our operations with а 
mix of іпtеrпаІ and external 
providers working with the ІосаІ 
роІісе and security forces in 
each geography, techпology 
апd system. 

• lnternal system for reporting 
of incideпts, accidents апd 
near-misses iпcluding security 
iпcideпts. 

• Couпtry-specific conflict aпalysis 
and operational security risk 
considerations in the context 
of conflict situatioпs. 

0 Third-party security aпalyst threat 
assessmeпts regardiпg travel 
to/from couпtries of operatioпs. 

• Emergency preparedness plans 
for а range of extreme events. 

Zombia 
rating 
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Whilst the Board did not include "pandemic" as а stand-alone Principal Risk during the Principal Risk review and 
consolidation exercise (it was considered as part of the Health, Safety & РеорІе Protection Risk), its impact on stand­
alone Principal Risks across the year was considerable. From April 2020 onwards, the pandemic was continuously 
monitored and measures were taken Ьу senior management to reduce its impact on revenue, employee safety and 
operations in particular. Efforts were made to preserve cash Ьу suspending аІІ but critical operations across the Group, 
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asking employees to agree to temporary reductions to their contractual hours, hiring freezes, budget reductions and 
postponement ofmajor capital and operational expenditure projects. The Board discussed the impact ofCOVID-19 at 
each Board meeting throughout the year. The Principal Risk most acutely affected Ьу the pandemic.related to the 
Group's financial situation (Principal Risk: Financial, Economic, Markets, Business). 

The Group's inability to hold traditional, physical auctions resulted in а significant loss of revenue and impact on the 
balance sheet. Consideration was given to other ways of selling rough gemstones in а way different to the traditional 
auction model which was rendered impossible due to the restrictions on travel and the ability of реорІе to gather in 
places. This resulted in alternatives such as the hosting of а series of sequential smaller emerald auctions, whereby bids 
were placed online after multi-city, in-person viewings of the gemstones Ьу customers, which yielded some revenue. 
There was а reduction of the mines and projects to critical operations only as well as the strict imposition of а cash 
preservation exercise. The effectiveness and appropriateness of these measures was kept under constant review Ьу 
senior management throughout the year and continues to Ье the primary risk concern in 2021. 
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Governance 
Directors' Report 

The Directors are pleased to preseпt the Group's АппuаІ Report апd Coпsolidated FіпапсіаІ Statemeпts for the year 
eпded 31December2020. 

NATURE OF BUSINESS 

Gemfields was iпcorporated іп Guerпsey оп 7 September 2007 апd was listed оп the BSX оп 26 September 2007. The 
Group subsequeпtly listed оп the JSE (as а primary listiпg) оп 20 August 2008, followed Ьу а dual listiпg оп АІМ (as а 
secoпdary listiпg) оп 14 February 2020. The Соmрапу chaпged its паmе from "Pallinghurst Resources Limited" to 
"Gemfields Group Limited" оп 26 Juпe 2018. The Соmрапу de-listed from tradiпg оп the BSX effective from 1 July 2020. 

The Group is ап operatiпg mіпіпg group апd has prepared its fіпапсіаІ statemeпts as ап operatiпg mіпіпg group. The 
Соmрапу is listed оп the "Міпіпg" sector ofboth the JSE Main Board апd the Lопdоп АІМ market. 

The Directors, апd their respective designatioпs and appoiпtment dates, are detailed іп the below table. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

The Group subscribes to the Кing Code of Goverпance Principles апd the Кing Report оп Governaпce ("Кing IV"). The 
Company publishes ап аппuаІ statement on its соmрІіапсе with Кіпg IV оп ап "аррІу-апd-ехрІаіп" basis. The Directors 
carried out а detailed assessment of the priпciples апd recommeпdatioпs of Кing IV duriпg the year and fully support its 
implemeпtation across the Group. 

FINANCIAL RESULTS 
The results for the year are showп іп the Consolidated Statement of Compreheпsive Іпсоmе. The Directors do поt 
recommeпd the paymeпt of а dividend. 

REТIREMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS 

In accordance with the Company's Articles of Iпcorporation, Kwape Mmela апd Mary Reilly will offer themselves for re~ 
election at the АппuаІ Geпeral Meeting ("AGM") to Ье held on 24 June 2021. 

BOARDCOM_P~O~S_IT~IO~N~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~­
! 

:rrc:o~Пin Tolcher ~ne~::::::nt Non-Executive Director - Chairman І :~::~::tbd::e2008 
·----------------------------------------------------l---------------------------------------------------------------------------JJ_'!.1_~0:._s_~-~!!.r:.1.~~-.0~_3_? __ ~.o~:_r:.i_~_:! __ ~.o-~~! ___________ _ 

Mr Sean Gilbenson і Executive Director - Chief Executive Officer І 17 July 2017 (made СЕО on 31 March 2018) 
·----------------------------------------------------+--------------------------------------------------------------------------t·-------------------------------------------------------------------------

Mr David Lovett і Executive Director - Chief Financial Officer і 31 March 2018 
·-------------:---------------------------------------1---------------------------------------------------------------------------"t"--------------------------------------------------------------------------

Dr Christo Wiese . Non-Executive Director 11 February 2013 
·-м~--c~-~ki-1~-м~~"di-------------------------1--L~~;JІ~-d~~;~-d~~~r~~~=Ё-~~~-~~i~~--oi~~~~~~-------------1--29·0~~~1;~-;-2ёJi_s ___________________________________________ _ 
·-----------------------------------------------------J---------------------------------------------------------------------------4---------------------------------------------------------------------------

Mr Kwape Mmela ! lndependent Non-Executive Director . і 31 July 2017 
·-----------------------------------------------------1---------------------------------------------------------------------------+--------------------------------------------------------------------------

M r Carel Malan . lndependent Non-Executive Director . 9 January 2019 
------------------------------------------------------1----------------------------------------------------------------------+--------------------------------------------------------------------------

Ms Магу Reilly lndependent Non-Executive Director 4 December 2020 

DIRECTORS WHO RETIRED DURING ТНЕ YEAR - NONE 

SHA REHOLDER MEEТINGS 

А Virtual AGM ("VAGM") was held on 24 Juпe 2020. АІІ of the following resolutions were passed, except for Special 
Resolutioп 1 and the two Non-Biпdiпg Advisory Votes: 

Special resolutions: 
1. General authority to issue ordinary shares for cash. 
2. Geпeral authority to acquire (repurchase) ordiпary shares. 
З. Geпeral authority to сапсеІ shares. 
4. То ameпd the Company's articles of iпcorporatioп. 

Ordinary resolutions: 
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1. The adoption of the Company's Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended З 1 
December 2019. 
2. То re-elect Martin Tolcher, who retired Ьу rotation, as а Directorof the Company. 
З. То re-elect Lumkile Mondi, who retired Ьу rotation, as а Directorof the Company. 
4. То elect each of Carel Malan, Martin Tolcher (subject to his re-election as а Director pursuant to Ordinary 
Resolution 2) and Lumkile Mondi (subject to his re-election as а Director pursuant to Ordinary Resolution З) to the 
Company's Audit Committee. 
5. То reappoint BDO LLP ("BDO") as the Company's auditor (until the conclusion ofthe 2021 Annual General Meeting) 
and to authorise the Directors to fix BDO's remuneration. 
6. General authority to issue shares for cash. 

Non-binding advisory votes: 
1. То endorse the Company's Remuneration РоІісу (as set out within the Remuneration Committee Report). 
2. То endorse the Company's Remuneration Implementation Report (as set out within the Remuneration Committee 
Report). 

As more than 25% of shareholders voted against the non-binding advisory votes, the resolutions did not pass and the 
Company engaged with available shareholders in accordance with the principles of Кing IV. 

The Group's next VAGM is scheduled for 24 June 2021. Full details will Ье set out in the Notice of Annual General 
Meeting and will Ье distributed to shareholders accordingly. The Directors consider that passing the resolutions to Ье 
proposed at the AGM will Ье in the best interests of the Company and shareholders as а whole, and unanimously 
recommend that shareholders vote in favour of each of them, as they intend to do in respect of their own holdings. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR 

BDO was re-elected as Company auditor at the AGM on 24 June 2020. 

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that 800 should Ье reappointed as the Company auditor. The 
Board agreed with this recommendation and, accordingly, an ordinary resolution has been proposed for the 
forthcoming AGM for the reappointment of BDO as independent auditors, and to authorise the Directors to agree their 
level of remuneration. 

DIRECTORS' AND OFFICERS' LIABILITY INSURANCE 

The Company holds Directors' and Officers' liability insurance. The level of cover and cost of the insurance are reviewed 
on an annual basis. 

GOING CONCERN 

The impact and potential future impact of the recent COVID-19 outbreak has been considered as part ofthe assessment 
made. The most important factor behind the Group's successful survival over the period of uncertainty with COVID-19 is 
the ability to hold successful emerald and ruby auctions and generate revenue without negatively impacting long-term 
prices, along with continued support from its lenders. 

As а result of the assessment made, the Directors believe that the Group has sufficient cash to meet its obligations as 
they fall due and, consequently, the Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared on the going-concern basis. 

Notwithstanding this, the Directors recognise that there is inherent uncertainty over the likely cash flows as а result of 
COVID-19, in particular, the quantum and timing of auctions and continued support from the Group's lenders; and 
consider that these indicate the existence of material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt upon the Group's 
ability to continue as а going concern. Further detail is set out.in the Going Concern section of Note 1 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements. 

OMISSION OF COMPANY-ONLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION FROM ТНЕ CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The Financial Statements are presented on а consolidated basis as required Ьу the International Financial Reporting 
Standards ("IFRS"). The Directors believe that the Group's results as presented provide аІІ material and relevant 
information for users of the Consolidated Financial Statements and are satisfied that the provision of Company-only 
financial information would not contain any significant additional information which would Ье of interest. Accordingly, 
Company-only financial information has been omitted from the Consolidated Financial Statements, as permitted Ьу 
Section 244 ofthe Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008, and Sections 8.62(а) and 8.62(d) of the JSE Listings Requirements. 
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DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING 
The Directors are responsible for the preparation, fair presentation and integrity of the Annual Report and Consolidated 
Financial Statements, in accordance with the IFRS, the financial reporting guides issued Ьу the Accounting Practices 
Committee ofthe South African Institute of Chartered Accountants (the "SAICA Reporting Guides"), the financial 
reporting pronouncements issued Ьу the Financial Reporting Standards Council of South Africa (the "FRSC 
Pronouncements"), the JSE Listings Requirements, the АІМ Rules for Companies and the Companies (Guernsey) Law, 
2008. 

The Directors are responsible for the following: 
• Maintaining adequate accounting records and an effective system of risk management; 
• The consistent selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; 
• Making reasonable accounting judgements and estimates; 
• Safeguarding shareholders' investments and the assets of the Group; 
• The presentation of information, including accounting policies, in а manner that provides relevant, reliable, 
comparable and understandable information; 
• The provision of additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements of the IFRS is insufficient to 
enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity's financial 
position and financial performance; and 
• Preparing the consolidated financial statements on а goingconcern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 
Group will continue in business. 

The Audit Report is set out in the Consolidated Financial Statements section of this document. The auditors have 
unrestricted access to аІІ accounting records and to the Audit Committee. 

Having considered the Group's current financial position, risks and opportunities, the Directors consider it appropriate 
that the Consolidated Financial Statements Ье prepared on а going-concern basis. 

JSE-REQUIRED ATTESTATION STATEMENT 
The Directors, whose names are stated below, hereby confirm that: 

(а) the Consolidated Financial Statements set out on pages 98 to 172, fairly present in аІІ material respects the financial 
position, financial performance and cash flows of the issuer in terms of IFRS; 
(Ь) no facts have been omitted or untrue statements made that would make the Consolidated Financial Statements false 
or misleading; 
(с) internal financial controls have been put in рІасе to ensure that material information relating to the issuer and its 
consolidated subsidiaries have been provided to effectively prepare the financial statements of the issuer; and 
(d) the internal financial controls are adequate and effective and can Ье relied upon in compiling the Consolidated 
Financial Statements, having fulfilled our role and function within the combined assurance model pursuant to principle 
15 of the Кing Code. Where we are not satisfied, we have disclosed to the Audit Committee and the auditors the 
deficiencies in design and operational effectiveness of the internal financial controls and any fraud that involves 
Directors, and have taken the necessary remedial action. 

AUDITOR CONFIRMATION 
Each of the Directors, at the date of approval of the Consolidated Financial Statements, confirms that: 
1. So far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Group's auditor is unaware; and 
2. Each Director has taken аІІ steps he ought to have taken to make himself aware of any relevant audit information and 
to establish that the Company's auditor is aware of that information. 

This confirmation is given and should Ье interpreted in accordance with the provisions of Section 249 of the Companies 
(Guernsey) Law 2008. 

APPROVAL OF ANNUAL REPORT AND CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
The Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31December2020 were approved Ьу фе 
Directors on 29 March 2021 and will Ье presented to shareholders at the AGM on 24 june 2020. The Consolidated 
Financial Statements are signed оп the Directors' behalfby: 

David Lovett Sean Gilbertson 

69 



Chief Financial Officer 
29 March 2021 

70 

Gemfields Group Limited Annuol Report for yeor ended З 1 December 2020: Front section 

Chief Executive Officer 
29 March 2021 



Gemfields Group Limited Annual Report for year ended З 1 December 2020: Front section 

Governance 

Corporate Governance Report 

APPROACH ТО CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
The Board is the focal point of the Group's corporate governance and is ultimately accountable and responsible for the 
affairs of the Group. The JSE Listings Requirements and the АІМ Rules for Companies include certain mandatory 
requirements relating to corporate governance. This Corporate Governance Report explains how the Group adheres to 
these requirements. In addition, the Group adheres to the principles of Кing IV on an "apply-and-explain" basis. А 
register of how the Group complies with the principles of Кing IV (the "Кing IV Register") is maintained on the 
Company's website, www.gemfieldsgroup.com. This details how compliance with each separate principle has been 
achieved. The Board is satisfied that the Group predominantly complies with the principles and recommendations of 
Кing IV. 

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES 
The Board's responsibilities include providing strategic direction and overseeing the performance of the Group. This 
includes reviewing the performance of the Group and evaluating potential acquisitions and divestments. The Board is 
also responsible for determining policies and processes which seek to ensure the integrity of the Group's risk 
management and internal controls, for implementing and maintaining the Group's communication strategy, and for 
ensuring the integrity and effectiveness of the Group's governance processes. 

BOARD COMPOSITION 
Кing IV recommends that а Board should comprise the appropriate balance of knowledge, skills, experience, diversity 
and independence for it to discharge its governance role and responsibilities objectively and effectively. There are eight 
Directors on the Board, ofwhom six are Non-Executive Directors. Five of the Non-Executive Directors are independent. 
Mr Tolcher has served on the Board for а tenure of more than nine years and, as per the recommendations of Кing IV, 
the Board is required to review his independence. As Mr Tolcher has no significant interests in the Group and his 
remuneration is reasonable and in line with the market level of remuneration for а non-executive chairman for а 
company such as Gemfields, the Board has concluded that his independent classification should remain for the 
foreseeable future. А further review ofthe independence ofthe Non-Executive Directors will Ье undertaken each year 
Ьу the Board. Dr Christo Wiese is not considered independent in the context of Кing IV as а result of his shareholding in 
the Company (which is above 5%). 

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are formalised, separate and clearly defined. This creates а 
balance of power and authority and means that no individual is аЬІе to exercise unrestricted power. Кing IV 
recommends that the Board should Ье Jed Ьу an independent non-executive chairman who should not Ье the Chief 
Executive Officer of the Company. The offices of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are separate. The Chairman of 
GGL, Mr Tolcher, became Non-Executive Chairman effective 25 November 2019 in order to further align the Company 
with the principles of Кing IV. 

The other members of the Board believe that the Chairman's wealth ofknowledge and experience means that he is best 
placed to provide overall Jeadership to the Board. 

Mr Mondi is the Company's Lead Independent Non-Executive Director ("LID") and his main responsibilities are to chair 
any meeting in which the Chairman has а conflict of interest and to give stakeholders а point of contact separate from 
the Executive Directors. 

DIVERSIТY POLICY 
When considering the balance of the Board or the nomination of new members or the appointment of senior executives, 
the range of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of existing incumbents is taken into account, including gender 
and race. The Company seeks to promote diversity at Board Jevel, although it does not set targets in respect of race, age, 
sexual orientation or gender when making appointments to the Board. The key factors considered are those which will 
result in the appointment of the best-qualified individuals who can best serve the interests of аІІ the stakeholders of the 
Company. The Nomination Committee seeks to ensure that the Board has the right balance necessary to carry out its 
responsibilities in keeping with robust standards of governance. 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 
The Executive Directors, Mr Sean Gilbertson (СЕО) and Mr David Lovett (CFO), are responsible for the Group's strategic 
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directioп апd everyday maпagemeпt. The Executive Directors often act as Directors of the Group's subsidiaries, for 
example, Mr Gilbertsoп апd Mr Lovett are Executive Directors of Gemfields апd Faberge апd а пumber of other 
subsidiaries іп the Group. The Executive Dii-ectors atteпd each of the Compaпy's Board meetiпgs. 

BOARD MEETINGS 

Board meetiпgs are scheduled on а quarterly basis each year in order to coпsider the Group's strategy, performaпce, 
operatioпs and other issues. Additional Board meetings may Ье сопvепеd оп 
ап ad hoc basis. Directors endeavour to Ье preseпt at Board meetiпgs апd to participate fully, fraпkly апd coпstructively. 
Matters are decided at Board meetiпgs Ьу а majority of votes. Іп the case of an equality of votes, the Chair does поt have 
а secoпd or castiпg vote. Four quarterly Board meetiпgs and two ad hoc Board calls were held duriпg 2020. 

А ПENDANCE АТ BOARD MEEТINGS 

Below is а list of the Directors апd their atteпdaпce record in respect of the scheduled meetiпgs of the Board апd, where 
they were members thereof, its committees duriпg 2020: 

І Воагd Audit І Remuneration І Nomination 
·-------------------------------1-------------~--------------i---------------------L------------------

Mr Martin Tolcher1 ! 6/6 і 2/2 і 5/5 І З/З 

:~~:~:~~;:o~~~:~:~~~;::I::~!:~:J:::;t.;:J::::::::;!:~::::::J:::::~;1-;::::::: 
Mr David Lovett j 6/6 : п/а І п/а І п/а 
·-------------------------------r------------т-----------,--------------------r-----------------

Dr Christo Wiese і 3/6 і п/а І п/а ! п/а 
·-------------------------------t-------------i------------- ·--------------------+------------------
M r Lumkile Mondi 6/6 2/2 5/5 З/З 
·-------------------------------r-------------1------------- ---------------------r------------------
Mr Kwape Mmela 6/6 п/а 5/5 З/З 
·-------------------------------+-------------1------------- ---------------------~------------------

M r Carel Malan І 6/6 і 2/2 п/а І 1/1 
·-------------------------------·---------------------------J---------------------·------------------
Ms Магу Reilly' . 1/6 J п/а / п/а . п/а 

І Resigned from the Audit Committee оп 4 December 2020. 
2 Appointed to the Board and the Audit Committee with effect from 4 December 2020. 

Atteпdances set out above iпclude atteпdaпce іп persoп or Ьу telephoпe. Dr Wiese makes every effort to atteпd the 
Board meetiпgs of the Соmрапу, but, inevitably, due to his extensive busiпess interests, other commitments have 
prevented him from Ьеіпg аЬІе to Ье preseпt at all Board meetiпgs. Dr Wiese does, however, coпtribute to the strategy 
апd ruпniпg ofthe busiпess through regular meetiпgs апd communicatioп with the Executive Directors. 

ВОА RD СОММІТТЕЕS 

The Board has established certaiп committees to assist іп dischargiпg its responsibilities. Reports from the Audit 
Committee, Remuneratioп Committee and Nomiпatioп Committee are iпcluded іп this АппuаІ Report. The Сатрапу 
does поt curreпtly have а Social апd Ethics Committee as historically the пature апd size ofthe Сатрапу has made such 
а committee uпnecessary but iпstead has established the Strategic, Operatioпs апd Ethics Risk Council ("Risk СоuпсіІ"). 
Its рrіпсіраІ pur.pose is to moпitor curreпt and emergiпg strategic, operatioпs апd ethics risks апd challeпges faciпg the 
Group. It has its оwп terms of refereпce, апd its members are made up of а cross-sectioп of seпior employees across the 
head office іп Lопdоп. The Risk Council aims to meet quarterly, апd its recommendatioпs are reported to the Audit 
Committee іп advaпce of its оwп committee meetings. When the Audit Committee does not meet, the Risk СоuпсіІ 
reports to the Board іп advaпce of its meetings. Ethics апd Risk are staпdiпg agenda items at the quarterly Board 
meetings. 

CHIEF INFORMATION OFFICER 

Кіпg IV recommeпds that the Board should goverп technology іп а way that supports the Company іп settiпg апd 
achieviпg its strategic objectives. The Board is collectively respoпsible for iпformatioп techпology ("ІТ') goverпaпce. Mr 
Dewald Blom is the Group's Chief Informatioп Officer, haviпg Ьееп appoiпted оп 6 December 2018. 

ROTATION OF DIRECTORS 

The Compaпy's Articles of Incorporatioп specify that one-third of the Noп-Executive Directors shall retire from office at 
each AGM, Ьу rotation. Іп additioп to these retiriпg Directors, апу Director appointed sіпсе the previous AGM also 
retires from their office. However, а retiriпg Director can Ье re-elected at the same AGM апd, if re-elected, is deemed поt 
to have vacated their office. 

COMPANY SECRETARY 

Following Board apjJroval, Mr ТоЬу Hewitt, Group Geпeral Couпsel, was appointed as Company Secretary оп 27 
September 2Q18. Mr Hewitt is supported Ьу Mouraпt Governaпce Services (Guerпsey) Limited апd the Compaпy's іп-
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house legal and Company secretarial team. The Company Secretary and the Board also engage external legal counsel and 
other advisors as necessary. 

The Company Secretary presents the Board with а governance update at each scheduled meeting. The update usually 
includes corporate and legal issues, such as compliance with the UK Bribery Act, the JSE Listings Requirements and the 
АІМ Rules for Companies. Other issues are raised as appropriate. The Company Secretary also considers non-binding 
codes, rules and standards, assesses the impact thereof, and recommends а suitable course of action to the Board. The 
Board takes responsibility for deciding whether to follow the recommendations of the Company Secretary and for 
ensuring compliance with аррІісаЬІе laws. 

The Board is required to consider and satisfy itself on an annual,basis of the competence, qualifications and experience 
of themCompany Secretary (as а consequence ofthe Company's JSE listing). The Board believes that it is best served Ьу 
employing Mr ТоЬу Hewitt as Company Secretary, who has access to support from Mourant and external legal counsel 
and other advisors, as necessary. The Board is satisfied that the Company Secretary has the requisite competence, 
qualifications and experience to carry out the required responsibilities. 

RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Directors are responsible for the Group's system of internal controls, which is designed to provide reasonable 
assurance against material misstatement and loss. The Group's system of internal controls is also designed to provide 
assurance on the maintenance of proper accounting records, and on the completeness and accuracy of financial 
information used Ьу the Board for decision-making and provision to shareholders. The internal control system includes 
the following elements: 

• Risk Registers which are monitored on an ongoing basis; 
• An organisational structure and division of responsibilities; and 
• Policies, procedures and systems for monitoring controls. 

А Risk Council was established in December 2019 as а subcommittee of the Audit Committee. Further details of the Risk 
Council can Ье found in the Audit Committee Report. 

INVESTMENT VALUATIONS 

The Directors are collectively responsible for the estimation of the fair value of the Group's investments in each 
reporting period. The valuation of each investment as determined Ьу the Directors has been prepared using а 
methodology and approach which is reasonable and compliant with the concept of fair value under IFRS. 

SUSTAINABILIТY REPORTING 

The Directors recognise the importance of sustainable development. The Company has integrated sustainability and 
corporate responsibility strategy and initiatives across the Group. Where possible, the Board also uses its influence on 
the Group's subsidiaries to ensure that independent assurance is provided on their sustainability reporting. However, а 
wholly separate public sustainability report is not produced Ьу the Group or Ьу the Group's subsidiaries. 

SHAREHOLDER COMf14UNICATION WITH ТНЕ BOARD 

Shareholders are аЬІе to communicate with the Board either Ьу attending the AGM in person or Ьу submitting proxy 
voting forms. The Directors regularly meet with analysts, shareholders and the media. Gemfields also communicates 
with its shareholders regarding the Group's financial performance and strategy through the Stock Exchange News 
Service ("SENS"), the London Stock Exchange Regulatory News Service ("RNS") and via the website, 
www.gemfieldsgroup.com. The Board communicates with other stakeholders as appropriate. The Company ensures 
communication with smaller shareholders located in South Africa who lack access to electronic media Ьу way of 
publishing financial results in а main South African daily newspaper. 

INTERNAL AUDIT 

Юng IV recommends that аІІ companies implement an internal audit function that is in-sourced to some degree. Mr 
Robin Griffiths, an existing senior Group finance employee, was appointed Director of Internal Audit in January 2019 
and operated Internal Audit as а co-sourced function with а third-party supplier throughout 2019. From January 2020, 
the internal function added another employee and is now run entirely in-house. The Gemfields Internal Audit function 
reports functionally to the Chairman of the Audit Committee, thereby ensuring its independence. The Audit Committee 
is satisfied that the Group's internal financial controls and the arrangements for internal audit were working effectively 
during the period, and were predominantly adequate and fit"for purpose. 
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DEALING IN SECURIТIES 
GGL has а defined роІісу for the conduct of Directors and employees in relation to dealing in the Company's shares. The 
JSE Listings Requirements and the European Union Market Abuse Regime ("MAR") define closed periods, which are 
around the time of the annual results or interim results, or around the release of any other major announcements, or 
during price-sensitive negotiations, acquisitions or disposals, or pending the release of any other price-sensitive 
information. Directors (and their close family members), as well as employees who are classified as insiders, are 
prohibited from trading in the Company's shares during these prohibited periods. Directors and employees can trade in 
the Company's shares outside of these periods after first obtaining the necessary approval in writing in accordance with 
the Company's share dealing роІісу. Any dealings in the Company's shares Ьу Directors, persons discharging managerial 
responsibilities ("PDMRs") or their closely associated persons are announced via SENS and RNS, published on the 
Company's website and notified to the UK's Financial Conduct Authority ("FCA"). 
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Governance 

Audit Committee Report 

INTRODUCTION 

The Audit Committee is pleased to present its report for the year ended 31 Oecember 2020, as recommended Ьу Кing IV. 
The Committee is constituted Ьу the 8oard, has an independent role, and is accountable both to the 8oard and to 
shareholders. 

The Committee's mandate is set out in its terms of reference and includes the following responsibilities: 
• Monitoring the accuracy and integrity of the Group's financial and other reporting; 
• Monitoring the effectiveness of risk management processes and internal controls; 
• Recommending the appointment of external auditors to shareholders on an annual basis; 
• Reviewing the independence of the external auditor; 
• Reviewing the scope, results and cost-effectiveness of independent accounting and valuation services; and 
• Reviewing the expertise and experience of the Chief Financial Officer. 

COMPOSIТION 

The Committee comprises the following lndependent Non- Executive Oirectors, who have the requisite skills and 
experience to fulfil the Committee's duties: 

• Mr Carel Malan (Chair) 
• Mr Lumkile Mondi 
• Mr Martin Tolcher (until 4 Oecember 2020) 
• Ms Mary Reilly (from 4 Oecember 2020)Mr Carel Malan was appointed to the Audit Committee on 9 January 2019, 
following а recommendation from the Nomination Committee and approval Ьу the 8oard. Subsequently, Mr Martin 
Tolcher resigned as Chairman ofthe Audit Committee (arising from his appointment as Chairman ofthe Company) 
effective 25 November 2019 and was replaced Ьу Mr Carel Malan on the same date. Mr Tolcher remained appointed as а 
member of the Audit Committee until his replacement Ьу Ms Reilly on 4 Oecember 2020, the date on which Ms Reilly 
was appointed to the Board as an lndependent Non-Executive Oirector. The performance of the members of the Audit 
Committee is evaluated on an annual basis Ьу the 8oard. 

MEETINGS 
ln addition to the Committee members, the CFO may attend meetings Ьу invitation. The Chair ofthe Committee usually 
meets separately with both the CFO and the external auditor in advance of Committee meetings. The Committee may 
meet with the external auditor either formally or informally throughout the year; the audit partner has access to the 
Committee via the Chair. The Chair of the Committee decides whether to convene any ad hoc meetings and who should 
Ье invited to such meetings. Two formal Audit Committee meetings were held during 2020. 

INTERNAL AUDIT 

King IV recommends that all companies implement an internal audit function that is in-sourced to some degree. From 
January 2020, the internal function has been fully run in-house, with Mr Robin Griffiths acting as Oirector lnternal Audit. 
The Gemfields Internal Audit function reports functionally to the Chairman of the Audit Committee, thereby ensuring its 
independence. The Audit Committee is satisfied that the Group's internal financial controls and the arrangements for 
internal audit were working effectively during the period, and were predominantly adequate and fit for purpose. 

EXTERNAL AUDIT 

The Committee is satisfied that 800, as external auditor to the Company, is entirely independent of the Group. The 
Committee is satisfied with the policies and controls in рІасе which address the provision of non-audit services received 
from 800. 800 has been appointed as external auditor to the Company since 8 January 2018, with the current audit 
partner rotating on to the audit from the 2018 year-end for а five-year mandatory period. There has been no significant 
change in the Company's management during 800's tenure as external auditor to the Company which may mitigate the 
attendant risk of familiarity between the external auditor and management. The Committee is satisfied with the 
performance of 800 as external auditor to the Company. 

RISK COUNCIL 

А Risk Council was established in Oecember 2019 as а subcommittee of the Audit Committee. lts principal purpose is to 
monitor current and emerging strategic, operations and ethics risks and challenges facing the Group. lt has its own 
terms of reference, its members are made up of а cross-section of senior employees across the head office in London and 
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it is chaired Ьу Martin Tolcher (with the expectation that Магу Reilly will shortly formally replace Martin Tolcher as 
Chairperson). The Risk Council meets quarterly and its recommendations are reported to the Audit Committee in 
advance of its own committee meetings. When the Audit Committee does not meet, the Risk Council reports to the Board 
in advance of its meetings. The Risk Council's primary focus in 2020 was the establishment of а new Enterprise Risk 
Management Framework. 

DUTIES CARRIED OUT IN 2020 

During the year ended 31December2020, the Committee carried out its duties as required Ьу Кing IV and its terms of 
reference. 

The Committee performed the following statutory duties: 

• Considered the qualifications, independence and objectivity of BDO and approved its terms of engagement; 
• Reviewed the performance of the external auditor and confirmed that the external auditor, the partner and the firm 
have complied with the suitability requirements ofthe JSE as detailed in paragraph 22.lS(h) of the JSE Listings 
Requirements; 
• Considered the appropriateness of the Group's going-concern assessment - particularly in light of the COVID-19 
pandemic; 
• Recommended the reappointment of BDO as Company auditor, to the Board; 
• Approved the fees paid to BDO during 2020, which were for both audit and non-audit services; and 
• Ensured that the independence of BDO has not been compromised for any reason. 

In addition, the Committee performed the following duties in line with its mandate: 

• Reviewed the Group annual and interim Consolidated financial statements for compliance with the IFRS, the JSE 
Listings Requirements and the Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008; 
• Reviewed significant judgements and unadjusted differences resulting from the audit and interim review; 
• Reviewed and recommended to the Board for approval the valuation of the Group's investments; 
• Ensured that the Group's accounting policies are suitable and considered the adoption of new and amended 
accounting standards; 
• Considered the performance of the Group's accounting function; 
• Considered paragraph 3.84 (k) of the JSE Listing Requirements, which require the Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer to.prepare а responsibility statement. In particular, the requirement for the Executive Directors to 
confirm the adequacies of internal financial controls, disclose any deficiencies in design and operational effectiveness of 
the Audit Committee and confirm that the annual Consolidated Financial Statements fairly present in аІІ material 
respects the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of the Company in terms of IFRS; 
• Reviewed the performance of the CFO, and was satisfied that the CFO continues to possess the appropriate expertise 
and experience to carry out his responsibilities as CFO; and · 
• Reviewed the Audit Committee Report included in the Company's previous Annual Report. 

ANNUAL REPORT AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
The Committee has reviewed this Annual Report and the Consolidated Financial Statements and has concluded that they 
comply, in аІІ material respects, with the IFRS, the JSE Listings Requirements, the АІМ Rules for Companies and the 
Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008. The Committee has therefore recommended the approval of the Annual Report to the 
Board. 

CONCLUSION 

The Committee is satisfied that it has considered and discharged its responsibilities in accordance with its mandate and 
its terms of reference during 2020. Accordingly, this report was recommended Ьу the Audit Committee and was 
approved Ьу the Board on 29 March 2021. 

Carel Malan 
Chair of the Audit Committee 
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Governance 
Remuneration Committee Report 

INTRODUCTION 

The Remuпeratioп Committee is pleased to preseпt its report formthe year eпded 31 December 2020, as recommeпded 
Ьу the Кіпg IV Corporate Goverпaпce Code. The Committee is coпstituted Ьу the Board, has ап іпdерепdепt role, апd is 
accouпtable both to the Board апd to shareholders. The Committee's maпdate is set out іп its terms of refereпce апd 
iпcludes the followiпg respoпsibilities: 

• Determiпiпg levels ofremuпeratioп for each member ofthe Board; 
• Determiпiпg levels of remuпeratioп for seпior members of maпagemeпt or staff; апd 
• Moпitoriпg апd mаіпtаіпіпg the Compaпy's Remuпeratioп РоІісу. 

COMPOSITION 

The Committee comprises the followiпg Іпdерепdепt Nоп- Executive Directors, who have the requisite skills апd 
ехреrіепсе to fulfil the Committee's duties: 

• Mr Kwape Mmela (Chair) 
• Mr Martiп Tolcher 
• Mr Lumkile Мопdі 

MEEТINGS 

The Committee meets as ofteп as is required, but поt less thaп опсе а year. Six formal meetiпgs were held duriпg 2020 
апd а further meetiпg was held іп jaпuary 2021, although the Committee deliberated оп matters, as пecessary, оп ап ad 
hoc basis. Members of the Remuпeratioп Committee do поt participate wheп the level of their persoпal remuпeratioп is 
coпsidered. 

GEMFIELDS GROUP LIMITED REMUNERATION POLICY 

The Board, with iпput from the Remuпeratioп Committee, created а Remuпeratioп РоІісу (the "Remuпeratioп РоІісу") 
апd а Remuпeratioп Implemeпtatioп Report ("the Implemeпtatioп Report"), which were put to shareholders, as поп­
Ьіпdіпg advisory votes, at the Compaпy's AGM оп 24 juпe 2020. 53.7% of votes were cast agaiпst eпdorsiпg the 
Remuпeratioп РоІісу апd 47.8% ofvotes were cast agaiпst eпdorsiпg the Implemeпtatioп Report. As more thaп 25% of 
shareholders voted agaiпst these поп-Ьіпdіпg advisory resolutioпs, the resolutioпs did поt pass. 

Іп respoпse to these votes, the Remuпeratioп Committee апd broader Board has coпsidered the Compaпy's · 
remuпeratioп arraпgemeпts іп detail апd eпgaged with shareholders іп accordaпce with the priпciples of Кіпg IV. То 
assist іп this process, the Reпumeratioп Committee eпgaged the services of h2gleпferп Remuпeratioп Advisory, ап 
іпdерепdепt remuпeratioп coпsultaпcy with exteпsive ехреrіепсе advisiпg listed іпtеrпаtіопаІ resources compaпies. 

Shareholders' сопfеrепсе calls were held іп July апd December 2020. Poiпts coпsidered iпcluded executive salary levels, 
the workiпgs of the аппuаІ boпus рІап апd outstaпdiпg share орtіоп awards. The Remuпeratioп Committee ехрІаіпеd to 
shareholders how Executive salaries, аІопg with Noп-Executive Director fees апd the salaries ofUK employees, had Ьееп 
reduced Ьу 20% іп respoпse to the COVID-19 crisis. These have поt yet Ьееп restored to coпtractual levels. 

No boпuses will Ье paid to Executive Directors іп respect of 2020. The Соmрапу carried out а detailed review of its 
аппuаІ boпus arraпgemeпts апd will implemeпt а KPI-based аппuаІ boпus structure from 1 jaпuary 2021, the detail of 
which is set out below. 

Outstaпdiпg share optioпs represeпt legally Ьіпdіпg agreemeпts. То provide reassuraпce to shareholders іп relatioп to 
the level of dilutioп arisiпg from the existiпg arraпgements the Соmрапу set out further detail оп the outstaпdiпg 
optioпs' exercise prices апd lapsiпg schedule. Gemfields may іп due course coпsider а пеw approach to loпg-term share 
іпсепtіvе awards. The Соmрапу will coпsult with as mапу shareholders as possible іп advaпce of апу proposed 
ameпdmeпts апd will seek formal shareholder approval for апу пеw рІапs іп advaпce of implemeпtatioп. 

The revised Remuпeratioп РоІісу апd Remuпeratioп Implemeпtatioп Report will Ье put to shareholders, аgаіп as поп­
Ьіпdіпg advisory votes, at the Compaпy's пextAGM to Ье held оп or arouпd 24 juпe 2021. 

ТНЕ REMUNERATION POLICY 
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Elements of Executive Director remuneration 
Executive Director remuneration is broken down into two key elements: fixed compensation and performance-related 
awards. 

The fixed remunerative elements comprise the base remuneration and employee benefits. The performance-related 
awards include short- and long-term incentives. 

Fixed Compensation 
In response to the COVID-19 crisis, аІІ Executive and Non- Executive Directors agreed to а 20% reduction'in base 
remuneration, effective from 1 Мау 2020. This reduction, which was also applied more broadly across the Company's 
employees including the entire UK workforce, is still in рІасе at the time of writing. The Board will consider when it is 
appropriate to restore base remuneration to contractual levels, taking into account аІІ relevant circumstances. The 
Company will also implement а base remuneration freeze in respect of the two Executive Directors for the duration of 
2021. 

Performance-Related Awards 
Again, as а result of the impact of the COVID-19 crisis on the Company, there will Ье no annual cash bonus paid to the 
two Executive Directors in respect of financial year 2020, irrespective of performance. There were no awards of share 
options to Executive Directors during 2020. There will Ье no further awards of share options to the Executive Directors 
under the Company's Long Term Incentive Plan ("LTIP"). 

Annual Cash Bonus 
With effect from 1 )anuary 2021, Gemfields will terminate the existing share price based annual cash bonus structure 
and adopt а balanced scorecard structure. The central methodology for the new structure is an assessment of 
performance improvement across 11 Кеу Performance lndicators ("KP!s") against performance in the previous year and 
performance over the previous three years. These KP!s are, in order of weighting: 

1. Free Cash Flow - 17.5%; 
2. Revenue - 15%; 
З. Total Cash Operating Cost - 15%; 
4. HSEC (Health, Safety, Environment, Community) - 12.5%; 
5. Total Premium Carats Produced - 12.5%; 
6. Total Rock Handling - 7.5%; 
7. Faberge Cash Consumption from the Gemfields Group - 5%; 
8. Balance Sheet (net cash/net debt, treasury, financing, tax) - 5%; 
9. Strategy/Business Development/Development Projects/Organic Growth - 5%; 
10. Leadership/Organisational/People Development/Staff Turnover - 2.5%; and 
11. Financial and Shareholder Reporting/ Auditors/ Accounting/ Controls - 2.5%. 

Performance against each КР! will Ье scored in а matrix against previous performance, including negative scoring, 
which the Committee will assess. 

АІІ bonus payments are at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee. Under the new structure, the Committee will 
have an overriding discretion to adjust bonus payments from formulaic outcomes in light of the Committee's overall 
assessment of (1) overall performance and (2) HSEC matters. The new structure will have malus and clawback 
provisions which will Ье incorporated into the Executive Directors' contracts of employment. 

Outside exceptional circumstances, the maximum annual cash bonus will remain capped at 100% ofbase remuneration. 

The Committee determined that the approach of comparing performance against prior performance was more effective 
апd appropr!ate than setting t'orward targets for а number of reasons, including that а number of central KP!s, such as 
carat production and rock handling, and so free cash flow, revenue and cash costs, are outside the scope of management 
control and that the setting and measuring of targets involves а significant degree of judgement and subjectivity and can 
create perverse incentives. 

The new scheme benchmarks performance against prior years across а broad and balanced range of KP!s, requiring less 
judgement or subjectivity. The scheme effectively sets а "measurement benchmark" as the level of performance attained 
in prior years. The new scheme would typically рау no bonus for merely attaining the same performance as in prior 

78 



Gemfields Group Limited Annual Report for year ended З 1 December 2020: Front section 

years. This creates а stroпg focus оп coпstaпtly improviпg the busiпess as captured Ьу the various KPls, giviпg а clear 
message to managemeпt оп their objectives. 

FCF will Ье calculated іп а coпsisteпt mаппеr as the cash flow from operatiпg activities (takeп from the Coпsolidated 
Statemeпt of Cash Flows) less sustaiпiпg апd ехрапsіопаrу capital expeпditure апd with workiпg capital movemeпts 
excluded. lf the Соmрапу performs positively іп respect of operatioпal, fіпапсіаІ (iпcludiпg FCF) performaпce, returп оп 
capital/equity will follow. FCF is а pertiпeпt metric апd takes іпtо accouпt the capital Ьеіпg "iпvested" іп the busiпess іп 
the form of ехрапsіопаrу апd sustaiпiпg сарех. The Committee will keep the matter of boпus deferral uпder review. 

Giveп this is а пеw scheme, ап overall review will Ье carried out after its first year of operatioп іп order to assess its 
fuпctioпiпg апd suitability, with chaпges made where апd to the exteпt recommeпded Ьу the Committee (апd subject to 
Board approval). 

LТІР 

Outstaпdiпg optioпs represeпt legal Ьіпdіпg agreemeпts. Details of outstaпdiпg optioпs are set out іп the 
lmplemeпtatioп Report below. 

The Соmрапу made по chaпges to апу existiпg awards апd made по пеw awards to Executive Directors duriпg 2020. 

Depeпdiпg оп how eveпts uпfold, the Соmрапу may coпsider а пеw approach to its L ТІР. The Соmрапу will coпsult with 
as mапу shareholders as possible іп advaпce of апу proposed пеw awards or chaпges to existiпg awards апd will seek 
formal shareholder approval for апу пеw рІапs іп advaпce of implemeпtatioп. 

Executive Directors' Contracts of Employment 
At the time ofwritiпg, пеw coпtracts of employmeпt for the Executive Directors were Ьеіпg fiпalised, оп like terms, апd 
based оп UK market practice. 

Non-Executive Directors 
At the Compaпy's EGM held оп 26 Juпe 2017, shareholders resolved that the maximum amouпt рауаЬІе as Nоп 
Executive Directors' fees Ье iпcreased to USDl00,000 per Director per аппum. Sіпсе the сар оп the Noп-Executive 
Director fees had Ьееп at the same level sіпсе the 2010 AGM, this iпcrease поt опІу brought the Compaпy's 
remuпeratioп more іп Ііпе with prevailiпg market practice but has improved the Compaпy's ability to attract caпdidates 
with appropriate qualificatioпs апd ехреrіепсе to the Board. 

79 

Element 1: 
Guaranleed 
рау and 
benefils 

Elemenl 2: 
Short- and 
long-term 
incentives 

Соmропепt 

Base compensation 
Аkіп to а salary, base 
compeпsatioп is received 
moпthly, based оп ап аппuаІ 
figure decided Ьу the l ''m'"°'"'°' Comm;tt" 

І :--------------------------------------------
! lnsurance benefits 
! Executive Directors гесеіvе life 
! іпsuгапсе, medical апd deпtal 
! insurance and travel ins1.1rance 
! policies for themselves апd 
j their families. 

Annual bonus 
At the епd of each саІепdаг 
уеаг, Executive Directors 
may receive а cash boпus 
depeпdeпt оп the success of 
their work оvег the previous 
уеаг, based оп the value of 
their base compeпsation. 

Objective 

То eпgage the best taleпt at. 
Executive Director level. 

Liпk to busiпess strategy 

Eпsures market 
competitiveпess, helps to 
attract апd геtаіп key taleпt, 
апd provides fаіг reward 
fог iпdividuals. 

-------------------------------------------+-------------------------------------------
The beпefits package is 
соmрагаЬІе with others оп 
the market, the aim Ьеіпg 
to attract а пd гсtаіп the 
best taleпt. 

То епсоuгаgе регfогmапсе 

оvег each опе-уеаг 
орегаtіпg сусІе. 

The Соmрапу recogпises the 
пееd fог а holistic approach 
to ап Executive Director's 
guara11teeu р~у package. 

Rewards Executive Directors 
fог а measurable сопtгіЬutіоп 
to the Company. 

РоІісу 

Executive Director base 
compeпsatioп was іпіtіаІІу 
determiпed Ьу former holders 
of the equivaleпt office withiп 
Gemfields ріс, апd at 
ргеvаіІіпg market rates. 

Future reviews will Ье 
based оп skill, ехрегіепсе, 
respoпsibilities апd market 
rates, with particular emphasis 
оп shareholder eпgagemeпt. 

Іпsuгапсеs are соmрагаЬІе 
with those offered to the 
wider employee base withiп 
the Group, апd аге reviewed 
аппuаІІу. 

А ЬаІапсеd sсогесагd 

approach has Ьееп adopted 
from 1 Jaпuary 2021. 
Регfогmапсе across the 
various metrics is compared 
agaiпst previous уеагs' 
регfогmапсе. 
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Outside exceptional 
circumstances, the maximum 
annual cash bonus will remain 
capped at 100% of base і 
remuneration. І 

~~~;~~~;~~-~~-----------------------t-;~~-;~::~~-i~~-;~-~::~:;~-:----------1-~-l;~-~~--~~-~~~~;~~-~;~::~:~----------L-~~~-;~-:~~;:~~-:~:-~~~-;~;~~-~;~---
At instatement, Executive retention of key talent, and і interests with those of in set tranches per year, and 
Directors were granted share incentivising delivery of і shareholders, and with at а predetermined date. 
options, which they can excellent performance in : growth in the share price 
exercise at set dates over the long term. year-on-year. 
the subsequent four years. 

Motivates long-term 
performance. 

Rewards Executive Directors 
for their tangible successes. 

EVALUATION OF WHETHER ТНЕ REMUNERATION POLICY MEETS ІТS OBJECTIVES 
When developing the Remuneration РоІісу, the Remuneration Committee focussed on three key areas. 

Performance incentives 
The objectives ofperformance incentives are to ensure that: 

1. The elements of Director remuneration are а good foundationfor both the short- and long-term success of the 
Company; 
2. The fixed remunerative elements (base compensation, benefits and Non-Executive Director fees) are competitively 
set to both attract and retain the key talent required Ьу the Company; and 
З. The performance-related elements of variable remuneration (annual bonuses and share options) ensure that the 
interests of the shareholders are at the forefront of the minds of Executive Directors, аІІ of whom would stand to benefit 
Ьу short- and long-term growth of the Company's business and the share price. 

Shareholder engagement 
Shareholder engagement has been key to developing and revising the Remuneration РоІісу and applying it to Executive 
Director remuneration. Shareholder advisory votes are а key means of shareholder feedback from which the Committee 
can tailor both practical remuneration and the Remuneration РоІісу. Consequently, the Company commits to engaging 
shareholders about remuneration each financial year. The two votes held during 2020 were important for the 
Committee to collate shareholder feedback. 

Should any shareholder advisory vote conclude in а result of less than 75% in favour of the remuneration matter under 
vote, the Committee will re-examine the matter. Where possible, the Committee will engage in direct discussion with 
shareholders in order to understand the motivation behind such а vote, that is, to better understand their concerns. 
However, а number of shares are held anonymously, thus creating an obstacle to shareholder engagement. The 
Committee will also consider communicating with shareholders individually, also via the Company's website and 
via SENS and RNS, encouraging shareholders to соте forward should they believe their view is yet to Ье represented. 
This is what occurred during 2020. 

King IV standard 
The Committee is satisfied that the Remuneration РоІісу complies with the Кing IV Code and that the robust principles 
of governance encouraged Ьу Кing IV have been implemented. 

Remuneration РоІісу availability 
А link to the GGL Remuneration РоІісу is available online at www.gemfieldsgroup.com. 

REMUNERATION IMPLEMENTATION REPORT 

Кеу decisions made in 2020 . 
Following extensive shareholder feedback, the Committee has continued to develop the Renumeration РоІісу, which will 
Ье put forward to shareholders at the 2021 AGM. · 

Schedule of fees and remuneration 
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Throughout the 2020 fіпапсіаІ year, the Executive Directors' remuпeratioп coпsisted of their base compeпsatioп опІу. 
No аппuаІ boпuses were paid іп respect of the 2020 fіпапсіаІ year, поr апу share optioпs awarded іп 2020. The table 
below sets out the remuпeratioп of Executive Directors іп respect of the 2020 fіпапсіаІ year. 

At the Compaпy's EGM held оп 26 Juпe 2017, shareholders resolved that the maximum amouпt рауаЬІе as Noп­
Executive Director fees Ье iпcreased to USDl00,000 per Director per аппum. With effect from 14 September 2017, the 
fee рауаЬІе for each Noп-Executive Director iпcreased from USD35,000 per аппum to USD40,000 per аппum. There was 
по chaпge to this іп 2018, 2019 апd 2020. Ап additioпal fee of USDS,000 is рауаЬІе for each member of the Audit, 
Nomiпatioп апd Remuпeratioп Committees with а further USD2,500 for the Chairmaп of each Committee апd USD2,500 
for the Lead Іпdерепdепt Director. 

Base compensation Benefits Pension ! Bonus Total 

1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020 USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO І USD'OOO USD'OOO 

Sean Gilbertson 1 488 1 5 1 І О 1 493 
·--[)-;~і-с1--с~~~;;·------------------------------------г---------28б-----------г-----------2·------------г----------і4-------------г---------·с;·-----------т----------~с;2·-----------

То•а1 774 7 14 О 795 

Оп 1 Мау 2020, all UK-based staff members апd the Board of Directors agreed to а 20% base remuпeratioп reductioп 
with UK-based employees Ьеіпg placed оп а four-day workiпg week, іп light of the COVID-19 paпdemic. 

The Noп-Executive Director fees vary based оп the iпdividuals' iпvolvemeпt апd role withiп the various committees of 
the Compaпy's Board. The fees рауаЬІе to Noп-Executive Directors for the year eпded 31December2020 are as follows: 

1 Ja.nuao:v 2020 to 31 Decem.ber 2020 

Group Director fees 
USD'OOO 

Board committees 
USD'OOO 

: Lead lndependent Director 

: USD'OOO ., 

Total 
USD'OOO 

Martin Tolcher : 87 , , , 87 
·------------------------------------------------------~------------------------------------_.,. _____________________________________ " __________________________________ ._ _________________________________ . 

Dr Christo Wiese 
І І І І 

' 35 ' ' ' 35 
·---------------------------------------------------------:-------------------------------------~-------------------------------------;-------------------------------------~-----------------------------------· 

--~~~-~!!~--~-?-~~!-------------------------------~------------------~~------------~------------------!..~------------:--------------------~---------------~------------------~-~-------------· 
--~-~~е.~--~-~-~~~---------------------------------і ________________ }~ ______________ 1 ___________________ ~_0 ______________ ; ____________________________________ ~-----------------~-~------------
саге1 Malan : 3·5 : б : : 41 

·---------------------------------------------------------'-------------------------------------J-------------------------------------l-------------------------------------1..-----------------------------------· 
Магу Reilly' : 3 : : : 3 

·--------------------------------------------------------~------------------------------------"--------------------"···-----------т-------------------------------------r-----------------------------------· 

Total : 230 : 31 : 2 : 263 
1 Appointed effective 4 December 2020. 

Share options 
The table below illustrates the пumber of optioпs issued апd forfeited duriпg the year іп respect of the Executive 
Directors. 

Sean Gilbertson і 

Options held at 
1 January 2020 

27,890,213 

' ' 
Іssued date . і Ex_e~cise ргісе і 

·і September 2017 j ZARЗ.45 j 

Options granted 
during the year 

Options forfeited 
during the year 

Options 

exercised 
during the year 

Options held at 
31 December 

2020 

27,890,213 
·--------------------------,-------------------------,----------------------------.---------------------.--------------------------.--------------------------.--------------------------.-------------------------

1 І І І І І І 

David Lovett ! 1,184,200 ! January 2018 ! ZAR2.97 ! ! ! ! 1,184,200 
·--------------------------1-------------------------1---------------------------:--------------------r-------------------------r-------------------------г-------------------------г----------------------

David Lovett j 7,000,000 j July 2018 j ZAR2.30 j j j j 7,000,000 

No share optioпs were graпted to or exercised Ьу the Executive Directors duriпg the year епdіпg 31 December 2020. 

The Compaпy's Share Uptioп РІап was approved Ьу shareholders оп 26 Juпe 2017. Uпder the terms of the рІап, the 
Соmрапу сап issue а maximum of 167,341,278 optioпs. 

!п September 2017, Mr Sеап Gilbertsoп was awarded 27,890,213 share optioпs at ап орtіоп price of ZAR3.45 ceпts. 
These optioпs represeпt 2.4% of the Compaпy's curreпt issued share capital. !п 2018, Mr Lovett was graпted: (і) 
1,184,200 share optioпs оп 4 Jaпuary 2018 at ап орtіоп price of ZAR2.97; апd (іі) 7,000,000 share optioпs оп 27 July 
2018 at ап орtіоп price ofZAR2.30, together represeпtiпg approximately 0.70% of the Compaпy's issued share capital. 
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АІІ share options vest over а four-year period in tranches of 20%. One-fifth of the options granted vest immediately, 
with the remaining 80% vesting annually on the grant date over the following four years, during which the grantee has 
to remain in employment. 

Share options which have not been exercised shall lapse: 

• the first tranche of options ( one-fifth), vesting on the issue date; will lapse on the expiry of five years from the issue 
date; 
• the second tranche of options ( one-fifth), vesting on the one-year anniversary of the issue date, will lapse on the 
expiry ofmfour years from the vesting date; 
• the third tranche of options ( one-fifth), vesting on the two-year anniversary of the issue date; will lapse on the expiry 
of three years from the vesting date; 
• the fourth tranche of options ( one-fifth), vesting on the three-year anniversary of the issue date, will lapse оп the 
expiry of three years from the vesting date; and 
• the fifth tranche of options (one-fifth), vesting on the four-year anniversary of the issue date, will lapse on the expiry 
of three years from the vesting date. 

Issue date - the date at which the options are granted to the option holder. 
Vesting date - the date that each tranche of the options is available for exercising. 

Share options for employees of the wider Group 
In 2018, the Group established а share option programme for the employees of the wider Group within the parameters 
of the scheme approved Ьу shareholders оп 26 June 2017. In the same manner that the Company has used share options 
as а loпg-term incentive for its Executive Directors, the Board extended this benefit to а wider number of its employees. 
Awards are granted in five equal tranches, with the first tranche of share options vesting immediately and thereafter on 
an annual basis. 

• А total of 21.6 million share options were granted to Group employees at ZAR2.97 cents on 4 january 2018. 

• А total of 44.8 million share options were granted to Group employees at ZAR2.30 cents on 20 July 2018. 

• А total of 1.6 million share options were granted to Group employees at ZARl.90 cents on 15 March 2019. 

At 31December2020, the followingshare options had been granted and were outstanding in respect of the ordinary 
shares: 

Outstanding at Outstanding at 

lssue date , Ехегсіsе ргісе , 1 January 2020 , Granted , Forfeit_ed/lapsed j Exercised ! 31 December 2020 

~eptember 2017 ! ZА~З.45 ! . 55,780,428 . І - J . . - - ! - І 55,780,428 

:~~~;~~0~-=f =~~~гт:::~~~~~{~~гт::::::==:~::::= т::=::;~~~:~t~гF:::::::::~:::=т::~н~~~~=: 
·--~-~-;~-h-;~~;--------+--------~-~-~---~-~-------1--------~-:;~~:~~~-----г-------------------------г-------------------------·----------------------------1--------~~;~~~~~-~-----

Total 118,000,683 (391,680) 117,609,003 

The table above includes those share optioпs held Ьу the Executive Directors. 

То provide reassurance to shareholders in relation to the level of dilution arising from the existing awards, the Company 
sets out the following summary points. 

• 117.6 million awards are outstanding, representing 10.1 % of the Company's current shares in issue. 
• While this percentage is significant, dilution may Ье lower given the structure of the awards (including exercise price 
and lapsing profile). 
• 55.8 million awards (47% of the outstanding awards) have а ZARЗ.45 exercise price. These options commence lapsing 
from September 2022 and are fully lapsed Ьу September 2024. Of these 55.8 million awards, 50% are held Ьу leavers 
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and the balance (27.9 million/or 2.4% of the Company's issued shares) are held Ьу the Chief Executive Officer. Of the 
current total outstanding awards, approximately 38% \apse Ьу December 2022 and 74% lapse Ьу December 2023. 
• Total awards with exercise prices between ZARl.91 and ZAR2.97 amount to 62 million, representing 5.3% of the 
Company's issued shares. The weighted average exercise price of the outstanding options is ZAR2.94 (GBP0.132). 
Should an Executive Director cease to Ье employed Ьу the Company, then the manner of their departure and the date 
any options were granted to them would determine how those options are treated. 

No share options were granted to or exercised Ьу Group employees during the year ending 31 December 2020. 

Success of the Remuneration РоІісу throughout 2020 
The Committee is committed to implementing а Remuneration РоІісу that is robust and delivers for the Company and 
for shareholders, and will continue to engage with shareholders to implement the best possible роІісу. 

Future focus areas 
During 2021, the Board and the Remuneration Committee have two main priorities: 

1. То maintain good communication with shareholders. The implementation of the Remuneration РоІісу and the 
Executive Director remuneration throughout 2020 benefited from shareholder engagement. The Committee remains 
committed to continuing this dialogue to the benefit of аІ\ parties. 
2. То continue ensuring that employees ofthe wider Group fee\ engaged with Gemfields Ьу having their remunerative 
rewards closely tied to the success of the Company, which in turn will encourage employees to perform as active 
stakeholders and have their efforts at work appropriately rewarded. Consequently, the Company and its shareholders 
can Ье confident that employees will continue to perform at а superior standard, with аІІ parties focussed on а unified 
aim. 

Approval of the Remuneration Committee Report for 2020 
АІІ decisions undertaken in the 2020 financial year were compliant with the Remuneration РоІісу as determined Ьу the 
Committee. Accordingly, this report was recommended Ьу the Committee and was approved Ьу the Board on 29 March 
2021. 

Kwape Mmela 
Chair ofthe Remuneration Committee 
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Governance 
Nomination Committee Report 

ROLE OF ТНЕ NOMINATION СОММІТТЕЕ 

The Nomination Committee assists the Board in setting and administering the Company's Nominations and Succession 
РоІісу. The Committee is constituted Ьу the Board and is accountable both to the Board and to shareholders. The 
Committee assists the Board in its oversight of the following areas: 

• Reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board оп ап опgоіпg basis, with the recommeпdatioп of апу 
chaпges to the Board as пecessary; 
• Coпsideriпg diversity, iпcludiпg geпder апd race, wheп assessing suitable candidates for appointment to the Board; 
• ldentifyiпg suitable candidates for appointment to the Board; 
• Overseeing the reappointmeпt process іп respect of аІІ Directors at the роіпt of their retirement Ьу rotation in 
accordance with provisions in the Company's Articles of Iпcorporation; and 
• Reviewiпg the successioп рІаnпіпg for Directors, including the identification, mentorship and development of future 
caпdidates. 

COMPOSIТION 

The Committee comprises the following Independeпt Noп-Executive Directors, who have the requisite skills апd 
experience to fulfil the Committee's duties: 

• Mr Lumkile Мопdі (Chair) 
• Mr Kwape Mmela 
• Mr Martin Tolcher 

MEETINGS 
The Nomiпation Committee meets as ofteп as required, but not less than once per year. Three formal meetings were 
held during 2020 although the Committee deliberated оп matters, as пecessary, оп an ad hoc basis. 

DUТIES CARRIED OUT IN 2020 
During the year eпded 31December2020, the Committee carried out its duties as required Ьу Кіпg IV апd its terms of 
reference. The Committee performed the following duties: 

• Approved and adopted а Board Diversity РоІісу, which sets out the approach to diversity to Ье adopted Ьу the Board 
of Directors апd the Nomination Committee wheп makiпg пеw appointments to the Board; 
• Coпsidered апd recommended the appoiпtmeпt of Mary Reilly as а Non-Executive Director and а member of the Audit 
Committee. In appointing Ms Reilly, the Nomination Committee gave consideratioп to the composition апd skill 
requirements of the Board at the time, as required Ьу the Board Diversity РоІісу; 
• Confirmed that the reappointment process that was undertaken for the Company's 2020 AGM was in line with the 
provisioпs in the Compaпy's Articles of Iпcorporatioп; 
• Reviewed the Nomination Committee Report iпcluded іп the Company's previous Anпual Report; апd 
• Approved а Board Performance Evaluation РоІісу in compliance with the requirements of Кing IV. 

MEETINGS 
The Committee is satisfied that it considered and discharged its responsibilities in accordance with its mandate and its 
terms of refereпce duriпg 2020. Accordiпgly, this report was recommeпded Ьу the Nomiпation Committee апd was 
approved Ьу the Board оп 29 March 2021. 

Lumkile Mondi 
Chair of the Nomination Committee 
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 
for the year ended 31December2020 

Revenue 
Cost of sales 

Gross (loss)/profit 

Umealised fair value (losses)/ gains 
Other gains and incorne 
Selling, general and adrninistrative expenses 
Irnpairrnent ( charges) / reversal 

(Loss)/profit from operations 

Finance incorne 
Finance costs 
Net finance costs 

(Loss)/profit before taxation 
Taxation 
NЕТ {LOSS)/PROFIТ AFТER Т AXATION 

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: 

Owners of the parent 
Non-controlling interest 

(Loss)/earnings per share attributable to the parent: 
Basic- USD 
Diluted - USD 

2 

Notes 

3 
4 

13 
5 
6 

11,12 

9 
9 

10 

22 
22 

2020 2019 
USD'OOO USO'OOO 

34,567 216,233 
(59,064) (124,683) 

(24,497) 91,550 

(27~900) 7,053 
198 8,464 

(29,706) (56,773) 
(11,500) 21,559 
(93,405) 71,853 

419 787 
(6,216) (5,267) 
(5,797) (4,480) 

(99,202) 67,373 
5,975 (28,242) 

(93,227) 39,131 

(85,282) 28,369 
(7,945) 10,762 

(93,227) 39,131 

(0.07) 0.02 
(0.07) 0.02 



Gemfields Group Limited Annual Report for year ended 31 December 2020 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
for theyearended 31December2020 

з 

(Loss)/profit after taxation 

Other comprehensive 

income: 
Items that have been/ may Ье reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: 
Exchange gain arising on translation of foreign operations 
Total other comprehensive income 

ТОТ AL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME 

Total comprehensive (loss)/income attributable to: 

Owners of the parent 
Non-controlling interest 

2020 
USD'OOO 

.(93,227) 

2,905 

2,905 

(90,322) 

(82,343) 
(7,979) 

(90,322) 

2019 
USD'OOO 

39,131 

2,445 

2,445 

41,576 

30,814 
10,762 

41,576 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
as at 31 December 2020 

2020 ", 2019 
Notes USD'OOO USD'OOO 

ASSETS 
Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equiprnent 11 362,734 376,913 
Intangible assets 12 51,461 55,200 
Unlisted equity investrnents 13 29,600 57,500 
Deferred tax assets 10 3,029 7,227 
Other non-current assets 14 11,103 10,559 

Total non-current assets 457,927 507,399 

Current assets 
lnventory 15 117,839 110,694 
Current tax receivable 4,175 
Trade and other receivables 14 32,907 87,842 
Cash алd cash equivalents 43,862 78,218 

Total current assets 198,783 276,754 
Total assets 65_6,7~0 784,153 

LIABILIТIES 
Non-current Iiabilities 
Deferred tax liabilities 10 79,236 92,177 
Borrowings 17 23,500 28,000 
Lease liabilities 19 2,836 3,570 
Provisions 18 3,613 6,312 
Other non-current liabilities 16 5,000 

Total non-current Iiabilities 114,185 130,059 

Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables 16 17,303 29,850 
Current tax рауаЬІе 4,274 16,282 
Borrowings 17 33,005 24,827 
Lease liabilities 19 909 1,081 
Provisions 18 4,018 3,111 

Total current liabilities 59,509 75,151 

Total liabilities 173,694 205,210 
Netassets 483,016 578,943 

ЕQШТУ 

Share capital 20 11 12 
Share prerniurn 20 488,294 511,833 
Treasury shares 20 (10) 
Reserve for own shares 20 (23,319) 
Curnulative translation reserve 4,424 1,485 
Option reserve 21 7,929 6,985 
Retained (deficit) (88,085) (2,725) 

Attributable to equity holders of the parent 412,573 494,261 
Non-controlling interest 23 70,443 84,682 
Total egui!Y l ___ 4§~,0lo_ 578,943 
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The Financial Statements were approved and authorised for issue Ьу the Directors on 29 March 2021 and were signed on their 
behalfby: 
David Lovett Sean Gilbertson 
Director Director 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
for the year ended 31December2020 

2020 2019 
Notes USD'OOO USD'OOO 

Cash flow from operating 
activities(Loss)/profit before (99,202) 67,373 
taxation Adjustments for 
Unrealised fair value Iosses/ (gains) 13 27,900 (7,137) 
Realised fair value (4,645) 
gainsDividend (2,582) 
incorne 21,02 34,827 
Depreciation and arnortisation 4 3 (19,411) 
lmpairrnent charges/ (reversals) and other 13,511 1,693 
provisionsShare-based payrnents 944 (19) 
Other (15) (787) 
Finance income 9 (419) 5,267 
Finance expense 9 6,216 7,583 
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other (18,162) (24,748) 
payables Decrease/ (increase) in trade and 49,829 (11,457) 
other receivableslncrease in inventory (6,192) 423 
(Decrease)/increase in provisions (596) 

Cash (utilised in)/generated from operations (5,163) 46,380 
Тах paid (15,003) (9,692) 
Net cash (utilised in)/generated from operating activities (20,166) 36,688 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Purchase of intangible assets (3,058) (3,0nS) 
Purchasєs of prope1·ty, рІ.;пt алd (5,577) (27,780) 
equiprnentlnterest received 419 787 
Dividends received frorn 2,582 
Jupiter Proceeds frorn 30,359 
Jupiter disposal Investrnents (107) 
in subsidiary entities (5,036) (7,079) 
Cash advances and loans made to related parties 163 2,300 
Proceeds from disposal of investrnents 
Net cash utilised in investing activities (13,196) (1,896) 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Cash paid in Group share buy-back prograrnrne 20 (213) (14,439) 
Proceeds from 41,229 52,826 
borrowingsRepayment (37,548) (53,170) 
of borrowings (1,511) (696) 
Principal elernents of lease payrnents 19 (3,037) (4,084) 
Interest aid 

Net cash utilised in financing activities (1;080) (19,563) 

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIV ALENTS (34,442) 15,229 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of 78,218 62,988 
the yearNet foreign exchange gain on cash 86 1 
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CASH AND CASH EQUIV ALENTS АТ ТНЕ END OF ТНЕ YEAR 43,862 78,218 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

Balance at 
1January2020 12 511,833 (10) (23,319) 1,485 6,985 (2,725) 494,261 84,682 578,943 
Loss for the year (85,282) (85,282) (7,945) (93,227) 

Other 
comprehensive 2,939 
income/ Qoss} 

2,939 (34) 2,905 

Total 
comprehensive 2,939 - (85,282) (82,343) (7,979) (90,322) ' 
income/ Qoss} 

Shares bought back 
during the year, net 
of transaction costs (213) (213) (213) 

Shares cancelled 
during the year (1) (23,539) 223 23,319 2 2 

Share options 
recognised 
during the year 944 944 944 

Dividends declared to 
non-controlling interest 
of 
Montepuez Ruby (6,250) (6,250). 
Mining 
Increase in shareholding 
of Eastern Ruby Мining 
Limitada (78) (78) (10) (88) 

Total 
contributions Ьу 
and distributions (1) (23,539) 10 23,319 944 (78) 655 (6,260) (5,605) 
to owners 

Balance at 
31 December 2020 11 488,294 ~,424 7,9~9 (88,085) 412,573 70,443 483,~16 
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Total 
attributable 

Cumulative Retaiлed to equity Non-
Share Share Treasury Reserve for transla tion Option eamiлgs/ holders of controlliлg Total 

capital premium shares own shares reserve reserve (losses) the parent iлterest equity 
USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO 

ВаІапсе at 
1January2019 14 531,607 (5,345) (23,319) (960) 5,474 (31,276) 476,195 73,920 550,115 

Profit for the year 28,369 28,369 10,762 39,131 

Other comprehensive 
income 2,445 2,445 2,445 

Total comprehensive 
income 2,445 28,369 30,814 10,762 41,576 

Shares bought 
backduring the 

(14,439 (14,439) (14,439) year, net - -
of transaction costs ) 
Shares cancelled 
during the year (2) (19,774) 19,774 (2) (2) 

Share options recognised 
during the year 1,693 1,693 1,693 

Share options lapsed/ 
forfeited during the year (182) 182 

Total 
contributions Ьу 
and distributions 
to owners (2) (19,774) 5,335 1,511 182 (12,748) - (12,748) 

Balance at 
31December2019 12 511,83 (10) (23,319) 1,485 6,985 (2,725) 494,261 84,682 578,943 

3 
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NOTES ТО ТНЕ CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

1. BASIS OF PREPARATION 
Gemfields Group Limited (or "the Company" or "the Parent") is incorporated in Guernsey under the Companies 
(Guernsey) Law, 2008. The Company's registered office address is stated on page 184 of the Annual Report within 
"Company Details". The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (together 
"the Group") are set.out in the Operations Review on pages 24 to 41. 

The Company's accounting policies are the same as those of the Group. Company-only financial information has been 
omitted from these Consolidated Financial Statements, as permitted Ьу the Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008, Section 
244, and sections 8.62(а) and 8.62(d) ofthe JSE Listings Requirements. 

Statement of compliance 
The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards ("IFRS") as issued Ьу the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB"), the financial reporting guides 
issued Ьу the Accounting Practices Committee of the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants (the "SAICA 
Reporting Guides") and the financial reporting pronouncements issued Ьу the Financial Reporting Standards Council of 
South Africa (the "FRSC Pronouncements"). The Consolidated Financial Statements also comply with the JSE Listings 
Requirements, the АІМ Rules for Companies and the Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008 and show а true and fair view. 

The significant accounting policies applied in preparing these Consolidated Financial Statements are set out below. 
These policies have been consistently applied throughout the period and to each subsidiary of the group. 

The Financial Statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except as where stated. 

Foreign currency 
The Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in United States Dollars ("USD"), rounded to the nearest thousand 
(USD'OOO), except where otherwise indicated. This means that these Financial Statements can Ье compared with those 
of similar companies. 

Basis of consolidation 
The Consolidated Financial Statements incorporate the financial information of Gemfields Group Limited as well as its 
subsidiary undertakings made up to 31 December each year. The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed during the 
year are included in profit and loss from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as 
appropriate. 

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the Financial Statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies 
used in line with those used Ьу other Group entities and within these Financial Statements. 

АІІ significant intercompany transactions and balances between Group entities are eliminated on consolidation. 

New and amended standards which are effective for these Consolidated Financial Statements 
Certain new and amended accounting standards and interpretations have hP.P.n applied Ьу the Group for the first time 
for the annual reporting period commencing on 1 january 2020, which have not had any material impact on the 
disclosures or on the amounts reported in these Financial Statements, nor are they expected to significantly affect future 
periods. 
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New and amended standards which are not yet effective for these Consolidated Financial Statements 
Certain new and amended accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for the 
year ended 31December2020, nor have they been adopted early Ьу the Group. These standards and interpretations are 
not expected to have а material impact on the Group's Consolidated Financial Statements in the current or future 
reporting periods. · 

Going Concern 
The Group's business activities, together with the factors likely to impact its future growth and operating performance, 
are set out in the Operational Review on pages 24 to 41 and in the Risks and Uncertainties section on pages 72 to 80. 
The financial performance and position of the Group, its cash flows and available debt facilities are described in the 
Financial Review on pages 42 to 50. In addition, Note 24: Financial instruments sets out the Group's objectives, policies 
and processes for managing its capital structure, liquidity position and financial risks arising from exposures to interest 
rates, foreign exchange and counterparties. 

The Group manages liquidity risk Ьу maintaining adequate committed borrowing facilities and working capital funds. 
The Board monitors the net debt level. of the Group taking into consideration the expected outlook of the Group's 
financial position, cash flows and future capital commitments. The Group adopts а prudent approach in managing its 
liquidity risk, reflecting the volatility in gemstone mining and prices. 

In 2020, Group-wide revenue landed at USD34.6 million. During the same period in 2019, Group-wide revenue was 
USD216.2 million, а drop ofUSD181.6 million or 84% in 2020. In 2019, 93% ofthe Group's revenue was derived from 
the six gemstone auctions held during that year. In 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic meant that Gemfields was only аЬІе to 
host one traditional auction of commercial-quality emeralds in February 2020, which yielded USDl 1.4 million and а 
series of smaller emerald auctions in November and December 2020, which yielded USD10.9 million. 

Throughout the pandemic the Board has taken significant decisions to enable the Group to navigate through these 
unprecedented conditions. То compensate for the reduced revenues, the Group reduced аІІ non-committed and 
discretionary spend in the following areas: 

• Kagem and MRM reduced to critical operations until March 2021; 
• Significant reduction in capital expenditure at both Kagem and MRM; 
• Significant reduction in advertising and marketing expenditure across the Group; 
• 20% salary cut in head office and no bonuses paid for the FY 2020; 
• Significant reduction in consultancy and professional fees at the corporate level; 
• Cost reductions at Faberge, including reduced inventory purchase; and 
• Short-term suspension of investment plans at MML, ERM, CDJ and Nairoto in Mozambique. 

These actions, along with the utilisation of available facilities and the series of mini-auctions of emeralds held in late 
2020, allowed the Group to partially mitigate the reduced revenues and end the year with а gross cash balance of 
USD43.9 million, а USD8.9 million auctions receivables balance that had been collected Ьу March 2021, and an available 
undrawn overdraft capacity of USDl.S million. 

Debt facilities 
The Group's outstanding borrowings at 3l.Oecember ·2020 is USDSб.S million, comprised of USD28.0 million held at 
Kagem withABSA Zambia and USD28.5 million held at MRM via overdraft facilities held with ABSA Mozambique and 
Banco Comercial Е De Investimentos, S.A. ("ВСІ"). 
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The USD28.0 mіІІіоп Kagem debt outstaпdiпg is secured agaiпst а fixed апd floatiпg charge over аІІ Kagem's пеt assets, 
equivaleпt to the total amouпt outstaпdiпg uпder the facility апd а corporate guaraпtee from Gemfields Group Limited. 
The Kagem debt facilities are subject to the followiпg fіпапсіаІ coveпaпts for which the пехt measuremeпt period is 31 
December 2021: 

• Seпior Debt Service Cover Ratio ("DSCR") sha\l поt fall below 1.2 times; 
• Iпterest Service Cover Ratio sha\l поt fall below 2.5 times; апd 
• Seпior Net Debt/EBIТDA shall поt exceed 2.5 times. 

Kagem received а waiver іп respect of аІІ fіпапсіаІ coveпaпts сопtаіпеd withiп the ABSA Zambia Іоап agreemeпts for the 
31 December 2020 measuremeпt period, such that the facilities remaiп іп full effect at 31. December 2020. Based оп the 
December 2021 Board-approved base case model, the coveпaпts are поt expected to Ье breached at the пехt 
measuremeпt date, Ьеіпg 31December2021. The Group's base case model iпcludes the maпdatory repaymeпt of 
USD4.5 millioп іп December 2021 апd USD3.S millioп іп December 2022. 

Іп April 2016, MRM eпtered а USD15.0 mіІІіоп uпsecured overdraft facility with ABSA Mozambique. The facility attracts. 
ап iпterest rate of three-moпth USD LIВOR plus 4% per аппum. Gemfields Limited issued а corporate guaraпtee for the 
facility. The facility is reпewed аппuаІІу with the пехt reпewal expected іп December 2021; there are по coveпaпts 
except that the overdraft should Ье cleared to піІ at Jeast опсе duriпg the reпewal period. 

Іп Juпe 2016, MRM eпtered а USD15.0 millioп uпsecured overdraft facility with ВСІ. This is а rolliпg facility which 
reпews аппuа\Іу, provided that terms апd coпditioпs are met, апd attracts iпterest of three-moпth USD LIВOR plus 
3.75% per аппum. The facility is secured Ьу а promissory поtе uпdertakeп Ьу MRM апd а corporate guaraпtee Ьу 
Gemfields Mauritius Limited, а 100% subsidiary of the Group. The facility is expected to Ье reпewed іп September 2021. 

Іп March 2021, ВСІ graпted ап additioпal USD8.9 millioп facility to MRM оп similar iпterest rates апd other terms as the 
existiпg facility. Uпder the пеw facility, USD8.9 mіІІіоп сап Ье drawп immediately but must Ье paid back Ьу the пехt 
auctioп or withiп six moпths of drawdowп, whichever is the earliest. Uроп repaymeпt, MRM will, with agreemeпt from 
the Ьапk, have access to а USD15 millioп facility which is repayable over four years апd bears iпterest of USD three­
moпth USD LIВOR plus 3.75% апd сап Ье used for workiпg capital purposes. 

А material assumptioп іп the goiпg сопсеrп assessmeпt is that аІІ fіпапсіпg facilities remaiп іп рІасе throughout the 
measuremeпt period to 31December2022, і.е. that existiпg MRM facilities are reпewed Ьу leпders іп September 2021 
апd December 2021, апd апу poteпtial соvепапt breaches that may arise (which would опІу exist іп dowпside 
sceпarios) are waived or mitigated. Whilst the Group has ап expectatioп that such facilities remaiп іп рІасе, the 
availability of such facilities апd the ability to waive соvепапt requiremeпts are outside of maпagemeпt coпtrol апd 
hепсе form part of the material uпcertaiпty іп respect of goiпg сопсеrп. 

Gemstone market 
Coпditioпs remaiп challeпgiпg for Gemfields апd for the wider gemstolie sector; however, there are sigпs of recovery іп 
the emerald market with the success of the Kagem series of miпi-auctioпs held іп November апd December 2020 апd 
the February 2021 auctioп held Ьу aпother Zambiaп emerald producer. Notwithstaпdiпg this, the effect of travel 
restrictioпs, quaraпtiпe periods апd prohibitioпs оп large gatheriпgs, combiпed with high COVID-19 іпfесtіоп rates іп 
the key markets fог гough gemstoпes сопtіпuе to mеап that the situatioп will remaiп fluid duriпg 2021. March 2021 will 
see the first ruby auctioпs іп over а year, so the market is yet to Ье tested. 
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Despite these factors апd followiпg wide-raпgiпg coпsultatioп with the Group's customers hailiпg from Іпdіа, Thailaпd, 
Сhіпа, Нопg Копg апd USA, the Board believe that the рІаппеd auctioп schedule is reasoпable апd there is а reasoпable 
сопfіdепсе over demaпd. The рІаппеd auctioп schedule will see а series of smaller, mixed-quality ruby auctioпs іп 
March апd April 2021, ruппіпg simultaпeously with а series of emerald miпi-auctioпs. 

The remaiпder ofthe year's рІаппеd auctioп schedule will iпclude а commercial-quality emerald auctioп, а high-quality 
emerald auctioп апd two mixed-quality апd опе commercial-quality ruby auctioпs. The пormal six auctioп а year 
schedule is expected to recommeпce іп 2022. 

Mining operations 
With the view of geпeratiпg sufficieпt productioп for auctioп schedules throughout 2021, Kagem апd MRM restarted 
operatioпs іп March 2021 апd full-scale mіпіпg is expected to Ьеgіп Ьу the епd of April 2021. The processiпg plaпts 
have sufficieпt stockpiled ore to commeпce before full-scale mіпіпg restarts. There are по strict goverпmeпt regulatioпs 
іп either Zambia or Mozambique regardiпg restartiпg mіпіпg operatioпs. Coпsequeпtly, the Group does поt expect there 
to Ье апу obstacles to the рІаппеd start-up with the respective COVID-19 protocols іп рІасе, iпcludiпg social distaпciпg 
апd oп-site testiпg at both miпes. Operatioпs are free to commeпce without апу sigпificaпt upfroпt capital Ьеіпg 
required. The Board believes that the auctioп schedule апd recommeпcemeпt of operatioпs represeпt а reasoпable 
timetable that would allow the Group to maximise reveпues. 

There remaiпs а risk that localised COVID-19 outbreaks may result іп temporary reclosure of the Group's mіпіпg 
operatioпs. Апу proloпged closure may limit the Group's ability to geпerate the required iпveпtory for auctioпs 
scheduled іп the latter part bf the assessmeпt period. This uпcertaiпty is coпsidered іп the dowпside sceпario below. 

Scenario analysis 
Our base case forecast iпdicates that, subject to coпtiпued access to the Group's curreпtly available fіпапсіпg facilities, 
the Group has sufficieпt cash to meet its liabilities as they fall due throughout the gоіпg-сопсеrп assessmeпt period. 

As outliпed above, uпcertaiпty exists over the Group's ability to hold emerald апd ruby auctioпs апd to geпerate 
reveпue without пegatively impactiпg loпg-term prices. Reveпue may Ье пegatively impacted Ьу апу of the followiпg: 

• Chaпgiпg Jevels of demaпd resultiпg іп deferrals іп the рІаппеd auctioп schedule; 
• Priciпg Ьеіпg suppressed as а result of the опgоіпg impact of the COVID-19 paпdemic оп the global есопоmу; aпd/or 
• Uпaпticipated closures of the Group's mіпіпg facilities arisiпg from localised COVID-19 outbreaks resultiпg іп reduced 
iпveпtory to take to auctioпs. 

· Although the Group has сопfіdепсе іп the base case giveп the customer feedback outliпed above апd giveп measures at 
the mіпе to eпsure COVID-secure workiпg coпditioпs, а dowпside sceпario has Ьееп modelled factoriпg а reductioп іп 
reveпues to reflect the uпcertaiпty. !п this sceпario, additioпal cash mаіпtепапсе measures (which are іп the coпtrol of 
maпagemeпt) would пееd to Ье implemeпted otherwise the Group would face а cash deficit іп March 2022. 

!п the first іпstапсе, the below measures would represeпt sufficieпt cash saviпgs from the base case апd could 
reasoпably Ье implemeпted without jeopardisiпg productioп at the miпes. The list is поt exhaustive апd remaiпs 
dyпamic: 

• Suspeпsioп of budgeted iпvestmeпt іп developmeпt assets (MML, ERM, ·CDJ апd Nairoto ); 
• Further reductioп іп budgeted advertisiпg апd marketiпg costs across the Group; 
• Ехtепsіоп of 20% salary cut іп head office апd boпus reductioп for the year 2021; 
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• Consulting fees, travel costs and office expenses reduction in Corporate; · 
• Delay development of the second wash plant and operating costs reduction at MRM; and 
• Further cost reductlons at Faberge, including inventory purchases. 

Under the scenario modelled, which the Directors consider to Ье а reverse stress-test in respect of revenue, in the event 
that revenue was to fall to below USD120 million in the period to 31December2021, then certain covenants could Ье 
breached and additional measures may Ье required, including waivers of covenants, further financing, equity 
fundraising or more fundamental operational curtailments. 

As discussed above, а key assumption under the downside scenario is that external funding would not Ье suspended or 
called. The peak debt exposure of USD73.0 million (Base case: USD67.0 million) is expected in September 2021 when 
MRM's available USDЗO.O million overdraft facilities are fully utilised, the new ВСІ facility of USDlS.O million is fully 
drawn down and Kagem holds USD28.0 million of borrowings outstanding. 

In the event that Kagem generates lower revenues than expected, as considered in the downside scenario, the debt 
service cover ratio covenant will Ье breached. In this case, mediation is afforded to Kagem to the extent that sufficient 
cash can Ье placed in а reserve account to ensure that the December principal payments can Ье honoured. In addition to 
this, Kagem could realistically take the following actions without significantly impacting production: 

~ Suspension of the expansionary capital expenditure; 
• Significant reduction of the sustaining capital expenditure; and 
• 15% reduction in operating costs. 

These cash preservation options will not involve any significant curtailment of operations at Kagem and therefore are 
not considered to impair the mine's ability to continue producing in the near term and will not jeopardise the 2021 and 
2022 auctions. 

Kagem has historically been аЬІе to operate with less than USD2.0 million of capital expenditure and most of its 
budgeted expansionary spend is planned in the second half of 2021, providing flexibility to the Group to respond in the 
event oflower auction results. Nevertheless, the Directors will assess to what extent the additional actions required 
jeopardise the production and ultimately the ability of Kagem to generate revenues in 2022 and will decide what is the 
best course of action. 

In the event that the MRM facilities are no longer available, the Group would look to remedy any potential deficit 
· through either obtaining additional loan funding, raising equity or through even more fundamental operational 

curtailments and would seek to resolve any covenant breaches and overdraft renewals through negotiation with the 
lenders. However, the impact of COVID-19 on the global economy is such that there is uncertainty over the ability to 
arrange this additional financing and around the ability to renegotiate any future potential covenant breaches. 

Summary 
The conditions and events discussed above indicate the existence of material uncertainties that may cast significant 
doubt upon the Group's ability to continue as а going concern and the Group may therefore Ье unable to realise their 
assets and discharge their liabilities in the ordinary course of business. 

These Consolidated Financial Statements do not include the adjustments that would result if the Group were unable to 
continue as а going concern. The situation is at varying stages of fluidity in each key jurisdiction such that the scenarios 
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disclosed represent what the Board believes to Ье the most likely outcomes given the facts and circumstances at this 
time. Should changes arise, the Group will react and respond accordingly. 

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 

In the course of preparing these Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with IFRS, the Directors make 
necessary judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not 
readily apparent from other sources. Judgements are based on the Directors' best knowledge of the relevant facts and 
circumstances, having regard to prior experience. Estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical 
experience and other factors that are considered to Ье relevant. Actual results may, however, differ from these 
judgements and estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions applied are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of 
the revision and future periods, if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

The following are the critical judgements, key assumptions and sources of estimation uncertainty concerning the future 
that arise mainly from the nature ofthe Group's mining operations and which the Directors believe are likely to have the 
greatest effect on the amounts recognised in the Consolidated Financial Statements. The qualitative disclosures 
regarding these sources of estimation uncertainty are presented because the Directors consider these to Ье relevant to 
the mining industry and useful in understanding the Financial Statements of the Group. 

No additional critical judgements or sources of estimation uncertainty have been identified during the year as а result of 
the COVID-19 pandemic; however, this event has had an impact on some of the items disclosed below. Details ofthe 

. impact of the pandemic on certain of the critical judgements or sources of estimation uncertainty have been disclosed 
against the relevant captions below. 

These disclosures go beyond the minimum requirements of IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements which only 
requires disclosure of estimation uncertainty where changes in estimates, within а reasonably possible range, could 
have а significant risk of а material effect, within the next 12 months, on the amounts recognised in the Consolidated 
Financial Statements. 

(і) Critical accounting judgements 
Revenue recognition 
The critical accounting judgement surrounding revenue recognition relates to the identification of the specific 
performance obligations arising on sales of rough gemstones, from which the Group's revenue is predominantly derived. 
Revenue is recognised at the point at which such specified performance obligations are determined to have been met. 

Rough gemstone sales are transacted through а competitive auction process and the performance obligation is 
determined to Ье satisfied at the point at which an auction is awarded to а buyer. 

Each individual customer enters into а sale agreement with the Group once а winning bid is awarded. The transaction 
price is determined as the winning bid price per parcel sold. Once the sales contract has been agreed Ьу both parties, the 
Group retains no further rights to the gemstones as it is legally bound Ьу the sale agreement to deliver the goods to the 
buyer. The Group therefore determines control to have passed to а buyer at the point at which an auction is awarded 
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апd goods have Ьееп iпvoiced at ап amouпt agreed between the parties, іп Ііпе with the terms апd coпditioпs of the 
Group's auctioп coпtracts. 

The group also geпerates reveпues from the sales of cut апd polished gemstoпes апd retail, wholesale апd web sales, the 
accouпtiпg policies for which are detailed іп the Sigпificaпt Accouпtiпg Policies sectioп below. 

Determination of whether indicators ofimpairment exist at the ЬаІапсе sheet date 
The Directors review the carryiпg value of the Group's пoп-curreпt assets to determiпe whether there are апу 
indicators of impairment preseпt at the ЬаІапсе sheet date, such that the carrying values of the assets may not Ье 
recoverable. The assessmeпt of whether ап iпdicator of impairmeпt or reversal thereof has ariseп requires coпsiderable 
judgemeпt, taking accouпt of future operatioпal апd fіпапсіаІ рІапs, commodity prices, market demaпd апd the 
competitive eпviroпmeпt. Where ап iпdicator of impairmeпt is ideпtified іп the reportiпg period, the Соmрапу will 
complete а full impairmeпt review іп Ііпе with the requiremeпts oflFRS 36 Jmpairment 
of Assets. 

Duriпg 2020, the COVID-19 paпdemic led the Group to suspeпd аІІ but critical operatioпs at its core operatiпg cash­
geпeratiпg uпits ("CGUs"), Kagem апd MRM. Full discussioп of the impact of COVID-19 оп the Group сап Ье fouпd іп the 
Goiпg Сопсеrп sectioп of Note 1. At З 1 December 2020, the deficit betweeп the Group's market capitalisatioп апd пеt 
assets represeпted ап impairmeпt iпdicator, апd as such ап impairmeпt review was performed оп the CGUs. As part of 
these reviews, maпagemeпt performed а seпsitivity aпalysis to assess the impact of reasoпably plausible price апd 
discouпt rate chaпges оп the recoverable amouпt of each CGU. See Note 11: Property, plant and equipment for full 
details. 

(іі) Кеу sources of estimation uncertainty 
Going-concern basis of accounting 
Іп formiпg its оріпіоп as а goiпg сопсеrп, the Board prepares а workiпg capital forecast based uроп its assumptioпs 
related to the future tradiпg performaпce of the Group, as well as takiпg іпtо accouпt available borrowiпg facilities іп 
Ііпе with the capital maпagemeпt policies referred to іп Note 17: Borrowings. The Board also prepares а number of 
alterпative sceпarios modelliпg the busiпess variables апd key risks апd uпcertaiпties. Іп the curreпt year, the modelled 
sceпarios have iпcluded the sigпificaпt uпcertaiпty іп respect of the COVID-19 paпdemic. Full details of the gоіпg­
сопсеrп assessmeпt are set out іп Note 1. 

Determination of the recoverable value ofthe Group's cash-generating units 
Recoverable value is determiпed as the higher of fair value less costs to sell апd value-iп-use of а CGU, which is 
calculated оп the basis of discouпted future cash flows. The determiпatioп of recoverable value therefore requires 
maпagemeпt to make estimates апd assumptioпs about а пumber of key factors that are subject to risk апd uпcertaiпty, 
iпcludiпg: expected productioп апd sales volumes, gemstoпe prices (coпsideriпg curreпt апd historical prices, price 
treпds апd related factors ), reserves, operatiпg costs, closure апd rehabilitatioп costs, the life of mіпе, future capital 
expeпditure, есопоmіс апd regulatory climates, апd the аррІісаЬІе discouпt rate. 

The Directors coпsider the critical estimates іп determiпiпg these recoverable values to Ье the future estimates of the 
rough emerald апd beryl prices апd ruby апd coruпdum prices, as well as the discouпt rate applied to the calculatioпs. 
Апу chaпges to the assumptioпs adopted іп the calculatioп of the recoverable amouпt, iпdividually or іп aggregate, 
would result іп а differeпt valuatioп Ьеіпg determiпed. 

There is iпherent judgemeпt іп the estimatioп of rough emerald апd rough ruby prices as they are поt traded оп а public 
exchaпge, with most traпsactioпs occurriпg іп private auctioпs. The Group therefore determiпes future prices based оп 
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the historic price and product mix trends for each commodity. The Directors do not believe that the COVID-19 pandemic 
has adversely impacted either the emerald or ruby price, with the results ofthe rough emerald mini-auctions held in 
November and December 2020 supporting this judgement in respect of emeralds. 

Further details on the key estimates relating to the valuation of the Group's CGUs and details of the impairment 
assessment completed at 31 December 2020 are disclosed in Note 11: Property, plant and equipment. 

Determination of ore reserves 
The estimation of ore reserves primarily impacts the depreciation charge of evaluated mining assets, which are 
depreciated based on the quantity of ore reserves. Reserve volumes are also used to assess fair value in business 
combinations and in calculating whether an impairment charge should Ье recorded where an impairment indicator 
exists. 

The Group estimates its ore reserves and mineral resources based on information, compiled Ьу appropriately qualified 
persons, relating to geological and technical data on the size, depth, shape and grade of the ore body and related to 
suitable production techniques and recovery rates. The estimate of recoverable reserves is based on factors such as 
gemstone prices, future capital requirements and production costs, along with geological assumptions and judgements 
made in estimating the size and grade ofthe ore body. 

There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating ore reserves and mineral resources. Consequently, 
assumptions that are valid at the time of estimation may change significantly if or when new information becomes 
available. 

The Gemstone Resources and Gemstone Reserves Report 2019, which contains а thorough review ofthe gemstone 
resources and gemstone reserves at 31 December 2019, and details the location, geology, mining, processing, operating 
statistics, and changes at the аррІісаЬІе mining operations and projects, is available online at www.gemfieldsgroup.com. 
The Competent Person's Reports can also Ье found at www.gemfieldsgroup.com. For 2020, the Group completed а 
review of the detailed 2019 report using internal experts. The condensed version of the 2019 report, updated for 2020 
activity, can Ье found on page 53 of this report for Kagem and on page 56 for MRM. 

Valuation of the Faberge cash-generating unit, including the Faberge trademarks 
The Faberge trademarks are а significant asset in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. The Directors have 
determined that the asset has an indefinite useful life, as it is probable that the future economic benefits that are 
attributable to the asset will flow to the entity indefinitely, and therefore, in accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of 
Assets, the asset is considered for impairment on an annual basis. 

Trademarks are inherently complex to value, with several alternative valuation methodologies considered under IAS 38 
Jntangible Assets. For the year ended 31December2020, the Directors applied а Market Approach - Revenue Multiple 
method to the valuation ofthe Faberge CGU. The key estimate applied in the valuation is the basis ofthe determined 
future revenues for the CGU. The estimate is based on both historic realised data over а 12-month look-back period, and 
management's forecast revenues, based on the latest Board-approved budget. 

The COVID-19 pandemic resulted in reduced revenues achieved Ьу the Faberge CGU in 2020. While the Directors remain 
optimistic regarding the performance of the CGU during 2021, the impact of the pandemic on future revenues is 
unknown at the reporting date. This therefore directly impacts the estimation uncertainty surrounding the valuation of 
the Faberge CGU at 31 December 2020. 
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Changes to the assumptions adopted in the calculation of the fair value of the CGU, individually or in aggregate, could 
result in а different valuation being determined. Refer to Note 12: Intangible assets for further details of the key 
estimates relating to the valuation and details of the impairment assessment completed at 31December2020. 

Assessment of fair va/ue of the Group's equity investments 
The Directors use а range of valuation methodologies in accordance with IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement when 
determining the fair value of the Group's equity investments. The material investment held Ьу the Group at the balance 
sheet date is the unlisted equity investment in Sedibelo Platinum Mines ("Sedibelo" or "SPM"). As the investment in 
Sedibelo is unlisted, it falls under Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy prescribed Ьу IFRS 13, meaning that the valuation 
cannot Ье based on observable market data. Fair value valuations for assets falling under Level 3 of the hierarchy are 
inherently complex due to the judgements, estimates and assumptions applied Ьу the Directors across а range of key 
factors. 

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Directors applied а "Market Approach - trading multiples" methodology to 
the valuation of Sedibelo, through which а number of different financial and non-financial metrics were considered, with 
а different weighting applied to each in determining the final fair value ofthe investment. Кеу sources of estimation 
uncertainty applied to the valuation included: future revenue and ЕВІТDА estimates; mineral reserve, mineral resource 
and production estimates; assessment of the impact of COVI D-19; the weighting applied to each of the financial and non­
financial metrics applied in the final valuation; and the level of discount applied for lack of marketability. 

Changes to the assumptions adopted in the calculation of the fair value of Sedibelo, individually or in aggregate, could 
result in а different valuation being determined. Refer to Note 13: Investments for further details of the key estimates 
relating to the valuation and details of the fair value assessment completed at 31 December 2020. 

Jnventory valuation 
The Group reviews the net realisable value of, and demand for, its inventory on а bi-annual basis in order to provide 
assurance that recorded inventory is stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Factors that could impact 
estimated demand and selling prices include competitor actions and economic trends. The Directors use their 
experience, market data and trend analysis when undertaking these reviews. The Directors do not believe that the 
COVID-19 pandemic has adversely impacted either emerald or ruby prices, with the results of the rough emerald mini­
auctions held in November and December 2020 supporting this judgement in respect of emeralds. 

Inherent uncertainties іп interpreting tax legislation 
The Group is subject to uncertainties relating to the determination of its tax liabilities and the timing of the recovery of 
tax refunds. Mozambican and Zambian tax legislation and practice are in а state of continuous development and, 
therefore, are subject to varying interpretations and changes which may Ье applied retrospectively. The Directors' 
interpretation of tax legislation as applied to the transactions and activities of the Group may not coincide with that of 
the tax authorities. As а result, the tax authorities may challenge transactions and the Group may Ье assessed with 
additional taxes, penalties and fines or Ье refused refunds, which could have а material, adverse effect on the Group's 
financial performance or position. 

Historical tax years relating to various companies within the Group remain open for inspection during а future tax audit. 
Consequently, the tax figures recorded in the Consolidated Financial Statements for these years may Ье subject to 
change. 

The Directors believe that the Group is in substantial compliance with the tax laws promulgated in аІІ the jurisdictions 
in which it operates, and with any contractual terms entered into that relate to tax which affect its operations, and that, 
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consequently, no additional, material tax liabilities will arise. However, due to the reasons set out above, the risk 
remains that the relevant tax authorities may take а different position with regard to the interpretation of contractual 
provisions or tax law (inclusive of corporate income taxes, value-added tax and subsoil-use legislation). The resulting 
effect of any positions taken Ьу the tax authorities that differ from those of the Directors is that additional tax liabilities 
may arise, or that the timing of refunds due may take longer than expected or may Ье refused. 

Due to the range of uncertainties described above in assessing any potential additional tax liabilities and the timing of 
refunds, it is not practical for the Directors to estimate the financial effect in terms of the amount of additional tax 
liabilities, if any, together with any associated penalties and charges for which the Group may Ье ІіаЬІе. 

Inherent uncertainties іп respect of апу potentia/ and ongoing claims and litigation 
While it is impossible to Ье certain of the outcome of any particular case or of the amount of any possible adverse 
matters relating to potential claims and litigation, the Group believes its defences to such claims to Ье meritorious in 
both law and on the facts, and that а robust defence would Ье made in such events. 

At the balance sheet date in the aggregate, and despite the quality of defences available to the Group, it is possible that 
the Group's operational results or cash flows in particular annual periods could Ье materially affected Ьу potential 
claims and litigation, or Ьу the final outcome of any particular litigation. Having regard to аІІ these matters, the Group (і) 
does not consider it appropriate to make any provision in respect of any pending litigation unless it is probable that the 
likely outcome of the case would result in an outflow of resources from the Group; and (іі) does not believe that the 
ultimate outcome of any ongoing litigation at the date of this report will significantly impair the Group's financial 
condition. 

Significant accounting policies 
Foreign currencies 
The individual Financial Statements of each Group company are presented in the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which it operates (its functional currency). For the purposes ofthe Group's Consolidated Financial 
Statements, the results and financial position of each Group company are expressed in USD, which is the functional 
currency of the Group and the presentational currency for the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Transactions entered into Ьу Group companies are recorded in their functional currencies at the exchange rate on the 
day of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of 
exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising оп the retranslatiori. of unsettled monetary 
assets and liabilities are recognised in the lncome Statement. On consolidation, аІІ assets and liabilities of overseas 
operations are translated at the rate ruling at the reporting date. 

Exchange differences arising on translating the closing net assets at the closing rate at the balance sheet date, and the 
results of overseas operations at average exchange rates (unless these average rates are not reasonable approximations 
of the cumulative effect of the prevailing rate transaction dates, in which case actual rates are used), are recognised 
directly in equity in the cumulative translation reserve. 

Exchange differences recognised in the lncome Statement of the Group entities' separate Financial Statements on the 
translation oflong-term monetary items forming part of the Group's net investment in the overseas operation 
concerned, are reclassified to the cumulative translation reserve on consolidation. 

The key exchange rates impacting these Consolidated Financial Statements are detailed in the table below. 
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Mozarnbican rnetical (MZN) 
Zarnbian kwacha (ZMW) 

UK pound sterling (GBP) 
South African rand (ZAR) 

Subsidiaries 

Spot 

75.64 
21.1 

1 
0.74 

14.66 

The Group is deemed to control an investee if it has аІІ of the following: 

• Power over the investee; 

2020 

Average 

69.36 
18.57 

0.78 
16.49 

• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 
• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect the Group's returns. 

2019 

Spot Average 

60.84 61.98 
14.04 12.97 

0.76 0.78 
14.05 14.40 

If these three criteria are not met, then the investee is determined to not Ье а subsidiary of the Group and its results will 
not Ье consolidated into these Financial Statements. 

Subsidiaries are consolidated into the Group's Financial Statements оп а line-by-line basis. They are deconsolidated 
from the date on which control ceases. 

Non-controlling interests 
IFRS З Business combinations gives the choice, on а transaction Ьу transaction basis, to initially recognise any non­
controlling interest in the acquiree that is а present ownership interest and entitles its holders to а proportionate share 
of the entity's net assets in the event of liquidation at either acquisition date fair value or at the present ownership 
instruments' proportionate share in the recognised amounts of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. Other components 
of non-controlling interest such as outstanding share options are generally measured at fair value. 

The total comprehensive income of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries is attributed to owners of the parent and to the non­
controlling interests in proportion to their relative ownership interests. 

Revenue 
The Group recognises revenue at the point at which performance obligations related to the sale are determined to have 
been met. 

The Group recognises revenue under the following categories: 
(і) Rough gemstones - the performance obligation is met at the point at which the auction is awarded to the customer. 
(Refer to the Critical Accounting judgements section above for further details.) 
(іі) Cut and polished gemstones - the performance obligation is met through the supply of goods to the customer and 
control is determined to have passed at the point of delivery. 
(ііі) Retail, wholesale and web sales - the performance obligation is met through the supply of goods to the customer 
and control is determined to have passed at the point of delivery. 

The transaction price is determined as per the individual contracts or agreements, including final winning bids. There is 
no variable consideration included in the Group's contracts, and payment terms within the Group are usually less than 
120 days. 
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lnvestment іпсоте and expenses 
Unrealised fair value gains and losses - these amounts are movements in the carrying value of investments during the 
period. Foreign exchange gains and losses on investments are included within these fair value gains and losses. 

Rea/ised gains and losses - these amounts may arise on divestments, acquisitions, equity-for-equity swaps, loan 
conversions and similar transactions. The gains/losses usually represent the difference between the fair value of the 
consideration received and the fair value of the assets disposed of as part of the transaction. Realised is used to describe 
gains or losses оп transactions where assets are either realised in return for cash or cash equivalents, or for other assets 
such as new equity interests or similar. 

Dividends from investments are recognised when the right to receive payment is established. 

Mineral royalties and production taxes 
The Group recognises mineral royalties and production taxes following the sale of rough gemstones at auction. Mineral 
royalties and production taxes are based on the fixecj percentage of the final sales price achieved at auction аррІісаЬІе at 
the time. 

Taxation 
Taxation for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Current and deferred tax is charged or credited to the · 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in 
equity, in which case the taxation effect is recognised in equity. 

Current taxation 
The current tax expense or credit is the amount of taxes estimated to Ье рауаЬІе or recoverable in respect of the taxable 
profit or loss for а period, as well as adjustments to estimates in respect of previous periods. It is calculated on the basis 
of the tax laws and rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date in countries where the Group 
operates and generates taxable income. 

Deferred taxation 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised where the carrying amount of an asset or liability in the balance sheet 
differs.from its tax base, except for differences arising on: 

• The initial recognition of goodwill; 
• The initial recognition of an asset or liability in а transaction which is not а business combination and at the time of the 
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit; and 
• Investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities where the Group is аЬІе to control the timing of the reversal 
of the difference and it is probable that the difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Recognition of deferred tax assets is restricted to those instances where it is probable that taxable profit will Ье 
available against which the temporary differences сап Ье utilised. 

The amount of the asset or liability is determined using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted Ьу the 
reporting date and are expected to аррІу when the deferred tax liabilities/(assets) are settled/(recovered). 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the Group has а legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
and liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to taxes levied Ьу the same tax authority on either: 
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• The same taxable Group company; or 
• Different Group companies which intend either to settle current tax assets and liabilities on а net basis or to realise the 
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax assets 
or liabilities are expected to Ье settled or recovered. 

Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment is stated at historic cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses. As well as the purchase price, cost includes directly attributable costs and the estimated present value of any 
future unavoidable costs of dismantling and removing items. The corresponding liability is recognised within 
provisions. 

Evaluated mining properties are amortised on the basis of ore mined in the year, set against the total probable ore 
reserves as detailed in the SRK Resource Statement. Depreciation is provided on аІІ other items of property, plant and 
equipment to write off the carrying value of items over their expected useful economic lives and is recognised within 
cost of sales. It is applied at the following rates: 

Tangible asset 
Buildings 
Plant, machinery and motor vehicles 
Fixtures, fittings and equipment 
Evaluated mining properties 

Useful economic life 
5% per annum straight-line 
20-25% per annum straight-line 
20-33% per annum straight-line 
Unit ofproduction based on the estimated reserves 

Useful lives are based on management's estimates of the period over Which an asset is expected to Ье available for use 
Ьу the Group, or the amount of production expected to Ье obtained from the asset Ьу the Group. The useful lives and 
residual values (where аррІісаЬІе) ofthe tangible assets are reviewed annually. 

The carrying value of property, plant and equipment is reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not Ье recoverable. Any reversal of the impairment is determined using 
the depreciated historic cost of the specific asset, 

Mining assets - evaluated mining properties 
Following the determination of the commercial and technical viability of а mining project, the relevant expenditure, 
including licence acquisition costs, is transferred from unevaluated mining properties within intangible assets to 
evaluated mining properties within property, plant and equipment. Exploration expenditure transferred to property, 
plant and equipment is subsequently depreciated using а unit-of-production method. The Group calculates depreciation 
based on the ratio of ore mined during the period to the total brought-forward ore reserve, based on the proven and 
probable estimated reserves. Expenditure deemed to Ье unsuccessful is written offto the Consolidated Income 
Statement. 

Deferred stripping costs 
Stripping costs incurred in the development of а mine or pit before production commences are capitalised as part of the 
cost of constructing the mine or pit and subsequently amortised over the life of the mine on а unit-of-production basis. 
Production stripping costs related to accessing an identifiable component of the ore body to realise benefits in the form 
of improved access to the ore to Ье mined in the future, are capitalised as а separate asset ( deferred stripping asset) 
within property, plant and equipment. 

22 



Gemfields Group Limited Annual Report for year ended 31 December 2020 

Deferred stripping assets are amortised over the identified component of the ore body that becomes more accessible as 
а result of the stripping activity. Specifically, the calculation of amortisation for deferred stripping costs is the ratio of 
ore mined within the reaction zone (the ore body that becomes more accessible as а result of the stripping activity) to 
the total ore estimated and identified within the reaction zone exposed Ьу the stripping activity. The judgements made 
are supported Ьу technical data. 

Where stripping is undertaken alongside ongoing, continuous mining, the related costs are expensed to the 
Consolidated lncome Statement as mining and production costs during the period in which the costs have been 
incurred. 

lntangible assets 
Externally acquired intangible assets are initially recognised at cost and subsequently amortised on а straight-line basis 
over their useful economic life. Amortisation is recognised within cost of sales. 

Trademarks, which have an indefinite useful economic life, are initially recognised at fair value and reviewed for 
impairment annually. An intangible asset is deemed to have an indefinite life when, based on an analysis of аІІ of the 
relevant factors, there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate cash flows for 
the Group. 

An intangible asset acquired as part of а business combination is recognised outside goodwill if the asset is separable or 
arises from contractual or other legal rights and its fair value can Ье ineasured reliably. The amounts attributed to such 
intangibles are arrived at using appropriate valuation techniques. 

The useful economic lives of significant finite-life intangibles recognised Ьу the Group are as follows: 

Intangible asset 
Trademarks 
Software 
Faberge customer list 

Useful economic life 
lndefinite 
З years 
6 years 

The useful lives and residual values (where аррІісаЬІе) of the intangible assets are reviewed annually. The assessment 
of indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life continues to Ье supportable. lf not, the 
change in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on а prospective basis. 

Uneva/uated тіпіпg properties 
The Group follows an accounting роІісу for exploration and appraisal assets that is based on the successful-efforts 
accounting method. 

lnitial exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred in relation to project areas to which the Group's licences and 
rights relate are capitalised on а project-by-project basis pending determination of the feasibility of the project. Costs 
incurred include appropriate technical and administrative expenses, but not general overheads. Where а licence is 
relinquished or а project is abandoned, or it is considered to Ье of no further commercial value to the Group, the related 
costs are written off to the Consolidated lncome Statement as exploration costs. 

lf а mining development project is successful, the related expenditures are transferred to property, plant and 
equipment, at which point they are assessed for impairment. Subsequently, costs are a_mortised over the estimated life 
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of the commercial ore reserves usiпg а uпitof- productioп method. The calculatioп is based оп proved апd probable ore 
reserves attributable to the specific asset. 

lmpairment 
lmpairmeпt tests оп іпtапgіЬ\е assets with iпdefiпite useful есопоmіс lives are uпdertakeп оп ап аппuа\ basis. 

Other поп-fіпапсіа\ assets are subject to impairmeпt tests wheпever eveпts or chaпges іп circumstaпces iпdicate that 
their carryiпg amouпt may Ье differeпt from the recoverable amouпt. Where the carryiпg value of ап asset exceeds its 
recoverable amouпt (і.е. the higher ofvalue-iп-use апd fair value Iess costs to sell), the asset is writteп dowп. Where the 
carryiпg value of ап asset is below its recoverable amouпt, а пу historic impairmeпt charged іп respect of the asset is 
reversed accordiпgly. 

lnvestments 
lf ап equity iпterest held Ьу the Group is uпder 20%, it is recogпised іп the Statemeпt of FіпапсіаІ Positioп as ап 
iпvestmeпt апd accouпted for at fair value іп accordaпce with IFRS 13 through the provisioпs uпder IFRS 9. 

АІІ equity iпvestmeпts with а holdiпg of \ess thaп 20% are iпitial\y recogпised at their fair value, with апу subsequeпt 
chaпges іп the assessed fair value Ьеіпg recogпised іп the Іпсоmе Statemeпt as unrealised fair value gaiпs or Iosses. 

Divideпds are recogпised wheп the eпtity's right to receive paymeпt is established, it is probable the есопоmіс beпefits 
will flow to the eпtity апd the amouпt сап Ье measured reliably. Divideпds are recogпised іп other gaiпs апd іпсоmе іп 
the Іпсоmе Statemeпt. 

Unlisted equity investments 
А пumber of differeпt valuatioп methods сап Ье used wheп assessiпg the fair value of the Group's uпlisted equity 
iпvestmeпts. Appropriate methods iпclude the discouпted cash flow or earпiпgs of the uпderlyiпg iпvestmeпt, а market­
based approach аррІуіпg comparable сатрапу valuatioп multiples or valuiпg the iпvestmeпt іп Ііпе with the price of а 
receпt third party, arm's-Ieпgth traпsactioп. Discouпts for illiquidity may Ье applied to valuatioпs where appropriate, іп 
accordaпce with the relevaпt accouпtiпg staпdards. The Group eпgages the services of іпdерепdепt third-party 
valuatioп experts to assist with the valuatioп of its uпlisted equity iпvestmeпts where the valuatioпs are particu\arly 
complicated or subjective. 

Jnventory 
Iпveпtory relatiпg to rough gemstoпes has Ьееп valued at the Iower of cost оп the weighted-average basis апd пеt 
realisable value. Cost iпcludes direct productioп costs, depreciatioп of mіпіпg equipmeпt апd amortisatioп of the mіпіпg 
asset, апd deferred strippiпg costs. Net realisab\e value of rough gemstoпes is the estimated market value, split Ьу grade 
апd based оп past auctioпs, \ess estimated costs to sell. Due to the пature of the Group's operatioпs, іп the eveпt that 
mіпіпg operatioпs become temporarily suspeпded for а proloпged period oftime, certaiп direct productioп costs will 
still Ье iпcurred Ьу the Group. Іп such ап eveпt, productioп costs are поt capitalised to iпveпtory duriпg the period of 
поп-ореrаtіоп but are expeпsed directly to the Coпsolidated Іпсоmе Statemeпt as апd wheп iпcurred. 

Duriпg the process of extractiпg emeralds and rubies, beryl and corundum are also produced. This production is treated 
as а by-product and is measured at net realisable value. The пеt realisable value is accounted for as а contribution to the 
costs of producing emera\ds and rubies in the equivalent period. Upon sa\e of the by-products, the sale is recogпised as 
reveпue, with any profit over its previous carrying value being recogпised within gross profit in the period of sale. 
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Cut and polished gemstones, retail inventory and Faberge inventory are initially recognised at cost, and, subsequently, 
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises аІІ costs of purchase, costs of conversion, and other costs 
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Net realisable value is based on expected 
sales price, less estimated costs to sell. 

Consignment inventory 
The terms of agreement with customers who request the Group to onward-sell their cut and polished gemstones 
normally note that no legal title to the cut and polished gemstones passes to Gemfields. For each particular 
arrangement, an analysis of whether аІІ significant risks and rewards of ownership of cut and polished gemst9nes have 
passed to the Group is undertaken in order to determine if it is to Ье recognised as the Group's inventory. If no 
significant risks and rewards have passed to the Group, then such gemstones are considered to Ье consignment goods 
and are not recorded as part of the Group's inventory. 

Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has а present obligation (legal or constructive) as а result of а past event, it is 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will Ье required to settle the obligation, and а 
reliable estimate сап Ье made of the amount of the obligation. 

Provision for decommissioning and restoration 
А provision for decommissioning and restoration costs is recognised at the commencement of mining. The amount 
recognised is the present value of the estimated future expenditure determined in accordance with !оса! conditions and 
requirements. А corresponding evaluated mining property asset is also recorded within property, plant and equipment 
at an amount equivalent to the provision, and is subsequently depreciated as part ofthe cost of production. Any change 
in the present value of the estimated future expenditure is reflected and adjusted against the provision and evaluated · 
mining property, unless the asset to which the provision relates has been impaired, in which case the reversal of the 
provision is taken through the Consolidated Income Statement. 

Share-based payments 
The Company issues equity-settled share-based payments in the form of share options to certain Directors. Equity-. 
settled share-based payments are measured at fair value at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the date of 
grant is expensed on а straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Company's estimate of the number of 
shares that will eventually vest. Fair value is estimated using а Black-Scholes valuation model. 

Own shares 
Own shares are recognised at cost as а deduction from shareholders' funds in equity and held as treasury shares until 
they are cancelled. Subsequent consideration received for the sale of such shares is also recognised in equity, with any 
difference between the sale proceeds and the weighted average cost being recorded in retained earnings. No gain or loss 
is recognised in the Financial Statements on transactions in own shares. When treasury shares are cancelled, the excess 
over the nominal value of the shares is debited to share premium. 

Financial instruments 
Financial assets 
Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value, usually being the transaction price. In the case of financial assets 
not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs are also included. The subsequent 
measurement of financial assets depends on their classification. The group classifies its financial assets in the following 
categories: 
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• fіпапсіаІ assets measured at amortised cost; апd 
• fіпапсіаІ assets measured at fair value through profit апd loss. 
Classificatioп depeпds оп the busiпess modei for maпagiпg the fіпапсіаІ assets апd the coпtractual terms ofthe cash 
flows. Maпagemeпt determiпes the classificatioп of fіпапсіаІ assets at іпіtіаІ recogпitioп. The Group's роІісу with regard 
to credit risk maпagemeпt is set out іп Note 24: Financial instruments. 

Measurement 
і) Financial assets measured at amortised cost 
These assets arise рrіпсіраІІу from the provisioп of goods апd services to customers ( e.g. trade receivables ), but also 
iпcorporate other types of fіпапсіаІ assets where the objective is to hold these assets іп order to collect coпtractual cash 
flows, апd the coпtractual cash flows are solely paymeпts of рrіпсіраІ апd iпterest. They are іпіtіаІІу recogпised at fair 
value plus traпsactioп costs that are directly attributable to their acquisitioп or issue апd are subsequeпtly carried at 
amortised cost usiпg the effective iпterest rate method, less provisioп for impairmeпt. 

іі) Financial assets measured at fair value through projit and loss 
FіпапсіаІ assets are recogпised іп this category wheп the asset does not meet the criteria to Ье measured at amortised 
cost or fair value through other compreheпsive іпсоmе. Such assets are carried оп the ЬаІапсе sheet at fair value with 
gaiпs or losses recogпised іп the іпсоmе statemeпt. This classificatioп is опІу relevaпt for the Group's iпvestmeпts, as 
discussed in the Iпvestmeпts sectioп above. 

lmpairment 
Credit risk arises from the Group's fіпапсіаІ assets which are carried at amortised cost апd at fair value through profit 
апd loss, iпcludiпg cash апd cash equivaleпts апd outstaпdiпg receivables with auctioп апd retail customers. The Group 
assesses at the епd of each reportiпg period whether there is objective evideпce that а fіпапсіаІ asset or group of 
fіпапсіаІ assets is impaired based оп the credit loss model set out іп IFRS 9 Financial instruments. 

і) lmpairment - trade receivables 
Impairmeпt provisioпs for trade receivables are recogпised based оп the simplified approach withiп IFRS 9, usiпg а 
provisioп matrix іп the determiпatioп of the lifetime expected credit losses. Duriпg this process, the probability of the 
поп-рауmепt of the receivables is assessed. This probability is theп multiplied Ьу the amouпt of the expected loss 
arisiпg from default in order to determiпe the lifetime expected credit loss for the trade receivables. 

Trade receivables are writteп off where there is по reasoпable expectatioп of recovery. Iпdicators that there is по 
reasoпable expectatioп of recovery iпclude, amoпgst others, the failure of а debtor to eпgage іп а repaymeпt рІап with 
the Group, апd а failure to make coпtractual paymeпts for а period of greater thaп 120 days past due. Impairmeпt losses 
are preseпted as пеt impairmeпt losses withiп operatiпg profit/(loss). Subsequeпt recoveries of amouпts previously 
writteп off are credited agaiпst the same Ііпе item. 

іі) lmpairment - loans and other receivables 
Impairmeпt provisioпs for other receivables апd Іоапs are recogпised based оп the IFRS 9 credit loss model. The 
methodology used to determiпe the amount of the provisioп is based оп whether there has Ьееп а sigпificaпt iпcrease іп 
credit risk sіпсе іпіtіаІ recogпitioп of the fіпапсіаІ asset. Credit risk is assessed оп ап asset-by-asset basis. А key 
iпdicator that there has Ьееп а sigпificaпt iпcrease іп credit risk is а failure to make coпtractual paymeпts for а period of 
greater thaп 120 days past due. For fіпапсіаІ assets where credit risk has not iпcreased sigпificaпtly sіпсе іпіtіаІ 
recogпitioп, 12-moпth expected credit losses ("ECLs") аІопg with gross iпterest іпсоmе are recognised. For those for 
which credit risk has iпcreased sigпificaпtly, lifetime ECLs аІопg with the gross iпterest іпсоmе are recogпised. 
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ііі) Impairment - related party receivables 
The Group also applies the IFRS 9 credit loss model to its related party Іоапs. Both the 12-moпth ECL model апd the 
lifetime ECL model require the Group to assess the probability of couпterparty default апd the expected loss giveп 
default. 

The expected loss rates are based оп maпagemeпt's assessmeпt апd uпderstaпdiпg of the credit risk attached to the 
related party receivable апd the expected repaymeпt profile of that receivable, iпcludiпg the terms of апу uпderlyiпg 
І оа п coпtracts іп ріа се апd maпagemeпt's assessmeпt as to the sufficieпcy of the cash апd liquid assets of the related 
party to repay the receivable wheп it falls due. The expected loss is multiplied Ьу the assessed probability of поп­
рауmепt to determiпe the expected credit loss. 

Related party receivables are writteп off where there is по reasoпable expectatioп of recovery. lпdicators that there is 
по reasoпable expectatioп of recovery iпclude, amoпgst others, failure of the related party to make coпtractual 
paymeпts uпder the terms of the Іоап agreemeпt, or а sigпificaпt chaпge іп the operatioпs of the related party. 

Trade and other receivables 
The Group holds trade receivables with the objective of collectiпg the coпtractual cash flows апd therefore measures 
them subsequeпtly at amortised cost usiпg the effective iпterest method less апу provisioп for impairmeпt. Trade 
receivables are measured at their traпsactioп price, і.е. the amouпt of coпsideratioп that is uпсопdіtіопаІ, uпless they 
сопtаіп sigпificaпt fіпапсіпg compoпeпts, wheп they are recogпised at fair value. АІІ amouпts due from trade 
receivables have expected terms of less thaп six moпths апd are therefore classified as curreпt. 

Prepaymeпts for goods or services are поt fіпапсіаІ assets because they are associated with the receipt of goods or 
services апd do поt give rise to а preseпt right to receive cash or апу other fіпапсіаІ asset. 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash апd cash equivaleпts represeпt cash ЬаІапсеs held at Ьапk апd oп-demaпd deposits. Cash апd cash equivaleпts are 
measured at amortised cost. 

Financial liabilities 
FіпапсіаІ liabilities iпclude the followiпg items: 
Trade and other payables 
Trade payables апd other short-term moпetary liabilities are іпіtіаІІу measured at fair value апd subsequeпtly 
recogпised at amortised cost usiпg the effective iпterest rate method. 

The іпіtіаІ measuremeпt of а trade рауаЬІе will Ье discouпted to preseпt value where the time value of mопеу is 
deemed to Ье sigпificaпt. Geпerally, оп іпіtіаІ recogпitioп, the traпsactioп price giviпg rise to the liability to Ье settled іп 
cash is regarded as the fair value. 

Borrowings 
Iпterest-beariпg borrowiпgs are fіпапсіаІ liabilities with fixed or determiпable paymeпts. lпterest-beariпg borrowiпgs 
are іпіtіаІІу recogпised at fair value, пеt of directly attributable traпsactioп costs, апd are subsequeпtly measured at 
amortised cost usiпg the effective iпterest method. 

Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities 
The Group derecogпises а fіпапсіаІ asset опІу wheп the coпtractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or 
wheп it traпsfers the fіпапсіаІ asset апd substaпtially аІІ the risks апd rewards of owпership ofthe asset to aпqther 
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entity. Ifthe Group neither transfers nor retains substantially аІІ the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to 
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for 
amounts it may have to рау. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of а transferred 
financial asset, the Group continues to r:ecognise the financial asset and also recognises а collateralised borrowing for 
the proceeds received. 

А financial liability (in whole or in part) is derecognised when the Group has extinguished its contractual obligations, it 
expires or is cancelled. Any gain or loss on derecognition is taken to the Statement of Comprehensive lncome. 

Leases 
Оп inception of а contract the Group assesses whether it contains а lease. The contract is, or contains, а lease if it 
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for а period oftime in exchange for consideration. The right to 
control the use of an identified asset is determined based on whether the Group has the right to obtain all of the 
economic benefits from the use of the asset throughout the period of use, and if the group has the right to direct the use 
of the asset. 

Lease obligations are recognised as а liability with а corresponding right-of-use asset at the commencement date. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value ofthe lease payments that are not paid at the lease 
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot Ье readily 
determined, the group's incremental borrowing rate. 
The corresponding right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount ofthe lease 
liability plus any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, any initial direct costs incurred and an 
estimate of costs required to remove or restore the underlying asset, less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use 
asset is depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on а straight-line basis. 

The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured 
when there is а change in future lease payments arising from а change in an index or rate, if there is а change in the 
Group's estimate ofthe amount expected to Ье рауаЬІе under а residual value guarantee or if the Group changes its 
assessment of whether it will exercise а purchase, extension or termination option. When the lease liability is 
remeasured in this way, а corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset or is 
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero. 

The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases that have а lease 
term of 12 months.or less and leases oflow-value assets with an annual cost of USDS,000 or less. The Group recognises 
the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on а straight-line basis over the lease term. 

3. SEGMENTAL REPORTING 
The chief operating decision maker for the Group has been determined to Ье Executive Management, who measures the 
performance of each operating segment on а regular basis in order to allocate resources efficiently. 

The Group's segmental reporting reflects the business focus of the Group. The Group has been organised into geographic 
and business units based on its products and services and has five operating and reportable segments: 

• Zamlф (emerald and beryl mining activities); 
• Mozambique (ruby and corundum and gold mining activities); 
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• Corporate (sales of cut and polished gemstones, marketing, and technical and administrative services); 
• Faberge (wholesale and retail sales ofjewellery and watches); and 
• Other (new projects, traded auctions, sales and marketing offices). 

Prior period included: 
• Steel Making Materials (the Group's investment in Jupiter Mines Limited, which was sold in 2019). 
The reporting on these assets to management focuses on revenue, operating costs, ЕВІТDА, key balance sheet lines and 
free cash flow (as defined further below). 
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lncome Statement 

1 /anuary to 31December2020 Zambia Mozambique Corporate Faberge Other Other-PGMs Total 
USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO 

.Rough 22,300 2 4,685 26,987 

gemstones1 7,14 7,144 

Jewellery 10 4 32 436 

Cut and Eolished 9 7 

·Revenue 2 22,300 111 7,144 5,012 34,567 

Mineral royalties and production taxes . (1,665) (1,665) 
Marketing, management and auction (2,788) 2,788 
costs 
Change in inventory and cost of sales (2,024) 12,269 (93) (3,269) (4,462) 2,421 
Мining and production costs3 (18,370) (19,350) (37,720) 
Selling, general and administrative (3,384) (3,880) (11,846) (7,289) (1,429) (27,828) 
costs4 

Other income5 95 6 14 68 183 

ЕВІТDА (5,836) (10,955) (9,026) (3,414) (811) (30,042) 

. Unrealised fairvalue gains/ (losses) 15 (27,900) (27,885) 
Depreciation and amortisation (7,117) (12,457) (731) (662) (56) (21,023) 
Share-based payments (944) (944) 

' Impairment charges6 (76) (757) (12,578) (100) (13,511) 

(Loss) from operations (12,953) (23,488) (11,443) . (16,654) (967) (27,900) (93,405) 

Finance 296 109 14 419 

income (3,271 (1,976) (424) (536 (9) (6,216) 

Finance costs ) 8,829 (158) ) (1,611) 5,975 

Taxation credit[{charge) 3,045 {4,130) 

(Loss) after taxation (13,179) (16,339) (11,916) (21,320) (2,573) (27,900) (93,227) 

І Duriпg 2020, Kagem held опе commercial-quality emera/d аисtіоп, іп Lusaka, Zambia, іп February, realisiпg reveпues of USD 11.4 тіІІіоп. 
Additioпally, іп November апd December 2020, Kagem held а series of тіпі-аисtіопs, which realised total reveпues of USD 10.9 тіІІіоп. MRM held по 
auctioпs duriпg 2020. 
2 Reveпues have Ьееп recogпised at опе роіпt іп time, as сопtгоІ passes to the customer. No third-party customer accouпted for тоге thaп 10% of 
sales duriпg 2020. 
З Excludiпg тіпегаІ royalties апd productioп taxes апd іпvепtогу impairmeпts. 
4 Excludiпg share-based paymeпts апd other provisioпs. 
5 Excludes other uпrealised fair value gaiпs оп other equity iпvestmeпts. 
6 ІпсІиdіпg іпvепtогу апd other impairmeпts апd provisioпs recorded іп the уеаг. 
7 Other- PGMs iпcludes the Group's· iпvestmeпt іп Sedibelo. The iпvestmeпt does поt meet the defiпitioп of а reportable segmeпt іп ассогdапсе 
with IFRS 8 Operatiпg Segmeпts as the Group does поt еагп reveпues from this equity holdiпg. Goiпg forward, Executive Мапаgетепt wil/ іпсІиdе 
Sedibelo withiп the Other operatiпg segmeпt, with the disclosures іп this поtе updated accordiпgly. 
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lncome Statement 

Steel 
Making Other-

Zambia Mozambiqu Materials Corporate Faberg~ Other PGMs' Total 
е 

1 January 2019 to 31December2019 USD'OOO USO'OOO USO'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USO'OOO USD'OOO 

Rough gemstones1 78,965 121,524 3,595 204,084 

Jewellery 4 10,517 10,521 
Cut and polished 811 817 1,628 

Revenue2 78,965 121,524 815 10,517' 4,412 216,233 

Mineral royalties and 
production taxes (4,982) (12,123) (17,105) 
Export duty on Zambian (12,440) (12,440) 
emeralds 
Marketing, management 
and auction costs (9,870) (15,069) 24,939 
Change in inventory and cost of 8,437 8,957 (1,018) (7,307) 186 9,255 
sales 
Mining and production costs3 (35,850) (27,271) (780) (29) 574 (63,356) 

Selling, general 
and (5,949) (9,580) (27,632) (9,655) (116) (52,932) 
administrative 
costs4 

Other income 163 253 258 1 562 1,237 

ЕВІТDА 18,474 66,691 (3,418) (6,473) 5,618 80,892 

Dividend income 2,582 2,51:12 
Realised fair value gains 4,645 4,645 
Unrealised fair value gains 7,053 7,053 
Depreciation and amortisation (13,440) (19,077) (597) (1,657) (56) (34,827) 
Share-based payments (1,693) (1,693) 
Impairment reversal/ (charges)5 20,824 (250) (6,210) (1,163) 13,201 

Profit/(loss) from operations 25,858 47,364 7,227 (5,708) (14,340) 4,399 7,053 71,853 

Finance income 32 1,193 (438) 787 
Finance costs (4,135) (1,169) 2,486 (2,449) (5,267) ' 

Taxation (charge)/ credit (13,305) (15,551) (473) 1,538 (451) (28,242) 

Profitj(loss) after taxation 8,418 30,676 7,227 (4,988) (10,316) 1,061 7,053 39,131 

І Іn 2019, Kagem held two higher-qualify emerald auctions іп Singapore in Мау and November, generating revenues of USD22.4 million and USD27.2 million, respectively. 
Kagem also held fwo commercial-quality emerald auctions in Lusaka, lambia, in February and August 20 І 9, realising total revenue of USD29.4 million. MRM held two 
mixed-qua/ity auctions in 2019, in Singapore in June and December, generafing USD/21.5 million. 
2 Revenues have been recognised at one point in time, as confrol passes to the customer. No fhird-parfy customer accounfed for more than І 0% of sales during 20 І 9. 
З Excluding mineral royalties and production taxes, exporf duty оп lambian emeralds, and invenfory impairments. 
4 Excluding share-based payments. 
5 Іncluding invenfory and other impairmenfs and provisions recorded in fhe year. 
6 Other- PGMs includes the Group's investment in Sedibelo. The investmenf does not meet fhe definition of а reporfable segmeпt іп occurdance with IFKS /і Operating 
Segmtml~ as the Group does nof earn revenues from fhis equity holding. Going forward, Executive Management wil/ include Sedibelo wifhin the Other operating segment, 
wifh fhedisclosures in fhis note updafed accordingly. 
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Change in inventory and cost of sales 

Other-
Zambia Mozambique Corporate Faberg~ Other PGMs Total 

1 january 2020 to 31 December 2020 USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO 

Change in inventory and cost of sales (2,024) 12,269 (93) (3,269) (4,462) 2,421 

Split Ьеtшееп: 

Mining and production costs capitalised1 6,973 8,500 15,473 

Depreciation capitalised 1,892 3,769 5,661 

Cost of goods sold (10,889) (93) (3,269) (4,462) (18,713) 

(2,024) 12,269 (93) (3,269) (4,462) 2,421 
І Mining and production costs capitalised to inventory exclude security costs. which are not determined to Ье direct costs of production. 

Steel Other -
Zambia Mozambique Making Corporate Faberg~ Other PGMs Total 

Material 
5 

1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019 USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO 

Change in inventory and cost of sales 8,437 8,957 (1,018) (7,307) 186 9,255 

Split between: 

Mining and production costs 31,176 23,180 54,356 

Depreciation capitalised 5,574 11,819 17,393 

Cost of goods sold (28,313) (26,042) (1,018) (7,307) 186 (62,494) 

8,437 8,957 (1,018) (7,307) 186 9,255 
І Mining and production costs capitalised to inventory exclude security costs. which аге not determined to Ье direct costs of production. 

Statement of Financial Position 
Other 

Zambia Mozambique Corporate Faberg~ Other Total 
31 December 2020 PGMs 

USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO 

Mining asset 140,695 163,178 303,873 
Property, plant and equipment, 
and intangibles 17,400 47,099 4,998 30,167 10,658 110,322 
Listed and unlisted investments 1,309 29,600 30,909 
Operating assets 1 48,177 61,371 12,420 38,059 4,688 164,715 

Cash and cash equivalents 6,025 745 34,452 1,183 1,457 43,862 

Segment assets 212,297 272,393 53,179 69,409 16,803 29,600 653,681 

Deferred tax asset 3,029 

Total assets 656,710 

Borrowings 28,000 28,505 56,505 
Operating 8,452 19,435 4,51 4,36 1,19 37,953 
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liabilities 2 

Segment liabilities 

Defeпed tax liability 

Total liabilities 

Net (debt)/cash 

36,452 

(21,975) 

5 о 

47,940 4,515 4,360 

(27,760) 34,452 1,183 
І Operoting assets include inventory, current ond non-current trode ond other receivobles ond current tox ossets. 
2 Operoting liobilities include trode ond other poyobles. leose liobilities. provisions ond current tox liobilities. 

1 

1,191 

1,457 

94,458 
79,236 

173,694 

(12,643) 

З Other - PGMs includes the Group 's investment іп Sedibelo. The investment does поІ meet the definition of а reportoble segment іп accordonce with IFRS В Operoting 
Segments as the Group does поІ eorn revenues from lhis equity holding. Going forword, Executive Monogement will include Sedibelo within the Other operoting segment, 
wilh the disclosures іп this note updoted occordingly. 
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Statement of Financial Position 

Zambia Mozambique Materials Corporate Faberg~ 

31 December 2019 USD'OOO USD'OOO 
PGMs 

USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO 
Other 

USD'OOO 
Total 

USD'OOO 
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Mining asset 
Property, plant and equipment, 
and intangibles 

Listed and unlisted investments 

Operating assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Segment assets 

Deferred tax asset 
Other 

Т otal assets 

Borrowings 

Operating liabilities 

Segment liabilities 

Deferred tax liability 

Total liabilities 

Net (debt)/cash 

141,909 165,058 

22,289 52,132 

60,404 89,112 

4, 925 22,272 

229,527 328,574 

30,000 

11,645 

41,645 

(25,075) 

22,827 

33,378 

56,205 

(555) 

57,500 

57,500 

1 Operoting ossets include inventory ond current ond nan-current trode ond other receivobles. 
2 Operoting liabilifies include trode and other payobles, leose liabilifies. provisions and current tax liobi/ifies. 

2,782 42,070 

1,455 

10,450 35,775 

49,100 758 

63,787 78,603 

8,424 5,546 

8,424 5,546 

49,100 758 

306,967 

5,873 125,146 

58,955 

2,795 198,536 

1,163 78,218 

9,831 767,822 

7,227 

9,104 

784,153 

52,827 

1,213 60,206 

1,213 113,033 

92,177 

205,210 

1,163 25,391 

З Other - PGMs includes the Group 's investment in Sedibelo. The investment does not meet fhe definition of а reportable segment in accordance with IFRS 8 
Operofing Segmenfs os the Group does not еот revenues from this equity holding. Going forword. Executive Management will include·Sedibelo within the Other 
operafing segment, with fhe disclosures in fhis note updofed accordingly. 
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Statement of Cash Flows 

Other 
Zambia Mozambique Corporate Faberge Other Total 

PGM 
s 

1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020 USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO 

Revenue 22,300 111 7,144 5,012 34,567 

Operating costs and cost of sales1 (25,348) (10,955 (11,925) (10,558) (5,823) (64,609) 
) 

Marketing, management and auction (2,788) 2,788 
costs 

ЕВІТDА (5,836) (10,955) (9,026) (3,414) (811) (30,042) 

Add back: Change in inventory 2,024 (12,269) 93 3,269 4,462 (2,421) 

Taxpaid (1,333) (13,642) (28) (15,003) 
Ca.eital ex.eenditure (899) (7,605) (10) (121) (8,635) 

Free cash flow before working 
capital movements (6,044) (44,471) (8,943) (266) 3,623 (56,101) 

Working capital movements2 11,105 25,546 1,851 (4,787) (6,415) 27,300 

Free cash flow 5,061 (18,925) (7,092) (5,053) (2,792) (28,801) 

Cash generated from/ (utilised in) 7,293 2,322 (7,082) (4,932) (2,764) (5,163) 

operationsTax paid (1,333) (13,642) (28) (15,003) 

Capital expenditure (899) (7,605) (10 (121 (8,635) 

Free cash flow 5,061 (18,925) (7,092) (5,053) (2,792) (28,801) 

І Excluding share-based payments. inventory impairmenls ond other provisions. 
2 lncludes f!10Vements relating to inventory purchases and excludes VAT refunds. 

Steel 

1 January2019 to Zambia Mozambique PGMs 
Making 
Material5 Corporate FaЬerge Other Total 

31 December 2019 USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO 

Revenue 78,965 121,524 815 10,517 4,412 216,233 
Opera ting costs and cost of sales 1 (50,621) (39,764) (29,172) (16,990) 1,206 (135,341) 
Marketing, management and 
auction costs (9,870) (15,069) 24,939 

ЕВІТDА 18,474 66,691 (3,418) (6,473) 5,618 80,892 

Add back: Change in inventory (8,437) (8,957) 1,018 7,307 (186) (9,~5) 

Тах paid (excluding WНТ) (1,939) (7,753) (9,692) 
Capital expenditure (4,330) (25,411) (1,104) (30,845) 
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Free cashflow before working 
capital movements 3,768 24,570 (2,400) 834 4,328 31,100 

Working capital movements2 361 (10,698) (6,140) (4,271) (4,509) (25,257) 

Free cash flow 4,129 13,872 (8,540) (3,437) (181) 5,843 

Cash generated from operations 10,398 47,036 (8,540) (3,437) 923 46,380 
Тах paid (excluding WНТ) (1,939) (7,753) (9,692) 
Capital expenditure (4,330) (25,411) (1,104) (30,845) 

Free cash flow 4,129 13,872 (8,540) (3,437) (181) 5,843 

1 Excluding shore-bosed payments and inventory impoirments. 
2 Jncludes movements relating to inventory purchoses ond excludes VAT refunds. 

4. COST OF SALES 

2020 2019 
USD'OOO USO'OOO 

Mining and production costs 
Labour and related costs 18,453 24,822 
Mineral royalties and production taxes 1,665 17,105 
Export duty on Zambian emeralds 12,440 
Fuel costs 4,207 13,236 
Repairs and maintenance costs 4,794 10,542 
Security costs 5,687 5,640 
Camp costs 2,З411 3,870 
ШasLiнg шsts 534 2,041 
Other mining and production costs1 2,776 9,415 

Total mining and production costs2 40,462 99,111 

Change in inventory and purchases (2,421) (9,255) 
Depreciation and amortisation 21,023 34,827 

59,064 124,683 
lncludes invenlory impoirmenl provisions of USDl.1 million (2019: USD6.2 million) related to Faberge /egacy inventory. 

2 lncludes unavpidable mining and production costs incurred during the temporory suspension of operations in 2020 that have not been capitalised to invenfory. 
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5. OTHER GAINS AND INCOME 

Realised fair value net gain on Jupiter disposals 
Dividend income from Jupiter 
Unrealised gains on other equity investments 
Other income 

Jupiter disposal 

2020 
USD'OOO • 

15 
183 

2019 
USD'OOO 

4,645 
2,582 

1,237 

198 8,464 

Оп 15 April 2019, the Group аппоuпсеd that it had eпtered іпtо а сопdіtіопаІ sale апd purchase agreemeпt with АМСІ 
Euro Holdiпgs Б.V. ("АМСІ"), pursuaпt to which Gemfields (through its wholly"owпed subsidiary, Palliпghurst 
Coпsolidated (Сауmап) Ltd ("PCCL")) agre~d to sell its 145,845,372 ordiпary shares іп ASX-listed Jupiter. This 
coпstituted the Compaпy's eпtire remaiпiпg holdiпg іп Jupiter. 

Cash coпsideratioп received for the Jupiter shares was AUD44.2 mіІІіоп. The Group also retaiпed its right to paymeпt of 
the AUD0.025 per share divideпd declared Ьу Jupiter оп 19 February 2019, which was paid оп 21Мау2019. Completioп 
of the traпsactioп took рІасе іп two stages, as follows: 

1. Оп З Juпe 2019, 72,922,686 of the Jupiter shares were sold for AUD22.l mіІІіоп (the "first traпche sales proceeds"); 
апd · 
2. Оп 28 November 2019, the remaiпiпg 72,922,686 of the Jupiter shares were sold for а further AUD22.l mіІІіоп (the 
"secoпd traпche sales proceeds"). 

Overall, а пеt realised fair value gаіп of USD4.6 mіІІіоп was realised оп completioп of the sale traпsactioп апd was 
calculated as showп іп the table below. 

Realised loss оп First Tranclie Sales Proceeds 

Agreed sale price of First Tranche of Jupiter shares (З June 2019) 
Fair value of FirstTranche of Jupiter shares (З June 2019) 

Realised fair value loss on disposal (first tranche) 

Realised gain оп Second Tranche Sales Proceeds 

Agreed sale price ол Second Tranche of Jupiter shares (28 November 
2019) 
Fair value of Second Tranche of Jupiter shares (28 November 2019) 

Realised fair value gain on disposal (second tranche) 

Net realised loss on disposal 

Other realised fair value movements 

Realised fair value net gain on Jupiter disposal 

37 

Number of shares 

72,922,686 
72,922,686 

72,922,686 

72,922,686 

Price per share 
USD 

0.21 
0.24 

0.21 

0.18 

gain/ (loss) 
USD'OOO 

15,390 
(17,758) 

(2,368) 

14,968 

(12,829) 

2,139 

(229) 

4,874 

4,645 
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Jupiter dividend income 
On 19 February 2019, Jupiter announced the details of а final unfranked dividend of AUD0.025 per share. The Group, as 
а 7.44% shareholder in Jupiter at the time, received а dividend of AUDЗ.6 million (USD2.6 million) on 21 Мау 2019. 
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6. SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 

Labour and related costs 
Selling, marketing and advertising 
Professional, Iegal and other expenses 
Rent and rates 
Share-based payments 
Travel and accommodation 
Auditor's remuneration 
Other impairments and write-offs 
Other selling, general and administrative expenses 

7. AUDIТOR'S REMUNERATION 

Fees payable to the Company's auditor for the audit of the Parent Company and 
Consolidated 
Financial Statements 
Fees рауаЬlе to the Company's auditor Jor other seruices: 
Review of the interim Financial Statements 
Audit of the UK statutory entities 
Statutory audit work completed for the overseas entities 
Advisory fees in respect to the Company's АІМ listing 
Other services 

.· 2020 
USD'OOO 

12,799 
4,987 
2,488 
1,598 

944 
658 
742 

76 
5,414 

29,706 

2020 
USD'OOO 

411 

94 
60 

127 
43 

7 

742 

2019 
USD'OOO 

15,753 
13,657 

7,940 
4,599 
1,693 
2,147 

880 
2,148 
7,956 

56,773 

2019 
USD'OOO 

403 

88 
59 

126 
202 

2 

880 
The Group has а роІісу in рІасе for the award of non-audit work to the auditor which requires audit committee approval 
(refer to the Audit Committee Report on pages 87-88). 

8. EMPLOYEES AND DIRECТORS 

Number of employees 2020 2019. 

Directors 7 7 
Administration staff 141 140 
Faberge staff 39 39 
Mining staff 2,377 2,186 

2,564 2,372 
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9. FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS 

2020 2019 
USD'OOO USD'OOO 

Interest received 419 787 

Finance income 419 787 

Interest on bank Ioans and borrowings (2,680) (3,126) 
Interest charge on lease liabilities (311) (302) 
Other finance costs (343) (656) 
Net forei~ exchange losses (2,882} (1,183} 

Finance costs (6,216) (5,267) 
Net finance costs (5,797) (4,480) 

10. TAXATION 

The Group's tax expense is as follows: 

2020 2019 
USD'OOO USD'OOO 

Cuпenttax 

Taxation charge for the year 2,447 24,561 

Deferred tax 
Origination and reversal of tem,eorary differences (8,422) 3,681 

Total taxation (credit)/charge (5,975) 28,242 

The reasons for the difference between the actual taxation charge for the year and the standard rates of corporation tax in Guernsey 
and the United Кingdom applied to profits for the year, are as follows: 

(Loss)/ profit on ordinary activities before taxation 
Taxation on ordinary activities at the standard rate of corporation tax in the United 
Кin~dom 
of19% (2019: 19%)1 

Effects of: 
Different tax rates applied in overseas jurisdictions 
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes2 

Under provision from previous periods 
Тах losses not recognised as а deferred tax asset 

Total taxation (credit)/charge 

• ""~· - ••'< -

. 2020 
USD'OOO 

(99,202) 

(18,848) 

(14,277) 
15,078 

888 
11,184 

(5,975) 

2019 
USD'OOO 

67,373 

9,971 

3,446 
390 

2,143 
12,292 

28,242 
І For 20 І 9. the weighfed overoge rote opplied is І 4.8% which hos Ьееп orrived at Ьу applying 0% for fhe period to March 2019 when the Сотрапу was Guernsey tax 
resident and 19% for the remainder of the year fol/owing the relocafion of tax residency to fhe ИК. · 
2 Non-deductible expenses primarily relate to mineral royalfies іп Zambia. fhe unrealised fair va/ue loss recognised іп respect of fhe Group 's investment in Sedibelo and 
impairment /osses recognised against the Faberge CGU. 

In Guernsey, the main rate of corporation tax for the year was 0%. The main rate of corporation tax in the United 
Кingdom was 19%. 
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The Group's effective tax rate of 6.0% arises as а result of not recognising аІІ of the available taxation losses across the 
Group and due to non-deductible expenses which arise in the UK entities. 

Different tax rates applied in overseas jurisdictions reflect the different tax rates аррІісаЬІе in the various jurisdictions 
in which the Group operates. The main rates of corporation tax in Zambia and Mozambique were 30% and 32%, 
respectively. . 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to аррІу to the period when the asset 
is realised, or the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted Ьу the end of the 
reporting period. 

Deferred tax 
Details of the deferred tax liabilities and assets, amounts recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement, and amounts 
recognised in Other Comprehensive lncome, are as follows: 

Recognised deferred tax assets 
Тах losses 
Property, plant and equipment 
Other temporary differences 
Foreign exchange movement 
Total deferred tax assets 
Deferred tax assets netted against deferred tax liabilities 
Total deferred tax assets 

Recognised deferred tax liabilities 
Evaluated mining property - Kagem and MRM 
Inventory valuation - Kagem and MRM 
Intangibles - Faberge 
Foreign exchange movement 
Total deferred tax liabilities 
Deferred tax assets netted against deferred tax liabilities 
Total deferred tax liabilities 

The movement on the deferred tax account is provided below. 

Atl January 
Adjusted for: 
Тах losses 
Property, plant and equipment 
Evaluated mining property- Kagem and MRM 
Inventory valuation - Kagem and MRM 
Intangibles - Faberge 
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2020 
USD'OOO 

11,144 
2,773 
3,224 

17,141 
(14,112) 

3,029 

2020 
USD'OOO 

(89,979) 
(4,902) 

1;533 

(93,348) 
14,112 

(79,236) 

2020 
USD'OOO 

(84,950) 

4,766 
887 

1,131 ' 
55 

.-10.L 

2019 
USD'OOO 

6,052 
1,886 
3,290 

155 
11,383 
(4,156) 

7,227 

2019 
USD'OOO 

(91,110) 
(4,957) 

(266) 

(96,333) 
4,156 

(92,177) 

2019 
USD'OOO 

(81,424) 

(3,846) 
1,257 

(1,785) 

56 



Unrealised foreign exchange movements 
Other temporary differences 

Recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement 
Realised foreign exchange movement 

At 31 December 

Atl January 
Adjusted for: 

Тах losses 

Property, plant and equipment 
Evaluated mining property - Kagem and MRM 

Inventory valuation - Kagem and MRM 

lntangibles - Faberge 

Unrealised foreign exchange movements 
Other temporary differences 

Recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement 

Realised foreign exchange movement 
At 31 December 
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1,383 
(66) 637 

8,422 (3,681) 
321 155 

(76,207) (84,950) 

2020 2019 
USD'OOO USD'OOO 

(84,950) (81,424) 

4,766 (3,846) 

887 1,257 
1,131 (1,785) 

55 
266. 56 

1,383 

(66) 637 
8,422 (3,681) 

321 155 
(76,207) (84,950) 

Deferred tax assets are only recognised in relation to tax losses and other temporary differences where it is considered 
probable that the losses will Ье utilised in the foreseeable future, and therefore that the asset is recoverable. The 
deferred tax liability in relation to evaluated mining property and inventory arose on the IFRS З Business combinations 
fair value uplift on acquisition of Gemfields Ьу the former Pallinghurst Resources Limited (now Gemfields Group 
Limited) in 2017. 

Management has reviewed the financial projections ofthe Group's operating entities and determined that there is 
evidence to support the recognition of the deferred tax asset at З 1 December 2020. The asset recognised is based on the 
value of the taxable profit which is reasonably expected to Ье generated over the next three years. 

Dие to uncertainty over the timing of the future utilisation of certain of the taxation losses, no deferred tax has been 
recognised in relation to unused tax losses in the amount of USD154.S million (2019: USD98.0 million). 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relating to the same tax authorities have been disclosed as а net asset or 
liability. 
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11. PROPERТY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Plant Fixtures, fittings Evaluate 
Land and dmining Deferre 
and machinery office propertie dstripping Total 
buildin and equipme costs 
gs vehicles nt 

USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO 

Cost 
Atl January 2019 24,621 36,755 5,875 349,278 11,623 428,152 
Additions 8,132 16,999 869 26,000 
Disposals (1,250) (860) (2,110) 
Foreign exchange differences 18 162 180 
At 31 December 2019 32,771 52,504 6,906 348,418 11,623 452,222 

Additions Disposals 1,525 3,612 1,236 618 6,991 
Foreign exchange differences -47 (ЗО) (1) (31) 

324 371 
At 31 December 2020 34,343 56,086 8,465 349,036 11,623 459,553 

Accumulated depreciation 
At 1 January 2019 1,116 11,501 2,956 45,963 1,602 63,138 
Provided during the year 2,987 12,664 1,633 17,038 312 34,634 

Disposals (1,120) (1,120) 

lmpairment reversals (21,559) (21,559) 

Foreign exchange differences 18 198 216 
'At 31December2019 4,121 23,045 4,787 41,442 1,914 75,309 

Provided durin~ the year 3,571 12,618 1,088 3,729 154 21,160 
Disposals -47 (24) -327 (24) 
Foreign exchange differences 374 
At 31 December 2020 7,739 35,639 6,202 45,171 2,068 96,819 

Carrying value 

At 31 December 2019 28,650 29,459 2,119 306,976 9,709 376,913 

Evaluated mining properties relate to mining licences held mainly at Kagem and MRM and the Group fair value 
adjustments from the 2017 acquisition. 

Deferred stripping costs relate to Kagem. 

Included within land and buildings are right-of-use assets with а cost of USDS.6 million (2019: USDS.4 million) and 
associated accumulated depreciation of USD2.3 million (2019: USDl.O million). Right-of-use assets mostly relate to 
property leases held in the Group's various operating \ocations. Refer to Note 19: Leases for further details. 

On 13 December 2019, the Government of the Republic of Zambia enacted into Jaw the indefinite suspension of the 15% 
export duty effective prospectively from 1January2020. As а result, the recoverable amount of the Kagem CGU was 
recalculated, leading to а USD21.6 million reversal of the previously recognised іmраігшенl at 31 December 2019. 
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FY20 lmpairment review of Kagem and MRM 
At 31December2020, the Group's market capitalisation based on the share price of ZARl.35 was USD107.7 million. 
This is USD375.3 million below the Group's net asset value (consistent with the previous years), which under IAS 36 
represents an impairment indicator: Whilst the Gemfields Group is not considered а cash-generating unit, the existence 
of this impairment indicator implies that an impairment indicator may also exist at one of the Group's CGUs. As а result, 
an impairment review has been performed on the mining CGUs at 31December2020. 

А primary factor when considering impairment is the impact of COVID-19 on both assets. 

MRM: 
• АІІ but critical operations at MRM were suspended from 22 April 2020 until March 2021, when the wash plant and sort 
house operations restarted, processing existing stockpiles. Full-scale mining operations are expected to begin in early 
April 2021. 
• MRM presently has sufficient inventory to support one mixed-quality ruby auction. А series of smaller auctions using 
this inventory is taking рІасе in March and April 2021. 
• АІІ significant capital expenditure projects, including the second ore treatment plant, remain postponed for the 
foreseeable future. 

КАGЕМ: 

• Principal operations at Kagem were suspended from ЗО March 2020, putting on hold а period of excellent premium 
emerald production. Given prevailing circumstances, principal operations were suspended until the wash plant 
restarted on 17 March 2021, with full-scale mining expected to start on 1 April 2021. 
• Kagem presently has sufficient inventory to support one higher-quality and one commercial-quality emerald auction. 
• АІІ significant capital expenditure projects remain postponed for the foreseeable future. 

А significant consideration was the impact of COVID-19 on the wider gemstone market and whether this would have 
had an impact on gemstone prices. А fall in emerald or ruby market prices would have а material impact on the 
recoverable values of the respective assets. In respect of emeralds, the market has been tested and demand generally 
remains strong. The robust prices achieved at Kagem's mini-auctions held in November and December 2020, along with 
feedback on competitor auctions held in February 2021, provide confidence in the downstream market. The results of 
the Kagem emerald mini-auction saw price increases for almost every grade with only four auction lots being held back, 
despite the size and nature of the auctions not necessarily being representative of an auction that would have taken 
рІасе under normal market conditions. Kagem's next series ofmini-auctions commenced in March 2021 and will run 
through to 17 April 2021. 

MRM is also running their inaugural series of mini-auctions from 15 March to 8 April 2021. With no significant quantity 
of rubies being offered to the market since the last MRM auction in December 2019, the Group is confident that these 
auctions will Ье а success. However, whilst significant market information is not available, there is а potential risk of 
short-term negative pricing for rough rubies. 

То determine the recoverable amount ofthe CGUs at 31December2020, the Group has used а discounted cash flow 
analysis. The calculation of the recoverable amount is particularly sensitive to gemstone prices, composition of the high­
quality emerald auctions, processing capacity at MRM and the discount rate used. Any changes to the assumptions 
adopted in the calculation of the recoverable amount, individually or in aggregate, would result in а different valuation 
being determined. The key assumptions and estimates are tabulated below. 
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Given the current market conditions, а sensitivity analysis was also performed to assess the impact of reasonably 
plausible changes in the critical judgements. The critical judgement applied has been to sensitise the auction prices 
achieved Ьу reducing the realised prices Ьу 30% for а period ofthree and five years. Following а review ofhistoric 
auction trends: 

• The average price per carat of emeralds has never fallen materially and, where prices have fallen, the depressed price 
did not last for more than one subsequent auction (approximately six months). This assessment includes the period 
during the liquidity crunch in India, following the fallout of demonetisation and the Nirav Modi scandal in 2017 /2018, 
following which prices subsequently rose. Furthermore, the mini-auctions in November and December 2020 saw strong 
demand and robust pricing with 24 out of 28 lots sold. 

• The average price per carat of rubies fluctuates more than for emeralds as а result of the product mix and а relatively 
short auction history. Since the first auction overall ruby revenues have increased substantially; however, there are 
some variations whereby higher prices per carat are realised as more premium-category rubies may Ье offered on an 
auction-by-auction basis. The specific auction mix and quality composition of the lots offered at each auction vary in 
characteristics such as size, colour and clarity on account ofvariations in mined production and market demand. 
Therefore, the results of each auction are not directly comparable. On an average quality-for-quality basis, however, the 
per carat prices demonstrate continuing strong demand and robust pricing. 

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Group is not expected to Ье long-term. The Directors believe that the 
longest period over which prices could Ье depressed, based on history, is less than а year; however, given the wider­
ranging reach of the pandemic it has been assessed that а period of three years could Ье plausible. Notwithstanding this, 
а period of five years has also been modelled to further stress-test the recoverable amounts of the CGUs. 

The price sensitivities reflect the fact that the Group is no more confident over the market than it was in June 2020 when 
the last review was performed. As such, the 30% sensitivity applied remains reasonable as nothing has happened that 
would imply the assumptions made in June 2020 were unreasonable or had changed. When the Kagem impairment 
reversal was recognised in December 2019, no price sensitivities were deemed necessary, which was supported Ьу 
historic pricing trends. The valuations are also highly sensitive to the discount rates used; consequently, these have also 
been risk-adjusted to reflect increased country risk that may Ье plausible. 

Price assumptions 

Base case 

30% price decrease, 3 years 
30% price decrease, 3 years 
30% price decrease, 5 years 
30% price decrease, 5 years 

Discount rate 

Base 
Risk-adjusted 
Base 
Risk-adjusted 

Kagem 
Headroom/(defi 
cit) 

USD millions 

74.3 

40.З 

14.8 
14.3 

(10.3) 

After applying th.e above sensitivities, the following conclusions were reached: 

MRM 
Headroom/ ( defi 

cit)USD 
millions 

170.9 
93.4 
73.0 
51.9 
32.7 

• Kagem's base case recoverable amount is calculated at USD270.3 million which exceeds its carrying value of USDl 96.0 
million. However, when the discount rate is sensitised and the fall in prices is extended for five years the headroom і~ 
reduced юн.І СІ tlt:!fkiency Іs forecast. 
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• In the event that the deficit noted above for Kagem is realised, the Group would look to review the life of mine plan 
including auction sizing and mix, production costs and other factors that would reduce it. Management notes, however, 
that in the absence of any clear indicators such а pronounced price reduction for а prolonged period is unlikely. 

• MRM's base case recoverable amount is calculated at USD413.0 million, which significantly exceeds its carrying value 
of USD242.1 million at 31 December 2020, such that under any of the stressed assumptions there is no deficit. 

As required Ьу JAS 36, the amount Ьу which the value assigned to а key assumption must change for headroom to Ье 
reduced to nil must also Ье identified: 

• Kagem's headroom is reduced to nil with а recoverable amount of USD196.0 million when а price reduction of 31 % is 
applied for а period of five years, or when а discount rate of 16.63% is applied to the base case cash flows. 

• MRM's headroom is reduced to nil when а price reduction of 43% is applied for а period of five years, or when а 
discount rateof 26:52% is applied to the base case cash flows. 

Additional key assumptions used in the recoverable amount calculations: 

ASSUMPТION КАGЕМ МRМ 

Recoverable Economically recoverable reserves and Economically recoverable reserves and 
amount of resourcesare based on management' s resourcesare based ол management' s 
reservesand expectations and thetechnical studies and expectations and thetechnical studies and 
resources exploration and evaluationwork exploration and evaluationwork 

undertaken Ьу in-house and third-party undertaken Ьу in-house and third-party 
specialists. specialists. 

Commodity prices Rough emerald and beryl prices have been Rough rubies and corundum prices have . , ,r.; ............. 1-h.-. Г::rn11n' с 1 
• i..~~~ 1 

• r.; ...... rr 4-h.-. С":rГ\1 ...,.І с 1 
• 

ASSUMPТION КАGЕМ MRM 

Compositio 
and ЗО auctions also reflecti~rically and 13 auctions. Rough rubies and 
Щрни!Ш'е'}:f rРШНн5~а>~§l. Шlterald l№инн.W#~r~~ЧВ~ ньrrmr&m#wpidьlic 

nof ти ~YJ.~~!ftlt~ryMtfcШ~H~tlt~~c ~~~~са (q wrb~~~8№1H&:urm 
auctions ~tiillgiё'YHUЧ:X&t~c'tМlfi.soccur in ~W\RH/t~ЇfcH~nd therefore historic 

~WШlf~!:Ь?:Вc%J-ЯtiвЧhlli>JldRf Bric ~a8loo~p~~~ff8ft~~~~lRi~dJl.~tffi~ 
ffiffiffiuor~9i~~&m:t~!9~tfie ffimtєactp\-fli~y efore each auction) 

tRB~F #.іtеам\ . 9~8ffiffifeaea1is. ~ша ?t2 ~&fBI&tSYJ?us year's 
"......... .І. • " " • 

, анu 11> . UH ~l) prouucпon. 

production; 
(іі) management strategy, і.е. building 
inventoryor cash generation; and (ііі) 
market intelligence. Any variations irt this 
composition are at the discretion of 
management and, given the continued 
improvement in the quality of production 
and the market strength, it is anticipated 
that over the near to medium term the 
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proportion of emerald production taken to 
high-quality auctions will increase. 

Operating costs Variable operating costs have Ьеел Variable operating costs have Ьеел 
included іл the impairmeлt test as а included in the impairmeлt test as а 
fuлctioл of the related productioл functioл of the related productioл 
volumes. Fixed costs at the miлes, washing volumes. Fixed costs at the mines, washing 
plaлt алd sort house are largely constant plaлt and sort house are largely coлstaлt 
but reflect material chaлges in activity but reflect material chaлges in activity 
levels. levels. 

Discouлt rate А real discouлt rate of 12.5% (лominal А real discouлt rate of 15.2% (лominal 
14.3%) was used in the recoverable 17.0%) was used іл the recoverable 
amouлt calculatioлs,which represeлts the amouлt calculatioлs,which represeлts the 
pre-tax rate that reflects theGroup's pre-tax rate that reflects theGroup's 
current market assessmeлts of the time curreлt market assessments of the time 
value of mолеу алd the risks specific to the value of mолеу алd the risks specific to the 
cash-geлerating unit. cash-geлerating unit. 

Seлsitised real discouлt rate of Seлsitised real discouлt rate of 
13.7% (лominal 15.5% ). 16.3%(лominal 18.1 %). 
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12. INTANGIBLE ASSEТS 

Indefinite Finite Unevaluat 
Software lifeintangible lifeintangible edmining Total 

assets assets' properties 
USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO 

Cost 
At 1 January 2019 293 39,942 496 12,221 52,952 
Additions 265 2,800 3,065 

At 31 Decernber 2019 558 39,942 496 15,021 56,017 
Additions 125 7,901 8,026 
Foreign exchange differences {12) (12) 
At 31 Decernber 2020 671 _39,942 496 22,922 64,031 
Accumulated amortisation 
At 1January2019 156 468 624 

Charge in the year 193 193 
At 31Decernber2019 349 468 817 
Charge in the 241 28 269 

year 11,50 11,500 

Impairrnent 1 о (16) 

charge 2 (28) 

Forei~ exchange differences 
At 31 December 2020 602 11,472 496 12,570 

І Finife life intangible assefs relafe fo fhe fair value assigned fo the Faberge customer list at acquisition, which had а carrying va/ue of USD Nil at З І December 2020. 

Uneval1.юted mining properties 
Unevaluated mining properties consist of intangibles relating to the mining and prospecting licences (evaluation and 
exploration assets) held in the new projects, mainly in Mozambique and Ethiopia. Assets are capitalised to unevaluated 
mining properties in accordance with the Group's exploration and evaluation accounting роІісу, which is disclosed in 
Note 2: Accounting po/icies. 

During 2020, control passed to Nairoto Resources Limitada over 12 gold-mining and prospecting licences in Northern 
Mozambique, where the objective is to conduct exploration and evaluation activities in these areas, alongside the 
company's partner, Mwiriti Ltda., in the coming years. The passing of control for these licences to Nairoto was treated as 
an asset acquisition, with an opening addition to unevaluated mining properties in the year of USD4.9 million. 

Unevaluated mining properties are reviewed regularly for indicators of impairment and are tested for impairment 
where these indicators exist, in line with the Group accounting роІісу. During 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic resulted in 
the Group pausing spending on non-critical operations, which includes development projects. The Group does not view 
this as an impairment indicator, however, as the suspension of activity is temporary, with activity at the projects 
planned to resume as soon as it is viable to do so. А full review of the Group's development projects сап Ье found on 
pages 40-41 in the Operational Review. 

lndefinite life intangible assets 
Indefinite Ше intangible assets consist of intangibles relating to the Faberge brand and trademarks. 
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Faberge Limited cash-generating unit - valuation and impairment assessment 
Іп accordaпce with IAS 38 Intangible assets, the Group assesses the carryiпg value of its Faberge CGU for impairmeпt оп 
ап аппuаІ basis. Faberge is а retailer of premium persoпal luxury goods ("PLGs") апd the Group applies а Market 
Approach-Reveпue Multiple method to the valuatioп of its recoverable amouпt. The Group eпgages ап iпdependeпt 
expert to complete an indepeпdent valuatioп report, using this methodology, at each reporting date. The indepeпdeпt 
report forms the primary source in determining the fair value (based оп а fair value less cost of disposal ("FVLCTD") of 
Faberge. 

In the first half of 2020, the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic was felt across the global есопоmу. The impact of the 
paпdemic, specifically on the PLG market, indicated that the Faberge CGU could Ье impaired іп Ііпе with IAS 36 
lmpairment guidaпce. Accordingly, at ЗО June 2020, managemeпt eпgaged the іпdерепdепt experts to update their 
valuation ofthe CGU. 

The report was prepared on the same basis as that prepared at 31 December 2019; however it coпcluded that the опІу 
practical market-based approach to value Faberge at ЗО Juпe 2020 was Ьу refereпce to enterprise value to revenue 
multiples ("EV /Reveпue") exhibited Ьу comparable companies ("CoCos"). Differeпt to the valuation performed at 31 
December 2019, the comparable traпsactions ("CoTraпs") multiple approach was поt considered as it was not possible 
to identify any suitable comparable traпsactioпs that had completed sіпсе the start of the COVID-19 paпdemic апd that 
would reflect curreпt market conditioпs апd iпvestor expectations. As а result, опІу the CoCos multiple approach was 
adopted in 2020. For this approach, the valuation report considered а peer group of well-established, globally 
recogпised PLG companies, with а focus оп those operating jewellery or timepiece brands. 

At 31December2020, the expert valuation was again updated with the applied assumptioпs Ьеіпg consisteпt with those 
described for the June 2020 report above. The Group believes that а reveпue multiple based on comparable companies 
remains the most appropriate method of valuing the Faberge CGU. 

The key judgemeпts, assumptions and iпputs are discussed іп more detail below. The fair value assessment completed 
of the Faberge CGU is determiпed to Ье Level 3 іп the fair value hierarchy (see Note lЗ: Jnvestments). 

Basis of revenue 
For the Зl December 2020 report, the followiпg metrics were used: 

1. Agreed sales over the last 12 months to December 2020 of USD8.9 mіІІіоп, which is determiпed to represeпt mostly 
post- COVID-19 impacted reveпues; апd 

2. А forward-looking approach using managemeпt's latest Board-approved budgeted sales for 2021 ofUSD12.1 mіІІіоп. 

For the ЗО June 2020 report, the impacts of COVID-19 were not fully knowп; therefore, the average аппuаІ agreed sales, 
based on the last 36 months from Jaпuary 2020 of USD12.3 mіІІіоп, were coпsidered to Ье the most reliable basis ofthe 
revenue multiple for FVLCD. Coпsistent with 2019, this metric was considered to span the largest period, Ье withiп а 
narrow range of reveпue bases uпder review, yet still present а more represeпtative estimate of future sales. 

Peer group 
The peer group of globally recogпised PLG companies selected to establish а comparable EV /Revenue multiple raпge 
considered the followiпg: 

• Faberge's greater heritage апd premium brand perceptioп compared to mапу braпds withiп the peer group; 
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• Faberge's comparatively small size апd less diversified braпd апd product portfolio; 
• Faberge's higher growth poteпtial compared to the larger апd more mature compaпies іп the peer group; апd 
• Faberge's last fiscal year reveпue апd ЕВІТDА margiп growth, which is пegative. 

Takiпg these factors іпtо accouпt, the juпe 2020 report coпsidered it reasoпable to аррІу а discouпt to the peer group 
average multiples апd selected ап EV /Reveпue multiple raпge of 2.5х-З.00х (mid-poiпt: 2.75х). 

For December 2020, а geпeral recovery іп multiples was observed, reflective of the market view ofbeiпg past the peak 
impact of COVID-19. !п the December report, therefore, the selected EV /Reveпue multiple raпge was З.Ох-4.5х. 

Control premium 
Multiples derived for comparable quoted compaпies are geпerally based оп share prices reflective of the trades of small 
parcels or shares. As such, they geпerally reflect а miпority discouпt. Both 2020 reports therefore applied а coпtrol 
premium raпge of 25%-З5% іп order to arrive at ап adjusted eпterprise value for the Faberge CGU. 

Discount for Lack of Marketability ("DLOM") 
Оп the basis that а reveпue multiple derived from the CoCos reflects trades of liquid parcels or shares, whereas the 
Faberge CGU is а private eпtity, the report coпsidered it appropriate to аррІу а DLOM. 

The report applies а DLOM raпge of 5%-10% takiпg іпtо coпsideratioп the followiпg factors: 

• The Group has received sev'eral purchase offers for Faberge; 
• Giveп the well-established апd globally recogпised heritage of the Faberge braпd, it may Ье coпsidered а "trophy 
asset" Ьу poteпtial iпvestors; апd 
• Quaпtitative aпalysis usiпg the Ghaidarov Average-Strike Put Орtіоп model. 

lllustrative costs of disposal 
Giveп the пumber of acquisitioп offers received Ьу the Group for Faberge sіпсе it was acquired іп 201З апd the high­
profile пature of the Faberge braпd, the іпdерепdепt third party coпsiders it likely that а пу poteпtial sale of the 
busiпess would iпvolve relatively miпimal marketiпg апd related costs. As such, the report coпsidered ап appropriate 
illustrative cost of disposal of 1 % of eпterprise value, which is the mid-poiпt of disposal costs of betweeп 0.5% апd 1.5% 
of similar traпsactioпs observed. 

Surplus inventory 
Withiп iпveпtory of USDЗЗ.4 mіІІіоп at З 1 December 2020 (ЗО juпe 2020: USDЗl.4 mіІІіоп; 2019: USDЗ0.7 mіІІіоп), 
Faberge carries а high level of "showpiece" assets which сап Ье summarised as art-jewellery апd ехсерtіопаІ gemstoпes, 
showcasiпg the highest possible level of desigп, craftsmaпship апd quality associated with the braпd. These assets are 
поt required for the operatioпs of the CGU апd сап Ье coпsidered as surplus assets. This surplus amouпt aggregates to 
USD2З.4 mіІІіоп (ЗО juпe 2020: USD2З.7 mіІІіоп; 2019: USD2З.4 mіІІіоп) with the remaiпder regarded as operatioпal 
iпveпtory, required to support аппuаІ sales. 

This surplus iпveпtory amouпt is added back to the calculated eпterprise value after adjustmeпt for coпtrol premium 
апd DLOM to arrive at the total eпterprise value of the Faberge CGU. 

Valuation results 
At ЗО juпe 2020, based оп the average аппuаІ agreed sales over the last Зб-mопth reveпue metric апd takiпg ап average 
ofthe CoCos EV /Reveпue valuatioп results, the Directors coпcluded the FVLCTD ofthe Faberge CGU to Ье USDбЗ.8 
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million. This determined recoverable amount was lower that the carrying value of the CGU Ьу USDll.S million. As such, 
an impairment charge was recognised at ЗО June 2020. 

As the inventory at Faberge is supported Ьу its NRV, the full impairment charge was recognised against the related 
intangible assets. 

At Зl December 2020, the results of the revenue multiple approach using the scenarios outlined above and the average 
ofthe CoCos EV /Revenue valuation results concluded an average recoverable amount for the Faberge CGU ofUSD69.9 
million. The updated valuation implies а headroom above the current carrying value of the asset ofUSD9.8 million. А 
summary of the results at Зl December 2020 is shown in the table below. 

The Directors considered whether, on the basis of the results of the assessment completed at З 1 December 2020, а 
portion of the impairment made at ЗО June 2020 should Ье reversed. It was concluded, however, that whilst high 
uncertainties exist around the impact of COVID-19 on future revenues from the CGU, the criteria for the reversal of an 
impairment are not met. 

Looking forward, revenues from Faberge should continue to improve into 2021 as the COVID-19 restrictions ease and 
become more predictable, and as the Group adapts to these new market conditions. Ifthese factors translate into а 
sustained or increased assessment of the fair value of the CGU, then an impairment reversal will Ье duly considered. 
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Summary of results - mid-point values 

FVLCD (at an EV level, including surplus inventory) 
CoCos EV /Rev - LTM December 2020 (sales agreed) 
CoCos EV /Rev - FY21 latest revenue budget 

Average 

Headroomf(impairment) 
CoCos EV /Rev - LTM December 2020 (sales agreed) 
CoCos EV /Rev - FY21 latest revenue budget 

Average 

31 December 
2020USD 

millions 

69.1 
70.7 

69.9 

9.0 
10.6 

9.8 

Information on each of the Group's investments is provided below. This disclosure is intended to ensure that users of 
the Financial Statements understand how each investment has been valued, and the risks associated with each 
investment valuation. In addition, the disclosure meets certain requirements related to the Group's JSE listing. 

The reconciliation of the investment valuations from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020 is as follows: 

Balance 
Balance Unrealis Realise 31 at 

1 atJanuary fai edvalue fai d value Disposal Decembe 
2020 losses r gains s r 

USD'OOO USD'OOO "USD'OOO USD'OOO 2020 
USD'OOO 

Unlisted equihJ inveshne11ts 
Sedibelo Platinum Mines1 57,500 (27,900} 29,600 
Total 57,500 (27,900) 29,600 

І The unrealised Іаіг value loss оп Sedibelo оІ USD27. 9 million did по/ include any foreign exchange. as the valuation is denominated in USD. 

The reconciliation ofthe investment valuations from 1 January 2019 to 31December2019 is as follows: 
Balance 

ВаІалсе Unrealise Realise at31 
atl January dfair value dfair value Disposals December 
2019 gains gains 2019 

USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO 

Listed equity i11veshne11ts 
Jupiter1 25,714 4,645 (30,359} 

25,714 4,645 (30,359) 
Unlisted equihj inveshnents 
Sedibelo Platinum Mines2 50,447 7,053 57,500 

50,447 7,053 57,500 

Total 76,161 7,053 4,645 (30,359) 57,500 
І The net realised fair va/ue gain оІ USD4.6 million comprised а realised Іаіг va/ue gain оп Jupiter оІ USD4. 9 million (inclusive оІ а realised foreign exchange loss оІ 
USD І.О million} and а realised loss оп disposal оІ USD0.23 million (see Nole 5: Other gains and income. Іог further breakdown}. The Group received а total amount оІ 
AUD44.2 тіІІіоп (ог USDЗ0.4 mil/ion} іп cash as consideration for the Jupiter shares it owned. 
2 The unrealised Іаіг value gain оп Sedibelo оІ USD7. I тіІІіоп did not include any foreign exchange, as the valuation is denominated in USD. 
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Sedibelo Platinum Mines Limited ("Sedibelo" .ог "SPM") - equity 
Nature of investment 
The Group holds а 6.54% equity interest in SPM, а producer of Platinum Group Metals ("PGMs") with interests in the 
Bushveld Complex in South Africa. 

Date of valuation 
З 1 December 2020 

Fair value methodology 
Market Comparables applying Directors' estimate. 

The Directors have, based on the approach below, estimated that the value of SPM is USD453.0 million at З 1 December 
2020; the Group's indirect 6.54% interest has therefore been valued at USD29.6 million. 

The Directors have applied а Market Approach to the valuation of SPM. The reduction in fair value arises most notably 
from judgement applied to the discount for lack of marketability and from the inclusion of financial related metrics that 
have been considered to Ье appropriate this year. 

The primary source in determining the valuation ofSPM at 31December2020 is а valuation report, prepared Ьу an 
independent third party. The independent valuation report includes а range ofvaluations from which the Directors have 
applied judgement to assess the value accounted. 

The report concluded that the only practical market-based approach is to value the Group's investment in SPM Ьу 
reference to the key market multiples exhibited Ьу reference to the pricing of publicly listed PGM companies. The report 
considered а peer group comprising Anglo Platinum, lmpala Platinum, Tharisa, Sibanye Stillwater, Northam Platinum 
("Northam") and Royal Bafokeng Platinum ("RBP"). The valuer deemed that RBP, Northam and Tharisa are the closest 
comparables to SPM with respect to their resource size and financial performance, although аІІ three companies report 
better profitability at prevailing metal prices. Furthermore, production and revenue at both RBP and Northam are 
materially higher than at SPM. When comparing the valuation of SPM's peer group, the report considered the most 
suitable measures to Ье Enterprise Value per (і) mineral resource ounce, (іі) mineral reserve ounce, (ііі) production 
ounce, (iv) Last Twelve Months ("LTM") revenue, (v) Next Twelve Months ("NTM") revenue, (vi) LTM ЕВІТDА 
and (vii) NTM ЕВІТDА. 

SPM's strategy over recent years has been on optimising operating efficiencies, minimising production costs and cash 
preservation. SPM's financial multiples had previously been disregarded Ьу the Group's valuer in their valuation 
estimates at both З 1 December 2019 and ЗО june 2020 as the financial numbers published Ьу SPM were not considered 
suitable for various reasons including, for example, that SPM's operating and net incomes were negative. The 
independent valuer assessed SPM's current disclosed financial performance which demonstrates that it now lies in an 
appropriate range to SPM's peer group for financial multiples to Ье included as part of the valuation approach. 

The valuer used the available information reported Ьу SPM in its September 2020 MD&A reporting and from SPM's 
most recent mineral resources and reserves report (December 2016), and determined that the attributable PGM 
resource of SPM at 31December2020 would most likely Ье с.87 million ounces and the attributable PGM reserve of 
SPM would most likely Ье с.14 million ounces, at the same date. The independent valuation report worked on the 
assumption that production at SPM will remain in the 120k ounces per annum range in the near term. The report 
further worked оп the assumption that (і) SPM's 2020 revenue and ЕВІТDА would Ье in the USD231 million and USDSO 
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million range, respectively, and (іі) that SPM's 2021 revenue and ЕВІТDА would Ье in the USD333 million and USD112 
million range, respectively. 

Sedibelo Platinum Mines Limited ("Sedibelo" or "SPM") - equity 
Fair value methodology 
The report concluded that the average multiple of Enterprise Values across SPM's peer group over their: СО mineral 
resource ounce, (іі) mineral reserve ounce, (ііі) production ounce, (iv) LTM revenue, (v) NTM revenue, (vi) LTM ЕВІТDА 
and (vii) NTM ЕВІТDА, suggest respective multiples of (і) USDlO/oz, (іі) USD75/oz, (ііі) USD4,500/oz, (iv) 2.5х, (v) 1.Sx, 
(vi) 8.Sx and (vii) 3.Sx. Each multiple arrives at an implied valuation of SPM within а range of USD391 million-USDl,020 
million, with а mid-point ofUSD706 million. The report has applied weightings to each multiple which give 
consideration to an array of factors, including but not limited to the following (а) the degree of COVID-19-related 
disruption on LTM production, revenue and ЕВІТDА, (Ь) the increase in spot platinum and rhodium prices and 
attendant impact on SPM relative to its peer group, (с) the lack of specific forward guidance provided Ьу SPM, and (d) 
SPM's materially longer reserve life relative to its peer group. The valuer concluded that factors (с) and (d) support 
lower weightings assigned to the values derived from the NTM revenue, NTM ЕВІТDА, reserve ounce and resource 
ounce multiples. After applying each weighting to each multiple valuation, an overall implied valuation of SPM of 
USD559 million was calculated. The Group's indirect 6.54% interest would Ье valued at USD36.5 million on this basis. 

The report acknowledged that SPM is а public, unlisted company and that it would Ье more difficult for the Group to sell 
its effective 6.54% interest in SPM, than if SPM were а public listed company which traded in an established market. 
Furthermore, the Group's interest in SPM is held via а Luxembourg holding entity, Pallinghurst Ivy Lane Capital S.ar.1. 
which creates further complications in realising the asset. The valuer has therefore applied а discount for the \ack of 
marketability ("DLOM") Ьу using the Finnerty mode\, а widely used valuation discount method. The Finnerty model uses 
key inputs and assumptions such as the expected holding period of the asset, the trading volatility of the asset's peer 
group and the expected dividends from the asset. The Finnerty model arrived at а DLOM of 20% to Ье applied 
to the valuation. 

After allowance of SPM's net cash of USD8.2 million, the multiples lead to а value of SPM (100% basis), on an Enterprise 
Value basis, of USD567 million, with the Group's 6.54% inte.rest valued at USD37.1 million. After applying а 20% DLOM 
discount, SPM's fair value decreases to USD453 million with the Group's 6.54% interest valued at USD29.6 million, 
resulting in а USD27.9 million fair value loss for the year. 

For the purposes of а direct comparison, if the same valuation methodology that was applied Ьу the independent third 
party at 31December2019 (as disc\osed in the 2019 Annual Report), was updated as at 31December2020, the implied 
valuation of Sedibelo (100% basis) would Ье in а range of USD800 million-USDl,100 million. The Group's 6.54% 
interest would Ье valued in the range of USD52 million-USD72 million, with а mid-point valuation of USD62 million. 

Sedibelo Platinum Mines Limited ("Sedibelo" or "SPM") - equity 
Fair value methodology 
For the purposes of the disclosures required Ьу IFRS 13, the Directors have performed а test of the reasonableness to 
the selected weightings of each multiple applied. The fol\owing sensitivity analysis on varying alternative weightings is 
disclosed: 
(і) If equal weightings were applied to аІ\ seven metrics (і.е. а 14.3% weighting per multiple), with аІ\ other indicators 
and evidence unchanged, the independent valuation report's assessment of the valuation would change from USD29.6 
million to USD32.7 million. The related fair value increase of USD3.l million would Ье recognised in profit and loss. 
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(іі) If no weighting was applied to the mineral resource and mineral reserve multiples, with the remaining multiples re­
weighted equally, the independent valuation report's assessment of the valuation would change from USD29.6 million to 
USD25.9 million. The related fair value decrease of USDЗ. 7 million would Ье recognised in profit and loss. 
(ііі) If no weighting was applied to the mineral resource, mineral reserve, NTM revenue and NTM EBIТDAmultiples, 
with the remaining multiples re-weighted equally, the independent valuation report's assessment of the valuation 
would change from USD29.6 million to USD27.3 million. The related fair value decrease of USD2.3 million would Ье 
recognised in profit and loss. 

Jupiter Mines Limited ("Jupiter") - equity (up to 28 November 2019) 
Nature of investment 
The Group held an equity interest in Jupiter up to 28 November 2019. Jupiter is based in Perth, Western Australia; and 
its main asset is а 49.9% interest in the Tshipi manganese joint venture in South Africa. The Group completed its 
transaction to sell its remaining stake in Jupiter to а third party at an agreed price of AUD0.21 per share on 28 
November 2019. 

The Group held а balance of nil Jupiter shares at З 1 December 2019 and З 1 December 2020. 

Last date of valuation 
28 November 2019 
Fair value methodology 
Market Approach - Listed Share Price. 
The Group's interest in Jupiter was last valued on 28 Novemb~r 2019 at the mid-price of AUD0.26 per share, translated 
at the closing rate of USD/AUDl.4780 on 28 November 2019. 

55 



Gemfields Group Limited Annual Report for year ended 31 December 2020 

Fair value hierarchy 
IFRS 13 requires disclosure of fair value measuremeпts uпder the followiпg hierarchy: 

Level Fair value input description 
Level 1 Listed prices (uпadjusted) іп active markets for ideпtical assets or liabilities 
Level 2 lпputs other thaп listed prices iпcluded withiп Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly (that is, asprices) or iпdirectly (that is, derived from prices) 
Level 3 Iпputs for the asset or liability that are поt based оп observable market data (that is, uпobservable iпputs) 

The iпvestmeпt іп Jupiter up to the Group's divestmeпt оп 28 November 2019 was deemed to Ье Level 1 uпder the fair 
value hierarchy. 

The iпvestmeпt іп Sedibelo, measured at fair value through profit or loss, has Ьееп deemed to Ье Level 3 uпder the fair 
value hierarchy, based оп the valuatioп method used. 

14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

2020 2019 

Current Non-current Total Curren Non- Total 
USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO t current USD'OOO 

USD'OOO USD'OOO 

Equity investments 1,309 1,309 1,455 1,455 

Financial assets held at fair value through 
1,309 1,309 1,455 1,455 

Erofit and Ioss 
Trade and other receivables 13,549 13,549 62,544 62,544 
Related party receivables 3,674 3,000 6,674 6,100 3,000 9,100 
Loan receivable 700 700 700 700 
Other receivahlf>s 742 742 
Financial assets held at amortised cost 18,665 3,000 21,665 68,644 3,700 72,344 

V АТ receivable1 7,391 6,356 13,747 13,313. 5,324 18;637 
Prepayments 6,445 6,445 4,533 4,533 
Other receivables 406 438 844 1,352 80 1,432 

Total trade and other receivables 32,907 11,103 44,010 87,842 10,559 98,401 
І Non-current VAT receivoble relotes to amounts owed to MRM, whose co//ection is expected more than І 2 months from the ЬаІапсе sheet date. 

Financial assets held at amortised cost 
Trade receivables of USD13.S mіІІіоп at 31December2020 (2019: USD62.S mіІІіоп) primarily relate to Kagem auction 
receivables of USD7.9 million from the five Kagem emerald mini-auctioпs held in November and December 2020 апd 
amounts due to Faberge of USD4.1 million. At the date of these financial statements, the full USD7.9 million Kagem 
auction receivable had Ьееп collected. 

The Group assesses the recoverability of its auctioп receivables based оп the simplified approach within IFRS 9, which 
uses а provision matrix to determine the lifetime expected credit losses. Auctioп receivables are writteп off where there 
is по reasonable expectation of recovery, which includes, amongst other specified criteria, а failure to make coпtractual 
payments for а period of greater thaп 120 days past due. 
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In early 2020, one of the December 2019 ruby auction customers defaulted on their payment, resulting in а breach of 
contract, with the goods being returned to MRM and the outstanding receivable balance of USD2.6 million being written 
off. This is the first time in the Group's history that а customer has defaulted on payment, and management believes this 
event to Ье а one-off. The Group maintains а strict due diligence process when inviting new customers to partake in its 
gemstone auctions and the majority of customers have а longstanding relationship with the Group. The total amount 
defaulted represented 1.3% of 2019 auction revenues. Jn December 2020, the Group sold the goods from this defaulted 
auction package to а different customer for the same price. At 31December2020, а receivable ofUSDl.O million 
remained outstanding in relation to this sale and as at the date ofthese Financial Statements, the full balance had been 
paid. 

Management assessed the impact of this default on the Group's expected lifetime credit Joss rate over а Jook-back period 
of 36 months and determined it to Ье immaterial to the Consolidated Financial Statements. No impairment provision 
was recorded against auction receivables at 31 December 2020 . 

. The majority of the Group's non-auction receivables are held Ьу Faberge. Faberge's business is based on longstanding 
relationships with а selection of key wholesale customers, with whom emphasis is placed on building partnerships. 
There is no past history of customer default with these customers. These receivables are assessed for impairment under 
JFRS 9 on а customer-by-customer basis, taking into consideration the customer's past payment history, Faberge's 
relationship with the customer and any other customer-specific factors determined to Ье appropriate to the assessment. 
For 2020, the impact of COVID-19 during both the current year and 2021 has also been considered. Based on the 
detailed assessment completed, management determined the credit risk ofthese customers to Ье low, with the expected 
credit loss concluded to Ье immaterial to the Consolidated Financial Statements. As such, no impairment provision 
was recorded against Faberge's trade receivables at 31 December 2020. 

Refer to Note 24: Financial instruments for further discussion on credit risk. 

Related party receivable 
At 31 December 2020, the Group had а USDб.7 million related party receivable due from Mwiriti Ltda ("Mwiriti"), the 
Group's partner in MRM and in Nairoto Resources Limitada ("Nairoto"). Ofthe total amount, USD3.7 million (2019: 
USDS.1 million) ofthe current receivable relates to MRM and will Ье recovered from future dividends paid out Ьу MRM. 

The remaining balance ofUSD3.0 million (2019: USD4.0 million) relates to Nairoto. Nairoto has been set up with the 
objective of developing 12 gold-mining Jicences in Northern Mozambique. The balance represents an advance made to 
Mwiriti, which has no fixed terms of repayment. lt is expected that this receivable will Ье recovered through future 
dividends paid out once the viability of the project has been confirmed. The Group also held an outstanding non-current 
рауаЬІе of USDS.O million to Mwiriti in respect of the Nairoto project at 31 December 2020. As such, the Group's credit 
exposure to Mwiriti at 31December2020 in relation to Nairoto was determined to Ье immaterial. 

The Joan receivable of USD0.7 million held at 31 December 2020 is shown net of а provision of USDl.4 million (2019: 
USDl.4 million). The provision made in the prior year wrote the receivable down to its fair value based on contractual 
agreements in рІасе. The Group expects the full receivable to Ье settled in 2021. 

Other receivables are short-term in nature and have low credit risk associated to them, no loss allowance has therefore 
been recorded against this balance in the period. 

Other receivables 
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VAT receivables, prepayments and other receivables are not financial assets. If collection of amounts is expected in one 
year or less, they are classified as current assets. 

All carrying amounts of other receivables approximate their fair value. 

15. INVENTORY 

Rough inventory - emeralds and beryl 
Rough inventory - rubies and corundum 
Cut and polished gemstones 
Faberge inventory 
Spares and consumables 

- - 2020; 
USD'OOO, 

39,290 
31,639 І 

5,616 
33,413 

7,881 
117,839 

2019 
USD'OOO 

45,525 
22,277 

5,409 
30,743 

6,740 
110,694 

The total provision made against inventory at 31 December 2020 was USD8.6 million (2019: USDS.l million). 

At 31 December 2620, USD0.8 million of the rough inventory was carried at net realisable value (2019: USDl.3 million). 
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16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

2020 2019 

Cuпen Non- Total Curre Non- Tota 
t cuпent USD'OO nt current І 

USD'OO USD'OO о USD'OO USD'OO USD'OOO 
о о о о 

Trade payables 4,172 4,172 6,885 6,885 
Accrued expenses 5,695 5,695 12,393 12,393 
Payroll and employee-related payables 1,413 1,413 3,928 3,928 
Related party payables 5,000 5,000 
Other taxes, including mineral royalty and 
production taxes 1,314 1,314 5,548 5,548 
Other Eayables 4,709 4,709 1,096 1,096 
Total trade and other payables 17,303 5,000 22,303 29,850 29,850 

Trade payables are unsecured and are usually paid within ЗО days of recognition. The carrying amounts oftrade and 
other payables are considered to Ье the same as their fair values, due to their short-term nature. 

The related party рауаЬІе is due to the Group's partner in Nairoto, Mwiriti Ltda, in relation to operating and capital 
expenses incurred on behalf of Nairoto before control of the 12 mining licences passed to the Group. 

17. BORROWINGS 

Interest rate Maturity 

Non-current interest-bearing Ioans and borrowings 

ABSA Zambia USD20 million term loan USD LIВOR + 5.50% 2024 
ABSA Zambia USDlO million revolving credit facility USD LIВOR + 5.50% 

2022 

Current interest-bearing Ioans and borrowings 

ABSA Zambia USD20 million term loan 
ABSA Mozambique USD15 million overdraft 
facility 
ВСР USD15 million overdraft facility 

Total current and non-current borrowings 
І ВСІ - Bonco Comercial Е De lnvestimentos, S.A. 

Interest rate 

USD LIВOR + 5.50% 
USD LIВOR + 4.00% 

USD LIВOR + 3.75% 

Cash and non-cash movements in borrowings and leases are shown below: 

At , 
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Maturity 

2021 
2021 

2021 

Movement 
between 

2020 2019 
USD'OOO USD'OOO 

13,500 18,000 
10,000 10,000 

23,500 28,000 
2020 2019 

USD'OOO USD'OOO 

4,500 2,000 
14,184 12,875 

14,321 9,952 

33,005 24,827 

56,505 52,827 

At 



Gemfields Group Limited Annuol Report for yeor ended 31 December 2020 

1 January Cash Rёpiiyment current and • з1 оесеїnьег 
2020 ' inflows of Ьoпowings Interest paid non<uпent · lnterest charge 2020 

USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO І USD'OOO 

Current borrowings 24,827 41,226 (37,548) (2,680) 4,500 2,680 33,005 
Non-current borrowings 28,000 (4,500) 23,500 

52,827 41,226 (37,548) (2,680) 2,680 56,505 
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ABSA Zambia 
In August 2019, Kagem entered into а USD20 million term loan facility with ABSA Zambia (formerly Barclays Bank 
Zambia ріс). The facility bears interest at а rate of three-month USD LIВOR plus 5.50%. The facility is repayable over 60 
months after the date of the first drawdown of the facility, with the first repayment of USD2.0 million being made during 
2020. At 31December2020, USD18.0 million was fully drawn, with USD4.S million being repayable in December 2021. 

In 2019, Kagem also entered into а USDlO million revolving credit facility with ABSA Zambia which bears interest at а 
rate ofthree-month USD LIВOR plus 5.50% and is repayable after 36 months from the date of the first drawdown ofthe 
facility (there is an option to extend the facility for а further 24 months upon agreement Ьу both parties). At 31 
December 2020, USDlO million was fully drawn. 

At 31December2020, Kagem had USD28.0 million outstanding with ABSA Zambia, with security comprising а fixed and 
tloating charge over аІІ of Kagem's net assets, equivalent to the total amount outstanding under the facility and а 
corporate guarantee from Gemfields Group Limited. 

The facilities are subject to the following financial covenants, for which the next measurement period is 31 December 
2021: 
• Senior Debt Service Cover Ratio shall not fall below 1.2 times; 
• Interest Service Cover Ratio shall not fall below 2.5 times; and 
• Senior Net Debt/EBIТDA shall not exceed 2.5 times. 

Kagem received а waiver of аІІ financial covenants contained within the ABSA Zambia loan agreements for the 31 
December 2020 measurement period, such that the facilities remained in full force and effect at 31December2020. 

ABSA Mozambique 
In April 2016, MRM entered into а USD15.0 million unsecured overdraft facility with ABSA Mozambique S.A. (formerly 
Barclays Bank Mozambique S.A.). This is а rolling facility which renews annually each December, provided that terms 
and conditions are met, and attracts interest of three-month USD LIВOR plus 4% per annum. The outstanding balance as 
at 31December2020 was USD14.2 million (2019: USD12.9 million). Gemfields Limited issued а corporate guarantee for 
the facility. 

Banco Comercial Е De lnvestimentos ("ВСІ") 
In June 2016, MRM entered into а USDlS.O million unsecured overdraft facility with ВСІ. This is а rolling facility which 
renews annually each September, provided that terms and conditions are met, and attracts interest of three-month USD 
LIВOR plus 3.75% per annum. At 31December2020, USD14.3 million (2019: USDlO.O million) was outstanding. The 
facility is secured Ьу а blank promissory note undertaken Ьу MRM and а corporate guarantee Ьу Gemfields Mauritius 
Limited, а 100% subsidiary ofthe Group. 

The proceeds of the facilities from ABSA Mozambique S.A. and ВСІ facilitate MRM in financing its capital expenditure 
requirements for the Montepuez ruby deposit in Mozambique and provide additional working capital. 

18. PROVISIONS 

restoration provision 
USD'OOO 

Action Plan 
USD'OOO 

Other provisions 
USD'OOO 

Total 
IJSl)'IJIJIJ 

------------------~------··-·-··-····"--~~--------------

At 1January2019 
Additions during the year 
Utilised during the year 
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2,852 

(1,482) 

7,552 

(4,596) 

3,045 
2,052 

13,449 
2,052 

(6,078) 
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At 31 December 2019 1,370 2,956 5,097 9,423 

Additions during the year 606 563 1,169 
Utilised during the year (1,802) (847) (2,649) 
Change in estimates (312) (312) 
At 31 December 2020 1,976 1,154 4,501 7,631 

Ofwhich: 
Non-current 1,976 1,637 3,613 
Current 1,154 2,864 4,018 

Environmental restoration 
The Group has an obligation to undertake restoration, rehabilitation and environmental work when environmental 
disturbance is caused Ьу the development or ongoing production of а mining property. А provision is recognised for the 
present value of such costs, based on management's best estimate of the legal and constructive obligations incurred. 
These estimates reflect industry best practice and currently аррІісаЬІе legislation. Significant changes in legislation 
could result in changes in provisions recognised. It is anticipated that these costs will Ье incurred over а period in excess 
of 20 years on average. 

Resettlement Action Plan 
The Group has an obligation to compensate the households and other land users who are physically or economically 
displaced Ьу the proposed mining in its concession area, in accordance with ІосаІ legislative requirements. А provision 
is recognised for the present value of such costs, based on management's best estimate of the obligations incurred. 

Other provisions 
Other provisions primarily consist of future legal claims and end-of-contract gratuity benefits for mining staff. End-of 
contract benefits are рауаЬІе in more than one year's time for some ofthe Group's employees who are on fixed-term 
contracts and are calculated based on the legal and contractual benefits. Provisions for future legal claims relate to the 
estimated costs that the Group expects to incur relating to past events, and are recorded where it has been determined 
that it is probable that an outflow of resources will Ье required to settle the claim, or where it is uncertain whether any 
action Ьу а third party would Ье successful. Provisions are assessed on а case-by-case basis. 

19. LEASES 
The balance sheet contains the following amounts related to leases: 
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А. Right-of-use assets 

At 1 January 2020 
Cost 

Accumulated depreciation 
Carrying value at 1 January 

Year ended 31 December 2020 
Additions in year 

Depreciation 
foreign exchange movements 

Closing net book amount 

At 31 December 2020 

Right-of-use assets 
USD 'ООО 

5,399 
(1,011) 

4,388 

219 
(1,252) 

1 
3,356 



Cost 
Accumulated depreciation 

Carrying value at 31 December 

Gemfields Group Limited Annual Report for year ended 31 December 2020 

5,618 
(2,262) 

3,356 

Right-of-use assets held at З 1 December 2020 predominantly related to property leases in the Group's various operating 
locations and are presented within the land and buildings asset category in property, plant and equipment. Refer to 
Note 11. 

В. Lease liabilities 

2020 2019 
USD'OOO USD'OOO 

Atl January 2020 4,651 
IFRS 16 transition adjustment 2,627 
Additions 222 2,418 

І 

Cash payments of principle (1,511) . (696) 
Interest charged to finance costs 311 ! 302 
Foreign exchange movements 72 
At 31 December 2020 3,745 4,651 

Ofwhich: 
Current 909 1,081 
Non-current 2,836 3,570 

3,745 4,651 

20. SHARE CAPITAL 
Shares issued are recognised at the fair value of consideration received; with the excess over the nominal value ofthe 
shares credited to share premium. Costs directly attributable to а share issue are deducted from share premium rather 
than being included in profit or loss. When shares are cancelled, the excess over the nominal value of the shares is 
debited to share premium. 

The Company has issued Ordinary Shares and Management Shares. Ordinary Shares entitle the holder to а vote in 
shareholder meetings and to receive dividends. In the event of the Company's wind-up, Management Shares carry the 
right to receive notice of, attend and vote at any general meeting of the Company, provided that no Ordinary Shares are 
in issue at such date. Holders of the Management Shares will only receive their nominal value once the holders of the 
Ordinary Shares have received the fair value of their shares. Accordingly, the holders of Management Shares do not have 
the right to receive or participate in any distributions of the Company, including dividends. 

As per the Company's Memorandum of Incorporation and subject to the JSE Listings Requirements and the АІМ Rules 
for Companies, for the Company to issue additional shares for cash, the Company must obtain shareholder approval via 
а Special Resolution. As at the balance sheet date, the Company does not have the authority to issue additional shares 
for cash and therefore the Company's authorised share capital is displayed below. 
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Issued and fully paid share capital: 

Management Shares (unlisted) 
Management Shares of USDl each 
Balance at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 

Number Share capital 

of shares USD'OOO 

Ordinary Shares (listed) 
Ordinary Shares of USD0.00001 each 

Balance at 1January2019 1,431,685,553 14 
Share buy-backs 
Shares cancelled (164,235,308) (2) 

Balance at 31 December 2019 1,267,450,245 12 

Share buy-backs 

Numbe 
rof 
shares 

2 

Share premium 

USD'OOO 

531,607 

(19,774) 

511,833 

Shares cancelled (98,694,215) · (1) (23,539) 

Balance at 31 December 2020 1,168,756,030 11 488,294 

Share capital 
USD 

2 

Treasury shares 

USD'OOO 

(5,345) 
(14,439) 

19,774 

(10) 

(213) 
223 

Share premium 
USD 

Reserve 
forown 
shares 
USD'OOO 

(23,319) 

(23,319) 

23,319 

Throughout 2019, the Соmрапу coпducted а buy-back programme repurchasiпg 143,267,555 Ordiпary Shares for а 
coпsideratioп of USDl 4.4 millioп at ап average price of ZARl.S 1 per share. The programme was approved Ьу 
shareholders at the Company's Aпnual General Meetiпg оп 10 Мау 2019. Duriпg 2019 the Соmрапу сапсеІІеd апd de­
listed from tradiпg 164,235,308 Ordiпary Shares that it had repurchased oп-market comprising: (і) 143,168,555 
Ordinary Shares repurchased duriпg 2019; and (іі) 21,066,753 Ordiпary Shares repurchased duriпg 2018. The 
Соmрапу had 99,000 Ordinary Shares that it had bought back but had поt yet сапсеІІеd as at 31December2019. 

In 2020, the Соmрапу contiпued its buy-back programme, repurchasiпg а further 2,319,069 Ordiпary Shares for а 
consideration of USD213k at ап average price of ZARl.65 per share. The buy-back programme was reapproved Ьу 
shareholders at the Company's Aпnual General Meetiпg on 24 June 2020. 

During 2020 the Соmрапу сапсеІІеd апd de-listed from tradiпg 2,418,069 Ordinary Shares that it had repurchased oп­
market comprisiпg: (і) 2,319,069 Ordiпary Shares repurchased duriпg 2020; and (іі) 99;000 Ordiпary Shares 
repurchased duriпg 2019. 

Furthermore, оп 4 March 2020, the Company aпnounced that it had completed the сапсеІІаtіоп апd de-listiпg from 
tradiпg of96,276,146 Ordinary Shares held Ьу the Company іп itself, through а wholly-owпed subsidiary. As а result of 
the cancelliпg of these shares the Compaпy's Reserve for own shares decreased from USD23.3 millioп as at 1 Jaпuary 
2020 to Nil as at 31 December 2020. 

At 31December2020, the Соmрапу had no shares that it had bought back but had not yet сапсеІІеd. 
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21. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 

Share Option Plan 

The Group's Share Option Plan was approved Ьу shareholders on 26 June 2017. Under the terms of the plan, the Parent 
Company can issue а maximum of 167,341,278 options. Ofthe 167,341,278 share options available for granting, 
49,732,275 share options were ungranted at 31December2020. 

At 31December2020, the following share options had been granted and were outstanding in respect ofthe Ordinary 
Shares: 

Number of options 

Outstanding at Outstanding at 
lssue date Exercise Erice 1 Janua!:Y 2020 Granted Forfeited/laEsed Exercised 31 December 2020 Final exercise date 

September 2017 ZAR3.45 55,780,428 55,780,428 September 2021 
January 2018 ZAR2.97 17,472,255 (91,680) 17,380,575 January 2022 
July 2018 ZAR2.30 43,168,000 (300,000) 42,868,000 July 2022 
March 4019 ZARl.90 1,580,000 1,580,000 March 2023 
Total 118,000,683 (391,680) 117,609,003 

Ofthe options granted to date, 87,913,463 options were exercisable at 31December2020 (2019: 70,568,832). No share 
options were exercised during 2020. 

No share options were granted in 2020 (2019: 1,580,000 options granted). А total of 391,680 share options lapsed 
during the year that had а weighted average share price of ZAR2.46. 

АІІ share options vest over а four-year period in tranches of 20%. One-fifth of the options granted vest immediately, 
with the remaining 80% vesting annually on the grant date over the following four years, during which time the grantee 
has to remain in employment. 

The total expense recognised during the year arising from equity-settled share-based payment transactions was USD0.9 
million (2019: USDl.5 million), with а total option reserve in equity of USD7.9 million at 31 December 2020. 

The weighted average exercise price for outstanding and exercisable options at 31December2020 was ZAR2.94 (2019: 
ZAR2.94) and ZAR3.04 (2019: ZARЗ.10) respectively. The Parent Company's mid-market closing share price at 31 
December 2020 was ZARl.35 (2019: ZARl.84). The lowest and highest mid-market closing price during the year was 
ZARl.10 (2019: ZARl.27) and ZAR2.14 (2019: ZARl.95), respectively. 

The weighted average remaining contractual life for the share options outstanding at 31 December 2020 that had not 
vested was 0.88 years (2019: 1.37 years). 

The fair values of the options are calculated using the Black-Scholes method. The assumptions applied to each share 
option scheme are detailed in the table below: 

Exercise price 
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Jssue date 
September 2017 

ZARЗ.45 

lssue date 
January 2018 

ZAR2.97 

lssue date 
July 2018 

ZAR2.3 

Issue date 
March 2019 

ZARl.91 
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Share price at date of grant ZAR2.91 ZAR3.00 ZAR2.38 ZARl.85 
Expected volatility 39.70% 45.83% 47.54% 50.75% 
Option Ше 4.5 years 1-4 years1 1-4 years1 1-4 years1 

Expected dividends Nil Nil Nil Nil 
Risk-free interest rate 7.73% 6.67-7.65% 6.82-7.95% 6.69%-7.57% 
Fair value of options ZARl.12 ZAR0.64-1.37 ZAR0.55-1.14 ZAR0.40-0.87 
І As the first option tranche vests immediately, and the gain to the етрІоуее is low, the valuation assumes the options are held for опе year prior to exercise. 

The risk-free interest rates for the options granted have been based on the yields offered from South African 
government bonds with maturities that range from one to four years as per the vesting profile of the options. South 
African government bonds are considered an appropriate risk-free rate as these are assumed to Ье the lowest risk 
investment underpinning the market. ln addition, as the Parent Company has а primary listing on the JSE where 
securities are quoted in South African Rand, the Directors believe that а ІосаІ currency-based risk-free rate is the most 
appropriate input when valuing options with the Black-Scholes model. 

The expected volatility was based on the historic volatility data of the Parent Company's shares. 
22. PER SHARE INFORMATION 
Earnings/(Loss) Per Share ("EPS" or "LPS") and Net Asset Value ("NAV") are key performance measures for the Group. 
EPS/(LPS) is based on profit/(loss) for the year divided Ьу the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 
during the year. NAV per share is based on net assets divided Ьу the number of ordinary shares in issue at З 1 December 
2020. 

Headline Earnings/(Loss) Per Share ("HEPS" or "HLPS") is similar to EPS/(LPS), except that attributable profit 
specifically excludes certain items, as set out in Circular 1/2019 "Headline Earnings" ("Circular 1/2019") issued Ьу the 
South African Institute of Chartered Accountants during the period. 

Earnings per share 
The Group's (LPS)/EPS is as follows: 

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to owners of the parent - USD'OOO 
Weighted uveruge number of shures іп issue1 

(Loss)/earnings per share - USD 

2020 

(85,282) 
. 1,169,141,48 

5 
(0.07) 

2019 

28,369 
1,264,903,39 

8 
0.02 

І At ЗІ December 2019, the Сотрапу had а see-through interest іп itself of 96,З75, 146 shares or 7.60% of the then shares іп issue. The Company's own shares held were 
removed іп the calculation of weighted average number of shares іп issue during 2019. 
At З І December 2020. the Сотрапу had а see-through interest іп itself of пі/ shares as it had disposed of its see-through interest shares during 2020. The Company's own 
shares held were removed іп the calcu/ation of weighted average number of shares іп issue during 2020 for the аррІісаЬІе period before the shares were cancelled. 

There are no dilutive shares, as the average share price during the period was below the strike price of all exercisable 
share options. Therefore, EPS is equal to Diluted EPS for both the current and comparative period. 

Headline earnings per share 

The Group's HEPS/(HLPS) is as follows: 

2020 2019 

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to owners of the parent- USD'OOO (85,282) 28,369 
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Adjusted for: 
Impairment charges / (reversals) 
Тах impact · 

Weighted average number of shares іп issue1 

Headline (Ioss)/earnings per share - USD 

11,500 

' 
(73,782) 

і 1,169,141,48 
5 

(0.06) 

(21,559) 
6,468 

13,278 

1,264,903,39 
8 

0.01 
І At 31December2019, the Сотропу hod а see-through iпterest іп itself of 96,375, 146 shares or 7.60% of the theп shares іп issue. The Сотрапу's оwп shares held were 

· removed іп the calculatioп of weighted average пumber of shares іп issue duriпg 2019. 
At 31 December 2020. the Сатрапу had а see-through iпterest іп itself of пі/ shares as it had disposed of its see-through iпterest shares duriпg 2020. The Сотрапу's оwп 
shares held were removed іп the calculatioп of weighted average пumber of shares іп issue duriпg 2020 for the аррІісаЬІе period before the shares were сапсеІІеd. 
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NAV per share 

The Group's USD NAV per share is as follows: 

Net assets attributable to equity holders of the Company - USD'OOO 
Number о[ shares іп issue1 

NA V per share - USD 

2020 2019 

: 412,573 494,261 
J,168,756,030 1,171,075,099 

0.35 0.42 
1 At 31 December 2020, the Сотрапу had а see-through iпterest іп itself of пі/ shares (31 December 2019: 96,375, 146, or 7.60%). These shares have Ьееп remaved іп the 
саІсиІаtіоп of the пumber of shares іп issue. 

Tangible NAV per share 
The Group's USD tangible NAV per share is as follows: 

Net assets - USD'OOO 
Adjusted for: 
lntangible assets 

Number о[ shares іп issue1 

Tangible NAV per share - USD 

2020 2019 

412,573 494,261 

(47,382) (52,974) 

365,191 441,287 

' 1,168,756,030 1,171,075,099 

0.31 ' 0.38 
1 At 31December2020, the Сатрапу had а see-through iпterest іп itself of пі/ shares (31December2019: 96,375, 146, or 7.60%). These shares have Ьееп removed іп the 
calculatioп of the питЬеr of shares іп issue. 
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23. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 
Non-controlling interests in the Group that are material, relate to the following subsidiaries: 

• Kagem, а company incorporated in Zambia. Its principal operation is rough-emerald mining, exploration and 
processing in Zambia. The Government ofthe Republic ofZambia holds а 25% non-controlling interest. 

• Montepuez Ruby Mining ("MRM"), а company incorporated in Mozambique. lts principal operation is rough-ruby 
mining, exploration and processing. Mwiriti Limitada, а private company incorporated in Mozambique, holds а 25% 
non-controlling interest. 

• Other, includes аІІ the other subsidiaries with non-controlling interests which are listed in Note 26: Subsidiaries and 
which are not material. 

2020 2020 2020 2020 
Kagem MRM Other TotaJ 

USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO 

Amount attributable to all shareholders 

(Loss) after tax (13,156) (17,630) (1,109) (31,895) 
Cash (used in)/ generated from operations (1,205) (16,511) 2,542 (15,174) 

Non-current assets 164,707 210,689 21,049 396,445 
Current assets 56,838 56,009 2,935 115,782 

Total assets 221,545 266,698 23,984 512,227 

Non-current liabilities (69,962) (51,931) (121,893) 
Current liabilities (33,307) (56,645) (32,944) (122,896) 
Total liabilities (103 269) (108,576} (32,944} (244,789} 

Net assets 118 276 ~58,і22 (8,960}- 267,438 

Amounts attributable to non-controlling interest 

(Loss) after tax (3,289) (4,407) (249) (7,945) 

Dividends declared1 (6,250) (6,250) 
Netassets 9,921 62,935 (2,413) 70,443 
1 During 2020, о dividend af USD6.3 million wos declored to the Group 's non-confrolling interest іп MRM, Mwiriti. The declored dividend wos settled fhrough odvonced 
dividend poyments mode to Mwiriti during 2019 of USD5.1 million ond оп odditionol USDl.2 million poyment mode іп fhe first holf of 2020. 
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2019 
Kagem 

USD'OOO 

Amount attributable to all shareholders 

Profit/ (loss) after tax 13,620 
Cash generated from operations 10,340 

Non-current assets 153,156 
Current assets 61,166 

Total assets 214,322 

Non-current liabilities (67,479) 
Current liabilities (30,501) 
Total liabilities (97,980) 
Net assets 116,342 

Amounts attributable to non-controlling interest 

Profit/ (loss) after tax 3,405 
Dividends declared 
Netassets 13,210 

24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The principal financial instruments used Ьу the Group are as follows: 

Financial assets 

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss: 
Sedibelo 
Other equity investrnents 
Total financial assets at fair v alue through profit and loss 

Financial assets measured at amortised cost: 
Trade and other receivables1 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Total financial ass.ets measured at amortised cost 
Total financial assets 

1 Trode ond other receivobles excludes prepoyments ond VAT. 

2019 2019 2019 
МRМ Other Total 

USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO 

31,588 (2,350) 42,858 
54,628 (653) 64,315 

210,551 12,871 376,578 
110,727 2,929 174,822 

321,278 15,800 551,400 

(52,574) (120,053) 
(67,953) (24,243) (122,697) 

(120,527) (24,243) (242,750) 
200,751 (8,443) 308,650 

7,897 (540) 10,762 

73,592 (2,120) 84,682 

·-
І 2020 2019 

USD'OOO USD'OOO 

29,600 57,500 
1,309 1,455 

30,909 58,955 

21,665 72,344 
43,862 78,218 

65,527 150,562 

- -- _96,43(;) ) 209,517 

The Sedibelo investment is classified as Level З in the fair value hierarchy (2019: Level З), the inputs for which are not 
based on observable market data. Refer to N_ote 13: lnvestments for further information. 
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Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost: 

Trade and other payables 
Borrowings 
Lease liabilities 
Total financial liabilities 

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities 
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2020 
USD'OOO 

22,303 
56,505 

3,745 
82,553 

2019 
USD'OOO 

28,493 
52,827 

4,651 
85,971 

At 31 December 2020 апd 2019, the carryiпg value of the Group's fіпапсіаІ assets апd liabilities carried at amortised 
cost approximated their fair values. Refer to Note 14: Trade and other receivables for detailed disclosure of the 
impairmeпt assessmeпt completed оп the Group's fіпапсіаІ assets measured at amortised cost at 31December2020. 

Capital structure 
The Group's objectives wheп maпagiпg capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to сопtіпuе as а goiпg сопсеrп while 
takiпg advaпtage of strategic opportuпities іп order to provide sustaiпable returпs for shareholders. 

The Group's capital coпsists of equity shares. There are also two maпagemeпt shares. The Directors moпitor the Group's 
geariпg ratio оп ап опgоіпg basis. No divideпds have Ьееп paid out to shareholders sіпсе iпcorporatioп. No chaпges 
were made to the Group's capital maпagemeпt objectives, policies or procedures duriпg 2020. 

Credit risk 
Credit risk arises from cash апd cash equivaleпts, deposits with baпks апd fіпапсіаІ iпstitutions апd coпtractual cash 
flows of debt iпvestmeпts (Іоапs) carried at amortised cost. The Group is also exposed to credit risk related to its 
customers апd outstaпdiпg receivables with them. Credit risk arises wheп а failure Ьу а couпterparty to discharge their 
obligatioпs could reduce the amount of future cash iпflows from the related fіпапсіаІ asset оп haпd at the reportiпg 
date. 

(і) Risk management 
Credit risk is maпaged оп а Group basis. 

The Group holds materially аІІ of its cash ЬаІапсеs with three couпterparties: Barclays Вапk рІс ("Barclays"), Iпvestec 
Вапk рІс ("Iпvestec") апd ABSA Bank (formerly Barclays іп Mozambique апd Zambia). Bankruptcy or іпsоІvепсу of апу 
of these couпterparties could have а sigпificant adverse impact оп the Group. The Group's subsidiaries may also hold 
immaterial cash ЬаІапсеs with various other baпks; the failure of опе ofthese counterparties would Ье uпlikely to have 
а sigпificaпt impact оп the Group. The Directors moпitor the Group's raпge of couпterparties to eпsure that the Group's 
credit/couпterparty risk is at ап appropriate level. 
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The Group's exposure to counterparty risk at 31December2020 is set out ЬеІо~: 
2020 2019 

Coun terear!Y Location Credit rating (Fitch) USD'OOO USD'OOO 

Barclays United Кingdom А 23,432 8,800 
Investec United Кingdom ВВВ rninus 10,632 29,708 
HSBC United Кingdom АА rninus 1,868 856 
ВСР Mozambique n/r 599 1,852 
Goldman Sachs United Кingdom А rninus 10,000 
ABSA Mozambique ВВ rninus 44 19,466 
ABSA Zambia ВВ rninus 4,829 4,043 
Standard Chartered Zambia ВВВ plus 601 519 
Citibank Zambia А 581 351 
Axis bank India ВВВ rninus 550 
Nedbank South Africa ВВВ rninus 467 
Other counter_earties Various n/a 259 2,623 
Total 43,862 78,218 
І ВСІ - Banco Comercial Е De /nvestimentos, S.A. 

The Group's trade receivables are predomiпantly derived from auction customers, who are specifically invited to each 
auction, and the credit quality of whom is thoroughly assessed prior to iпvite, considering financial position, past 
ехреrіепсе and other factors. Risk is further mitigateq Ьу the fact that sales are required to Ье settled Ьу cash transfer 
within а short time period. There аі-е по significant concentrations of credit risk, whether through exposure to 
individual customers, specific industry sectors and/or regioпs. At the date of these financial statements, the Group had 
collected the full USD8.9 million auction receivable that was outstanding at 31 December 2020. 

The credit quality of the Group's trade receivables сап Ье assessed Ьу refereпce to external credit ratings (where 
available) or to historical information about default rates. The trade receivables balance outstanding at the balance 
sheet date Ьу counterparty credit risk is assessed as shown in the table below: 

Group 1 - direct customers, predorninantly retail and web sales from Faberge 
Group 2 - new counterparties, with а less than six-month relationship with the 
Group 
Group 3 - existing counterparties, no past history of default 
Group 4 - existing counter_earties, past default but а1І amounts have been recovered 
Total trade receivables 

(іі) /mpairment of financial assets 

2020 
USD'OOO 

758 
177 

12,269 
345 

13,549 

2019 
USD'OOO 

1,001 
397 

60,761 
385 

62,544 

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuriпg credit losses for trade receivables, using а lifetime 
expected credit loss provision. Based on the assessment completed at 31 December 2020, the carrying value oftrade 
receivables classified at amortised cost was determined to approximate their fair values and, as such, no impairment 
provision had been recorded against trade receivables at 31December2020. 

The Group's other receivables primarily relate to third-party and related-party loans. These financial assets have been 
assessed for credit loss individually, considering financial position, past experience and other factors. At 31 December 
2020, the Group held а provision of USDl.4 million (2019: USDl.4 million) against its Joans and other receivables. There 
are no other financial assets that are impaired and, accordingly, no additional analysis has been provided. 
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Refer to Note 14: Trade and other receivables for further discussion on credit risk and details of the IFRS 9 assessment 
completed. 

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk arises from the Group's management of working capital and the finance charges and principal repayments 
on its debt instruments. lt represents the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting its financial obligations. 

The Group's policy is to ensure that it will always have sufficient cash to allow it to meet its liabilities when they become 
due. То achieve this aim, the Group seeks to maintain cash balances and agreed bank facilities at levels considered 
appropriate to meet ongoing obligations. 

The Group maintains an integrated business performance and cash flow forecasting model, incorporating financial 
position information, which is updated monthly. 

The Group performance against budget and associated cash flow forecast is evaluated on а monthly basis. The Directors 
receive rolling 12-month cash flow projections monthly, as well as information regarding cash balances and Group 
performance against budget. At the reporting date, these projections indicated that the Group expected to have 
sufficient liquidity to meet its obligations in all reasonably expected circumstances. 

The following table illustrates the contractual maturity analysis of the Group's financial liabilities, including the 
liabilities that must Ье settled gross, based, where relevant, on interest rates and exchange rates prevailing at the 
reporting date. 

Total Carrying value 
Repayable within Repayable within Repayable within Repayable Repayable after contractual at 31 December 

onemonth one to six months' six to 12 months wiihinone to five years cash flows 2020 
31 December 2020 USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO fiveyears USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO 

USD'OOO 

Trade and other 1,875 6,628 8,800 5,000 22,303 22,303 

payablesLeases 74 170 759 3,506 4,509 3,745 

Borrowings and interest 98 29,797 5,302 25,710 60,907 56,505 
Total 2,047 36,595 14.861 34.216 87719 82,553 

Total Carrying value 
Repayable Repayable Repayable Repayable Repayable after contractual at 31 December 

within withinone to six withinsix to 12 withinone to five years cash flows 2019 
onemonth months months five years 

31 December 2019 USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO 

Trade and other payables 22,797 5,696 28,493 28,493 

Leases 54 634 578 2,784 601 4,651 4,651 
Borrowings and interest 312 1,558 26,697 32,681 61,248 52,827 
Total 23,163 7,888 27,275 35,465 601 94,392 85,971 

Market risk 
The significant market risks affecting the Group are currency risk, interest rate risk, price risk and commodity risk. 
These risks relate to the Group's underlying mining operations and its investment in Sedibelo, which is held at fair value. 

Currency risk 
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The Group's operations are exposed to currency risk on foreign currency sales, purchases and expenses. As the majority 
of revenues are denominated in USD and the USD plays а dominant role in the Group's business, funds borrowed and 
held in USD provide а natural hedge against currency fluctuations. Operating costs and costs oflocally sourced 
equipment are influenced Ьу fluctuations in ІосаІ currencies, primarily the Zambian kwacha and Mozambican metical. 
Some ofthe Group's investments are denominated in currencies other than the USD, including ZAR and GBP. These 
assets are translated into USD at each balance sheet date and the Group's Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
lncome includes the related unrealised foreign exchange gains or losses. 
А key tenet of the Group's treasury роІісу is that materially аІІ of the Group's cash is held in USD, other than amounts 
allocated for а specific foreign currency investment or for specific material expenses, which are usually held in the 
relevant currency. The Group's cash balance is therefore not subject to material foreign exchange risk in most 
circumstances. 

Cash balances are translated into а currency other than the USD only when an outflow of cash is imminent, or if required 
for legal or similar reasons. The Group may occasionally hold balances in currencies other than the USD for а material 
investment which is considered likely but is not yet certain. This gives rise to potential foreign exchange risk if the 
investment does not occur and the balance is translated back into USD at а different exchange rate. Alternatively, for 
specific material cash outflows, the Group may choose to enter into an appropriate hedging strategy, such as а forward 
contract or option, to minimise the Group's foreign exchange exposure. The Group did not enter into any hedging 
strategies during the current or prior year. 

The Group also undertakes transactions and holds assets and liabilities in currencies other than the USD. The Group 
may enter into equity or loan investments in currencies other than the USD. These balances are translated at the end of 
each reporting period, and the related foreign exchange gain or loss is included in the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. The Directors consider the denomination of each investment as part of the initial decision as to 
whether to invest in an asset. 
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Sensitivity analysis has been performed based on the sensitivity of the Group's net financial assets to movements in 
foreign exchange rates, assuming а movement of 10% as against the USD. 

USD GBP ZMW MZN Other Total 
At 31 DecemЬer 2020 USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO uso·ooo USD'OOO 

Equity investments 30,909 30,909 

Cash and cash equivalents 38,509 633 103 529 4,088 43,862 

Trade and other receivables 20,675 (643) 207 367 1,059 21,665 

Boпowings (56,505) (56,505) 

Trade and other payables (13,457) (4,263) (210) (3,173) (1,200) (22,303) 
Lease liabilities (1,275) (2,233) (117) (120) (3,745) 

· Net financial assets/(Iiabilities) 18,856 (6,506) 100 (2,394) 3,827 13,883 

Sensitivity analysis 
Impact on the Income 
Statement, assuming а 10% 
movement against the USD n/a (651) 10 (239) 383 (497) 

USD GBP zмw MZN Other Total 

At 31 December 2019 USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO 

Investments 57,643 57,643 

Cash and cash equivalents 72,551 804 321 242 4,300 78,218 

Other non-current assets 3,712 3,712 

Trade and other receivables 67,290 1,217 408 1,082 69,997 

Borrowings (52,827) (52,827) 

Lease liabilities (1,596) (2,634) (187) (234) (4,651) 

, Trade and other payables (9,689) (4,456) (954) (12,026) (1,368) (28,493) 

Net financial assets/(liabilities) 137,084 (5,069) (633) (11,563) 3,780 123,599 

Sensitivity analysis 

Impact on the Income Statement, 
assumin~ а 10% movement nfa (506) (63) (1,156) 378 (1,347) 
against the USD 

lnterest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of а financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates. The Group is exposed to interest rate risk on its cash balances. The Group's роІісу is to 
invest cash at floating rates of interest and to maintain cash reserves in short-term investments which are for а 
maximum of one year but are usually for shorter time periods. This maintains the Group's liquidity levels whilst also 
securing а return for shareholders on uninvested cash. During 2020 and 2019, аІІ uninvested cash was accessible either 
on-demand, or shortly afterwards. In addition, the Group may make interest-bearing loans to its investments. 

An analysis of the expected maturity of the Group's financial assets and liabilities exposed to variable interest rates at 
the balance sheet date is shown below. Expected maturities are usually based on contractual maturities. The sensitivity 
analysis completed has considered а 1.0% increase or decrease (2019: 0.5% increase or decrease) in interest rates to Ье 
reasonably possible based on the current interest rate environment. The Directors consider the impact of changes in 
interest rates on the Group to Ье immaterial. 
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31 DecemЬer 2020 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Borrowings 

Net financial assets/(liabilities) 
subject to interest rate risk 

Sensitivity anatysis 

Impact on profit or loss, assuminga 
1.0% movement in interest rate 

31December2019 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Boпowings 
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Repayable within 
onemonth 

USD'OOO 

43,862 

43,862 

439 

Repayable within 
one to six months 

USD'OOO 

(28,505) 

(28,505) 

(285) 

Repayable within 
six to 12 months 

USD'OOO 

(4,500) 

(4,500) 

(45) 

Repayable within 
12 to 36 months 

USD'OOO 

(23,500) 

(23,500) 

(235) 

Repayable withinRepayable within Repayable within Repayable within 

Total 
USD'OOO 

43,862 

(56,505) 

(12,643) 

(126) 

one month one to six months six to 12 months 12 to 36 months Total 

USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO 

78,218 78,218 

(24,827) (28,000) (52,827) 
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'Net financiai assets/(liabilities) 
subject to interest rate risk 

Sensitivity analysis 

Impact on profit or Ioss, assuming 

а 0.5% movement in interest rate 

Ргісе risk 

78,218 

391 

(24,827) (28,000) 25,391 

(124) (140) 127 

Price risk is the risk that the price for equity investments fluctuates with а corresponding impact on the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive lncome. The Directors believe that disclosure of а 25% decrease/increase in the fair values 
ofthe Group's investments is reasonably possible and presents relevarit information to shareholders. The Executive 
Directors usually participate in the executive leadership and management of each investment and monitor the 
associated risks on an ongoing basis, reporting to the Board as necessary. А 25% change in the fair value of investments 
would have the following impact on the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive lncome: 

Sedibelo investment 
Other equity investments 

Total 

Commodity risk 

2020 

Carrying 
value 

USD'OOO 

29,600 
1,309 

30,909 

lmpac of а 

tchange 25% fair 
in value 

USD'OO 
о 

7,400 
327 

7,727 

2019 

Carrying 
value 

USD'OOO 

57,500 
1,455 

58,955 

Impac of а 

tchange 25% fair 
in value 

USD'OO 
о 

14,375 
364 

14,739 

The Group holds coloured gemstones on its balance sheet in the form of inventory. А decrease in the price of coloured 
gemstones, specifically rubies and emeralds, may have а material impact on the Company's profitability. For the Group's 
other major investment, Sedibelo, commodity prices can have а significant impact on the fair value valuation ofthe 
investment and can impact upon the viability of the assets that the Group has invested in or may invest in. The 
commodities of most relevance to the Group currently are coloured gemstones and PGMs. 

Sensitivity analyses representative of the position throughout the уеаг 
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The sensitivity analyses presented above are based on the financial instruments held at year-end. The sensitivity 
analyses presented for З 1 December 2020 are considered likely to Ье representative of the financial instruments held 
and of risks to the balance sheet in the immediate future. Furthermore, if the Group divested of an investment, its 
exposure to market risks would change. As there is uncertainty as to how the Group's risk profile will change in the 
future, no further representative sensitivity analyses have been disclosed, as the Directors do not believe that this would 
Ье useful. Users of the Consolidated Financial Statements should refer to the Risk and Uncertainties section of this 
Annual Report for further information on the risks that the enlarged Group is exposed to. 

25. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 

At З 1 December 2020, the Company had the following capital commitments: 
• USD2.8 million (2019: USD2.8 million) for the construction of the Decanter Centrifuge, other mining equipment, and 
the RAP project in Montepuez. 
• ·No material capital commitments are held Ьу Kagem at З 1 December 2020 (2019: USDl.8 million commitment for the 
purchase of mining equipment). 

The Group does not have any significant contingencies. 
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26. SUBSIDIARIES 
The Group's subsidiaries are set out below. АІІ interests are held directly or indirectly Ьу the Group and are consolidated 
within these Financial Statements. The note includes аІІ of the Group's subsidiaries; none have therefore been omitted. 

Name 

Almizan Development Limited 
Campos de Joia, Limitada 
Eastern Ruby Mining Limitada 
Faberge (UK) Limited 
Faberge Hospitality Limited 
Faberge Inc. 
Faberge Limited 
Faberge Suisse SA 
Florescer Farming S.A.1 

Forest HoldCo Limited 
Gemfields BVI Limited 
Gemfields Canada Inc. 
Gemfields CdJ Mauritius 
Gemfields Holdings Zambia Limited 
Gemfields India Pvt Limited 
Gemfields Mauritius Limited 
Gemfields Mining Limited 
Gemfields Participa<;oes Limitada2 

. Gemfields Limited 
Gemfields Singapore Pte Limited 
Gemfields South Africa (Pty) Limited 
Gemfields USA, Inc. 
Gemholds Brazil Limited 
Gemholds Colombia Limited 
Gemholds Ethiopia Limited. 
Gemholds Limited 
Gemhouse Mining Zambia Limited 
Gemriti Limited 
Graphon Investments (Pvt) Limited 
Graphon Mining Resources (Pvt) Limited 
Hagura Mining Lirnited 
Island HoldCo Limited 
Kagem Mining Limited 
Mbuva Mining Limited 
Megaruma Mining Lirnitada 

Montepuez Ruby Mining Lirnitada 
Nairoto Resources Holdings Limited3 
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Country of incorporation 

British Virgin lslands 
Mozambique 
Mozambique 
United Кingdom 
British Virgin Islands 
United States of America 
Cayman Islands 
Switzerland 
Mozambique 
United Кingdom 
British Virgin Islands 
Canada 
Mauritius 
Zambia 
India 
Mauritius 
Zambia 
Brazil 
United Кingdom 
Singapore 
South Africa 
United States of America 
United Кingdom 
United Кingdom 
United Кingdom 
United Кingdom 
Zambia 
Mauritius 
Sri Lanka 
Sri Lanka 
United Кingdom 
United Кingdom 
Zambia 
Zambia 
Mozambique 

Mozambique 
Mauritius 

Group % interest 
at31 December 
2020 

100% 
98.75% 

80% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 

97.90% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 

0% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100%. 

100% 
75% 
75% 
75% 

100% 
100% 

75% 
100% 

75% 

75% 
100% 

' 

Group % interest 
at31 December 
2019 

100% 
98.75% 

75% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 

0% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 

100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 

75% 
75% 
75% 

100% 
100% 

75% 
100% 

75% 

75% 
100% 
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Nairoto Resources Limitada3 Mozambique 75r.; 75% 
Oriental Mining SARL Madagascar 100% 100% 
Pallinghurst Consolidated (Cayman) Cayman lslands 100% 100% 
Limited 
Gemfields Resources (Guernsey) GP Ltd Guernsey 100% 100% 
Gemfields Services Limited United Кingdom 100% 100% 
Peninsula HoldCo Limited United Кingdom 100% 100% 
Ratnapura Lanka Gemstones (Pvt) Limited Sri Lanka 75% 75% 
Shakgem Gemstone Mining Plc4 Ethiopia 90% 0% 
Singha Heavy Equipment (Pvt) Limited Sri Lanka 75% 75% 
Singha Industrial Investments (Pvt) Limited Sri Lanka 75% 75% 
The Gemfields Resources Fund L.P. Cayman Islands 99.99% 99.99% 

Web Gemstone Mining plc Ethiopia 75% 75% 
І The сатрапу wos iпcorporoted оп 26 Morch 2020. 
2 The сатрапу wos liquidoted оп 16 October 2020. 

2 These eпtities were iпcorporoted duriпg 2019 опd will focilitote the gold projects іп Mozombique. 
4. The сатрапу wos iпcorporoted оп 22 April 2020. 

27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
The Group's subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are related. parties. Investments held Ьу the Group are also 
usually related parties. Related party transactions related to the Group's investments are detailed in Note 13: 
Investments. 

The Group also holds both а related party receivable of USDб. 7 million and а related party рауаЬІе of USDS.O million 
with Mwiriti Ltda, the Group's partner in MRM and Nairoto. These transactions are detailed in Note 14: Trade and other 
receivables and Note 16: Trade and other payables. 

During the year, а number ofthe Group's Directors made purchases ofjewellery and watches from Faberge amounting 
to USD9,311 (2019: USDS,224). АІІ purchases were made in accordance with the Group's employee purchase роІісу. At 
31 December 2020, USD3, 720 remained outstanding and is included within related party trade receivables at the 
balance sheet date. 

In 2018, the Group established Gemfields Foundation ("the Foundation"), а UK registered charitable company, whose 
purpose is to address poverty in developing countries and support conservation projects (refer to the Gemfields 
Foundation section of the Performance Review on pages 22-23 for further information regarding the charity). The 
Foundation is determined to Ье independent of the Group and does not meet the definition of subsidiary outlined in the 
Group's accounting policies, therefore its results are not consolidated into these Consolidated Financial Statements. 

The Foundation will Ье part-funded Ьу Gemfields Limited, and can also accept donations from external bodies or 
individuals, with the funds to Ье used to create new community or wildlife conservation projects or support those that 
the Group's subsidiaries are already undertaking. ln 2020, the focus was on completing the set-up of the charity and 
consequently no donations were made to the Foundation Ьу the Group during the year (2019: Nil). At 31 December 
2020, а receivable of USD3,000 was due to the Group from the Foundation in respect of а community project completed 
in Zambia on behalf of the Foundation during 2020. 

The Directors are the Кеу Management Personnel of the Group. The amounts paid to the Executive Directors for services 
during 2020 are set out below: 
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Total 
including 

Employer's employer' 
Base Share national snational 

1 January 2020 to compensation Benefits Bonus options' Pension Total insurance insurance 

31 December 2020 USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO 

Sean Gilbertson 488 5 493 58 551 
David Lovett 286 2 14 302 36 338 
Total 774 7 14 795 94 889 
І During the yeara share-based expense of USD224k was recognised in relation to the share options issued to Sean Gilbertson in September 2017 and USDIO/k recognised 
in relation to the share options issued to David Lovett in January 2018 and July 2018. The share options vest in five tranches over а four-year period and the expense is 
recognised over the vesting period. No options were exercised during the year. 

Employer's employer' 
Base Share national s national 

1 January 2019 to compensation Benefits Bonus options' Pension Total insurance insurance 
31 December 2019 USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO USD'OOO 

Sean Gilbertson 575 4 201 780 109 889 
David Lovett 337 2 118 14 471 61 532 
Total 912 6 319 14 1,251 170 1,421 
І During 2019 а share-based expense of USD429k was recognised in relation to the share options issued to Sean Gilbertson in September 2017 and USD І 59k recognised in 
relation to the share options issued to David Lovett in January 2018 and Juty 2018. No options were exercised during 2019. 

The amouпts paid to the Noп-Executive Directors for services duriпg 2020 are set out below: 

1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020 

Martin Tolcher 
Dr Christo Wiese 
Lumkile Mondi 
KwapeМmela 

Carel Malan 
Ма Reill 1 
Total 

І Appointed 4 December 2020. 

Group 
Director fees 

USD'OOO 

87 
35 
35 
35 
35 

3 
230 

Board 
committees 

USD'OOO 

15 
10 

6 

31 

Lead 
lndependent 

Director 
USD'OOO 

2 

2 

Total 
USD'OOO 

87 
35 
52 
45 
41 

3 
263 

Іп light of the impact of the COVID-19 paпdemic, оп 1Мау2020, аІІ UK staff members, iпcluding the Board of Directors, 
agreed to а 20% reпumeratioп reduction, with UK employees being placed оп а four-day workiпg week. At 31 December 
2020, Director fees had поt yet Ьееп returпed to coпtractual levels. 

The amouпts paid to the Noп-Executive Directors for services duriпg 2019 are set out below: 

1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019 

Brian Gilbertsonl 
Martin Tolcher2 

Lumkile Mondi 
Dr Christo Wiese 

81 

Director fees 
USD'OOO 

90 
45 
40 
40 

committees 
USD'OOO 

17 
17 

Director 
USD'OOO 

3 

Total 
USD'OOO 

90 
62 
60 
40 



KwapeMmela 
Carel Malan3 

Erich Clarke4 
Total 

І Resigned effective 25 November 2019. 
2 Mr Tolcher become Non-Executive Choirmon effective 25 November 20 І 9. 
З Appointed effective 9 Jonuory 2019. 
4 Resigned effective 7 Jonuory 2019. 
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40 
39 

1 

295 

13 
5 

52 з 

53 
44 
1 

350 
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The iпterests іп the Pareпt Соmрапу equity shares held Ьу the Directors are set out below: 

2020 2019 

І Number of shares lnterest Number of shares lnterest 

Dr Christo Wiese1 160,388,407 13.72% 160,388,407 12.65% 
Sean Gilbertson2

• 3•
4 10,454,959 0.89% 10,454,959 0.82% 

KwapeMmela 8,325,334 0.71% 8,325,334 0.66% 
David Lovett 42,000 0.00% 42,000 0.00% 
Total 179,210,700 15.33% 179,210,700 14.14% 
1 At 31 December 2020, Dr Wiese held indirect interests in 160.388,407 Ordinary Shares via various entities. Іn addition, certain family members held а further 2.204.700 
shares; including these interests would increase Dr Wiese 's shareholding to 13. 91 %: 
2 Sean Gilbertson has an interest in Огdіnагу Shares. not included in the tabulated figure. Ьу virtue of being а beneficiary of the Brian Patrick Gilbertson Discretionary 
Settlement. а family trust which: (і} holds directly 27,659.667 Ordinary Shares and (іі} owns Autumn Holdings Asset Іnс., which, in turn. holds а further 1 ,887,230 
Ordinary Shares. 
3 This figure does not include shares held Ьу Pallinghurst Resources Management L.P .. а limited partnership in which Sean Gilbertson holds а 50% interest, and which is 
entitled to 3.030.652 Ordinary Shares; however. these shares have not yet been claimed fo//owing the compulsory acquisition of Gemfields рІс in 2017. 
4 GigaJoule Ltd. а сатрапу who//y owned Ьу Sean Gilbertson. тоу Ьесоте entitled to 103. 147 Ordinary Shares if а loan granted to а third party Ьу GigaJoule Ltd is 
notrepaid. 

The Соmрапу had 1,168,756,030 shares іп issue at 31December2020 (2019: 1,267,450,245). There have Ьееп по 
chaпges to these shareholdiпgs up to the date ofpublicatioп of the АппuаІ Report. 

29. EVENTS OCCURRING AFТER ТНЕ END OF ТНЕ PERIOD 

Kagem 
Іп March 2021, the wash рІапt апd sort house recommeпced operatioпs, makiпg use of existiпg stockpiles. Full-scale 
mіпіпg operatioпs are expected to Ьеgіп іп early April 2021, опсе аІІ пecessary COVID-19 protocols are met. Kagem 
preseпtly has sufficieпt iпveпtory to support the March апd April 2021 high-quality auctioп апd а commercial-quality 
auctioп expected to take рІасе іп )uпе. Оп 15 March 2021, Kagem Ьеgап aпother series of опІіпе auctioпs, which will Ье 
sigпificaпtly larger thaп those held іп November апd December 2020. Viewiпgs are expected іп Dubai, )aipur апd ТеІ 
Aviv, with results to Ье аппоuпсеd at the епd of April 2021. 

MRM 
Іп March 2021, the treatmeпt рІапt апd sort house operatioпs commeпced, makiпg use of existiпg stockpiles. Full-scale 
mіпіпg operatioпs are expected to Ьеgіп іп early April 2021. MRM preseпtly has sufficieпt iпveпtory to support опе 
mixed-quality ruby auctioп. Оп 15 March 2021, the first ever series of virtual ruby auctioпs commeпced (similar to 
those held Ьу Kagem іп November апd December 2020), with viewiпgs expected іп Dubai, )aipur апd Baпgkok over а 
period of six weeks апd опІіпе biddiпg coпcludiпg оп 8 Apri1 2021. 

ВСІ facility 
Іп March 2021, ВСІ graпted а пеw USD8.9 millioп facility to MRM оп similar iпterest rates to the USD15 millioп 
overdraft facility discussed іп Note 17: Borrowings. Uпder the пеw facility, USD8.9 millioп сап Ье drawп immediately 
but must Ье paid back Ьу the пехt auctioп or withiп six moпths of drawdowп, whichever is the earliest. Uроп 
repaymeпt, MRM, with agreemeпt from the Ьапk, will theп have access to а пеw four-year facility ofUSD15 mіІІіоп to 
use for workiпg capital purposes. 

Approval of Consolidated Financial Statements 
ТІ1е Coпsolidated Financial Statemeпts were approved Ьу the Directors апd authorised for issue оп 29 March 2021. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT. 
to the members of Gemftelds Group Limited 

Opinion оп the Financial Statements 
In our opinion: 
·• the Consolidated Financial Statements give а true and fair view of the state of the Group's affairs as at З 1 December 
2020 and of its loss for the year then ended; 
• the Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as issued Ьу the IASB; and 
• the Consolidated Financial Statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008. 

We have audited the Consolidated Financial Statements of Gemfields Group Limited (the "Parent Company") and its 
subsidiaries (the "Group") for the year ended 31December2020 which comprise the Consolidated Income Statement, 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, Conso\idated Statement of Financial Position, Consolidated 
Statement of Cash Flows, Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements, including а summary of significant accounting policies. 

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation of the Financial Statements is арр\ісаЬІе 
law and International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs") as issued Ьу the International Accounting Standards 
Board ("IASB"). 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) pSAs (UK)") and аррІісаЬІе law. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide а basis for our opinion. Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the audit 
committee. 

lndependence 
We remain independent of the Group and the Parent Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard as applied to listed 
entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

Material uncertainty related to going concern 
We draw attention to Note 1: Basis of preparation, to the Consolidated Financial Statements which sets out the Directors 
consideration of going concern. This explains that due to the uncertainty caused Ьу COVID-19, there is а risk that the 
Group will require additional funding in the event that revenue generation is below forecast or because existing debt 
facilities are withdrawn. Should either of these events materialise, the Directors may need to raise additional financing 
to enable the Group to continue as а going concern. 

As stated in Note 1: Basis of preparation, these events or conditions, along with the other matters set out in Note 1: Basis 
of preparation, indicate that а material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt about the Group's ability to 
continue as а going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 
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ln auditing the Consolidated Financial Statements, we have concluded that the Directors' use of the going concern basis 
of accounting in the preparation of the Financial Statements is appropriate. We considered going concern to Ье а Кеу 
Audit Matter because of the significance of this matter and its impact on our overall audit strategy. 

Our evaluation of the Directors' assessment of the Group's ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of 
accounting, and our response to the Кеу Audit Matters has been set out below. · 
• We critically reviewed the Jatest Board approved cash flow forecasts for the Group, which covered 21 months from the 
date of approval of these Financial Statements. We challenged the assumptions in respect of level of production, mix and 
number of premium-quality/commercial-quality auctions, gemstone prices, operating costs and capital expenditure. ln 
doing so, we considered factors such as empirical operational performance, historical auction results and market 
analyst commentary regarding the impact the current market downturn will have oh market appetite and pricing. 
• We recalculated forecast covenant compliance calculations and assessed the consistency of such calculations with the 
ratios stated in the relevant lender agreements. 
• We assessed the sensitivity analysis performed in respect of key assumptions underpinning the forecasts. 
• As summarised in Note 1: Basis of Preparation, the Group have modelled а downside scenario to incorporate potential 
impacts ofthe ongoing COVID-19 pandemic - notably а reduction in revenue and mitigating activities such as а 
reduction in discretionary spend. We challenged the completeness of scenarios assessed as reasonably possible to 
impact the Group as а consequence of COVID-19, including achievability of forecast revenue due to COVID-19's effects 
on the gemstone market and the ability of operations to generate inventory to take to market. We also challenged 
whether other non-COVID-19 related scenarios could exist. · 
• We challenged the extent ofthe sensitivity analysis performed in the downside scenario. 
• We challenged the nature of mitigating actions identified in the assessment and the quantum ascribed to these 
mitigating actions. 
• The downside scenario modelled represents а revetse stress test to analyse how Jong the business could operate with 
reduced auction revenues. We have challenged the assessment on the Group's ability to meet the financing 
requirements should auction revenues Ье reduced beyond the "worse-case" point modelled. 
• We challenged the Board's assessment of the facilities available to the Group over the forecast period and the 
scenarios that may put those at risk. 
• We reviewed the adequacy of disclosures in the Consolidated Financial Statements in respect of going concern. 
Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant 
sections of this report. 

Overview 

Coverage 91 % (2019: 97%) of Group total assets 
100% (2019: 100%) ofGroup revenue 
74% (2019: 93%) of Group loss/profit before tax 

2020 2019 
Кеу Audit Goin~ concern • • 
Matters("KAМ") 

Carrying value of mining assets1 • . 
Valuation of invesЬnent in Sedibelo • . 
Valuation of the F~berge CGU and NRV of inventory2 • 
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--· . 
1 /п 2019, due to tox choпges eпocted Ьу the Governmeпt о/ Zombio, оиг КАМ regordiпg the recoverobility о/ тіпіпg ossets 

focused exclusively оп the Kogem тіпе. /п 2020, the КАМ wos wideпed to іпсІиdе the Moпtepuez Ruby тіпе os ехрІоіпеd іп 
the КАМ below. 

2 We did поt coпsider the Valuotioп о/ the Foberge CGU опd NRV о/ іпvепtогу to represeпt о КАМ іп the curreпt уеог os the 
voluotioп methodoiogy remoiпed uпchoпged опd therefore there were по sigпificoпt chaпges to the opprooch to key judgemeпts 
опd estimates used іп determiпiпg the recoveroble volues. 

' 

Materiality Consolidated Financial Statements as а whole: . USDб.5 million (2019: USDб.9 million), based on 1 % of total assets (2019: 1 % of total assets) 

An overview of the scope of our audit 

Our Group audit was scoped Ьу obtaining an understanding of the Group and its environment, including the Group's 
system of internal control, and assessing the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements. We also 
addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including assessing whether there was evidence of bias 
Ьу the Directors that may have represented а risk of material misstatement. 

І n assessing the risk of material misstatement to the Consolidated Financial Statements, and to ensure we had adequate 
quantitative coverage of significant accounts in the financial statements, our Group audit scope focussed on the Group's 
principal operating locations being: Zambia (Kagem Mining Limited, "Kagem"), Mozambique (Montepuez Ruby Mining 
Limitada, "MRM"), the United Kingdom (Gemfields Limited and the Faberge sub-group, "Faberge"), and Guernsey 
(Gemfields Group Limited, "Head-Co"). 

Kagem and MRM were regarded as being significant components of the Group which were selected based on their size 
and risk characteristics and were subject to full scope audits. 

For the Gemfields Limited, Faberge and Head-Co components, we performed audit procedures on specific accounts 
within those components that we considered had the potential for the greatest impact on the significant accounts in the 
Financial Statements either because of the size of these accounts or their risk profile. 

The remaining components of the Group were considered non-sigriificant and these components were principally 
subject to analytical review procedures, together with additional substantive testing over the risk areas where 
applicable to that component. 

The audits of each of the components were principally performed in the United Кingdom, Zambia and Mozambique. АІІ 
of the audits were conducted Ьу either Ьу the Group auditor or BDO network member firms with Kagem and MRM being 
audited Ьу BDO Zambia and BDO Mozambique, respectively. 

Our invo/vement with component auditors 
For the work performed Ьу component auditors, we determined the level of involvement needed in order to Ье аЬІе to 
conclude whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained as а basis for our opinion on the Consolidated 
Financial Statements as а whole. 

Our involvement with component auditors included the following: 
• Detailed Group reporting instructions were sent to the component auditors, which included significant areas to Ье 
covered Ьу the audits and set out the information to Ье reported to the Group audit team. 
• The Group audit team was actively involved in the direction of the audits performed Ьу the component auditor for 
Group reporting purposes, along with the consideration of findings and determination of conclusions drawn. 
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• Due to travel restrictions in р\асе as а result of the COVID-19 global health pandemic, although no site visits were 
performed, the Group audit team followed а programme of planned virtual meetings, and had regular team interactions 
with the component teams during various stages of the audit. The Group audit team a\so reviewed key working papers 
and attended the closing meetings with the management ofKagem, MRM, Gemfields, Faberge and Head-Co through 
videoconferencing. Although no in-person visit occurred for the current year audit, members of the current Group audit 
team have the benefit and experience of having attended Kagem and MRM in person in the prior year. 

Кеу Audit Matters 
Кеу Audit Matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material 
misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we identified, including those which had the greatest effect on: the 
overal\ audit strategy, the al\ocation of resources in the audit, and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These 
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements as а whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide а separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described in 
the Material uncertainty іп relation to going concern above, we have determined the matters described below to Ье Кеу 
Audit Matters. 

Кеу Audi~ Matter 

87 

How the scope of our audit addressed 
theKey Audit Matter 



Carrying value 
of mining 
assets 
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As disclosed in Note 11, the shortfall in the 
Group's rnarket capitalisation against the 
Group's net asset value represents an 
irnpairrnent indicatorin accordance with IAS 
Зб Impainnent of Assets.Whilst the Gernfields 
Group is rюt in itself considered а cash­
generating unit ("CGU"), 
the existence of the irnpairrnent indicator 
irnplies that an irnpairrnent indicator rnay 
exist at one of the Group's CGUs. 

As а result, an irnpairrnent review has 
been perforrned Ьу rnanagernent and 
the Board onthe rnining CGUs at Зl 
December 2020. 

As disclosed in Note 2: Accounting policies 
and Note 11: Property, plant and equipment, 
the assessrnent of the recoverable value of 
the rnining assets requires significant 
judgernent and estirnatesto Ье rnade Ьу 
rnanagernent - in particular regarding the 
inputs applied in the rnodels including; 
future gernstone prices, production 
and reserves, discount rates, and operating 
anddeveloprnent costs. The ongoing irnpact 
of 
the COVID-19 pandernic further increases 
the level of uncertainty involved in 
Managernent's forecasts. 

The carrying value of rnining assets is 
therefore considered а Кеу Audit Matter 
given the level ofjudgernent and 
estirnation involved. 

Our procedures in relation to the 
Group's assessrnent of the carrying 
value of rniningassets included: 

• Evaluating the forecast cash flows and 
cornparing these to the approved Ше of 
rnineplans ("LoMPs") and resource 
and reserve reports prepared Ьу third 
party experts. 
We reviewed the consistency of the 
forecast cash flows with rnodelling 
undertaken in theGroup's going 
concern assessrnent. We rnadean 
assessrnent of the experts who prepared 
the underlying inforrnation regarding 
reserves,resources and the LoMP. Our 
assessrnent involved understanding the 
scope of the experts' work and assessing 
their cornpetence and independence. 

• Reviewing the Ше of rnine plan Ьу 
rnaking enquiries of operational 
rnanagernent, evaluating against our 
understanding of the operations and 
ernpirical perforrnance, and cornparing the 
forecast to historical perforrnance. 

» Where variances were observed 
between forecast inputs and the 
equivalent historicalrnetric, we have 
challenged rnanagernent onthe basis 
for the discrepancy. 

• Testing whether the rnethodology 
applied in the value in use calculation 
is cornpliant with the requirernents of 
International AccountingStandards 
("IAS") Зб Impairment of Assets, and 
checking the rnathernatical accuracy of 
rnanagernent's rnodels. 



Кеу Audit Matter 

Carrying value 
of mining 
assets 

Кеу Audit Matter 
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How the scope of our audit addressed 
theKey Audit Matter 

• Challenging the significant inputs and 
assumptions used in the impairment 
model andwhether these were indicative 
of potential bias. Our testing included: 
» Assessment of the gemstone grades and 

price forecasts to actual grades and 
prices achievedhistorically. 

» We recalculated the discount rate and 
utilisedBDO valuation specialists to 
assess and form an opinion on the 
appropriate range of discount rates as at 
31December2020. 

» Critical review of the forecasted costs 
against the expected production profiles 
in the mine plans and historical 
performance. 

» Review of management's sensitivity 
analysisand performance of our own 
sensitivity analysis over individual 
key inputs. 

• W е reviewed the sufficiency of 
disclosures given in Note 11: Property, 
plant and equipmentagainst the 
requirements of the accounting standards, 
including the sensitivity analysis 
presented. 

Кеу observation: 
. We consider the judgements and estimates 
made Ьу management in considering the 
carrying valueof mining assets to Ье 
appropriate. 

We found the disclosures in the Financial 
Statements to Ье appropriate and in line 
withaccounting standards. 

How .the scope of our audit addressed 
theKey Audit Matter 



Gemfields Group Limited Annual Report for уеаг ended З 1 December 2020 

V aluation of As detailed in Note 2: Accounting policies Our procedures included: 
investment and Note 13: Investments, the Group holds 
in Sedibelo an investment in Sedibelo Platinum Mines • We assessed the valuation prepared Ьу а 

("SPM"). Details of the methods of third party, noting the existence of other 

valuation and the estimates and third-partyvaluations that indicated 

judgements involved are disclosed in Note alternate valuation. 

13: Investments. 
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Кеу Audit Matter 
How the scope of our audit addressed 
theKey Audit Matter 

Valuation of The primary source in determining the • We engaged our own valuation and 
investment valuation of SPM at 31 December 2020 is an technicalspecialists to assess the 
inSedibelo independent valuation report, prepared Ьу reasonableness of 

an independent third party as at 31 the methodology used and its 
December 2020. Judgement is involved in compliancewith IFRS. 
determining the fair value methodology, 
selection ofSPM's peer group, and the » We note that management's specialist 

discount factor applied. Given that was changed in the year resulting in 

significantjudgements are involved in some changesin the methodology 

determining the fair value, this is approach for determiningthe fair value 

considered to Ье а Кеу Audit Matter. ascribed as at 31December2020.We have 
considered the impact of these changes 
in methodology and challenged whether 
the change represents an indicator 
of management bias and whether the 
updatedmodel continues to result in а 
value within the acceptable range. 

• We corroborated key inputs to the 
valuation such as the enterprise values 
and resource baseof SPM' s peer group 
and SPM's own resourcebase to publicly 
available market information. 

• We challenged the appropriateness of 
SPM'speer group and the discount 
factor applied. We involved BDO 
valuation specialists in reviewing the 
basis on which the discount factor was 
determined. · 

• We assessed the independence and 
qualifications of the expert who 
prepared thevaluation report. 

• We reviewed and evaluated the 
appropriatenessof management' s 
sensitivity analysis. 

• We reviewed the sufficiency of disclosures 
in theFinancial Statements against the 
requirements of the accounting standards, 
particularly the disclosurP.s of key 
estimates and assumptions which impact 
the fair values, and the sensitivity analysis 
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thereon. 

· Кеу observation: 
Based on procedures performed, we 
concurredwith Management's position 
and considered the disclosure in the 
Consolidated Financial Statements to Ье 
appropriate. 
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Our application of materiality 
We аррІу the concept of materiality both in planning and performing our audit, and in evaluating the effect of 
misstatements. We consider materiality to Ье the magnitude Ьу which misstatements, including omissions, could 
influence the economic decisions of reasonable users that are taken on the basis of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements. 

In order to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that any misstatements exceed materiality, we use а 
lower inateriality level, performance materiality, to determine the extent of testing needed. Importantly, misstatements 
below these levels will not necessarily Ье evaluated as immaterial as we also take account of the nature of identified 
misstatements, and the particular circumstances of their occurrence, when evaluating their effect on the Financial 
Statements as а whole. 

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the Financial Statements as а whole and 
performance materiality as follows: 

Consolidated Financial Statements 

2020 2019 

Materiality USD6.5 million USD6. 9 million 

Basis for determining materiality 1 % of total assets 1 % of total assets 

Rationale for the benchmark applied We consider total assets to Ье the We consider total assets to Ье the 
mostsignificant determinant of mostsignificant determinant of 
the Grou р' sfinancial performance the Group'sfinancial performance 
for users of the Consolidated for users of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements. Financial Statements. 

The Group has invested significant The Group has invested significant 
sumson its production- and non- sumson its production and non-
production mining assets and these production mining assets and these 
are considered tobe the key value are considered tobe the key value 
driver for the Group, as its assets driver for фе Group as its assets are 
are an indicator of future value to an indicator of future value to 
shareholders. shareholders. 

Performance materiality USD4.8 million USD5. l million 

Basis for determining 
75% ofGroup 75% of Group 

performance materiality materiality 
materiality 

The level of performance materiality was set after considering а number of factors including the expected value of 
known and likely misstatements and managements attitude towards proposed misstatements. 

Сотропепt materiality 
We set materiality for each component of the Group based on а percentage of Group materiality dependent оµ the size 
and our assessment ofthe risk of material misstatement ofthat component. Component materiality ranged from USDЗ.9 
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million to USD4.S million (2019: USD2.1 million to USDS.S million). In the audit of each component, we further applied 
performance materiality levels of 75% of the component materiality to our testing to ensure that the risk of errors 
exceeding component materiality was appropriately mitigated. · 

Reporting threshold 
We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them аІІ individual audit differences in excess of USD0.3 
million (2019: USD0.3 million). We also agreed to report differences below this threshold that, in our view, warranted 
reporting on qualitative grounds. 

Other information 
The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in 
the annual report other than the Financi.al Statements and our auditor's report thereon. Our оріnіоп on the financial 
statements does not cover the other information and, except to the exteпt otherwise explicitly stated іп our report, we 
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. Our responsibility is to read the other informatioп апd, іп 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the Financial Statements or our · 
knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to Ье materially misstated. Ifwe identify such 
material inconsisteпcies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to а 
material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based оп the work we have performed, we coпclude 
that there is а material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 

We have пothing to report in this regard. 

Other Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008 reporting 
We have пothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008 requires us 
to report to you if, in our оріпіоп: 
• proper accounting records have not been kept Ьу the Company; or 
• the finaпcial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records; or 
• we have failed to obtain аІІ the information and explanations which, to the best of our kпowledge and belief, are 
necessary for the purposes of our audit. 

Responsibilities of Directors 
As ехрІаіпеd more fully in the Directors' responsibilities for financial reporting, the Directors are responsible for the 
preparatioп of the Financial Statements and for being satisfied that they give а true and fair view, and for such іпtеrпаІ 
control as the Directors determine is пecessary to епаЬІе the preparatioп of Financial Statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the Financial Statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group's апd the Parent Company's 
ability to continue as а going concern, disclosiпg, as аррІісаЬІе, matters related to goiпg concern and using the goiпg 
concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the Pareпt Company or to cease 
operations, or have по realistic alterпative but to do so. 

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Fiпancial Statements as а whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue ап auditor's report that iпcludes our оріnіоп. 
Reasonable assurance is а high level of assurance, but is not а guarantee that an audit conducted in accordaпce with 
ISAs (UK) will always detect а material misstatemeпt when it exists. Misstatements сап arise from fraud or error and are 
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considered material if, individua\ly or in the aggregate, they could reasonably Ье expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Extent to which the audit was сараЬІе of detecting irregularities, including fraud 
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line 
with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. 
The extent to which our procedures are сараЬІе of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below: 

• Holding discussions with Management and the Audit Committee to understand the \aws and regulations relevant to 
the Group and Company. These included elements of financial reporting framework, tax \egislation and environmental 
regulations. in addition to our component auditors, in-country expertise was used to support the audit assessment of 
compliance with Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008 and JSE filing requirements. 
• Holding discussions with Management, the Audit Committee, internal audit director, the Group's general counsel and 
considering any known or suspected instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations or fraud; 
• Testing the appropriateness of journal entries made throughout the year Ьу applying specific criteria to select journals 
which may Ье indicative of possible irregularities or fraud; 
• Performing а detailed review ofthe Group's year-end adjusting entries and investigating any that appear unusual as to 
nature or amount; 
• For significant and unusual transactions, investigating the possibi\ity of related parties. Where related-party 
transactions were identified, we challenged management on the business rationale for such transactions. We enquired 
of the Directors and Management of their process for ensuring that such transactions had appropriate business 
rationale; 
• Assessing the judgements made Ьу Management when making key accounting estimates and judgements, and 
challenging management on the appropriateness ofthese judgements. This included extending inquiries to individuals 
outside of Management and the accounting department to corroborate Management's ability and intent to carry out 
plans that are relevant to the estimate; and 
• Reviewing minutes from Board meetings of those charged with governance and аІІ relevant Board Committee minutes 
to identify any instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. 

Our audit procedures were designed to respond to risks of material misstatement in the Financial Statements, 
recognising that the risk of not detecting а material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment Ьу, for example, forgery, misrepresentations or 
through collusion. There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures performed and the further removed non 
compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less 
likely we are to become aware of it. 

А further description of our responsibilities is available on the Financial Reporting Council's website at: 
www.frc.org.uk/auditors responsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor's report. 

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's opinion is Scott McNaughton. 

Use of our report 
This report is made solely to the Company's members, as а body, in accordance with Section 262 of the Companies 
(Guernsey) Law, 2008. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's members those 
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. То the fullest extent permitted 
Ьу law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company's members as а 
body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 
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Scott McNaughton 
For and оп behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor 
London, United Кingdom 
29 March 2021 
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BDO LLP is а limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number ОСЗО5127). 
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SHAREHOLDERINFORMATION 
at 31December2020 

Numberof 
Shareholder spread shareholders % Number of shares % 

1-1,000 shares 648 25.81 201,502 0.02 
1,001-10,000 shares 923 36.76 4,297,097 0.37 
10,001-100,000 shares 671 26.72 21,714,927 1.86 
100,001-1,000,000 shares 177 7.05 58,831,967 5.03 
1,000,001-10,000,000 shares 69 2.75 240,622,961 20.59 
10,000,001 shares and over 23 0.92 843,087,576 72.14 

2,511 100 1,168, 756,030 100 
Distribution of shareholders 
Banks/Brokers 161 6.41 503,268,506 43.06 
Close cюrporations 28 1.12 1,913,571 0.16 
Endowment funds 2 0.08 921,437 0.08 
lndividuals 2,056 81.88 89,649,690 7.67 
Insurance companies 1 0.04 67,195,197 5.75 
Investment companies 1 0.04 226,705 0.02 
Mutual funds 17 0.68 131,275,731 11.23 
Nominees and trusts 21 0.84 30,891,576 2.64 
Other corporations 18 0.72 13,451,142 1.15 
Private companies 60 2.39 261,797,865 22.40 
Public companies 12 0.48 lQ,253,974 0.88 
Retirement funds 12 0.48 45,352,808 3.88 
Trusts 122 4.86 12,557,828 1.07 

2,511 100 1,168,756,030 100 
Publicfnon-public shareholdcrs 
Public shareholders 2,488 99.08 956,432,695 81.83 
Non-public shareholders 23 0.92 212,323,335 18.17 
Holdings of Directors1 19 0.76 212,131,001 18.15 
Prescribed Officers2 4 0.16 192,334 0.02 

2,511 100 1,168,756,030 100 

Shareholders holding 5% or more Number of shares % 

Dr Christo Wiese3 160,388,407 13.72 
FIL Limited 134,041,479 11.47 
Oasis Group Holdings (Pty) Ltd.4 94,785,218 8.11 
Rational Expectations (Pty) Ltd.5 93,278,887 7.98 
Ophorst Van Marwijk Кооу Vermogensbeheer 88,004,144 7.53 
NV 
Ninety One Grou р 68,255,891 5.84 
Solway Finance Ltd. 67,386,056 5.77 
Old Mutual Limited 67,195,197 5.75 
І Dr Christo Wiese's interest hos been included within the "Holdings of Directors" rother thon as а "Shareholder holding 10% or more". Four Gemfields Group Limifed 
Directarsown shares in the Сатрапу. as detoiled in the Financial Sfatements. The "Holdings of Directors" also include the extended family members of the Directors as 
prescribed bythe amended JSE Listings Requirements. 
2 Prescribed Officers or Кеу Management are now included in the Non-Public Shareholders in respect to the omended JSE Listings Requirements. 
З Dr Christo Wiese's ownership excludes 2,204,700 shares held Ьу his daughters and 10,000 shares held Ьу his spouse. lncluding these shares would increase Dr Wiese's 
tota/ shareholding to 13.91%. 
4 The Oasis Group shareholding includes interests held Ьу Oasis Asset Management and Oasis Crescent Capitol. 
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5 The Rationol Expecto tions shoreholding includes interests held Ьу Rationol Expectotions and its reloted entities. 
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Petra Diamonds UK Treasury Limited 
(Registration number 09519270) 
Report and financial statements for the уеаг ended ЗО June 2021 

Directors' report 

Тhе directors present their report оп the affairs of the company, together with the financial statements and auditor's report of 
Petra Diamonds UK Treasury Limited for the year ended ЗО June 2021. 

The directors took advantage of the small companies' exemption in not preparing а Strategic report. The directors have taken 
the exemptions provided to small companies and no enhanced business revlew ls provlded. 

Nature of business 

The company ls focused оп the provision of capital funding to re1ated group companies. 

Business review 

The company generated а profit after tax of R586 409 986 (2020: R1 221 797 259 - loss). 

The directors declared and pald an lпterim dividend of Rnil (2020: Rnil) as well as а final dividend of Rnil (2020: Rnil) to its 
shareholder during the year. 

Directors 

The directors, who served throughout the year, were as follows: 

Directors 
J Breytenbach 
R N Duffy 
А G К Hamilton 

Events after ЬаІапсе sheet date 

Appointed ЗО November 2020 
Resigned ЗО November 2020 

Тhе directors аге not aware of any material event which occurred after the reporling date and up to Іhе dale of this герогІ olher 
than those events disclosed ln note 11. 

Financial risk management and objectives 

The company's activities expose і! to а number of financial risks including credit risk, cash flow risk, interest rate risk and 
liquidity risk. The company is not exposed to foreign exchange risk. 

Cash Flow risk and interest rate risk 

The company's activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in interest rates. 

lnterest bearing assets accrue interest at а variable interest rate. 

Credit risk 

Тhе company's principal financial assets аге cash at bank and in hand and amounts due from group undertakings. 

The company's credit risk is primarily attributable to its amounts due from group undertakings. The соmрапу manages this risk 
Ьу assessing counter party credit worthiness. 

The credit risk on llquid funds is limited because the counter partles аге banks with high credit-ratings assigned Ьу intemational 
credit-rating agencies 

Llquldlty risk 

То maintain the liquid/ty and ensure that sufficient funds are available for ongolng operatlons and future developments, the 
company maintains flexibility through the Petra Group negotiated credit lines and the review of future cash flows from counter 
party receivables. 

The company is а guarantor for the Senior Lender Facilities as set out 1n note 10 and ls dependent upon the Petra Group. 
Refer to the going concern disclosures below which high1ight а material uncertainty that exists regarding the company's ability 
to continue as а going concern. 
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Directors' report 

1. Going concern 

The company has written confirmation of financial support from its ultimate holding company and is dependent dn the Petra 
Group ("the Group") continuing as а going concern. 

Background 

Despite facing many challenges during FY 2021, lmprovements іп market conditions and the easing of certaln COVID-19 
restriclions resulted іп an lncrease ln demand for rough diamonds, specifically during the second half on FY 2021. Тhis allowed 
for а higher volume of diamond sales to Ье generated Ьу the Petra Group (the Group), which further benefitted from а са. 9% 
increase in diamond prices on а like-for-like basis when compared to FY 2020. Іп addition, the Group recovered and sold а 
number of Exceptional Stones during FY 2021 from Cullinan, yielding а total of US$62.0 million ln sales revenues. Post year­
end, another three Exceptional Stones were sold, being а 39.Зсt blue diamond yielding US$40.18 million іп July 2021, and а 
342.9ct white diamond and an 18.Зсt blue diamond which collectively sold for US$13.5 million, while the Group retained а fifty 
percent interest in the profits, after costs, of both these stones. 

These factors, coupled with the successful completion of the Capital Restructuring (the Restructuring), resulted in solid 
progress towards stabilising the Group's balance sheet and strengthening cash reserves to the date of this report. 

The Group's liquidity outlook over the 18-month period to December 2022 remains strong, even when applying sensitivities to 
the base case forecast. However, since covenants were set lightly in the base case at the time of the Restructuring, the debt 
service cover гаtіо ("DSCR") covenant, which does not factor in available liquidity nor conslder leverage levels, remains 
sensitive to trading conditions during this period. Under certain stressed-case scenarios, projections indicate thal the DSCR 
covenant may Ье breached; however, the Group is forecast to have adequate liquidity to fully рау down the drawn facilities prior 
to any potential breach occurring and retain adequate liquidity and is, therefore, not reliant on the facilities. The Group has also 
commenced with steps towards renegotiating available banking facilities and associated covenants to address the risk of а 
breach occurring. 

Capital Restructuring 

The Restructuring completed in March 2021 and significantly reduced the Group's gross debt from US$817.5 million directly 
before the Restructuring to US$450.1 million thereafter, with some US$10.З million (ZAR160 million) remalning undrawn and 
available to the Petra Group at year end. 

Loan Notes reduced from US$713.7 million (US$650 mШion capital plus accrued interest of са. US$63.7 million to date of 
settlement) to US$336.7 million, while debt owed under the Group's banking facilities saw an additional US$10.3 million 
(ZAR160 million) revolving credit facility being made available to the Group, increasing these facilities to ZAR560 million, while 
lhe previous ZAR500 million working capital facility and the ZAR683 million ВЕЕ guarantee facilities were refinanced and 
replaced Ьу а ZAR1 .2 ЬіІІіоп amortising Term Loan. 

South African Operations 

Cullinan performed well during FY 2021, delivering record throughput supported Ьу Project 2022 iniliatives. Finsch was 
impacted Ьу unexpected levels of waste ingress, reducing both throughput and grades recovered at the mine. The longer-term 
impact of the waste ingress has been assessed through geological simulations, with results informing revised LOM planning 
models, as well as resultant cashflow projections. Short term disruptions were also experienced after unusually heavy ralnfalls 
hampered operations at both Finsch and Koffiefontein during QЗ FY 2021. Since the start of FY 2022, the mlnes have largely 
delivered in line with, ог slightly exceeding, management expectations. During September 2021, Cullinan experienced а 
sudden and rapld onset of tunnel convergence, calling for immediate intervention. The tunnel convergence affected 8 tunnels 
and 187 drawpoints, an investigation to establish the root cause is in progress. Cullinan's production is now expected to Ье at 
the lower end of the FY 2022 guidance. 

COVID-19 

Some uncertainty still exists around the ongoing impact of COVID-19 on the Group. ln South Africa, we аге currently 
experiencing а third wave of infections and the disruptlon to operations is mainly around the necessary quaranlining of 
confirmed or suspected cases amongst our workforce. However, we have the systems and processes іп рІасе to manage this 
without materially impacting production. Our focus now ls on assisting the Government with its vaccination drive and we have 
vaccination stations and campaigns to encourage their uptake available аІ, ог near to, each of our operations. 

The Group continues to sell ils product through а dual tender system - first via the mandatory tender held in South Africa, with 
the bulk of the goods then exported to Ье sold in Antwerp. This approach ensures maximum exposure Іо potential bidders and, 
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Directors' report 

in turn, stronger competition and improved pricing. Further waves of outbreak and repeat restrictions on international travel may 
negatively impact the Group's short and medium-term liquidity profile due to the potential impact on production, abllity to hold 
tenders and/or demand for rough diamonds and, consequently, diamond prices. 

Williamson mine, Tanzania 

The Petra Board took the decision to dispose of the Williamson operation as at ЗО June 2021. Тhе Williamson mine remalned 
оп саге and maintenance throughout FY 2021, only recommencing production during October 2021 glven lmproving market 
conditions. The mine's own liquidity position, was bolstered Ьу USD 10.0 million in VAT refunds received during FY 2021, 
coupled with support from the ІосаІ mining contractor in the form of deferred payment terms, and availability of additional 
working capital funding from Petra Diamonds Ltd (US$6 million) during the start-up period, assisted the operation to reach 
commercial production levels during October 2021. The first sale of goods from Williamson, post the restart of operations, took 
рІасе during November 2021 and included а З2.З2 carat pink stone of exceptional colour and clarity which was sold for 
US$18.8 million. 

ln addition, the Petra Group concluded discussions with the Government of Tanzania ("GoT') around various issues lncluding, 
inter аІіа, the sharing of economic benefit, the recoverability of VAT receivables, and the potential release of the blocked 
diamond parcel Ьу entering into а framework agreement on 1 З December 2021, expected to become effective during СУ 2022. 
Williamson's liquidity posltion ls reliant on its ability to generate cash through operations; and/or its abiiity to reach agreement 
with the GoT allowing it to sell the blocked diamond parcel and around potential recoupment ofthe ЬаІапсе ofVAT receivables; 
and/or its ability to procure funding via borrowings from ІосаІ financial institutions. 

Notwithstanding receiving approval from the GoT to proceed with arranging а US$25.0 million working capital facility from а 
ІосаІ Tanzanian bank, while pledging its own assets as security, the mine has not yet been аЬІе to secure such funding. Earlier 
discussions wlth а ІосаІ bank for а possible working capital facility was not successful given the mine is still in саге and 
maintenance. The Tanzanian banks suggested that they may consider advancing а facility post restart of operations, although 
this remains uncertain. Under the terms of the in-principle agreements with the South African Lender Group, any additional 
funding Ьу Petra would require its approval and if not provided may result in Williamson's insolvent llquidation. 

Forecast liquidity and covenants 

The Petra Board has reviewed the Group's forecasts and sensitivities for the 18 months to December 2022, inc!uding both 
forecast liquidity and covenants. Careful consideration was given to potential risks to the forecasts under the review period. The 
Board carefully considered risks associated with COVI0-19 which were considered to focus primarily on the potential forfurther 
production disruption, deferral of tenders due to travel restrictions and adverse impacts оп diamond pricing. 

ln light of both norma1 trading risks and elevated risks associated with the potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, the 
following have been key considerations for the Board іп assessing the Group's ability to operate as а going concem at the date 
of this report: 

• an unforeseen disruption to operations at its South African mines due to either COVID-19 restrictions ог otherwise, 
including adverse weather conditions; 

а sustained 5% decrease in forecast rough diamond prlces throughout the forecast period; 

• an unforeseen deferral of а rough diamond tender, due to COVID-19 restrictions, coupled with а significant price 
decline at an assumed subsequent private sale (in line with а similar process followed in FY 2020); and 

• an increase in forecast operating cost. 

Under the base case, the forecasts indicate that the Group will Ье аЬІе to operate within the covenants set out in the financing 
agreements and maintain sufficient liquidity. 

However, as detailed above, the first lien covenants were set wlth limlted headroom to the Group's base case. As such, results 
of the stress testing indicate that in the event of а combination of аІІ tested scenarios, possible covenant breaches associated 
with the South African banking faciiities may occur at June 2022 while а breach is also projected in December 2022 on an 
individual stress test basis. At the time of any covenant breach in June 2022 and December 2022 under such scenarios, 
projected cash balances exceed outstanding debt under these facilities, which would allow the Group to fully рау down the 
drawn facillties prior to the Ьгеасh occurring and maintain adequate liquidity. The forecasts indicate that under the sensitivity 
scenarios. the Group is not reliant оп the facilities. 
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Concluslon 

The Petra Board is of the view that the longer-term fundamentals of the diamond market remain sound апd that the Petra 
Group will coпtinue to beпefit from Project 2022 (which iпcludes iпcreased production апd reduced spend) throughout the 
review period апd beyond. 

Based оп its assessment of the forecasts, principal risks апd uпcertaiпties and miligating actions considered available to the 
Petra Group ln the event of downside scenarios, the Petra Board confinns that it is satisfied that the Petra Group will Ье аЬІе to 
continue to operate and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the review period. Accordingly, the Petra Board has concluded 
that the going concem basis in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate and that there are по material 
uncertainties that would cast doubt оп that basis of preparation. 

Accordingly, апd having updated thelr lпquiries of the Petra Group Management and their оwп assessments to date, the 
directors have concluded that the going concern basis of preparation remains appropriate for the company. 

Directors' indemnities 

Тhе company has arranged qualifying third party indemпity iпsuraпce for the benefit of its directors which were іп office during 
the period and lhe indemnity remains in force at the date of this report. 

Auditors 

Each of the persons who is а director at the date of approval of the report confirm that: 

• so far as the director is aware, there is по relevant audit informatioп of which the company's auditor is unaware; апd 

• the director has taken аІІ the steps that they ought to have taken as director in order to make themselves aware of any 
relevaпt audlt lnformatlon and to establish that the company's auditor is aware of that lnformation. 

This confirmatioп is given and should Ье lnterpreted in accordance with the provisions of Section 418 of the Companles Act 
2006. 

Approved Ьу the board оп 15 December 2021 and signed on its behalf Ьу: 

..._ 
J Breytenbach 
Director 

15 December 2021 
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Directors• responsibilities and approval 

The directors are responsible fог preparing the directors' report and lhe financial statements in accordance with аррІісаЬІе Іаw 
and regulations. 

Company law requires the directors to ргераге financial statements fог each financial year. Under that law the directors have 
elected to ргераге the financial statements in accordance with. Uniled Кingdom Generally Accepted Accounling Ргасtісе 
(United Kingdom Accouпting Standards апd аррІісаЬІе law) including FRS 101. Under company law the directors must поt 
арргоvе the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give а true and fаіг view of the state of affairs of \he 
company and of the profit ог loss of the company fог that period. 

ln preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to: 

• select suitable accounting policies and then аррІу them consistently; 

• make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

• state whether аІІ accounting standards have been followed subject to any ma\erial departures disclosed and explained 
in the financial statements; and 

• ргераrе the financial statements on the going concern basis unless lt is inappropriate to presume that the company will 
continue in business. 

The directors аге responsible fог keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explaln the company's 
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and enable them to 
ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. Тhеу аге also responslble fог safeguarding the 
assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps fог the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
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lndependent auditor's report to the members of Petra Diamonds UK Treasury Limited 

Opinion 

ln our opinion, the financial statements: 

• give а true and fair view of the state of the Company's affairs as at ЗО June 2021 and of its profit for the year then 
ended; 

have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and 

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companles Ас! 2006. 

We have audited the financial statements of Petra Diamonds UK Treasury Limited ("the Company"} for the year ended ЗО 
June 2021 which comprise the profit and loss account, statement of comprehensive income, balance sheet, the statement of 
changes in equity and notes to the financial statements, including а summary of significant accounting policies. The financial 
reporting framework that has Ьееn applied in their preparation is аррІісаЬІе law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, 
including Financial Repor1ing Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Frameworl< (United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice). 

Basis for oplnion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with lnternational Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and аррІісаЬІе law. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are fur1her described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide а basis for our оріпіоп. 

lndependence 

We аге independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with these requirements. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

ln auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting in 
the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. · 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any materlal uncertalnties relating to events or conditions that, 
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability Іо continue as а golng concern for а period of 
at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Directors with respect to going concem are described in the relevant 
sections of this report. 

Other lnformation 

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included іп the 
аппuаІ report, other thaп the fiпancial statemeпts апd our auditor's report thereoп. Our opinion on the fiпancial statements 
does not cover the other information and, except to the exteпt otherwise ехрІісіІІу stated Іп our report, we do по! express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon. our responsibility is to read the other iпformation апd, іп doiпg so, coпsider whether 
the other information is materially iпconsistent with the fiпancial statements or our knowledge obtaiпed іп the audit or 
otherwise appears to Ье materially mlsstated. lf we identify such material inconsisteп·cies or apparent material 
misstatements, we аге required to determine whether there is а material misstatement іп the fiпancial statements or а 
material misstatement of the other information. lf, ba!)ed оп the work we have performed, we conclude that there is а 
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Other Companies Act 2006 reporting 

ln our opinion: 

• the information given in the Directors' report for the financial for which the financial statements are prepared is 
consistent with the financial statements; апd 

the Directors' report has been prepared in accordance wlth аррІісаЬІе Jegal requirements. 

ln the light of the kпowledge and understanding of the Company and its enviroпment obtained in the course of the audit, we 
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lndependent auditor's report 

have not identified material misstatements in the Directors' report. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which lhe Companies Act 2006 requires us to 
report to you if, in our opinion: 

• adequate accounting records have nol been kept, ог returns adequate for our audit have not been recelved from 
branches not visited Ьу us; ог 

• the financlal statements аге not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 

• certain disclosures of Directors' remuneration specified Ьу law are not made; ог 

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. ;or 

• the Directors were not entitled to рrераге the financial statements in accordance with lhe small companies regime 
and take advantage of the small companies' exemptions in preparing the Directors' report and from the requiremenl 
to ргераге а Strategic report. 

Responsibilities of Directors 

As explalned mоге fully ln the Directors' responsibilities· statement, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements and for being satisfied thal they give а true and fаіг view, and for such internal control as the Directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error·. 

ln preparing the financial stalemenls, the Directors. are responsible for assessing the Company's ability to conlinue as а 
golng concern, disclosing, as аррІісаЬІе, matters relaled !о going concern and using Іhе going concern basis of accounting 
unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Company ог Іо cease operations, ог have no realistic alternative but to do 
so. 

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financlal statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as а whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to lssue an audltor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is а high Jevel of assurance, but is not а guarantee that ап audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will 
always detect а material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and аге considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably Ье expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these financlal statements. 

Extent to which the audit was сараЬІе of detectlng irregularities, including fraud 

lrregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in Ііпе with 
our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent 
to which оuг procedures are сараЬІе of detecting irregularities, lncluding fraud is detailed below: 

• We held discussions wlth Management Іо consider any known ог suspected instances of non-compllance with laws 
and regulations or fraud identified Ьу them; 

• We gained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework аррІісаЬІе to the Company and the industry in 
which it operates, through discussion with Management and our knowledge of the industry; 

• We considered the significant laws and regulations of the UK to Ье that relating to the industry, financial reporting 
framework and tax leglslation. 

We assessed the susceptibility of the Company's financial statements to material misstatement, including how fraud 
might occur Ьу obtaining an understanding of the controls that the Company has established to address risks 
ldentified Ьу the entity, ог thal otherwise seek to prevent, deter or detect fraud. We considered the significant fraud 
risk areas to Ье management override of controls; 

• We addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including testing а risk based selectlons of 
journals and evaluating whether there was evidence of bias іп Management's estimates that represented а material 
misstatement due to fraud. Specifically: 

We tested the appropriateness of journal entries made through the уеаг Ьу applying specific criteria Іо 
detect possible irregularities and fraud; 
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lndependent auditor's report 

We performed а detailed review of the Company's year-end adjusting entries and investigated any that 
арреаг unusual as to nature or amount and agreeing to supporting documentation; 

For significant and unusual transactions, particularly those occurring at ог near year-end, we obtained 
evidence for the rationale of these transactions and the sources of financial resources supporting the 
transactions; 

Our audit procedures were designed to respond to risks of material misstatement in the financial statements, recognising 
that the risk of not detecting а material mlsstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment Ьу, for example, forgery, misrepresentations or through collusion. There 
are inherent limitations in the audit procedures performed and the further removed non-compliance with laws and 
regulations is from the events and transactions reflected ln the financial statements, the less likely we are Іо become aware 
of іІ. 

А further descrlption of our responslbilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Flnancial Reporting 
Councll's website at: 
https:l/www.frc.orq.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor's report. 

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the Company's· members, as а body, in accordance with Chapter З of Part 16 of the Companies 
Ас! 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's members those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. То the fullest extent permitted Ьу law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company's members as а body, for our audit 
work, for this report, ог for the opinions we have forrned. 

г.DocuSlgned Ьу: 

~~~!зе~~ЧР:~~е 
J1ІІ Macrae (::їen1or Statutory Audltor) 
For and оп behalf of BDO LLP, statutory auditor 
London · 
15 December 2021 

BDO LLP is а limited liabllity partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number ОС305127). 
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Petra Diamonds UK Treasury Limited 
(Registration number 09519270) 
Report and financial statements for the уеаг ended ЗО June 2021 

Profit and loss account 

Other operating (loss) profit 
Movement in credlt loss allowances 
Administrative expenses 

Operating profit (loss) 

lnterest receivable 

Profit (loss) before taxatlon 
Taxatlon 

Retained profit (loss) for the year 

The above results were derived from continuing operations. 

Notes 

9 
6 

2 
з 

5 

2021 2020 
R 'ООО R'OOO 

(11) 1 678 
281 965 (1 598 265) 

(139) (320) 

281 815 (1 596 907) 

304 595 375109 

586 410 (1 221 798) 

586 410 (1 221 798) 

The accounting policies on pages 15 to 20 and the notes on pages 21 to 26 form an integral part of these report and financial 
statements. 
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Petra Diamonds UK Treasury Limited 
(Registration number 09519270) 
Report and financial statements for the year eпded ЗО June 2021 

Statement of comprehensive income 

Profit (loss) for the year 
Other compreheпsive іпсоmе 

Total comprehensive income (loss) 

The above results were derived from continuing operations. 

Notes 
2021 

R'OOO 

586 410 

586 410 

2020 
R'OOO 

(1 221 798) 

(1 221 798) 

The accouпting policies оп pages 15 to 20 and the пotes оп pages 21 to 26 form ал integral part of these report and finaпcial 
statemeпts. 

12 



Petra Diamonds UK Treasury Limited 
(Registration number 09519270) · 
Report and financial statements for the year ended ЗО June 2021 

Balance sheet as at ЗО June 2021 

Assets 
Debtors: amounts falling due after one year 
Debtors: amounts falling due within one year 
Cash and cash equivalents 

Total assets 

Liablllties 

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 
Other creditors and accruals 

Total liabilities 

Net assets 

Capital and reserves 
Called-up share capital 
Share premium account 
Profit and loss account 

Total shareholders' surplus 

Notes 

6 

7 
8 
8 

2021 
R'OOO 

з 198 886 

79 

з 198 965 

53 

53 

з 198 912 

137 126 
2 605 396 

456 390 

з 198 912 

2020 
R'OOO 

2 612 431 
20 

226 

2 612 677 

175 

175 

2 612 502 

137 126 
2 605 396 
{130 020) 

2 612 502 

The report and financial statements of Petra Diamonds UK Treasury Limited were approved Ьу the directors and authorised for 
issue on 15 December 2021. · 

They were signed оп its behalf Ьу: 

J Breytenbach 
Director 
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Petra Diamonds UK Treasury Limited 
(Registratlon number 09519270) 
Report and financial statements for the year ended ЗО June 2021 

Statement of changes in equity 
Called-up 

share capital 
R'OOO 

Balance at 01 July 2019 137 126 

Loss for the year 
Other comprehensive income 

Total comprehensive Loss fог the year 

Balance at 01 July 2020 137126 

Profit for the year 
Other comprehensive lncome 

Total comprehensive income for the year 

Balance at ЗО June 2021 137126 

Share premium Profit and Т otal equity 
loss account 

R'OOO R'OOO R'OOO 

2 605 396 1 091 778 з 834 300 

(1 221 798) (1 221 798) 

(1 221 798) (1 221 798) 

2 605 396 (130 020) 2 612 502 

586 410 586 410 

586 410 586 410 

2 605 396 456 390 з 198 912 

The accounting policies оп pages 15 to 20 and the notes оп pages 21 to 26 form an integral part of the report and financial 
statements. 
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Petra Diamonds UK Treasury Limited 
(Registration number 09519270) 
Report and financial statements for the year ended ЗО June 2021 

Accounting policies 

General information 

Petra Diamonds UK Treasury Limited is а private company limited Ьу share capital incorporated in England and Wales and 
domiciled in the United Kingdom. 

The address of the registered office is Suite 31, Second Floor, 107 Cheapside, London, EC2V 6DN. 

These financial statements аге presented in South African Rand because that is the currency of the primary economic 
environment in whlch the company provides funding and the company's share capital and debtors are South African Rand 
denominated. 

Basis of preparatlon 

The financiai statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. 

1. Slgnlflcant accounting policies 

The principal accounting policles applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have 
been consistently applied during the perlods, unless olherwise slated. 

Basis of accounting 

Тhе company meets the definition of а qualifying entity under Financial Reporting Standard (FRS) 1 ОО issued Ьу the Flnanclal 
Reporting Council. The financial statements have therefore been prepared in accordance with FRS 101 'Reduced Disclosure 
Framework' as lssued Ьу the Financial Reporting Council. 

Golng concern 

The company has written confirmation of financial support from its ultimate ho!ding company and is dependent оп the Petra 
Group ("the Group") continuing as а going concern. 

Background 

Despite facing many challenges during FY 2021, improvements in market conditions and the easing of certain COVID-19 
restrictions resulted in an increase in demand for rough diamonds, specificaily during the second half on FY 2021. This allowed 
for а higher volume of diamond sales to Ье generated Ьу the Petra Group (the Group), which further benefitted from аса. 9% 
increase in diamond prices on а like-for-like basis when compared to FY 2020. ln addition, the Group recovered and sold а 
number of Exceptional Stones during FY 2021 from Cullinan, yielding а total of US$62.0 million in sales revenues. Post year­
end, another three Exceptlonal Stones were sold, being а 39.Зсt blue diamond yielding US$40.18 million in July 2021, and а 
342.9ct white diamond and an 18.Зсt blue diamond which collectively sold for US$13.5 million, while the Group retained а fifty 
регсегіt interest ln the profits, after costs, of both these stones. 

These factors, coupled with the successful completion of the Capital Restructuring (the Restructuring), resulted in solid 
progress towards stabllising the Group's balance sheet and strengthening cash reserves to the date of this reporl. 

The Group's liquidity outlook over the 18-month period to December 2022 remains strong, even when applying sensitivities to 
the base case forecast. However, slnce covenants were set tightly in the base case at the time of the Restructuring, the debt 
service cover ratio C'DSCR") covenant, which does not factor in available liquidity nог consider leverage levels, remains 
sensitive to trading conditions durlng this period. Under certain stressed-case scenarios, projections indicate that the DSCR 
covenant may Ье breached; however, the Group is forecast to have adequate liquidity to fully рау down the drawn facilities prior 
to any potential breach occurring and retaln adequate liquidity and is, therefore, not reliant on the facilities. Тhе Group has also 
commenced with steps towards renegotiating available banking facilities and associated covenants to address the risk of а 
breach occurring. 

Capltal Restructuring 

The Restructuring completed in March 2021 and significantly reduced the Group's gross debt from US$817.5 million directly 
before the Restructuring to US$450.1 million thereafter, with some US$10.3 million (ZAR160 mlllion) remaining undrawn and 
available to the Реtга Group at уеаг end. 

Loan Notes reduced from US$713.7 million (US$650 million capital plus accrued interest of са. US$63.7 million to date of 
settlement) to US$336.7 million, while debt owed under the Group's banking facilities saw an additional US$10.3 million 
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Accounting policies 

(ZAR160 million) revolving credit facility being made available to the Group, increasing these facilities to ZAR560 million, while 
the prevlous ZAR500 mlllion worklng · capital facllity and the ZAR68З million ВЕЕ guarantee facilities were refinanced and 
replaced Ьу а ZAR1 .2 billion amortising Term Loan. 

South African Operations 

Culllnan performed well during FY 2021, delivering record throughput supported Ьу Project 2022 initiatives. Finsch was 
impacted Ьу unexpected levels of waste ingress, reducing both throughput and grades recovered at the mine. The longer-term 
impact of the waste ingress has been assessed through geological simulations, with results informing revised LOM planning 
models, as well as resultant cashflow projections. Short term disruptions were also experienced after unusually heavy rainfalls 
hampered operations at both Finsch and Koffiefontein during QЗ FY 2021. Since the start of FY 2022, the mines have largely 
delivered in line with, or slightly exceeding, management expectations. During September 2021, Cullinan experlenced а 
sudden and rapid onset of tunnel convergence, calling for immediate intervention. The tunnel convergence affected 8 tunnels 
and 187 drawpolnts, an investigation to establish the root cause is in progress. Cullinan's production is now expected to Ье at 
the Іоwег end ofthe FY 2022 guidance. 

COVID-19 

Some uncertainty still exists around the ongoing impact of COVID-19 on the Group. South Africa has experienced ongoing 
waves of infections and the disruption to the Group's operations mainly concerns the necessary quarantining of confirmed or 
suspected cases amongst our workforce. However, the Petra Group has the systems and processes in рІасе to manage this 
without materially impacting production. Our focus now is on assisting the Government with its vaccination drive and we have 
vaccination stations and campaigns to encourage their uptake available at, ог near to, each of our operations. 

The Group continues to sell its product through а dual tender system - first via the mandatory tender held ln South Africa, with 
the bulk of the goods then exported to Ье sold ln Antwerp. This approach ensures maximum exposure to potential bidders and, 
in turn, stronger competition and improved pricing. Further waves of outbreak and repeat restrictions on international travel may 
negatively impact the Group's short and medium-term liquidity profile due to the potential impact on production, ability to hold 
tenders andlor demand for rough diamonds and, consequently, diamond prlces. 

Williamson mine, Tanzania 

The Petra Board took the declsion to dlspose of the Willlamson operation as at ЗО June 2021. The Williamson mine remained 
on саге and maintenance throughout FY 2021, only recommencing production durlng October 2021 glven improving market 
conditions. The mine's own liquidity position, was bolstered Ьу USD 10.О million in VAT refunds received during FY 2021, . 
coupled with support from the ІосаІ mining contractor in the form of deferred payment terms, and availability of additional 
working capital funding from Petra Diamonds Ltd (US$6 million) during the start-up period, assisted the operatlon to reach 
commercial production levels during October 2021. The first sale of goods from Williamson, post the restart of operations, took 
рІасе during November 2021 and lncluded а 32.З2 carat pink stone of exceptional colour and clarity which was sold for 
US$18.8 million. 

ln addition, the Petra Group concluded discussions with the Government of Tanzania ("GоТ") around various issues including, 
inter .аІіа, the sharing of economic benefit, the recoverability of VAT receivables, and the potential release of the blocked 
diamond parcel Ьу entering lnto а framework agreement on 1З December 2021, expected to become effective during СУ 2022. 
Williamson's liquidity position is reliant оп its ability to generate cash through operations; andlor its ability to reach agreement 
with the GoT allowing it to sell the blocked diamond parcel and around potential recoupment ofthe balance ofVAT receivables; 
and/or lts ability to procure funding via borrowings from ІосаІ financial lnstitutions. 

Notwithstanding receiving approval from Іhе GoT to proceed with arranging а US$25.0 million working capital facility from а 
ІосаІ Tanzanian bank, while pledging its own assets as security, the mine has not yet been аЬІе Іо secure such funding. Earlier 
discussions with а ІосаІ bank for а possible working саріІаІ facllity was not successful given the mine is still in care and 
maintenance. The Tanzanian banks suggested lhat they may consider advancing а facility post restart of operations, allhough 
this remains uncertain. Under. the terms of the in-principle agreements with the South African Lender Group, any additional 
funding Ьу Petra would require its approval and if not provided may result in Williamson's lnsolvent liquidation. 

Forecast liquidity and covenants 

The Petra Board has reviewed the Group's forecasts and sensitivities for the 18 months to December 2022, includlng both 
forecast liquidity and covenants. Careful consideration was given to potential risks to the forecasts under the review period. The 
Board carefully considered risks associated with COVID-19 which were considered to focus primarily on the potential for further 
production disruption, deferral of tenders due to travel restrictions and adverse impacts on diamond pricing. 

Іn light of both normal trading risks and elevated risks associated wlth the potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, the 
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Accounting policies 

followiпg have been key coпsiderations for the Board Іп assessiпg the Group's ability to operate as а goiпg сопсеrп at the date 
of thls report: 

• ап unforeseen disruptioп to operations at its South African miпes due to either COVID-19 restrictioпs or otherwise, 
includiпg adverse weather coпditioпs; 

• а sustaiпed 5% decrease in forecast rough diamond prices throughout the forecast period; 

• ап uпforeseen deferral of а rough diamoпd tender, due to COVID-19 restrictioпs, coupled with а sigпificaпt price 
decline at an assumed subsequeпt private sale (іп Ііпе with а similar process followed іп FY 2020); апd 

• an iпcrease іп forecast operatiпg cost. 

Uпder the base case, the forecasts indicate that the Group will Ье аЬІе to operate within the coveпants set out іп the fіпапсіпg 
agreemeпts апd maiпtain sufficieпt liquidity. 

However, as detailed above, the first lien coveпaпts were set with limited headroom to the Group's base case. As such, results 
of the stress testiпg indicate that іп the eveпt of а соmЬіпаtіоп of аІІ tested scenarios, possible соvепапt breaches associated 
with the South African bankiпg facillties may occur at Juпe 2022 while а breach is also projected іп December 2022 оп ап 
iпdividual stress test basis. At the time of any соvепапt breach in June 2022 апd December 2022 uпder such sceпarlos, 
projected cash ЬаІапсеs exceed outstaпding debt under these facilities, which would allow the Group to fully рау down the 
drawп facilities prior to the breach occurriпg апd mаіпtаіп adequate liquidity. The forecasts iпdicate that under the seпsitivity 
scenarios, the Group is not reliaпt on the facilities. 

Concluslon 

The Petra.Board ls of the view that the loпger-term fuпdameпtals of the diamond market remain sound and that the Petra 
Group will continue to benefit from Project 2022 (which includes increased productioп and reduced spend) throughout the 
review period and beyond. 

Based on its assessment of the forecasts, principal risks and uncer1ainties апd mitlgating actions considered available to the 
Petra Group in the event of downside sceпarios, the Petra Board confirms that it is satisfied that the Petra Group will Ье аЬІе to 
coпtinue to operate and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the review period. Accordingly, the Petra Board has concluded 
that the going concern basis іп the preparatioп of the fіпапсіаІ statemeпts ls appropriate апd that there are по material 
uncer1ainties that would cast doubt оп that basis of preparatioп. · 

Accordiпgly, апd havlng updated their inquiries of the Petra Group Managemeпt апd their оwп assessmeпts to date, based оп 
the above апd the company's uпderlying depeпdence оп the Petra Group's mining operatioпs, the directors have concluded 
that the goiпg concern basis of preparation remaiпs appropriate for the соmрапу. 

Summary of dlsclosure exemptions 

As permitted Ьу FRS 101, the соmрапу has takeп advaпtage of the disclosure exemptions available uпder that standard іп 
relation to сеr1аіп fіпапсІаІ instruments, capital maпagemeпt, presentation of cash-flow statemeпt, statemeпts поt yet effective 
апd related party traпsactioпs. 

Where relevant, equivaleпt disclosures have been given in the group accouпts of Petra Diamoпds Limited. The group accouпts 
of Petra Diamonds Limited аге available to the public and сап Ье obtained as set out in note 12. 

The principal accouпting policies adopted аге set out below. 

Share capital 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Equlty lnstruments аге measured at the fair value of the cash ог other resources 
received or receivable net of the direct costs of issuing the equity instruments. 

Ordinary shares are recognised at par value and classified as 'share capital' ln equity. Any amounts received from the issue of 
shares in excess of par value is classified as 'share premlum' in equity. Divideпds аге recognised as а liability in the уеаг in 
which they аге declared. 
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Flnanclal instruments 

Classification 

Financial assets and financial liabllities are recognised in the company's ЬаІапсе sheet when the Company becomes а party to 
·the contractual provlsions of the instrument. Financial assets and financlal liabilities аге initially measured at fair value and 
subsequenf/y af amortised cost. Transaction cosls that are direcl/y altributable to lhe acquisilion or issue of financial assets 
and financial liabilities аге added to ог deducted from the fair value of the fіпапсіаІ assefs апd financial liabililies, as 
appropriate, on recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss are recogпised immediately in profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities and equlty 

Debt and equity instruments аге classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the 
contractual agreement. 

Equity instruments 

An equity instrumeпt is any contract that evidences а residual iпterest in the assets of an entity after deducting аІІ of its 
liabilities. Equity instruments issued Ьу the company аге recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. 

Financial liabilitles 

Financial liabilities are subsequeпtly measured at amortised cost. 

Loans and borrowings 

Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, аге classified as financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost. 

Other financial liabilities are measured at initial recognltion, at fair value plus transaction costs, if any. 

Other financlal liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest 
expense recognised on an effective yield basis. 

The effective interest method is а method of calculating the amortised cost of а financial liability and of allocating interest 
expense over the relevant period. The effeclive inlerest rate is the rate fhal exactly discounts estimated fulure cash payments 
through the expected life of Іhе financial liability, or, where appropriate, а shorter period, to fhe net carrying amount оп initial 
recognition. 

Loans to І (from) group companies 

Loans receivable are recogпised wheп the company becomes а party to the contractual provisioпs of the loan. The loans аге 
measured, at initial recogпition, at fair value plus transactioп costs, if any. Тhеу are subsequently measured at amortised cost. 
The amortised cost is the amouпt recogпised оп the Іоап іпіtіаІІу, minus рrіпсіраІ repayments, plus cumulative amortisation 
(interest) using the effective iпterest method of апу difference betweeп the іпіtіаІ amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for 
any loss allowance.lпterest іпсоmе is calculated using the effective inferest method, and is included in profit or /oss in 
iпvestmeпt income. · 

The аррІісаtіоп of the effective interest method to calculafe iпterest income оп а loan receivable is depeпdent оп the credit risk 
of the loan as follows: 

• The effective iпterest rate is appiied to fhe gross carrying amouпt of the Іоап, provided the Іоап is поt credit impaired. 
The gross carrying amount is the amortised cost before adjustiпg for а loss аІ/оwапсе. 

• lf а loan is purchased or originated as credit-impaired, theп а credit-adjusted effective iпterest rate is applied to the 
amortised cost in the delerminatioп of interest. This treatmeпt does поt chaпge over the life of the іоап, еvеп if it is no 
longer credit-impaired. 

lf а Іоап was not purchased or originally credit-impaired, but it has subsequeпtly become credit-impaired, theп the 
effective iпterest rate is applied to the amortised cost of the loan іп the determination of iпterest. lf, іп subsequent 
periods, the loan is no longer credit impaired, theп the iпteresf calculation reverts to applying the effective iпterest rate 
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Accounting policies 

Financial instruments (continued) 

to the gross carrying amount. 

lmpairment or reversal 

lmpairment provisions for receivables from related parties and loans to related parties are recognised based оп а forward 
looking expected credit loss (ECL) model. The methodology used to determine the amount of the provision is based on whether 
there has Ьееп а significant increase ln credit risk sіпсе initial recognition of the financial asset. For those where the credit risk 
has not increased significantly slnce initial recogпition of the finaпcial asset, 12-month expected credit losses along with gross 
interest income are recognlsed. For those for which credit risk has increased significantly, lifetime expected credit losses along 
with the gross interest income аге recognised. For those that are determined to Ье credit impaired, lifetime expected credit 
losses along with iпterest income on а net basls аге recognised. 

Trade and other payables 

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequeпtly measured at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest method. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash оп hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments that 
are readily convertible to а knowп amount of cash .and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. These are lnitially 
and subsequently recorded at fair value. 

Тах 

The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently рауаЬІе and deferred tax. 

Current tax 

Тhе tax currently рауаЬІе is based оп taxable profit for the period. ТахаЬІе profit differs from net profit as reported in the 
lncome statemeпt because it excludes items of income ог ехрепsе that аге taxable or deductible in other years and it further 
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The company's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that 
have been enacted or substaпtively enacted Ьу the balance sheet date. 

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is the tax expected to Ье рауаЬІе or recoverable on differences between the carryiпg amounts of assets and 
liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is 
accounted for using the balance sheet ІіаЬіІіtу method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recpgnised for аІІ taxable temporary 
differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will Ье available against 
which deductible temporary differences сап Ье utilised. Such assets and liabilities а.ге not recognlsed if the temporary 
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in а business comblnation) of 
other assets and liabllities in а transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that і\ is по 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will Ье available to allow аІІ or part of the asset to Ье recovered. 

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to аррІу ln the period when the liability is settled or the asset is 
realised based on tax law and rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflect the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which 
the company expects at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities аге offset when there is а legafly enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current 
tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied Ьу the same taxation authority and the company intends to settle i\s 
current tax assets and liabilities on а net basis. 
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Accounting policies 

Тах (contlnued) 

Cur(ent and deferred tax for the period 

Current and deferred tax аге recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items lhat аге recognised in other 
comprehensive income ог directly in equity, in which case, the current апd deferred tax аге also recognised in other 
comprehensive income ог directly in equity respectively. 

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

ln the applicallon of the Company's accounting policies, which аге described above, the directors are required to make 
judgements, estimates and assumplions about the carrying amounts os assets and liabililies that аге not readily apparent from 
other sources. The estimates and associaled assumptions are based оп hlstorical experience and other factors that are 
considered to Ье relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions аге reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting, estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, ог in the period of the revision 
and future periods if the revision affects both the current and future periods. 

lmpairment or reversal of financial assets 

The impairmenl provisions for financial assels are based оп assumptions aЬout risk of defaull and expecled loss rates. The 
judgement is based upon factors including post-tax cashflows over the remaining LOM the life of mine ("LOM") plans of 
underlying operations and strategic pians taking into account past hlstory, existing market conditions as well as qualitative and 
quantitative reasonable and supportable forward looking information. 

Life of mine and ore reserves/resources 

There are numerous risks inherent іп estimating ore reserves and resources and the associated current LOM plan. The LOM 
plan for each mіпе ls the current approved management plan for ore extraction that considers specific ore reserves and 
resources and associated capital expenditure. The LOM рІап frequently includes fewer tonnes than the total reserves and 
resources that аге set out in the Petra Group's Resource Statement and which management may consider to Ье economically 
viable and сараЬІе of future extraction. 

Management must make а number of assumptions when making estimates of reserves and resources, including assumptions 
as to exchange rates, rough diamond and other commodity ргісеs, extraction costs and recovery and prodцction rates. Any 
such estimates and assumptlons may change as new information becomes available. Changes in exchange rates, rough 
diamond and commodity prices, extraction and recovery costs and production rates may change the economic viability of ore 
reserves and resources and may ultimately result in the restatement of the ore reserves and resources and potential 
impairment to the carrying value of the mining assets and LOM. 
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Notes to the financial statements 

2. Operating proflt/(loss) 

Audltors' remuпeration 

2021 
R'OOO 

2020 
R'OOO 

The auditors' remuneration for the performance of the annual audit fuпction is pald Ьу the ultimate parent company, Petra 
Diamonds Limited. 

Director's remuneratlon 

The directors are the only employees of the company. None of the directors have been paid remuпeratioп ог emolumeпts Ьу 
the сатрапу during the curreпt period. The remuпeration of the directors for services to the group is disclosed ln the Anпual 
Report of Petra Diamonds Limited. 

З. lnterest receivable 

lnterest income 
lnterest income оп bank deposits 
lnterest receivable from fellow group undertakings 

4. Staff numbers 

1 
304 594 

304 595 

The average number of persons employed Ьу the company (inc/uding directors) durlng the year was as follows: 

Number of employees 
Admiпistration 

5. Taxation 

Analysis of tax charge in the year 

Current 
UK corporation !ах оп result for the year 

Recoпci/iation of the tax expense 

2 

375109 

375109 

2 

The tax charge оп profit before tax for the year is lower than the staпdard rate of corporation tax ln the UK (2020: lower the 
slandard rate of corporatioп tax in the UK) of 19% (2020: 19%). 

The tax charge for the year can Ье recoпciled as follows: 

Accounting profit 

Тах at the аррІісаЬІе tax rate of 19% (2020: 19%) 

Тах effect of adjustments on taxable income 
(lncome)/expenses поt (taxable)/deductible for tax purposes 
Тах effect of group relief received for по consideration 

Тах charge for the year 

21 

586 410 

111418 

(53 573) 
(57 845) 

(1 221 798) 

(232142} 

303 670 
(71 528) 
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Notes to the financial statements 

6. Debtors: amounts falling due after one year 

Amounts due Ьу group undertakings - Ealing Management Services Proprietary Limited 
An expected credit loss allowance ofR1316300 ООО (2020: R1598264 953) has been 
provided for against the loan owing to the company. 

Amounts due Ьу group undertakings - Petra Diamoпds Limited 

Expected credit loss allowance 

2021 
R'OOO 

4 507 452 

7 734 

(1316300) 

з 198 886 

2020 
R'OOO 

4 202 858 

7 838 

(1598265) 

2 612 431 

The directors consider that the above fair value of amouпts due Ьу group undeгtakings and other receivables classified as 
financial instrument loans and receivables approximate to their fair value. 

The company's exposure to credit and market risks, lncluding impairments and allowances for credit losses, relating to 
amounts due Ьу group undertakiпgs and other receivables is disclosed in the financial risk management objectives and policies 
as detailed in the Directors' report. 

The loans raпks оп а second-priority basis in favour of the Petra Group's SA Lender Group, to satisfy the coпtiпgent obligations 
disclosed in note 1 О. The loan accrues lпterest at the prevailing South African prime interest rate апd is по! expected to Ье 
repaid within 12 months from period епd. 

Credit rlsk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the company if а customer or counterparty to а financial instrumeпt fails to meet its 
contractual obligations.The соmрапу applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuriпg expected credit losses usiпg а 
llfetime expected credit loss provlslon for trade recelvables and the 12-month approach, uпless а speclfic risk exlsts, for other 
receivables. 

The соmрапу applied IFRS 9 to measuring expected credit losses which uses а lifetime expected credit loss аІІоwапсе for аІІ 
amouпts due from group uпdertakings as they are coпsidered to Ье in Stage З 'credit impaired' status uпder IFRS 9. Wheп 
assessing the recoverabllity of the loan, managemeпt considered the following factors: the historical tradiпg performance of the 
related рагtу, the projected cashflows generated Ьу the underiyiпg operatioпs and resultaпt paymeпts towards iпtercompaпy 
Іоапs, current recovery іп diamoпd prices апd market апd the related party's paymeпt history. Based оп the afore-meпtioпed, 
and the lmpact of the Restructure (see note апd 1 О) which has provlded the Petra Group's operatioпs with greater liquidity апd 
significantly reduced financial obligations, management have reduced the credit loss allowance to R1 316 300 ООО from 
R1 598 264 953 in FY 2020 representing а provision against the loan as curreпt projectioпs post the Restructuriпg indicate а 
greater likelihood of the recovery of the loan owiпg to the соmрапу given the recovery of diamoпd prices, the rough diamond 
market апd the impact of the Restructuriпg оп the available cashflows of the company's fellow subsidiaries СuІІіпап Diamoпd 
Mine and Finsch Diamoпd Міпе. 

7. Share capital 

lssued 
Equity: 137 126 ООО Ordinary shares of R 1 each 137 126 137 126 

The company has one class of ordinary shares which carry по right to fixed іпсоmе. 

Called-up share capital represeпts the nomiпal value of shares that have been issued. 

22 



.. 

Petra Diamonds UK Treasury Limited 
(Registration number 09519270) 
Report and financlal statements for the year ended 30 June 2021 

Notes to the financial statements 

8.. Reserves 

The company's other reserves comprise as follows: 

Share premlum reserve 

The share premium reserve contains the premium arising on issue of equity shares. 

Profit and loss account 

2021 
R'OOO 

Тhе profit and loss account represents cumulative profils or losses, net of dividends pald and other adjustments. 

9. Other operating gains (losses) 

Foreign exchange gains (losses) 
Net foreign exchange (losses} gains 

10. Contingencies 

(11) 

2020 
R'OOO 

1 678 

The debt facilities of the Petra Group are secured Ьу the assets of the сатрапу together with the assets of other companies 
within the Petra Group. Fur1her detail оп the Petra Group's debt facilities апd related securities is provlded beiow: 

Оп 1 О March 2021, the compaпy's holding company Реtга Diamoпds Limited (POL) aппounced that it had completed the 
implementation of the Debt Restructuring (Restructuring} project with the Noteholders and the South African Leпder Group. 
The key features of the Restructuring are as follows: 

• conversion of Notes debt vaiued at US$415.0 million into equity, whlch resulted in the Noteholder group acquiring 91 % 
of the enlarged share capital of PDL (refer to (і) below); 

• the remainder of the Notes exchanged for the issue of US$295.0 million new Notes and the contribution Ьу holders of 
the existing Notes of US$30.0 million in new money, each to take the form of new senior secured second lien notes 
('New Notes") (refer to (іі) below}; and 

• restructuring of the first lien facilities provided Ьу the South African Lender Group (refer to (ііі} below}. 

(і) Debt for Equity swap 

The Petra Group completed а debt for equity conversion consisting of the partial repayment of the US$650 million loan Notes 
Ьу issuing 8,844,657,929 new Ordinary Shares with а nominal value of 0.001 pence per share in PDL to the existing 
Noteholders. The fair value of the shares at the date of the conversion was 1.58 pence per share, giving а total consideration of 
U$194.0 million. As the fair value was derived Ьу reference to the closing share price at the date of the conversion, it is 
considered to Ье а Level 1 falr value measurement. Тhе carrying value of the liability at the date of the conversion was 
US$415.0 million, after capitalisation of the Мау 2020 and November 2020 coupons and adjusting for the issue of new Notes. 
The resulting gain, before restructuriпg costs, of US$221.0 million has been recogпised іп the Group's Coпsolldated lncome 
Statemeпt as par1 of the galn оп extiпguishment of the Notes. Restructuriпg costs identified as being directly associated with 
the debt for equity conversion, of US$12.З mlllion have been taken directly to share premium. The debt for equity conversion 
resulted in the Noteholders acquiriпg 91 % of the enlarged share capital of the PDL. 

(іі) US$336.7 million senior secured second Ііел notes 

А wholly owned subsidiary of the Petra Group, Petra Diamoпds US$ Treasury РІс issued debl securities consisling of 
US$336. 7 million five-year senior secured second lien loan пotes, with а maturity date of 8 March 2026. The New Notes of 
US$336. 7 million were allocated as follows: 

• US$30.0 mіІІіоп allocated only to those Noteholders that subscribed, and funded that subscrlption, to the New Money, 
pro rata to thelr New Money coпtribution (the "New Мопеу Noteholders"); 
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10. Contlngencles (continued} 

• US$150.0 mіІІіоп allocated опІу to those New Мопеу Noteholders, рго rata to each holder's coпtributioп to the New 
Мопеу; 

• US$145.0 mіІІіоп allocated to а11 Noteholders (iпcluding the New Мопеу Noteholders), рго гаtа to their holdings of 
existing Notes at the close of the Restructuring; апd 

• а further amouпt іп New Notes as coпsideratioп to сегtаіп Noteholders, іп remuпeratioп for the commercial risks апd 
other commercial coпslderatioпs Ьогпе Ьу those Noteholders whilst restricted for the purposes of пegotiatioпs with 
other stakeholders апd work performed іп соппесtіоп with the Restructuring. The quaпtum of New Notes issued for 
this purpose was US$11. 7 mіІІіоп, which has Ьееп capitalised as рагt of the Notes liability апd will Ье amortised over 
the term of the Notes. 

The New Notes саггу а соuроп from: 

• 9 March 2021 to З1 December 2022 of 10.50% рег аппum, which is capitalised to the outstaпdiпg ргіпсіраІ amouпt 
semianпually іп arrears оп З1 December апd ЗО June of each year; 

• 1January202З to ЗО June 202З of 10.50% per annum on З7.7778% ofthe aggregate рrіпсіраІ amount outstanding, 
which is capitalised to the outstanding principal amount seml-aппually ln arrears on З1 December and ЗО June of each 
year апd 9. 75% per annum on 62.2222% of the aggregate рrіпсіраІ amount outstanding wh/ch is рауаЬІе іп cash 
semi-annually in arrears оп З1 December апd ЗО Juпe of each уеаг; 

• 1 July 202З to З1 December 2025 of 9.75% per аппum оп the aggregate рrіпсіраІ amouпt outstaпdiпg which is 
рауаЬІе іп cash semi-anпualiy іп arrears оп З1 December and ЗО Juпe of each уеаг; and 

• 1 January 2026 to 8 March 2026 (fіпаІ coupon payment) of 9. 75% per anпum оп the aggregate рrіпсіраІ amount 
outstandiпg which is рауаЬІе іп cash. 

The costs associated with issuiпg the Notes of US$20.7 mіІІіоп have Ьееп capitalised against the рrіпсіраІ amouпt and 
US$19.4 million remains unamortised as at ЗО June 2021. lnterest of US$11.1 million has been accrued as at ЗО June 2021. 

The New Notes are secured оп а second-priority basis to the senior secured l~nder debt faci/itles Ьу: 

• the cessioп of аІІ claims and shareholdiпgs held Ьу the company апd сегtаіп of the guaraпtors withiп the Petra Group; 

• the cession of аІІ unsecured cash baiances held Ьу the company and certaiп of the guaraпtors; 

• the creation of liens over the moveable assets of the соmрапу and certaiп of the guarantors; and 

• the creatioп of liens over the mining rights апd immovable assets held and owпed Ьу certaiп of the guaraпtors. 

(ііі) Senior secured lender debt facilities 

The Petra Group's South Africaп Leпder Group is Absa Corporate and lnvestment Banking ("Absa"). FirstRand Bank Limited 
(acting through its Raпd Merchant Bank division) ("RMB"), Nedbank Limited апd NinetyOne Limited. 

As рагt of the Restructurlпg, the exlsting Ьапkіпg facilities were amended оп а first lien basis and on the following terms, the 
creatlon of а new Term Loan of ZAR1 .2 billion (US$76.6 million) comprising ZAR500.0 miliion (US$З5.0 mіІІіоп) under the 
existing WCF and ZAR68З.1 (US$41.6 million) million relating to the ВЕЕ Partпer debt faciiities; and the rollover of the existiпg 
RCF increasing Ьу ZAR160.0 million (US$11.2 million) to ZAR560 mіІІіоп (US$З9.2 million). The revlsed terms апd coпditioпs 
are set out below. The costs associated with restructuring of the banking facilities of US$1. 7 million and US$0. 7 million casti 
traпsaction costs allocated based on the total Restructuring costs have Ьееп capitalised agaiпst the рrіпсіраІ amouпt. 

The Petra Group performed an assessment under its accouпting policies and the requiremeпts of IFRS 9 as to whether the 
restructuring of the Senior Secured Leпder Facilities represented а substantial modification. As the net present value of the 
cashflows under the origiпal terms and the modified terms was less than 10% different апd there were по substaпtial 
qualitative .changes to the terms, the modificatioп is по\ substantial. 
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10. Contingencies (continued) 

The new terms under the Term Loan are: 

• maturlty date В March 2024; 

• scheduled amortisation of 9% of principal рег quarter (starting in June 2021) with а final 10% of principa/ repaymenl at 
maturity, 

1.Зх debt service cover ratio tested semi-annually оп а rolling 12-month basis, which if breached will give rise to an 
event of default under the new bank facilities; and 

• interest rate of SA JIBAR + 5.25% per annum (with an upfront fee of 1 % of the Term Loan amount capitalised). 

The revised terms under lhe RCF are: 

• maturity date В March 2024; 

• scheduled amortisation of 9% of principal per quarter (starting in June 2021) with а final 10% of principal repayment at 
maturity; 

• 1.Зх debt service cover ratio tested semi-annually on а rolling 12-month basis, which lf breached will give rise to an 
event of default under the new bank facililies; and 

• interest rate of SA JIBAR + 5.25% per annum (with an upfront fee of 1 % of the RCF amount capitalised and а 
commitment fee based оп undrawn balances). 

At year end, the RCF, as amended, was drawn down Ьу an amount of ZAR400.0 million (US$28.0 million) wlth ZAR109.6 
million (US$7. 7 milllon) available for draw-down. The Term Loan of ZAR1 .1 billion (US$28.9 million) was fully drawn at year 
end. 

The Petra Group's debt and hedging facilities for which the company is а guarantor, аге detailed ln the table below: 

Amended Senior lender Debt Facllities 

ZAR Debt Facilities 

Working capital facllity (WCF) 
Revolving credit facility (RCF) 
Term loan facility 
Foreign exchange hedging facilities 

US$ Debt Facilities 

Senior second lien notes 

ЗО June 2021 
Faclllty amount 

Rnil 
R509.6 million 

R1 109.4 million 
R 150 miliion 

US$336. 7 miilion 

The debt facilities аге secured on а first priority basls to the SA Lenders Ьу: 

ЗО June 2020 
Facility amount 

R500 million 
R400 million 

Rnll 
RЗОО million 

US$650.0 milfion 

• the cession of аІІ claims and shareholdings held, Ьу the company and certain Petra Group companies, within the Petra 
Group; 

• the cession of а/І South African Ьалk accounts and аІ/ amount standing to the credit of such bank accounts held Ьу the 
company and certain Petra Group companies; 
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• the cession of аІІ claims against debtors and third parties in South Africa held Ьу the company and certain Petra Group 
companies; 

• the cession of аІІ insurances including аІІ insurance proceeds from аІІ insurance cover, held Ьу the company and 
certain Petra Group companies; 

• the registration of notarial bonds over аІІ the moveable assets at the Cullinan, Finsch and Koffiefontein mining 
operations; 

• the registration of mortgage bonds over аІІ the immoveable assets at the Cullinan, Finsch and Koffiefontein mining 
operations; 

• the registration of mortgage bonds over the mining rights at the Cullinan, Finsch and Koffiefontein mining operations; 
and 

• the subordination of аІІ clalms held Ьу the company against any member of the Petra Group and апу other creditor. 

Covenant ratios 

As part of the revised Term Loan and RCF facilities entered into with the South African Lender Group, the Petra Group is 
required: 

• to maintain а 1.Зх debt service cover ratio tested semi-annuafly оп а rolling 12-month basis; and 

• to maintain liquidity requirements being the aggregate of the undrawn amounts available under the RCF and 
consolidated cash and cash equivalents (excluding diamond debtors) shall not fall below ZAR200 million (US$14.0 
million). 

11. Events after the reportlng period 

The directors are not aware of any significant matter or circumstance arising since the end of the financial year, not otherwise 
dealt with in this report ог the financial statements, which significantly affect the financial posltlon of the company or the results 
of its operations to the date of this report. 

12. Controlling party 

ln the opinion of the directors, the company's ultimate parent company апd ultimate controlling party is Petra Diamonds 
Llmited, а company incorporated in Bermuda. 

The parent undertaking of the largest group and smallest group, which includes the company and for which group accounts are 
prepared is Petra Diamonds Limited. 

The consolidated accounts of the group are available to the public and obtainable from its registered office (Capital Tower, 91 
Waterloo Road, London SE1 8RT, United Kingdom) and from its website www.petradiamonds.com. 

The company's immediate controlling party is Petra Diamonds US$ Treasury Ріс, а company incorporated in the United 
Klngdom. 
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